# RUMINANT GRAZING BEHAVIOR: A TOOL TO IMPROVE PRODUCT QUALITY AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES

EDITED BY: Mauro Coppa and Andrea Cabiddu PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Veterinary Science





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-683-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-683-8

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## RUMINANT GRAZING BEHAVIOR: A TOOL TO IMPROVE PRODUCT QUALITY AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES

Topic Editors:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France Andrea Cabiddu, Agris Sardinia, Italy

**Citation:** Coppa, M., Cabiddu, A., eds. (2021). Ruminant Grazing Behavior: A Tool to Improve Product Quality and Ecosystem Services. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-683-8

# Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Ruminant Grazing Behavior: A Tool to Improve Product Quality and Ecosystem Services

Thais Devincenzi, Mauro Coppa and Andrea Cabiddu

- 07 Lamb Performance on Island Pastures in Northern Norway Vibeke Lind, Øystein Holand, Finn-Arne Haugen and Geir Steinheim
- 15 Grazing Allometry: Anatomy, Movement, and Foraging Behavior of Three Cattle Breeds of Different Productivity Caren M. Pauler, Johannes Isselstein, Joel Berard, Thomas Braunbeck and Manuel K. Schneider
- 32 Management Strategies for Lamb Production on Pasture-Based Systems in Subtropical Regions: A Review

Cesar Henrique Espírito Candal Poli, Alda Lucia Gomes Monteiro, Thais Devincenzi,

Fernando Henrique Melo Andrade Rodrigues de Albuquerque, Juliano Henriques da Motta, Luiza Ilha Borges and James Pierre Muir

41 Ingestive Behavior of Young Lambs on Contrasting Tropical Grass Sward Heights

Joseane Anjos da Silva, Cesar Henrique Espirito Candal Poli, Jalise Fabíola Tontini, Lívia Raymundo Irigoyen, Elisa Cristina Modesto and Juan Jose Villalba

- **51** *Meeting Breeding Potential in Organic and Low-Input Dairy Farming* Hannah Davis, Sokratis Stergiadis, Eleni Chatzidimitriou, Roy Sanderson, Carlo Leifert and Gillian Butler
- 64 Local Small Ruminant Grazing in the Monti Foy Area (Italy): The Relationship Between Grassland Biodiversity Maintenance and Added-Value Dairy Products

Salvatore Claps, Marisabel Mecca, Adriana Di Trana and Lucia Sepe

71 Early-Life Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience Influence Post-Weaning Behavior and Herbage Selection of Dairy Calves in the Short Term

Alessandra Nicolao, Mauro Coppa, Matthieu Bouchon, Enrico Sturaro, Dominique Pomiès, Bruno Martin and Madeline Koczura

82 How Long Before a Second Defoliation of Actively Growing Grass Plants in the Desert Grassland?

Sarah Noelle, Timothy Lyons, Alessandra Gorlier, Mitchel P. McClaran, Mary Nichols and George Ruyle

89 Little Difference in Milk Fatty Acid and Terpene Composition Among Three Contrasting Dairy Breeds When Grazing a Biodiverse Mountain Pasture

Madeline Koczura, Bruno Martin, Marilena Musci, Martina Di Massimo, Matthieu Bouchon, Germano Turille, Michael Kreuzer, Joel Berard and Mauro Coppa

### 100 A Note on the Tracing of Herbage Contribution to Grazing Sheep Diet Using Milk and Feces Biomarkers

Giovanni Molle, Andrea Cabiddu, Mauro Decandia, Marco Acciaro, Giuseppe Scanu, Margherita Addis, Myriam Fiori and Marco Caredda

108 Can FT-Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy of Milk Samples Discriminate Different Dietary Regimens of Sheep Grazing With Restricted Access Time? Giovanni Molle, Andrea Cabiddu, Mauro Decandia, Maria Sitzia, Ignazio Ibba, Valeria Giovanetti, Giuseppe Scanu, Margherita Addis and Marco Caredda

## 122 The Effect of Grazing Intensity and Sward Heterogeneity on the Movement Behavior of Suckler Cows on Semi-natural Grassland

Dina Hamidi, Martin Komainda, Bettina Tonn, Jens Harbers, Natascha Alexandria Grinnell and Johannes Isselstein





## Editorial: Ruminant Grazing Behavior: A Tool to Improve Product Quality and Ecosystem Services

#### Thais Devincenzi<sup>1</sup>, Mauro Coppa<sup>2\*</sup> and Andrea Cabiddu<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria (INIA), Programa Producción de Carne y Lana, Estación Experimental INIA Tacuarembó, Tacuarembó, Uruguay, <sup>2</sup> Independent Researcher at Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR1213 Herbivores, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France, <sup>3</sup> Agris Sardegna, Sardegna Agricoltura, Sassari, Italy

Keywords: pasture grazing management, cows, sheep-lamb, goats, milk

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Ruminant Grazing Behavior: A Tool to Improve Product Quality and Ecosystem Services

This Research Topic presents a series of original research and one review article that reveals the latest approaches to ruminant grazing behavior management associated with product quality and traceability. This collection embodies 12 original articles from eight countries, including Europe (Mediterranean, continental, and alpine regions) and North and South America. Articles were mainly focused on three axes: (i). pasture and grazing management and its relationship with ecosystem services, (ii). effect feeding behavior on animal's products, and (iii). genetics and grazing behavior.

Pasture and grazing management are some of the most powerful tools to manage and orient grazing behavior for both lambs and cattle, shown through studies conducted in controlled experiments or on field studies. In the studies published under this Research Topic, herbage allowance/structure, stocking rate, time allocation, and differences in grazing behavior between breeds were the investigated variables to set optimal management of both mono and multispecific grasslands. Silva et al., in a subtropical environment, evaluated the ingestive behavior of young lambs considering the sward height. This study led to management recommendations for lamb production on tropical grasses under the ingestive behavior perspective, considering a maximum pasture height and a minimum lamb body weight to meet satisfactory intake parameters for optimizing lamb production. Poli et al. reviews the main available technologies for lamb production on pasture-based systems in subtropical regions. The proposed approaches are similar to classical pasture recommendations in other environments (i.e., controlling pasture availability, sward height, and structure), however, the authors identified a lack of studies on strategies to better manage herbage growth and minimize intense parasitic infections, which are common problem in subtropical regions.

Nicolao et al. evaluated if early-life dam-calf contact can influence post-weaning grazing behavior. The authors found that calves that experienced grazing with their dams until weaning immediately start to graze when turned out to pasture and expressed a grazing behavior more typical of adult cows than calves that were separated from their dams immediately after birth or to those that has not experienced previous dam contact. In temperate regions and on biodiverse pastures, Lind et al. described lamb performance and discussed opportunities and challenges for future sustainable sheep grazing on an island. The authors conclude that an adaptative management strategy must be adjusted to find an optimal compromise between animal production and restoring and conserving these environments, and therefore provide ecosystems services. Hamidi et al. monitored cow activity in a semi-natural grassland in Germany, under three levels of herbage

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited and reviewed by:

Laura Ann Boyle, Teagasc Food Research Centres, Ireland

\*Correspondence: Mauro Coppa mauro.coppa@inrae.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 19 July 2021 Accepted: 25 August 2021 Published: 28 September 2021

#### Citation:

Devincenzi T, Coppa M and Cabiddu A (2021) Editorial: Ruminant Grazing Behavior: A Tool to Improve Product Quality and Ecosystem Services. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:744200. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.744200

allowance. At a lower herbage allowance, higher cattle activity is observed and at moderate allowances, a higher spatial distribution of cattle during grazing peaks is observed, with potential practical implications in the ecosystem. Finally, Noelle et al., in desert conditions, determined the optimal grazing time to avoid a second defoliation of swards and therefore indicates management targets to avoid degradation of grasslands in this fragile ecosystem. Pauler et al., in a controlled grazing experiment in the Swiss Alps, observed breed-specific differences in the behavior intake which can be used to improve pasture management and contribute to grassland conservation. These differences can be associated with allometry and anatomy of breeds adapted to graze nutrient-poor pastures. Having a general overview of the illustrated studies, their results highlighted that grazing behavior and management play a key role in pasture utilization and animal performances and welfare. Furthermore, grazing management and behavior can also be a powerful tool to drive ecosystem conservation and management, especially when exploited by adapted breeds, and more generally, to improve ecosystem services of pasture-based farming systems.

This Research Topic also explored the effect of grazing behavior and management on the characteristics of animal products, focusing on cow, ewe, and goat dairy products. Claps et al. in two case studies developed in the Italian mountain regions, provides information about milk quality, and discusses the relationship between grazing systems in biodiverse pastures and milk products with favorable characteristics for human nutrition, able to give high added value prices to dairy products. Studying milk from cows of breeds of different levels of specialization, Koczura et al. observed little differences in fatty acid composition according to breeds when grazing on the same pasture, suggesting that different grazing behaviors of adapted breeds could have consequences on dairy product characteristics. Molle et al. used fatty acids and n-alkane composition to trace feeding systems of ewes' milk. This study used mathematical models, such as Genetic Algorithms (GA) combined with Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), which allowed to discriminate products according to the amount of ingested pasture when using appropriate chemical markers. Complementary, Molle et al., used Fourier transformed mid-infrared spectroscopy (FT-MIR) to estimate milk FA composition, and the results obtained to discriminate milks sourced from dairy sheep rotationally grazing for 2, 4, or 6 h per day in Italian ryegrass or berseem clover. The authors conclude that is possible to discriminate milk from ewes grazing Grasses or Legumes using the GA-LDA of their FA profile. However, lower accuracy of the model was detected when they considered the different time allocations, probably also because of adaptation of grazing behavior according to the time restriction by ewes. At a genetics axis, Davis et al., explored the effect of breeding strategy on low input and organic production in dairy systems in the United Kingdom. The results of this study bring out the weakness of the breeding programs when animals face organic and low input production systems, in which grazing is the most common practice, and highlights the need to explore genotype x environment interactions to better guide breeding selection in this scenario. Thus, generally, grazing behavior and management can have an impact on diary product characteristics. Adapted breeds, exerting a different grazing selection than specialized dairy breeds, consume vegetation type, or patches which influence dairy product composition, particularly fatty acids. Differences in milk composition related to grazing management can be detectable for authentication purposes, with important perspectives for the valorization of dairy products issued from grazing systems.

Even if this Research Topic proposed important advancements in the research on grazing behavior and management as tools to improve product quality and ecosystem services, we can identify a lack of studies relating grazing behavior of ruminants on meat and wool products. Social studies and evaluation of environmental impacts and ecosystem services of grazing systems are just recently becoming more prominent as object of study, thus further research will be required in the future on these topics. Finally, new methodologies for monitoring feeding behavior and estimating herbage intake at pasture (especially on species rich and heterogeneous pastures) should be better explored in future research.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Devincenzi, Coppa and Cabiddu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Lamb Performance on Island Pastures in Northern Norway

#### Vibeke Lind<sup>1\*</sup>, Øystein Holand<sup>2</sup>, Finn-Arne Haugen<sup>1</sup> and Geir Steinheim<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research (NIBIO), Ås, Norway, <sup>2</sup> Department of Agriculture and Aquacultural Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

The Norwegian sheep industry is based on utilization of "free" rangeland pasture resources. Use of mountain pastures is dominating, with about two million sheep grazing these pastures during summer. Regional challenges related to e.g., loss of sheep to large carnivores make farmers think differently. The Norwegian coastline is among the longest globally and is scattered with islets and islands. Alone along the coast of Nordland county, it is estimated more than 14,000 islands. Use of islands for summer pasture is an alternative but there is a limited knowledge about such a management system. In this study, we examined lambs' average daily gain on island pastures at the coast of Norway. In total 230 lambs on three islands (Sandvær, Sjonøya, and Buøya), with varying pasture quality and stocking rate, for 3 years (2012, 2013, and 2014). At Sandvær as much as 92% of the island was characterized as high nutritional value while at Sjonøya and Buøya only 15%, was characterized high nutritional value. We found an average daily lamb growth rate of 0.320 kg d<sup>-1</sup>. Lambs on Sandvær had a higher daily gain (P < 0.05) than those on Sjonøya and Buøya, and lambs' average daily gain was significantly lower (P < 0.05) in 2013 compared to 2012 and 2014. We conclude that with a dynamic and adaptive management strategy there is a potential to utilize islands for sheep grazing during summer.

Keywords: daily gain, vegetation types, stocking rate, grazing quality, sheep

## **INTRODUCTION**

The Norwegian sheep industry is based on utilization of spatially diverse rangeland pasture resources as reflected in different management systems and local adaptations. Only 3% of Norway is used for crop production, but more than half of the land area has potential value as livestock pasture. Rekdal (1) estimated that harvesting of rangeland vegetation by livestock could be doubled and in a White paper from the Norwegian Government from 2016 (2) an increase in rangeland grazing is encouraged for all regions of the country. In Norway,  $\sim$ 2 million sheep are released onto extensive pastures for summer grazing (3). Most sheep are grazing rangeland pastures in mountainous areas but challenges due to high mortality to e.g., large carnivores have increased the interest in utilizing pastures on islands and islets along the coast.

The coastal line of Norway's mainland is estimated to about 30,000 km, but including islands, the length increases to about 103,000 km (4). Nordland county, stretching from 65 to 69°N, has a surface area of about 38,000 km<sup>2</sup> and constitutes 12% of the total area of Norway (5). Nordland coastal line is estimated to be about 27,000 km of which 21,000 km are island coastal lines. The coast is scattered with some 18,000 islands of all sizes, from small islets of ~1 ha to inhabited islands up

#### OPEN ACCESS

## Edited by:

Andrea Cabiddu, Agris Sardinia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Thais Devincenzi, Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria (INIA), Uruguay Marcella Avondo, University of Catania, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Vibeke Lind vibeke.lind@nibio.no

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 31 March 2020 Accepted: 05 June 2020 Published: 14 July 2020

#### Citation:

Lind V, Holand Ø, Haugen F-A and Steinheim G (2020) Lamb Performance on Island Pastures in Northern Norway. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:402. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00402

7

to 500 km<sup>2</sup> (5). Many of the smaller islands were previous inhabited but are now abandoned and traditional farming with meadow harvesting and livestock grazing has ceased. Indeed, the open and grazing-induced semi-natural pastures rich in biodiversity and pleasing to the human's eye are at risk. In Nordland county, farmers are therefore offered a diverse package of subsidies and incentives for restoring and maintaining this unique semi-natural coastal landscape (6).

Most of these islands are flat (rising to 40–50 m above sea level) and natural fresh water supply can be limited during summer. The phenological development of the plants is more uniform on islands than in mountain areas. Vegetation types, their proportion, and distribution and thus pasture value varies substantially between islands (7). A management of stocking rate customized to available pasture resources is therefore necessary to ensure animals' performance and welfare (8). However, appropriate stocking rates are defined by decades-long experience by farmers, while little scientific knowledge exists about sheep performance on these coastal pastures.

In a field study we investigated lamb performance during three consecutive summer grazing seasons (2012–2014) on three islands, with highly variable grazing values and stocking rates at the coast of Helgeland, Nordland county. The aim of the study was to describe lamb daily weight gain and to evaluate and discuss opportunities and challenges for future sustainable sheep grazing on island pastures.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Ethics Statement**

The study was performed at commercial farms and the only extra handling of animals was through weighing. The animals were collected by help of sheep dogs per normal practice at the farms. We followed the regulation for use of animals in experiments,



adopted by the Norwegian Ministry of Agriculture and Food and approved by the administrative officer for animal trials of NIBIO (Approved Animal welfare unit no 171). Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because the study was performed at commercial farms. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

## **Study Area**

The three islands studied have been used for sheep grazing during many years. The islands are situated in Lurøy and Rødøy municipalities, at the coast of Nordland county in Norway (Figure 1). Sandvær (66°20'35 N, 12°43'55 E) covers 39 ha and range up to 20 meters above sea level (m.a.s.l.). Sjonøya (66°21′51 N, 12°52′42 E) covers  $\sim$ 208 ha and range up to 40 m.a.s.l while Buøva (66°37'31 N, 12°56'35 E) covers 36 ha and range up to 40 m.a.s.l. The total livestock unit (LU) at Sandvær, Sjonøya, and Buøya were 1.26, 3.60, and 2.70, respectively, in all 3 years (2012, 2013, and 2014). At Sjonøya, an additional 40 sheep of the Old Norwegian breed (5.6 LU) grazed and was included when stocking rate was calculated. The weather is typical coastal climate with mild winters and wet summers, with mean temperature during winter around 0°C and during summer around 12°C (9). Annual precipitation is around 2,000 mm.

## Vegetation

The vegetation was mapped using the system of Rekdal and Larsson (10) and a total of 19 different vegetation types, both

TABLE 1   Distribution of vegetation types and nutritional value in area (ha) and
percentage (%) at Sandvær, Sjonøya, and Buøya.

Vegetation type	Grazing value	Sanc	lvær	Sjon	øya	Buøya	
		На	%	На	%	На	%
Dwarf shrub heath	Medium			0.25	0		
Low herb meadow	High	14.7	38	5.1	2		
Tall forb meadow	High	8.2	21				
Lichen and heather	Low			0.1	0		
birch forest							
Bilberry birch forest	Medium			5.3	З		
Meadow birch forest High				2.6	1		
Pasture land forest	High			1.2	1		
Meadow spruce forest	Medium			0.3	0		
Poor swamp forest	Low			0.8	0		
Rich swamp forest	Medium			0.7	0		
Bog	Low			4.1	2	3.7	10
Fen	Low	1.3	3	6.1	3	0.4	1
Sedge marsh	Low						
Coastal heath	Low	1.9	5	64.5	31	8.6	24
Damp heath	Low			85.3	41	18.2	50
Moist meadows	High	1.5	4	2.3	1		
Pasture	High	10.8	28	19.9	10	5.0	14
Barren land							
Exposed bedrock		0.3	1	9.2	4	0.4	1

natural and semi-cultivated, were identified on the islands (Table 1). We classified the vegetation types into four main classes based on value for sheep grazing: "Not Suitable" (no grazing value or inaccessible), "low," "medium," or "high," following the vegetation classification system of Rekdal (7). The "Not Suitable" class including barren land and exposed bedrock was omitted from all analyses. Rekdal (7) evaluate the grazing value of the different vegetation types based on plant production and the grazing habits of the livestock species. At present, there is no systematic information on nutritional values such as energy, protein, and fiber for different vegetation types (11) and such values would necessarily be highly uncertain due to varying plant species composition within a vegetation type, site-specific phenological development for each plant species, and the impact on the vegetation from the grazing animals both within year and historical.

In the study area, vegetation types of high nutritional value, contain species such as common bent (*Agrostis capillaris*), sweet vernal grass (*Anthoxanthum odoratum*), kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*), and red fescue (*Festuca rubra*). Wavy hairgrass (*Deschampsia flexuosa*), blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*), and sweet vernal grass (*Anthoxanthum odoratum*) are found in medium nutritional value classes while the low nutritional value class is dominated by crowberry (*Empetrum nigrum*), heather (*Calluna vulgaris*), and purple moor-grass (*Molinia caerulea*).

**Table 1** shows the distribution and proportion of the vegetation types and their nutritional classes on the three study islands. **Figure 2** shows the vegetation maps of the three islands.

## Animals

The study animals were of the dominating sheep breed in Norway, the cross-bred, prolific Norwegian White Sheep. Ewes and lambs were recruited from two commercial sheep farms that had used the islands for summer grazing during several years prior to the study. We asked the farmers to randomly select adult ewes (>2 years of age) with two lambs at foot. Twins are the most common litter size in the breed. The farmers selected the animals post-lambing to ensure that all ewes and lambs were healthy and distributed the animals randomly to the islands (**Table 2**). The animals had access to all vegetation types within each island, and did not receive any supplement feeding during the grazing period.

Due to missing data the number of lambs used in the performance analysis was 11, 13 and 14 at Sandvær for 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively. For Sjonøya, 39, 39, and 40 lambs are included in the analyses and for Buøya 28, 28, and 18 for 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

Lambs were born in May and were between 1 and 4 weeks old when released to the island pastures. All ewes and lambs were individually ear-tagged for identification. The ewes were weighed before released to and when collected from the islands. The lambs (n = 230) were weighted at birth (average 4.90 Standard deviation, SD = 0.86 kg), when released to the island (average 9.98 SD = 3.51 kg), and when collected (average 38.1 SD = 7.90 kg) as normal routine done by the farmers. The animals were on average released to the islands in week 21 (end of May) and collected in week 37 (beginning of September).



FIGURE 2 | Vegetation maps of Sandvær, Sjonøya, and Buøya.

## **Weather Conditions**

As a proxy for the daily average temperature and precipitation at the three islands, data was collected from the weather station at the mainland at NIBIO Tjøtta in Nordland County ( $65^{\circ}49'22N$ ,  $12^{\circ}25'37E$ ); the information is shown in **Table 3** for June, July, and August of the years 2012, 2013, and 2014.

### **Statistics**

Data on a total of 230 twin lambs were analyzed by fitting a general mixed linear model in Proc Mixed of SAS statistical software (12), using the Satterthwaite option for estimation of denominator degrees of freedom. The model used was

$$y = Xb + Zu + e,$$

where y is the observation of individual lamb body growth (kg  $d^{-1}$ ) on island pasture; b is a vector containing fixed demographic and environmental effects, and X is the incidence matrix relating the observations to the effects in b. The random effect of ewe by year is u, related to observations by incidence matrix Z. Finally, e is the residual variance.

The effects in b are

- the overall average daily weight gain  $\mu$ .
- regression variables lamb age (days) at start of island grazing (2–58; mean 15.8), early lamb growth (kg d<sup>-1</sup>) from birth to start of island grazing (-0.05-0.77; mean 0.33), and ewe weight (kg) at the start of island grazing (41–101; mean 73.9),
- class variables lamb sex (female or male, sex ratio 0.5), ewe age in years (1, 2, ...,6; mean 2.5), island (Sandvær, Sjonøya, or Buøya), year (2012, 2013, or 2014), and the interaction effect between year and island (nine levels).

To account for dependency within litters, the interaction effect of individual ewe by year was fitted as random, with 121 classes (98 ewes). Seventeen ewes were observed in more than 1 year; but the litters of these were still treated as independent of each other. Least square means were estimated for all significant fixed class variables and pair-wise *t*-tests were performed. Effects were considered significant when P < 0.05.

## RESULTS

As much as 92% of the area of Sandvær is characterized as high nutritional value which here includes the vegetation types of low herb meadow, high forb meadow, moist meadow, and pasture. At Sjonøya, about 80% of the area is characterized as low nutritional value with the island dominated by coastal heath (31%) and damp heath (41%). Most of the remaining area is classified as medium to high nutritional value (low herb meadow, meadow birch forest, and pasture). At Buøya six vegetation types were present and the island is dominated by low nutritional value classes (86%). On this island, high nutritional value is only found on patches of pasture (14%). Exposed rock is found on all islands, 1% at both Sandvær and Buøya and 4% at Sjonøya.

Lambs' average daily gain on the island pastures was  $0.320 \text{ kg d}^{-1}$  ( $SD = 0.067 \text{ kg d}^{-1}$ ), and they spend on average 89 days on the islands (SD = 13 days). From the mixed model (**Table 4**) all variables in the model were significantly affecting lamb growth at P < 0.05, except for lamb age (days) at release on the islands (P = 0.66).

Least square means (LS means) for the class variables island, year, interactions of year \* island, lamb sex, and ewe age are shown in **Table 5**.

*T*-tests between *LS* means showed that lamb daily gain (**Table 5**) differed between islands (P < 0.01) and that lambs at Sandvær had the highest daily gain (0.372 kg d<sup>-1</sup>) mainly caused by the high growth rate in 2012. Across islands, lamb daily gain was higher in 2012 and 2014 compared to 2013 (P < 0.01). The interaction between year and island show that the lambs' growth on Sandvær in 2012 was higher than that of all other year \* island classes (P < 0.01); no other significant differences were found. Male lambs had a higher average daily gain than female lambs (P < 0.01).

Daily weight gain of lamb from birth to release on the islands was fitted as a regression variable, with 0.076 (SE 0.029) kg d<sup>-1</sup>, i.e., an increase in early growth of 0.1 kg d<sup>-1</sup> would give an increased growth on island of 0.0076 kg d<sup>-1</sup>. Given 89 days grazing period on the islands, this increase gives an extra  $\approx$ 

**TABLE 4** | Effect of lamb age (d) at release, lambs average daily gain (g d<sup>-1</sup>) from birth to release, lamb sex (male or female), age of ewe (year), ewe weight (kg) at release, islands (Sandvær, Sjonøya, Buøya), year (2012, 2013, 2014), and the interaction between year and island, their nominator Degrees of Freedom (NDF), denominator Degrees of Freedom (DDF), *F* and *P*-values.

102

Effect NDF DDF F-value 0 19 Lamb age 1 101 Early growth 1 209 6 64 27.81 Sex 1 206 Ewe age 5 104 2.69 Ewe weight 1 104 13.37 2 Island 101 20.88 2 Year 106 10.79

4

**TABLE 2** | Number of Norwegian White ewes and lambs at Sandvær, Sjonøya,and Buøya in 2012–2014.

	San	dvær	Sjo	nøya	Buøya		
	Ewes	Lambs	Ewes	Lambs	Ewes	Lambs	
2012	7	13	20	40	15	30	
2013	7	14	20	40	15	30	
2014	7	14	20	40	12	23	

TABLE 3 | Average temperature (°C) and total precipitation (mm) in June, July, and August for 2012, 2013, and 2014 at Tjøtta weather station.

	Jun	e	Jul	4	August		
	Average temperature	Total precipitation	Average temperature	Total precipitation	Average temperature	Total precipitation	
2012	10.9	15.0	12.4	102.3	12.2	47.2	
2013	13.0	84.1	13.3	169.2	13.9	65.6	
2014	12.0	36.8	18.8	63.8	15.1	70.5	

Year\*Island

32.07

Ρ

0.663

0.011

< 0.001

0.025

< 0.001

< 0.001

< 0.001

< 0.001

**TABLE 5** | Least squared means (LS means) corrected for the other effects in the model for lambs average daily gain (kg d<sup>-1</sup>) on island pasture, with standard error (SE), for class variables island, year, year \* island, and sex in the mixed model.

Effect	Level	LS means	SE
Island	Sandvær (Sa)	0.372	0.013
	Sjonøya (Sj)	0.285	0.007
	Buøya (Bu)	0.326	0.007
Year	2012	0.344	0.009
	2013	0.303	0.008
	2014	0.337	0.008
Year*Island	2012*Sa	0.472	0.016
	2012*Sj	0.230	0.010
	2012*Bu	0.331	0.014
	2013*Sa	0.301	0.023
	2013*Sj	0.302	0.011
	2013*Bu	0.306	0.013
	2014*Sa	0.345	0.015
	2014*Sj	0.324	0.008
	2014*Bu	0.342	0.013
Sex	Male	0.343	0.006
	Female	0.313	0.007

0.7 kg live weight per lamb. The regression on ewe weight was 0.002 kg d<sup>-1</sup> (*SE* 0.0005) per kg ewe live weight; meaning that 1 kg higher ewe weight corresponds to an increased lamb growth of 2 g per day or 178 g during the 89 days grazing period on the islands. The variance component of year by ewe, of 0.0005 (*SE* 0.0002) was significantly different from zero (Wald-test: *Z* = 2.50, *P* = 0.006); the residual variance was 0.0013 (*SE* 0.0002) and different (*Z* = 7.45, *P* < 0.001) from zero.

## DISCUSSION

In the present study, we investigated lambs' performance when grazing semi-natural pastures on islands to evaluate the quality of these pastures. Further, we corrected for age of ewe, weight of ewe, and sex of lamb. All these effects significantly influenced lambs' average daily gain, as expected (13, 14) and are therefore not considered in the following discussion.

The proportion of vegetation types of high nutritional value differed between the islands. The vegetation type pasture is mainly former managed permanent grassland for forage production, now abandoned, and has a high nutritional value with an estimated grazing capacity of 0.75 LU per ha per year (7). At Sandvær, 35.5 ha, around 92% of the total area was classified as high value according to Rekdal (7). Pasture alone, covering around 12 ha, could sustain around 3.6 LU. In addition to pasture, the high nutritional value vegetation classes low herb meadow (covering 38%) and tall forb meadow (covering 21%) were found on this island. During the 3 years experiment, only 21 sheep (1.26 LU) grazed the island every summer. When vegetation is grazed at an optimum stocking rate the forage quality maintains. However, when the number of animals is too low to maintain the quality, the non-grazed areas will degrade. At Sandvær, the tall forb meadow vegetation type was dominated by meadowsweet (*Filipendula ulmaria*) resulting in a degradation of its grazing value. Meadowsweet has little grazing value for sheep and is often seen dominating areas with zero or low grazing pressure (15). The higher lamb daily gain at Sandvær compared to the two other islands, could be attributed to the high percentage of vegetation types with high nutritional value. A higher stocking rate combined with an earlier release would help improve the now low nutritional value of the vegetation type tall forb meadows and lead to an even higher weight gain of the lambs.

The stocking rate at Sjonøya was estimated to 9.2 LU including the flock of Old Norwegian (3.6 Norwegian White and 5.6 Old Norwegian). About 10% (20 ha) of the island was pasture which could carry about 10 LU (7). In addition, the high nutritional vegetation types of low herb meadow, meadow birch forest, pasture land forest and moist meadows (in total covering 5% of the area) was present allowing additionally 2 LU to graze the island. The number of grazing sheep at Sjonøya during the summer was equivalent to 9.2 LU thus close to estimated grazing capacity of 10 LU. However, lamb daily gain on Sjonøya was significantly lower than that of both Sandvær and Buøya. Sjonøya consists of four smaller islands connected only at low tide. Most of the cultivated pasture type is located on one of them and sheep could be temporary stranded at an island with mostly low nutritional value vegetation types. This could be one explanation for the lower average daily gain. The Old Norwegian sheep present at Sjonøya is a breed which can utilize coastal heath when higher nutritional value of other forages become scarce. However, during summer when higher nutritional value is available, the Old Norwegian breed graze the pasture as well.

The number of sheep at Buøya was estimated to 2.70 LU. Fourteen percent of the island (5 ha) was pasture and according to Rekdal (7) could carry around 2.5 LU. With a LU density of 2.70, density may be a limiting factor for lambs' growth, since the rest of Buøya is dominated by heath vegetation types and classified as having low nutritional value. Lambs' growth rate was significantly lower on this island compared to Sandvær, but higher than on Sjonøya. When the stocking rate is higher than the estimated capacity of the high nutritional value vegetations types, animals are forced to graze in medium and low nutritional value vegetations types. Species such as purple moor-grass (Molinia caerulea) and Viviparous sheep's-fescue (Festuca vivipara) were found in the coastal heath vegetation type at Buøya. These species could be important for animals grazing in areas dominated by low nutritional value classes (Haugen, unpublished). Comparing LU and cover of high nutritional vegetation types between Buøya and Sandvær, one could expect a higher difference in lambs' average daily gain. As discussed, parts of the high nutritional areas of Sandvær was not grazed due to the low stocking rate. We suspect that the total area was reduced in forage quality during the summer. On the other hand, the smaller area of high nutritional vegetation types at Buøya could be more intensively grazed and thus maintain a higher quality throughout the grazing period. The investigated islands all had a high degree of plant species diversity. Over a 3-months period, the nutritional valuechange would be species-specific and influences by general phenological development as well as the within-year impact of grazing.

The climate along the Norwegian coast is dominated by mild winters and wet summers. The average summer temperatures on the islands are 1-2 degrees lower than that observed at the weather station of Tjøtta (Lind, not published). Steinheim et al. (16) and Nielsen et al. (17) found that local weather affected growth of the lambs over summer, but that the effects were area specific. Nielsen et al. (18) examined the relationship between weather and lambs' growth at Tjøtta farm for 17 years and found that a warm July had a positive effect on lamb growth. Precipitation did not seem to have any direct influence on lambs' growth (18). In the present experiment, 2012 was in general cooler (11.8°C in average during June, July, and August) than the years 2013 (13.4 $^{\circ}$ C) and 2014 (15.4 $^{\circ}$ C) with less precipitation (164, 319, and 171 mm for 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively). Hatten et al. (8) in a 1999-2001 study in the Vega archipelago, situated about 80 km south of our study area, studied lambs' growth on four islands. The summer of 2001 was warm and dry and affected lambs' growth rate adversely. The animals in that study were collected from the islands late in August when available pasture and fresh water was inadequate and the average daily gain during the last month was negative for some lambs. The islands in our study were larger than the ones used in Hatten et al. (8) and thus likely not as sensitive to the summer weather conditions. We suggest that weather, within the range observed, did not strongly influence lamb growth rates in our study.

Similar challenges linked to phenological development of plants are not found in mountainous areas to the same extent (7). On the contrary, among the benefits of using mountain pastures are the diverse vegetation, the young phenological stages of plants, high in nitrogen, and low in fiber resulting from the snow line retreating upwards. This allows the animals to follow and graze on high quality pastures during the summer.

Lambs' daily gain during summer on mountain pastures varies and depends primarily on factors affecting available forage quality and stocking rate (19). Nielsen et al. (18) found lambs' daily gain both on lowland and mountain pastures to vary between 0.25 and 0.31 kg d<sup>-1</sup>. Animalia (20) report average Norwegian White Sheep lamb daily gain during summer of 0.29 kg d<sup>-1</sup>. This is in the same range as what we found, with an estimated daily gain of 0.32 kg d<sup>-1</sup>. This figure concurs with Hatten et al. (8) who reported lambs' daily gain between 0.25 and 0.33 kg d<sup>-1</sup> from islands in Vega archipelago.

A dynamic management plan when using island pastures is important. As the islands are flat, phenological development is uniform across the pastures and the stocking rate should ideally be higher in the spring and early summer than later. During the

### REFERENCES

 Rekdal Y. «Rovviltbestandenes betydning for landbruk og matproduksjon basert på norske ressurser» [The importance of the predator population for farming and food production based on Norwegian resources] [NIBIO Rapport 63(2)]. In GH Strand, editor. Utmarksbeite. Ås: NIBIO (2016). p. 27–31. summer, the lambs' need for high-quality forage increase while at the same time the pasture quality declines, decreased digestibility, and crude protein content. However, the pasture quality can to some extent be maintained if the stocking rate is adjusted during the grazing season. To release and collect the animals at the right time are therefore critical for the production output.

## CONCLUSION

In the present study we evaluated lamb performance on three islands with different grazing value and stocking rates. These lambs had a daily weight gain similar to the average weight gain for the Norwegian White breed on a national level. The homogenous topography and low altitude variation on the islands result in a uniform vegetation development and render the vegetation more sensitive to between and within summer climate variation. Adjustment of stocking rate, date of release, and collection of animals must be fine-tuned. With a dynamic and adaptive management strategy, there are high potential benefits for increasing the use of island pastures.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

VL was responsible for study design, data collection, analysis, and interpretation, and was the principle author of the manuscript. ØH was responsible for study design, data collection, analysis, and interpretation. F-AH was responsible for vegetation mapping and interpretation. GS was responsible for statistics, analysis, and interpretation. All authors contribute to manuscript revision and have read and approved the manuscript.

### FUNDING

The project 'Sheep in Motion' was funded by the Norwegian Research Council (Project number 208036).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank A. Nielsen, S. M. Eilsertsen, P. K. Bjørklund, and N. Ruderaas for collecting data. We wish to thank the farmers, M. Arntsen and B. H. Sund for allowing us to collect data from their sheep. M. Arntsen and his dogs were most valuable when collecting the sheep.

- St. meld. Endring og utvikling—En fremtidsrettet jordbruksproduksjon. (2016). Available online at: https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-st.-11-20162017/id2523121/ (accessed March 17, 2020).
- SSB. Holdings, Agricultural Area and Livestock. Statistics Norway. (2019). Available online at: https://www.ssb.no/en/statbank/table/12660/ tableViewLayout1/ (accessed March 27, 2020).

- Statens kartverk. Norges kystlinje (Norwegian Coastline) (2019). Available online at: https://www.kartverket.no/kunnskap/Fakta-om-Norge/norgeskystlinje/kystlinjen-i-kilometer/ (accessed March 17, 2020).
- NFK. Fakta om Nordland [Facts about Nordland county]. (2020). Available online at: https://www.nfk.no/om-nordland-fylkeskommune/om-nordland/ (accessed March 17, 2020).
- County Governor of Nordland. Søk på regionale miljøtilskudd i 2019 (Apply for Regional Environmental Grants for 2019) (2019). Available online at: https://www.fylkesmannen.no/Nordland/landbruk-og-reindrift/ Miljotiltak/sok-pa-regionale-miljotilskudd-2019/ (accessed March 17, 2020).
- Rekdal Y. Husdyrbeite i fjellet, vegetasjonstypar og beiteverdi. [Livestock grazing in the mountains. Vegetation types and forage value]. NIJOS-rapport 7/01. Norsk institutt for jord- og skogkartlegging, Ås (2001).
- Hatten L, Shimmings P, Elven R, Follestad A. Utmarksbeite på Helgelandskysten - en løsning på flere problemer [Rangeland pasture at Helgeland - a solution to several problems]. Rapport Norges Forskningsråd Project 129039/720. Ås: Bioforsk. (2002).
- SNL. Nordland Klima [Nordland County Climate]. (2020). Available online at: https://snl.no/Nordland\_-\_klima (assessed March 18, 2020).
- Rekdal Y, Larsson J. Veiledning i vegetasjonskartlegging M 1:20 000–50 000 [Guidance in Vegetation mapping M 1:20,000–50,000]. NIJOS-instruks 1/05. Norsk institutt for jord- og skogkartlegging, Ås. (2005).
- Mysterud A, Rekdal Y, Loe LE, Angeloff M, Mobæk R, Holand Ø, et al. Evaluation of landscape-level grazing capacity for domestic sheep in alpine rangelands. *Rangeland Ecol Manag.* (2014) 67:132–44. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-12-00177.1
- SAS Institute Inc. Base SAS 9.4 Procedures Guide. 5th ed. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc. (2015). Available online at: http://support.sas.com (accessed March 18, 2020).
- Jaborek JR, Zerby HN, Moeller SJ, Fluharty FL. Effect of energy source and level, and sex on growth, performance and carcass characteristics of long-fed lambs. *Small Ruminant Res.* (2018) 167:61–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2018.08.005
- 14. Reintke J, Brügemann K, Wagner H, Engel P, Wehrend A, König S. Phenotypic relationships between maternal energy metabolism and lamb body weight development during lactation for pure- and crossbred sheep populations

in low and high input production systems. Small Ruminant Res. (2020) 183:106037. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2019.106037

- French KE. Species composition determines forage quality and medicinal value of high diversity grasslands in lowland England. Agri Ecosystems Environ. (2017) 241:193–204. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.012
- Steinheim G, Weladji RB, Skogan T, Adnoy T, Skjelvag AO, Holand O. Climatic variability and effects on ungulate body weight: the case of domestic sheep. *Ann Zool Fennici*. (2004) 41:525–38. Available online at: https://www. jstor.org/stable/23736165
- Nielsen A, Yoccoz NG, Steinheim G, Storvik GO, Rekdal Y, Angeloff M, et al. Are responses of herbivores to environmental variability spatially consistent in alpine ecosystems? *Glob Change Biol.* (2012) 18:3050– 62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02733.x
- Nielsen A, Lind V, Steinheim G, Holand Ø. Variations in lamb growth on coastal and mountain pastures, will climate change make a difference? *Acta Agric Scan Sec A.* (2014) 64:243–52. doi: 10.1080/09064702.2015. 1029515
- Alvarez-Rodriguez A, Sanz A, Delfa R, Revilla R, Joy M. Performance and grazing behavior of Churra Tensina sheep stocked under different management systems during lactation on Spanish mountain pastures. *Livestock Sci.* (2007) 107:152–61. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2006.09.011
- Animalia. Årsrapport 2018 [Annual report 2018]. (2019). Available online at: www.animalia.no/globalassets/sauekontrollen---dokumenter/arsmeldingsau-2018.pdf (accessed March 29, 2020).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lind, Holand, Haugen and Steinheim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Grazing Allometry: Anatomy, Movement, and Foraging Behavior of Three Cattle Breeds of Different Productivity

## Caren M. Pauler<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Johannes Isselstein<sup>2</sup>, Joel Berard<sup>4,5</sup>, Thomas Braunbeck<sup>3</sup> and Manuel K. Schneider<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Forage Production and Grassland Systems, Agroscope, Zurich, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Crop Sciences, Georg-August-University, Göttingen, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Centre for Organismal Studies, Ruprecht-Karls-University, Heidelberg, Germany, <sup>4</sup> AgroVet-Strickhof, Lindau, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup> Animal Production Systems and Animal Health, Agroscope, Zurich, Switzerland

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France

#### Reviewed by:

Maurizio Ramanzin, University of Padova, Italy Manja Zupan Šemrov, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia

#### \*Correspondence:

Manuel K. Schneider manuel.schneider@ agroscope.admin.ch

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 31 March 2020 Accepted: 30 June 2020 Published: 14 August 2020

#### Citation:

Pauler CM, Isselstein J, Berard J, Braunbeck T and Schneider MK (2020) Grazing Allometry: Anatomy, Movement, and Foraging Behavior of Three Cattle Breeds of Different Productivity. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:494. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00494

Modern breeding has formed a multitude of cattle breeds ranging from undemanding, low-productive breeds to high-productive, specialized dairy, or beef cattle. The choice of breed has important implications for farm management, but its impact on pasture vegetation is underestimated. We hypothesized (i) that anatomy, movement, and foraging behavior of cattle are allometrically related on the individual level, (ii) that differences among cattle are not explained by individual variation alone but also by breed, and (iii) that anatomy, movement, and foraging behavior of a cattle breed is related to its productivity. In order to test these hypotheses, we conducted a controlled grazing experiment in which three cattle breeds simultaneously grazed three types of heterogenous, alpine pastures: low-productive Highland cattle (average weight: 358 kg); local, dual-purpose Original Braunvieh (582 kg); and high-productive Angus × Holstein crossbreed (679 kg). We measured body weight and claw base of nine cows per breed after 10 weeks of grazing alpine pastures. Over a period of 9 days, we recorded the step frequency and lying time by pedometer and space use by GPS. Moreover, we visually observed foraging behavior on three occasions per cow. Forage selectivity and quality were calculated for every cow's diet. Allometric relationships were analyzed on the individual level by fitting standardized major axes. For most parameters measured, we detected strong allometric relationships and clear differences among breeds that depended on the level of productivity. The claws of Highland cattle were relatively large compared to their body weight and thus they exerted less static pressure than other breeds. Moreover, the more productive a breed was, the higher its selectivity and step frequency were. For example, Highland cattle foraged shrubs and thistles more frequently than high-productive Angus × Holstein. The latter walked longer distances to select higherquality forage, while Highland cattle used the space more evenly, visited steeper slopes, and moved further away from water points. Irrespective of breed, vegetation

15

composition influenced cattle behavior: On pastures of low forage quality, animals walked more, foraged more selectively, and used space less evenly. In conclusion, the observed breed-specific differences can be used to improve pasture management and grassland conservation.

Keywords: alpine pastures, cattle breeds, claws, forage selection, GPS, movement behavior, pedometer, species diversity

## INTRODUCTION

The domestication of wild aurochses (Bos primigenius) created a plethora of cattle breeds (Bos taurus) with different characteristics (1). While the aurochs slowly evolved to cope with environmental conditions (2), human breeding decisions enormously accelerated genetic transformation to meet agricultural needs, and adaptation to the natural environment became less important (3). During the mid-nineteenth century, different breeds emerged from pure-breeding, as motivated by ideas of Darwinism, Mendelism, and biometry. In recent decades, genetic improvements facilitated by artificial insemination, quantitative genetics, and molecular markers considerably increased productivity (4). Thereby, traits prioritized by humans, particularly milk yield, body weight, feed intake, and growth rate were enhanced. Records of historical livestock production in Austria indicate that at the beginning of nineteenth century cows weighed about 250 kg and produced 1,300 kg of milk per year (5). Today, specialized beef cattle, such as Charolais or Blonde d'Aquitaine, weigh about 700-950 kg (6), and specialized dairy cows, such as Holstein Friesian, produce up to 12,800 kg of milk per year when fed concentrates (7). In addition to these prioritized traits, which breeding controls, there are numerous characteristics that are not accounted for in selection and have co-evolved unnoticed. Some of these hidden traits recently have gained awareness, such as robustness (8), longevity, and feed efficiency (9), while others, such as claw size, movement, and foraging behavior, have long been ignored in herdbook breeding (10).

Such profound transformations of cattle are likely to have an impact on the vegetation of the sites they graze. Seminatural pastures, which belong to the most diverse habitats on earth (11), were created by centuries of low-intensity grazing with low-productive animals (12). If the animals that formed these pastures undergo tremendous modifications within a few decades, vegetation may also change. Indeed, in a recent study we identified differences in vegetation when pastures were grazed by breeds of different productivity (13). In order to quantify the drivers of these differences, a follow-up study was designed: Strong changes in body weight, e.g., may exert increased pressure to the ground with negative consequences for vegetation, soil properties, and claw health. Cattle's claws are particularly interesting, because the base that is burdened by animal mass was not considered in breeding decisions and is, therefore, presumably disproportionately underdeveloped. Moreover, higher body weight, growth rate, and milk yield probably altered movement and foraging behavior. If modern cattle walk more, use the pasture differently, or forage other plants than their lower-productive ancestors, this could influence vegetation composition, as suggested by Pauler et al. (14).

Unfortunately, it is not possible to compare modern, highproductive cattle directly to their low-productive ancestors, which grazed pastures centuries ago, before production-oriented herdbook breeding began. However, there are modern, lowproductive breeds, such as Highland cattle, which are less affected by breeding: Mason (3) postulated little difference between modern Highland cattle and sculptures of cattle made by ancient Etruscans. While other breeds annually broke records of beef and milk production, the main breeding aim of Highland cattle was to thrive under harsh environmental conditions and on the low forage quality of the Scottish Highlands. Consequently, these animals are lighter and grow more slowly; at the same time, however, they are more robust and less demanding than high-productive breeds (15).

If productivity of cattle has an impact on pasture vegetation, there are far-reaching consequences for habitat conservation of low-productive grasslands, which host many vulnerable and endangered plant species (11, 16). These species may be negatively affected by grazing with high-productive cattle breeds as suggested by Pauler et al. (13): Plant species resistant to selective foraging, such as thistles or shrubs, as well as species adapted to trampling become dominant on pastures of high-productive breeds, and thus biodiversity decreases (13, 17). Moreover, in contrast to Highland cattle, high-productive animals are insufficiently alimented by the forage present in low-productive grasslands (18).

In the present study, we hypothesized (i) that anatomy, movement and foraging behavior of cattle are allometrically related on the individual level, (ii) that differences among cattle are not explained by individual variation alone but also by breed, and (iii) that anatomy, movement and foraging behavior of a cattle breed are related to its productivity. These hypotheses were tested, for the first time, in a controlled grazing experiment on species-rich alpine pastures using three cattle breeds that differ widely in productivity.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Three Breeds: Low-, Medium-, and High-Productive

We investigated anatomy, movement, and foraging behavior of three cattle breeds, representing a gradient from low to high productivity: The lower end of this gradient was represented by Highland cattle (HC), an undemanding and low-productive traditional breed, bred to thrive in the harsh environmental conditions of the Scottish Highlands, but widespread all over the world. Cattle of medium productivity were represented by Original Braunvieh (OB), a dual-purpose breed traditionally kept in the Swiss Alps, with body weight, and growth rate considerably higher than that of Highland cattle (6). The Original Braunvieh is not to be confused with Brown Swiss, a highproductive, but genetically less diverse dairy breed selected from the same original population (19). The most productive breed in our experiment was Angus × Holstein crossbreed (AH), which combines the strongly muscled, heavy body of Angus beef cattle with the large-framed body and elevated milk production of Holstein dairy cows.

The cows taking part in the experiment were randomly selected from their original herds. All cows were familiar with

mountainous grasslands, since they originated from mountain farms and also, had experience grazing high-elevation, alpine pastures in preceding summers. At their home farms, all study animals were fed grass silage and hay only. They were kept in the stable during winter with regular access to pastures in spring. Due to similar previous forage experience and housing conditions, we assumed that breeds experienced similar pre-conditioning. Cows were aged between 2.8 and 10.3 years (HC: 80 months, range: 53-124; OB: 46 months, range: 34-75; AH: 92 months, range: 60-110). We tested all variables for correlations with age, but found only weak relationships ( $R^2$ : 0.08–0.31).

Over a period of 2 weeks before the experiment was started, all cattle were allowed to graze the pastures of the study area together to acclimatize to the alpine conditions. For each of the breeds



FIGURE 1 | (a) Overview map and (b) aerial image of the study area in Swiss Alps with the three pastures grazed by cattle in the experiment.

TABLE 1	Characterization of the three pastures the cattle were grazed on.
---------	---

	Pasture 1	Pasture 2	Pasture 3
Description	Nutrient-rich, flat	Heterogeneous, steep with few flat parts, nutrient-poor with few nutrient-rich parts	Steep wood pasture, flat fens, extremely nutrient-poor
Bedrock material	Calcareous	Calcareous	Crystalline
Slope (%) <sup>a</sup>	19.2; 0.3; 56.7	48.1; 1.2; 122.6	25.1; 0.3; 146.7
Size (ha)	1.05 (0.39; 0.39; 0.27)	1.83 (0.70; 0.69; 0.43)	4.38 (1.66; 1.71; 1.01)
Stocking density (LU/ha)	11.4 (12.3; 12.2; 9.8)	6.6 (6.8; 7.0; 6.1)	2.8 (2.9; 2.8; 2.7)
Stocking rate (LU/ha/a)	0.28	0.20	0.08
Forage quality	High (5.9) <sup>b</sup>	Medium (4.6) <sup>b</sup>	Low (2.7) <sup>b</sup>
Available biomass (kg DM)	3,380	2,440	4,860 <sup>c</sup>
Vegetation type ( <b>Table 2</b> )	Fertile pasture	<ul><li>Fertile pasture</li><li>Mat-grass community</li><li>Dwarf-shrub community</li></ul>	<ul><li> Alpine fen</li><li> Larch-Pine forest</li></ul>

Table provides a short description of each pasture; the predominant bedrock; the average, minimum, and maximum slope (%)<sup>a</sup>; the total size (ha) of the entire pastures and, in brackets, the average paddock size of Angus × Holstein, Original Braunvieh, and Highland cattle; the stocking density (LU/ha) normalized to the metabolic live weight (= weight<sup>0.75</sup>) of a cow of 600 kg, on average and, in brackets, for the three breeds; the total stocking rate (LU/ha/yr); the forage quality relative to the other pastures and as averaged forage indicator value (21); the available biomass (kg dry matter); and the main vegetation type (20).

<sup>a</sup>SwissAlti3D, Federal Office of Topography swisstopo, Wabern.

<sup>b</sup>Average cover-weighted mean of forage quality indicator value (21) of all vascular plant species within 18 vegetation subplots per pasture, estimated before the first grazing in spring. For details, see Pauler et al. (14).

<sup>c</sup> Total standing biomass including woody structures in the herb layer (mainly dwarf shrubs).

TABLE 2 | Characterization of the vegetation types.

Vegetation type	Association	Dominant plant species
Fertile pasture	Poion alpinae	Trifolium pratense L. Trisetum flavescens (L.) P. BEAUV. Phleum rhaeticum (HUMPHRIES) RAUSCHERT Ranunculus acris L. Carum carvi L. Alchemilla xanthochlora ROTHM.
Mat-grass community	Nardion	Festuca rubra L. Nardus stricta L.
Dwarf-shrub- community	Juniperion nanae	Erica carnea L. Calluna vulgaris (L.) HULL
Alpine fen	Caricion fuscae	Various mosses Trichophorum cespitosum (L.) HARTM. Carex nigra (L.) REICHARD Carex panicea L.
Larch-pine forest	Larici-Pinetum cembrae	Larix decidua MILL. Pinus cembra L. Vaccinium myrtillus L. Vaccinium gaultherioides BIGELOW Juniperus communis L.

Table provides the main vegetation types in the study area [classification according to Delarze and Gonseth (20)], the scientific name of these plant associations, and their dominant plant species.

studied, three subgroups of three suckler cows and their calves were formed, resulting in a total of 54 animals. The subgroups were developed by ranking cows breed-wise based on specific body weight and joining every third individual (1 heavy, 1 middle weight, 1 light cow per subgroup). Anatomy and behavior were quantified for the 27 cows, but not for the calves.

## Study Areas: Three Types of Alpine Pastures

Movement and forage behavior were observed on three types of alpine pastures on Alp Weissenstein in the eastern Swiss Alps (2,026 m asl., 46.5816°N, 9.8002°E, **Figure 1**).

The three pastures differed in plant species composition, forage quality, and bedrock material (**Tables 1**, **2**). We calculated a total forage demand of 1,800 kg dry matter per pasture for all individuals during the experiment. In spring, the pastures already supplied 2,440–4,860 kg dry matter and there was additional regrowth during summer. Pasture size was set to provide excessive forage compared to the estimated forage demand and the actual biomass was measured by a rising plate meter (14). This amount of excess forage made sure that cattle selected plants based on preference rather than being pressured by shortage.

The three pastures were (i) a nutrient-rich, flat pasture, (ii) a steep, nutrient-poor pasture with few flat and nutrient-rich areas, and (iii) an extremely nutrient-poor, steep wood pasture with flat fens (for details, see **Tables 1**, **2**). Each pasture was subdivided into three paddocks with highly comparable conditions (14).

The three paddocks of a pasture were grazed simultaneously by three subgroups—one of each breed. The paddock size was adjusted to the breed to ensure similar stocking density despite the lower body weight and forage demand of Highland cattle (**Table 1**). Thus, additional space was added to the paddocks of Original Braunvieh and Angus × Holstein. Stocking density and stocking rate were calculated by normalizing metabolic body mass (= weight<sup>0.75</sup>) to cows of 600 kg (22).

From the three paddocks of pasture 1, the three subgroups (= three cows plus calves per breed) were transferred to the paddocks in the second, and subsequently in the third pasture. The animals stayed 3–4 days on each pasture. This rotation procedure was repeated three times. Different subgroups and, therefore, different animals were used for each rotation to avoid pseudoreplication. Applying a Latin square design, a different breed grazed each paddock in each rotation. Thereby, each breed visited each paddock once. This procedure resulted in three independent repetitions to account for variation in social behavior, season, and weather. On each pasture, movement and foraging behavior of every cow in the subgroup were observed. During the rotations, the remaining animals of the other two subgroups per breed were kept on another pasture not included in the experiment.

The paddocks of pasture 1 were relatively small compared to other alpine farms (23). This was necessary to define homogeneous paddocks. Larger paddocks would have led to confounding effects due to larger heterogeneity. However, the system was not an intensive grazing system since the number of animals per paddock was small. Moreover, the fast rotation reduced stocking rate while allowing for independent replications with different individuals. In Switzerland, the 465, 000 ha alpine pastures are grazed by 300,000 livestock units (LU) for 100 days (23). This results in an average stocking rate of about 0.18 LU/ha/yr. Hence, with 0.08–0.28 LU/ha/yr, the stocking rate in our study was representative of alpine grazing systems in Switzerland (23, 24) and is applicable for extensive grazing systems.

## Assessment of Anatomy: Body Weight and Claw Base

All cows were weighed at the beginning and at the end of the grazing experiment (Weighing System FX15, Texas Trading, Windach, Germany). The body weight after 10 weeks of grazing alpine pastures was used for analysis. The average change in body weight during the grazing period was calculated for each cow.

Two weeks prior to the experiment, the shape and health status of the claws of all 27 cows were inspected by an approved expert and claws were corrected if necessary. At the end of the grazing season, after 10 weeks under similar conditions, the claw base of each cow was measured using the left forefoot and the left hindfoot. Adapting the method of Nuss and Paulus (25) to living animals, we took a picture of the claw base in a scaled frame (**Figure 2A**) and rectified the photograph (software: Office Lens, Microsoft, Redmond, USA). Using the software "Measure pictures" (CAD-KAS Kassler Computer Software, Markranstädt,



FIGURE 2 | Measurement of claw base: (A) Unedited photograph of the ground of a cow's left forefoot with scaled frame. (B) The same photograph after rectifying with scale and red polygons, drawn to measure the base of the lateral (on left here) and the medial (on right here) claw.

Germany), we traced the outline of the claw base and calculated the area of this polygon based on the scale included in the picture (**Figure 2B**). Thus, we measured the medial and lateral claws of both feet. Assuming the left claws as proxies for the right claws (26), we doubled the values and summed them. Static pressure to the ground was calculated by dividing the body weight by the summed claw base.

## Assessment of Movement Behavior: Pedometer and GPS Logger

Movement behavior of cows was tracked by pedometers and GPS loggers, which recorded data for the entire duration cows were on the study pastures (9–10 days per cow). To quantify movement behavior, we used IceTag pedometers (IceRobotics, Edinburgh, UK). This device is a three-axis accelerometer that uses the force of movement to identify the number of times a cow lifts its leg and records these events as steps. The time the sensor is horizontal is recorded as lying time. A pedometer was fixed at the left hindfoot of six cows per breed for a total of 18 pedometers installed. The step counts and lying time were recorded for each cow in each pasture separately; from these data, average steps per hour and the proportion of time spent lying (lying ratio) were calculated.

In addition, all 27 cows were equipped with collars carrying a box with a GPS logger (Qstarz BTQ1000XT, Qstarz, Taipei, Taiwan) and 3.6 V lithium batteries (27). The GPS loggers recorded movement for the entire duration cows spent on the study pastures; for unknown reasons, however, 3 of the 27 GPS loggers inadvertently stopped recording prematurely. Positions were logged every 15 s, providing information about the distance covered during a certain time span. The median absolute position error of the GPS devices is 3.1 m (27). The accuracy of covered distance measured by GPS loggers was supported by visual observations and checked against the step count of pedometers, which is not GPS-dependent. The values recorded by pedometers and GPS loggers proved highly correlated ( $R^2 = 0.90$ ).

For each cow in each pasture, the average hourly covered distance (i.e., speed in m/h) was computed. Furthermore, in order to find out how often cattle visited different portions of the entire available area of each pasture, we calculated the evenness of space use by counting the number of GPS positions within  $5 \times 5 \text{ m}$  grid cells throughout the entire study time and by calculating Camargo's index of evenness across all cells (28). For all cells, two topographic covariates were calculated: percentage slope based on the swissALTI3D digital elevation model with 2 m resolution (Federal Office of Topography, Wabern) and the Euclidean distance to the water sources accessible within the paddock. The positions counted for each individual in each paddock were regressed against each covariate separately using a linear model with a spatially structured and a random error term, fitted using integrated nested Laplace approximation with prior specifications similar to Homburger et al. (23). Covariates were standardized into z-scores to make estimated coefficients comparable across paddocks and individuals.



FIGURE 3 | Schematic illustration of differences among allometric lines of three exemplified breeds [adapted from Warton et al. (32)]: (A) Allometric lines differ in slope, i.e., the relationships of x and y differ among breeds. (B) Allometric lines are shifted along their common slope, i.e., the x and y vary consistently across breeds. (C) If allometric lines differ in elevation, they are shifted in parallel to each other, i.e., the values of x differ among groups at similar values of y. The length of allometric lines reflects the data range, but does not affect the allometry.



## **Assessment of Foraging Behavior**

The foraging behavior was assessed by direct visual observation of the plant species consumed by each cow on 3 different days—one at each pasture type. On each day, every cow was observed foraging for 15–41 min (mean: 26 min), depending on the foraging activity during observation. Before the experiment started, animals were familiarized with to the observer: after a few hours, there was no indication of unnatural behavior and the cows foraged as if they were unobserved. Hence, it was possible to follow the grazing cow in close proximity to the side of the cow's head (from 0.5 to 2 m away). For every second bite, the plant species with the highest share within a bite was recorded. Despite the short distance, it was not always possible to discriminate between some species with similar habitus in the short time available. We therefore combined a few plant species into groups: broad-leaved Poaceae (except *Deschampsia*  *cespitosa*, which was easy to identify, and has much lower forage quality than other broad-leaved Poaceae); fine-leaved Poaceae (except *Nardus stricta*, for which the same applies as for *D. caespitosa*); yellow Asteraceae; *Carex* species; *Trifolium pratense* and *T. repens*; *Potentilla aurea* and *P. erecta*. All other plants were recorded at species level.

Subsequently, we calculated the relative consumption of each plant species or species group per cow and pasture. As a proxy for palatability to cattle, we used the indicator values of forage quality by Briemle et al. (21). The indicator values were multiplied by the relative consumption of all species to estimate the average quality of the consumed forage. For species groups, the relative abundance of the individual plant species within each group in each pasture was calculated based on 186 vegetation relevées (14). In order to reveal how strictly cattle select their forage, we also calculated Pielou's evenness of the selected plant species.

# Statistical Analysis: Tukey Range Tests and Allometric Line Fitting

All calculations were conducted in R 3.6.1 (29). Differences among breeds and among pastures were tested using Tukey range tests as implemented in package *multcomp* (30). For movement variables and foraging behavior of each animal in each pasture, tests were conducted on the mean value per animal over all three pastures, as well as on separate mean values for each pasture. In the text, pairwise comparisons between breeds were labeled by the symbol  $\sim$ . The effects of paddock size, breed, and their interaction on movement behavior were analyzed by a linear regression model, followed by an analysis of variance.

Allometric relationships on the individual level were estimated by fitting standardized major axes (SMA) using the R package *smatr* (31). SMA is appropriate if there is no causal relationship between two variables x and y, and if x and y differ in variance (32). In contrast to linear regression, SMA minimizes residuals for both axes, not only the y-axis, i.e., both variables are assumed to produce errors. The allometric lines fitted for the three breeds were tested for differences in slope, shift, and elevation. In the case of differing slopes (Figure 3A), the relationship between x and y varied among the three breeds. In cases of a difference in shift (Figure 3B), breeds differed consistently in the levels of x and y. In such cases, breeds had similar values of x at similar values of y. If allometric lines differed in elevation (Figure 3C), the level of the relationship of x and y differed consistently among breeds. In the latter case, breeds had different values of x at similar values of y. For example, in order for the green breed to have a similar elevation as the blue breed, it would have needed to have either larger x or smaller y values.

## RESULTS

## Differences in Body Weight and Claw Base Among Breeds

The breeds differed significantly in body weight and claw size (**Figures 4A,B**). Highland cattle were the lightest breed on the smallest claw base, followed by Original Braunvieh. Angus  $\times$  Holstein cattle were the heaviest breed and had the largest claws. However, the differences in the claw base were less distinct than the differences in body weight. Hence, claw base generally scaled with body weight, but there were significant differences among breeds beyond individual effects: Although Highland cattle had smaller claws compared to the other two breeds, their claw base was larger relative to their body weight (**Figure 4C**). Therefore, the static pressure of the body mass on each square centimeter of claw base was significantly lower in Highland cattle than in the other two breeds.

The cattle spent a total of 10 weeks on the alpine pastures, which were relatively nutrient-poor compared to the pastures of their home farms. During this period, Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh cattle lost, on average, 0.6 and 0.3 kg weight per day, respectively (**Figure 4D**). With an average positive daily weight gain of 0.08 kg, Highland cattle differed significantly from the other two breeds ( $p_{HC\sim OB} = 0.002$  and  $p_{HC\sim AH} < 0.001$ , respectively).

## Differences in Movement Behavior Among Breeds as Influenced by Pasture Conditions

The number of steps recorded by pedometer and the distance covered per hour showed similar patterns for the breeds and the pastures (**Figures 5A,B**): Original Braunvieh moved most (on average 4.6 km and 2,660 steps per day), followed by Angus × Holstein (4.1 km; 2,510 steps), which differed marginally from each other (steps:  $p_{OB\sim AH} = 0.86$ ; distance:  $p_{OB\sim AH} = 0.02$ ; displayed in black in **Figure 5**). Highland cattle (3.4 km; 1,880 steps) took significantly fewer steps than Angus × Holstein ( $p_{HC\sim AH} = 0.04$ ) and Original Braunvieh ( $p_{HC\sim OB} = 0.02$ ), covered less distance ( $p_{HC\sim AH} = 0.09$ ;  $p_{HC\sim OB} < 0.001$ , respectively), and spent more time lying than the other two breeds (**Figure 5C**).

The linear regression model demonstrated that paddock size as well as the breed had a significant impact on the steps taken  $(p_{breed} < 0.001; p_{size} < 0.001)$  and the distance covered  $(p_{breed} < 0.001; p_{size} < 0.001)$ , but interactions were not significant (steps:  $p_{breed\sim size} = 0.72$ ; distance:  $p_{breed\sim size} = 0.10$ ). All breeds were significantly less active on the small, nutrient-rich pasture 1 than on the large, nutrient-poor pasture 3 (steps:  $p_{pasture} < 0.001$ ; distance:  $p_{pasture} < 0.001$ , displayed in gray in **Figure 5**) and spent more time lying there ( $p_{pasture} < 0.001$ ). However, apart from this general trend, Highland cattle moved least on all pastures. For instance, on pasture 3 Highland cattle took about as many steps (**Figure 5A**) and covered about the same average daily distance (**Figure 5B**) as the other two breeds on pasture 1, where Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh moved least.

Furthermore, the evenness of space use differed among breeds (Figure 5D): Highland cattle used the pastures most evenly, whereas the space use of Angus  $\times$  Holstein was more tightly clustered. The latter explored the available area least. There were no significant differences in evenness of space use between Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh ( $p_{OB\sim AH} = 0.2$ ), but both breeds differed significantly from Highland cattle ( $p_{HC\sim AH}$  and  $p_{\rm HC\sim OB} < 0.001$ ). Similar to recorded steps and covered distance, the linear regression model demonstrated an impact of pasture size ( $p_{size} = 0.005$ ) indicating that animals spread more evenly across smaller pastures. Thus, the relatively homogeneous, flat pasture 1 was used more evenly than the heterogeneous pastures 2 and 3 (both  $p_{\text{pasture}} < 0.001$ ). However, when taking pasture size into account, the breed effect was more distinct ( $p_{breed} < 0.001$ ) than the pasture size effect. The interaction of breed and size was insignificant (p = 1.0).

Steep slope generally reduced space use, but its impact differed among breeds (**Figure 5E**). Highland cattle avoided steep areas least, Angus × Holstein most clearly ( $p_{HC\sim AH} < 0.001$ ). Original Braunvieh took an intermediate position ( $p_{HC\sim OB} = 0.07$  and  $p_{OB\sim AH} = 0.001$ ). On the flat pasture 1, the breeds differed only marginally in their response to slope. On pastures 2 and 3, which offered both, steep and flat areas, Highland cattle differed significantly from the other two breeds (pasture 2:  $p_{HC\sim OB} =$ 0.01,  $p_{HC\sim AH} < 0.001$ ; pasture 3:  $p_{HC\sim OB} = 0.08$ ,  $p_{HC\sim AH} < 0.001$ ).



**FIGURE 5** | Movement behavior of the three breeds Angus × Holstein, Original Braunvieh, and Highland cattle: (A) The average number of steps recorded per hour; (B) the average covered distance per hour (i.e., the speed); (C) the ratio of the time spent lying; (D) the evenness of space use; (E) the impact of slope, and (F) of the distance to water points on cattle movement behavior. Steps and lying ratio were recorded for six, covered distance and space use evenness for all nine cows per breed. Filled boxplots represent mean values, empty boxplots differentiate by the three types of alpine pastures: (1) nutrient-rich, flat pasture, (2) heterogeneous dwarf-shrub pasture, (3) nutrient-poor fen and wood pasture. Significances of differences among breeds are displayed above the boxplots in black, those among pastures below the boxplots in light gray [box: 25th to 75th quartile range (IRQ); line: median; whiskers: max. 1.5 × IQR; points: outliers; nsp > 0.1;  $^{o}p < 0.1$ ;  $^{*p} < 0.05$ ;  $^{**p} < 0.01$ ;  $^{**p} < 0.001$ ].

Moreover, the space use of cattle was influenced by the distance to water points (**Figure 5E**). The further a location was away from water, the less frequently it was visited. The impact of the distance to water increased with pasture size: on the small pasture 1, cattle were less influenced by the distance to water than on the largest pasture ( $p_{\text{pasture}} = 0.04$ ). Clearer differences among breeds were observed in larger paddocks. On pasture 3, breeds differed significantly in their response to water distance. Highland cattle moved further away from water than Original

Braunvieh ( $p_{HC\sim OB} = 0.002$ ) and Angus × Holstein ( $p_{HC\sim AH} < 0.001$ ).

## Differences in Foraging Behavior Among Breeds as Influenced by Pasture Conditions

We found differences in the evenness of forage selection and the forage quality of selected plant species among cattle breeds,



**FIGURE 6** | Forage selection behavior of three cattle breeds Angus × Holstein, Original Braunvieh, and Highland cattle. For all the nine cows per breed (A) the evenness of forage selection, (B) the average forage quality of the selected plants (21), and the share of (C) broad-leaved grasses, (D) legumes, (E) thistles, and (F) shrubs within the selected forage plants were measured. Filled boxplots represent average values, empty boxplots differentiate by the three types of alpine pastures: (1) nutrient-rich, flat pasture, (2) heterogeneous dwarf-shrub pasture, (3) nutrient-poor fen and wood pasture. Significances of differences among breeds are displayed above the boxplots in black, those among pastures below the boxplots in light gray [box: 25th to 75th quartile range (IRQ); line: median; whiskers: max. 1.5 × IQR; points: outliers;  $^{ns}p > 0.1$ ;  $^{o}p < 0.1$ ;  $^{*p} < 0.05$ ;  $^{**p} < 0.01$ ;  $^{**p} < 0.001$ , na, not available].

indicating that different breeds preferred different groups of plants. For all averaged indicators, Highland cattle differed significantly from the other two breeds (p < 0.02). In contrast, no significant differences were found between Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh for any of the indicators of foraging behavior (p: 0.84–1).

Highland cattle foraged more evenly than the other breeds (Figure 6A), as observed in the overall average (p < 0.001), as well as in pasture-wise values. Only the evenness of forage

selection by Highland cattle in pasture 3 did not differ significantly from Angus × Holstein cattle. Simply put, Highland cattle ate what was available. Thereby, they selected forage with significantly lower quality than the other two breeds (p < 0.001; **Figure 6B**). This was also reflected in breed-specific preference and avoidance of certain plant groups. Broad-leaved grasses and legumes were the plants with the highest forage quality in our study area. Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh had a stronger preference for these plants than Highland cattle



**FIGURE 7** Selected allometric relationships among variables concerning anatomy, movement and foraging behavior of three cattle breeds. Panels (A–I) show allometric relationships of body weight (kg), claw base (cm), average daily body weight change over 10 weeks on alpine pastures (kg/d), the average number of steps recorded per hour, the ratio of the time spent lying, the evenness of space use, the evenness of plant species selection, and the average forage quality of the selected plants (21). The number of recorded steps and lying ratio were available for six cows per breed and the other variables for nine cows per breed. Figures show the overall allometric line for all animals (dashed black) with their regression coefficient ( $R^2$ ) as well as allometric lines for each of the three breeds. For all allometries where the slope differed significantly among breeds, the breed-specific allometric lines are provided (dashed lines) together with the forced common slope (solid lines). This was necessary for testing shift and elevation, for which significances of differences among breeds are given ( $^nsp > 0.1$ ;  $^*p < 0.05$ ;  $^**p < 0.01$ ;  $^{**}p < 0.001$ ).

(**Figures 6C,D**). In contrast, thistles and shrubs had the lowest forage quality and were foraged much less by Original Braunvieh and Angus  $\times$  Holstein than by Highland cattle (**Figures 6E,F**). Since thistles primarily grew on pasture 2 and shrubs on pastures 2 and 3, differences were only detectable on these pastures.

In addition to breed, the pasture type also influenced foraging behavior: Cattle selected their forage more evenly on the homogeneous, nutrient-rich pasture 1 than on the heterogeneous, nutrient-poor pasture 3 ( $p_{\text{pasture}} = 0.001$ ). In contrast, the quality of selected forage was highest on pasture 1, where plants with the highest forage quality grew, and lowest on pasture 3, where only forage of low quality was available ( $p_{\text{pasture}} < 0.001$ ). Plant groups were grazed most on the pastures where they were most abundant: broad-leaved grasses and legumes were foraged significantly more often on pasture 1 than on pasture 3 (both  $p_{\text{pasture}} < 0.001$ ), thistles were foraged more on pasture 2 than on pasture 1 ( $p_{\text{pasture}} = 0.003$ ) and on pasture 3 ( $p_{\text{pasture}} = 0.004$ ), and shrubs were consumed most on pasture 3 ( $p_{\text{pasture}} < 0.001$ ).

# Allometry of Anatomy, Movement, and Foraging Behavior

There were various strong allometric relationships among the variables tested (**Figure 7**), indicating that characteristics are consistently related to one another within each individual. However, most allometries were better explained, when breed was taken into account. As described above, Highland cattle differed from Original Braunvieh and Angus  $\times$  Holstein in all variables measured, as indicated by a significant shift along the allometric lines (i.e., data clouds in **Figure 7** are shifted along the direction of the lines). In addition to the simple positive or negative relationships, there were numerous effects of cattle breed on the specific allometries itself: We found significant differences in elevation among breeds' allometric lines (i.e., a parallel shift of the lines) for five out of nine allometries investigated.

Body weight and claw base (**Figure 7A**) were highly related to each other ( $R^2 = 0.54$ ). The relationship was similar for all three breeds, as indicated by the lack of significant differences in slopes of the breeds' allometric lines. Thus, heavy animals consistently had larger claws than light animals, independent of breed. However, breeds significantly differed in weight and claw base as indicated by a significant shift (p < 0.001) of Highland cattle data along the allometric lines compared to the other two breeds, which did not differ significantly from each other. In addition, not only the position of the point clouds of the breeds along the allometric lines, but also the elevation of their lines differed (p = 0.01). Highland cattle had significantly larger claw base in relationship to the body weight than the other two breeds.

There was an overall negative relationship between the average daily change in body weight and the quality of the selected forage ( $R^2 = 0.34$ , **Figure 7B**): Animals that selected forage of higher quality lost more weight. Taking breeds into account reveals that this is primarily a breed effect, as indicated by the highly significant differences in elevation of the allometric lines (p < 0.001) and by the positive relationship within each breed, contrary to the overall negative relationship. In contrast to the

other breeds, Highland cattle increased body weight despite low forage quality.

Breed also strongly affected the allometric relationship between selection evenness and lying ratio ( $R^2 = 0.17$ , **Figure 7C**). In general, animals that selected their forage more evenly, spent more time lying. Forage selection was most even for Highland cattle and they spent the most time lying (shift: p< 0.001); however, but relative to the evenness of their forage selection, the lying ratio was low (elevation p = 0.005).

Space use evenness showed a positive relationship with selection evenness ( $R^2 = 0.52$ , **Figure 7D**) and a negative relationship with the selected forage quality ( $R^2 = 0.55$ , **Figure 7E**), which in turn was negatively linked to selection evenness ( $R^2 = 0.78$ , **Figure 7F**). Animals that used space evenly also selected forage plants evenly, but they foraged plants of lower quality. Highland cattle used space and foraged most uniformly, but selected forage of lowest quality (shift of all allometries p < 0.001).

Over all animals, the average number of steps recorded per hour was negatively related with the evenness of space use  $(R^2 = 0.22, \text{ Figure 7G})$ . Animals that walked a lot covered less space. However, within each breed, the linkage of steps and space use evenness was less clear, pointing to a breed effect instead of a real allometric relationship (elevation: p = 0.001).

Finally, the number of steps recorded had a negative relationship with the evenness of selection ( $R^2 = 0.55$ , **Figure 7H**) and a positive relationship with the quality selected ( $R^2 = 0.52$ , **Figure 7I**). Animals that moved a lot, selected their forage plants more strictly and ingested forage of higher quality, irrespective of breed. Highland cattle, the breed that walked least, selected plant species least strictly, and of lowest quality (shift of both allometries p < 0.001). The significant differences in elevation (p = 0.02) among breeds' allometric lines show that Highland cattle would have foraged more selectively or taken fewer steps, if the relationship of steps and selectivity only depended on the individual.

### DISCUSSION

As initially hypothesized, this comparative study of cattle on alpine pastures identified several close relationships among anatomy, movement, and foraging behavior, as demonstrated by allometric line fitting (hypothesis 1). Moreover, a considerable part of the variation among individuals is explained by breed, as indicated by Tukey range tests and by tests for allometric shift and elevation (hypothesis 2). Finally, the gradient of productivity from low-productive Highland cattle to intermediate Original Braunvieh to high-productive Angus × Holstein was consistently reflected in almost all parameters analyzed (hypothesis 3).

## Anatomical Differences Among Breeds and Consequences for Animal Health, Soil, and Vegetation

Body weight and claw base were closely related at the individual level: The heavier a cow was, the larger was the area of its claw base. However, breed did also matter: Relatively small claws

were measured for the two high-productive breeds compared to those of Highland cattle. Therefore, the static pressure of body mass on every square centimeter of claw base was relatively high for Angus × Holstein, marginally less for Original Braunvieh, and significantly lower for Highland cattle. The similar weightclaw allometry of the two productive breeds goes along with Tuohy et al. (33), who found only small differences in weightclaw allometry between Holstein and Holstein × Jersey dairy cows. The relatively large claws of Highland cattle have been presumed (34), but have never been quantified in a comparative assessment. For this experiment, cows where kept under similar, but not identical housing condition over winter. To increase comparability, they grazed the same grounds over a period of 10 weeks prior to the claw measurement. An explanation for the differences observed among breeds may be that the breeding process increased cattle's body weights to a much larger extent than their claw bases-likely because nobody declared "large claws" as a breeding objective. These differences may strongly affect the animals as well as the pastures they graze.

On the one hand, huge body mass on a small base has the potential to affect claw health and may be an overlooked source of claw pathologies. Previous studies did not find differences in claw health among high-productive breeds (26, 35). However, testing a broader range of productivity, low-productive dairy breeds showed significantly fewer claw diseases than high-productive breeds (36). This may, at least partially, be explained by differences in allometry between body weight and claw base, since less weight burdens each square centimeter of claw. Correspondingly, many Highland cattle farmers reported that they almost never observe claw diseases and rarely need claw trimming or veterinary assistance at their home farms. Unfortunately, the relative frequency of claw diseases in Highland cattle has never been analyzed relative to other breeds.

On the other hand, claw pressure not only has an impact on animal welfare, but also on pastureland. Generally, heavy animals on relatively small claws compress the soil more forcefully, thereby promoting erosion (37). Herbin et al. (38) reported an increase in soil penetration resistance and a decrease in porosity on pastures grazed by heavy animals with relatively small claw base. Accordingly, we found more open ground susceptible to erosion in pastures of high-productive breeds than in those of Highland cattle in a previous study (13). If grazing intensity increases, to which trampling pressure contributes, soil organic carbon decreases, with negative consequences for greenhouse gas emissions (39). High trampling pressure comes along with structural deterioration and compaction of soil (40), whereas water storage capacity and pasture productivity decrease (41). The negative effects of trampling (42) are particularly notable where heavy animals are present on steep slopes (43). In contrast, light Highland cattle with large claws have the potential to minimize trampling-induced erosion effects, especially on shallow alpine soils that benefit notably from light and moderate grazing (44).

Moreover, trampling pressure is a driver of selection and thus affects vegetation composition by promoting plant species welladapted to trampling (45, 46): (i) Short plants with caespitose, matted or rosette architecture and with elastic tissue are less damaged; (ii) prostrate or stoloniferous species with rooting stems or stolons can regrow from intact parts after trampling; (iii) species with high regenerative capacity can quickly rebuild damaged parts; (iv) early bloomers avoid being trampled by finishing their life cycle before the first grazing in spring. These plant species become dominant under high trampling impact (47). As a result, they are significantly more frequent on pastures of high-productive breeds than on Highland cattle pastures (13). On pastures of heavy animals with relatively small claws, trampling pressure is an important ecological driver of vegetation composition and trampling-adapted plants outcompete less adapted species, resulting in a decrease in plant species richness (13).

## Movement Behavioral Characteristics Are Allometrically Related at the Breed Level

Soil and vegetation is not only affected by static pressure, but also by the frequency of trampling and its spatial distribution: The static pressure, as measured in the present study, only applies when the animal is standing, equally weighting all four feet. Since pressure concentrates onto three or even two claws while moving, trampling pressure increases as the cow walks and exerts additional destructive kinetic energy (42). As measured by pedometer and GPS tracking in our study, Highland cattle moved least and slowest (i.e., they covered least distance per time) on almost all pastures. Pressure on vegetation and soil is less intensive and less frequent and thereby, the negative impact of trampling on soil and vegetation described above may be reduced on Highland cattle pastures.

Generally, cattle do not cover available space evenly, especially on heterogeneous alpine pastures (10, 23, 48). It seems logical that animals that walk less visit fewer parts of the pasture and leave most places undiscovered. Yet, the opposite was the case: The fewer steps an animal took, the more evenly it occupied the available space. This unexpected negative allometry makes sense, if the breed effect is considered. Despite their slowness, Highland cattle visited the most distant and steepest places on the pastures. In contrast, Original Braunvieh and Angus  $\times$ Holstein took many steps, but explored a smaller share of the available area. The sparse flat and nutrient-rich parts of the pastures, where they spent most time, provide plants of high forage quality and smooth terrain, which are both attractive qualities (23, 48), especially for cattle with high nutritive demand and large body size. The data suggest that both productive breeds moved more than Highland cattle, but within a smaller space, in flatter areas and closer to water points. Undemanding Highland cattle gathered less frequently on the attractive, flat parts of the pastures, although pasture size was large enough not to force them to forage on the poorer, steep parts of the pastures far away from water. A more even space use is expected in smaller paddocks and at higher stocking density (49), but Highland cattle spread more evenly than would be expected based on paddock size and stocking. The differences in movement behavior among breeds go along with Spiegal et al. (50), who found a traditional cattle breed visiting more different places than a high-productive breed, which preferred the hotspots more clearly. As Highland cattle spread more evenly, they comply with farmers' ambitions to utilize remote or unattractive parts of their land.

Although paddocks of Highland cattle were about one third smaller, it is unlikely that differences in movement behavior among breeds were caused by paddock size alone: Highland cattle in paddocks of pasture 2 moved less than Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh in the smaller paddocks of pasture 1. Moreover, in pasture 3, Highland cattle moved about as much (93 steps and 190 m per hour), and as evenly (Camargo's index of evenness: 0.35) as the other breeds did on pasture 1 (steps: 95 and 91; distance: 150 and 170 m per hour; Camargo's index: 0.35 and 0.34 for Angus × Holstein and Original Braunvieh, respectively), although Highland cattle had nearly three times more space in pasture 3 than the other breeds in pasture 1. If movement were inhibited by paddock size, Highland cattle would have taken more steps, covered more distance and spread less even across pasture 3. Additionally, if the movement were a function of paddock size alone, the breed differences should be expected to diminish with increasing available area. However, the opposite was observed: The breed effect on movement parameters was stronger in the large paddocks of pastures 3 than in the small paddocks of pasture 1. In pasture 3, where the differences were most significant, the three cows of each breeds had access to more than 1 ha pastureland and were thus hardly limited in their movement. Nevertheless, Highland cattle covered the least distance and spread most evenly there. Finally, the linear regression model clearly demonstrated a breed effect that goes beyond the effect of pasture size.

## Foraging Behavior Depends on Breeds' Level of Productivity

Generally, animals that used space evenly also foraged evenly, as supported by Bailey et al. (51), and cattle that walked little also selected forage plants evenly. Independent of the breed, an individual cow that spread evenly, grazed many different plants, and took only few steps. This suggests that a highly selective cow needs to cover more distance to find the most palatable plants, while a less selective cow eats what is in close proximity of her mouth, not caring much about the quality. This assumption corresponds with the low quality of the selected forage for those animals that took only few steps. Highland cattle moved the least, thereby foraging most evenly and selecting a diet of lowest quality compared to the other two breeds. Original Braunvieh cattle took an intermediate position, but were much more similar to Angus × Holstein than to Highland cattle. Differences in the quality of the selected forage may be additionally explained by cattle's physical access to steep slopes (10), which typically offer forage of lower quality. While large body mass may hinder high-productive breeds' ability to visit steep areas, Highland cattle can reach them and forage the poorer forage there.

Through modern breeding, Original Braunvieh and Angus  $\times$  Holstein have been selected for a higher growth rate and milk production than Highland cattle (15). Therefore, they are in need of high-nutritive forage, such as broad-leaved grasses and legumes (21) and move longer distances to reach these plants. In

contrast, the lower nutritive demand of slow-growing Highland cattle were covered by forage of lower quality. Thus, they save steps while foraging.

In the long term, the higher selectivity of more productive breeds has important consequences for pasture vegetation (13). Unattractive plants co-evolved under grazing pressure and developed strategies to avoid foraging. Thus, toxic species (e.g., *Ranunculus, Aconitum*), plants of low forage quality (e.g., *Nardus stricta*), plants with physical defense mechanisms (e.g., thistles, *Deschampsia cespitosa*), or shrubs are avoided by cattle. The more selectively herbivores graze the more dominant these species become (52, 53). Since they outcompete other plants lessadapted to grazing, plant species richness decreases. Accordingly, significantly fewer plant species were found on pastures grazed by high-selective, high-productive breeds than on pastures of less selective Highland cattle (13).

Interestingly, cattle that foraged more evenly spent more time lying. A diet that is chosen evenly across the pasture contains more fiber-rich plants with higher leaf dry matter content and smaller specific leaf area than a strongly selected diet (14). Fiber increases the ruminal retention time and, hence, the time required to digest the forage (54). Therefore, an animal that forages evenly, selects a diet of lower digestibility and, subsequently, spends longer time ruminating, normally done while lying. Highland cattle that foraged most evenly and selected plants of lowest digestibility, spent the longest time lying due to increased ruminal retention time. In addition to the overall allometric relationship of selection evenness and lying time concerning all individuals, there was a clear breed effect as indicated by the difference in elevation: If the relationship were independent of breed, Highland cattle would have lain even more, indicating that Highland cattle digested relatively quickly with respect to the quality of their forage. This suggests that Highland cattle have a more effective food conversion than higher-productive breeds. A more efficient food conversion of less productive breeds was shown in previous, comparative experiments for beef breeds (18, 55, 56) and dairy cattle (57, 58). Morris and Wilton (59) showed that small beef and dairy cattle are more efficient in weight gain and milk production, respectively, than large cattle. Accordingly, Highland cattle seem to make use of fiber-rich and nutrient-poor forage more efficiently and may, therefore, be better adapted to the harsh environment of alpine pastures than high-productive breeds. As a result, Highland cattle were able to gain body weight, even on the nutrient-poor pastures of our study area, where both of the production-oriented breeds lost weight.

Additionally, the low average temperature of  $10.0^{\circ}$ C (SD:  $5.0^{\circ}$ C, range: -2.8 to  $21.8^{\circ}$ C) in the study area during the study time forced cattle to invest thermal energy. Highland cattle may save energy because of their woollier fur, which provides better insulation than the short fur of Original Braunvieh or Angus × Holstein cattle.

Finally, the positive weight gain of Highland cattle may be promoted by more efficient movement and foraging behavior. By selecting plant species more evenly and consequently moving about one quarter less and lying more, Highland cattle save legwork and kinetic energy. Moreover, they have to move significantly less body mass with each step. Thereby, Highland cattle balance the lower nutrient content of their diet.

Technically, the positive weight gain of Highland cattle could result from a higher dry matter intake. This parameter was not measured, but visual observation indicated rather smaller than larger bites and bite rates for Highland cattle. This goes along with Fraser et al. (56), who found a higher weight gain despite smaller dry matter intake for a traditional breed in comparison to a high-productive beef breed.

The findings of this study suggest that anatomical characteristics as well as movement and foraging behavior depend on the level of breeding intensity. The differences among breeds arose during the breeding process, since the underlying mechanisms of artificial selection do not differ from natural selection: Populations adapt to drivers of selection. The more important a criterion is for the reproductive success, the more clearly the population will evolve with respect to this trait (60). By strictly selecting for milk or meat yield, breeders establish strong selective forces that unintentionally override many traits less focused on. Characteristics that are less important for reproductive success (i.e., breeders do not select for them) are subordinated to stronger drivers. Subsequently, if there is no evolutionary pressure for a certain trait, it will alter or disappear unintentionally (61). If, for example, breeders do not select for efficient conversion of fiber-rich fodder, efficiency becomes a less essential driver of reproductive success and subsequently decreases. Instead, cattle adapt to nutrient-rich and concentrated feed.

# Implications for Management, Breeding, and Biodiversity

The general tendency of cattle to avoid plant species of low forage quality (14) and the places where such plants are dominant (23) counteracts pasture improvement and maintenance. To reduce the abundance of weeds and shrubs and thereby maximize pasture use, cattle should ideally forage all plants and evenly visit all parts of a paddock. Usually, alpine grasslands are so heterogeneous that cattle almost inevitably use it unevenly (23). Highland cattle, which grazed most evenly among the breeds investigated, were able to exploit even unattractive plants and places.

The breed differences in space use evenness, in impact of slope, and in impact of the distance to water were most evident on pasture 3, which was more heterogeneous and offered poorer forage quality than the two other pastures in the experiment. This observation emphasizes the benefit of undemanding breeds, especially for grasslands that are unsuited for modern agricultural management (62).

It is indisputable that the production output of Highland cattle is low. Under intensive housing conditions, they cannot compete with the growth rate and carcass weight of other breeds (15). Their real advantage is to cope with unfavorable conditions. This is highlighted by the small, yet existent increase in body weight of Highland cattle during the experiment, whereas the other breeds lost weight due to the poor nutritive supply. Though modern breeds have a higher weight gain potential, they cannot reach it on nutrient-poor pastures. Therefore, grazing such areas with high-productive breeds is economically inefficient due to the loss of body weight. In contrast, Highland cattle, which grow less effective and efficient in intensive farming systems, are still able to create a small output under poor conditions, resulting in a positive cost-value ratio (63).

In this experiment, low-productive breeds were represented by Highland cattle, but there are many other low-demanding and low-productive breeds in most European mountain regions. Among these are Tarentaise, Valdostana Castana, Vosgienne, Hinterwaelder, Grauvieh, Murbodner, Galloway, Dexter, and numerous others. Like Highland cattle, these local breeds are adapted to grazing nutrient-poor pastures and thereby, contribute to sustaining semi-natural grasslands unsuitable for high-productive breeds. Using local livestock also provides cultural ecosystem services by maintaining cultural heritage and genetic diversity of livestock. Although it remains to be tested whether other low-productive cattle breeds behave similarly to Highland cattle, this study demonstrates a strong effect of breeds' productivity on numerous traits neglected by output-oriented breeding. This suggests that other low-productive breeds may also be appropriate for grassland conservation.

Breeders of low-productive cattle are proud of the benefits their animals provide, including high robustness, soil protection, reduction in problematic plant species, increased biodiversity, and a general efficiency even in these low-productive systems. Breeders should bear in mind that these qualities are closely related to the low productivity of this breed. Although it is tempting to modify breeding aims toward higher output, our data suggest that if Highland cattle were bred more productively, many of these benefits would be lost, as has been the case with other breeds. On the other hand, breeders of high-productive cattle may consider differences among individuals as a potential to increase production efficiency (9, 10).

In mountainous regions, pasture biodiversity is not only under general pressure of climatic and socio-economic changes (64-66). The structural changes in modern agriculture have also negatively affected low-productive grasslands: In conjunction with poor forage quality, pastures and meadows that are difficult to manage due to steep slope, too-wet or too-dry conditions become unattractive to farmers of high-productive cattle, because these animals cannot exploit their genetic potential under these conditions, as demonstrated by Bovolenta et al. (67). Therefore, the intensity of management decreases, and pastures are eventually abandoned (68, 69). As a consequence, the rich biodiversity of European mountainous pastures suffers, for example, from the continuous spread of shrubs and wood on formerly diverse and open grasslands (17, 70-72). Although biodiversity conservation has begun to receive increasing attention as an important ecosystem service of alpine pastures (73), not even public financial support for mountain farmers is currently able to halt the abandonment of low-productive pastures (74). An appropriate use of these habitats is grazing with undemanding livestock, such as goats, sheep, or low-productive cattle breeds. There is no need for farmers to change their entire livestock, but some lowproductive animals can often be added to existing herds without difficulty, as they are undemanding, not only in forage quality, but also in housing conditions. Incorporation of low-productive cattle breeds is, therefore, a key strategy to use low-productive grasslands efficiently and to conserve their biodiversity.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in the online repository Zenodo https://zenodo.org/record/3707638.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This animal study was reviewed and approved by Veterinary Office of Grisons (authorization GR2018\_12). Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

## REFERENCES

- Ajmone-Marsan P, Garcia JF, Lenstra JA. On the origin of cattle: how aurochs became cattle and colonized the world. *Evol Anthropol Issues News Rev.* (2010) 19:148–57. doi: 10.1002/evan.20267
- Edwards CJ, Magee DA, Park SDE, McGettigan PA, Lohan AJ, Murphy A, et al. A complete mitochondrial genome sequence from a mesolithic wild aurochs (*Bos primigenius*). *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e9255. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009255
- 3. Mason IL editor. *Evolution of Domesticated Animals*. London: Longman (1984).
- 4. Derry ME. Masterminding Nature: The Breeding of Animals, 1750-2010. Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press (2015).
- Krausmann F. Land Use and Socio-economic Metabolism in Pre-industrial Agricultural Systems: Four Nineteenth-century Austrian Villages in Comparison. Vienna: IFF Social Ecology (2008).
- 6. Swiss Suckler Cow Association. *Breeding Aims of Swiss Suckler Cow Association Herd Books*. (2020). Available Online at: https://www.mutterkuh. ch/de/herdebuch/rassen (accessed March 3, 2020).
- Holstein Association USA. Holstein Breed Characteristics. (2020). Available Online at: http://www.holsteinusa.com/holstein\_breed/breedhistory.html (accessed May 5, 2020).
- Calus MPL, Berry DP, Banos G, Haas Y de, Veerkamp RF. Genomic selection: the option for new robustness traits? *Adv Anim Biosci.* (2013) 4:618–25. doi: 10.1017/S2040470013000186
- Egger-Danner C, Cole JB, Pryce JE, Gengler N, Heringstad B, Bradley A, et al. Invited review: overview of new traits and phenotyping strategies in dairy cattle with a focus on functional traits. *Animal.* (2015) 9:191–207. doi: 10.1017/S17517311140 02614
- Moreno García CA, Maxwell TMR, Hickford J, Gregorini P. On the search for grazing personalities: from individual to collective behaviors. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:74. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00074
- Wilson JB, Peet RK, Dengler J, Pärtel M. Plant species richness: the world records. J Veg Sci. (2012) 23:796–802. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01400.x
- 12. Ellenberg H, Leuschner C. Vegetation Mitteleuropas mit den Alpen in ökologischer, dynamischer und historischer Sicht. 6th Edition. Stuttgart: Ulmer (2010).

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CP, JI, JB, TB, and MS conceived the ideas and designed the methodology. CP and MS collected the data, analyzed the data, and led the writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed critically to the drafts and gave final approval for publication.

## FUNDING

This study was funded by Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes and Fondation Sur-la-Croix.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank A. Etter and B. Baier for competent and patient handling of the animals, M. Gufler for housekeeping, C. Bowald and A. R. Wyss for loaning us their cattle, H. Renfer for technical support, J. Daas, S. Martig, R. Muller, G. Schuchter, and H. Villhauer for support in the field, K. Nuss for advice on claw measurement and comments, K. S. Seipel for English corrections, and the reviewers for helpful comments.

- Pauler CM, Isselstein J, Braunbeck T, Schneider MK. Influence of Highland and production-oriented cattle breeds on pasture vegetation: a pairwise assessment across broad environmental gradients. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*. (2019) 284:106585. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2019.106585
- Pauler CM, Isselstein J, Suter M, Berard J, Braunbeck T, Schneider MK. Choosy grazers: influence of plant traits on forage selection by three cattle breeds. *Funct Ecol.* (2020) 34:980–92. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.13542
- Albertí P, Panea B, Sañudo C, Olleta JL, Ripoll G, Ertbjerg P, et al. Live weight, body size and carcass characteristics of young bulls of fifteen European breeds. *Livest Sci.* (2008) 114:19–30. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2007.04.010
- Peter M, Gigon A, Edwards PJ, Lüscher A. Changes over three decades in the floristic composition of nutrient-poor grasslands in the Swiss Alps. *Biodivers Conserv.* (2009) 18:547–67. doi: 10.1007/s10531-008-9521-2
- Pornaro C, Schneider MK, Macolino S. Plant species loss due to forest succession in Alpine pastures depends on site conditions and observation scale. *Biol Conserv.* (2013) 161:213–22. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2013.02.019
- Berry NR, Jewell PL, Sutter F, Edwards PJ, Kreuzer M. Selection, intake and excretion of nutrients by Scottish Highland suckler beef cows and calves, and Brown Swiss dairy cows in contrasting alpine grazing systems. J Agric Sci. (2002) 139:437–53. doi: 10.1017/S002185960200271X
- Bhati M, Kadri NK, Crysnanto D, Pausch H. Assessing genomic diversity and signatures of selection in Original Braunvieh cattle using whole-genome sequencing data. *BMC Genomics*. (2020) 21:27. doi: 10.1186/s12864-020-6446-y
- 20. Delarze R, Gonseth Y. Lebensräume der Schweiz: Ökologie, Gefährdung, Kennarten. Bern: Ott (2008).
- 22. Kleiber M. Body size and metabolic rate. *Physiol Rev.* (1947) 27:511–41. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1947.27.4.511
- Homburger H, Lüscher A, Scherer-Lorenzen M, Schneider MK. Patterns of livestock activity on heterogeneous subalpine pastures reveal distinct responses to spatial autocorrelation, environment and management. *Mov Ecol.* (2015) 3:35. doi: 10.1186/s40462-015-0053-6
- 24. Swiss Federal Office for Agriculture. *Alpine Summer Farming Sömmerungsbeitrag.* (2020). Available Online at: https://www.blw.admin. ch/blw/de/home/instrumente/direktzahlungen/kulturlandschaftsbeitraege/ soemmerungsbeitrag.html (accessed June 2, 2020).

- Nuss K, Paulus N. Measurements of claw dimensions in cows before and after functional trimming: a post-mortem study. *Vet J.* (2006) 172:284– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2005.04.031
- Andersson L, Lundström K. The influence of breed, age, body weight and season on digital diseases and hoof size in dairy cows. Zentralbl für Veterinärmed Reihe A. (1981) 28:141– 51. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0442.1981.tb01174.x
- Homburger H, Schneider MK, Hilfiker S, Lüscher A. Inferring behavioral states of grazing livestock from high-frequency position data alone. *PLoS* ONE. (2014) 9:e114522. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114522
- Payne LX, Schindler DE, Parrish JK, Temple SA. Quantifying spatial pattern with evenness indices. *Ecol Appl.* (2005) 15:507–20. doi: 10.1890/03-5029
- 29. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2018).
- 30. Bretz F, Hothorn T, Westfall P. *Multiple Comparisons Using R*. Boca Raton: Chapman and Hall (2016).
- Warton DI, Duursma RA, Falster DS, Taskinen S. smatr3: an R package for estimation and inference about allometric lines. *Methods Ecol Evol.* (2012) 3:257–9. doi: 10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00153.x
- Warton DI, Wright IJ, Falster DS, Westoby M. Bivariate line-fitting methods for allometry. *Biol Rev.* (2006) 81:259–91. doi: 10.1017/S1464793106007007
- 33. Tuohy P, Fenton O, Holden NM, Humphreys J. The effects of treading by two breeds of dairy cow with different live weights on soil physical properties, poaching damage and herbage production on a poorly drained clay-loam soil. *J Agric Sci.* (2014) 153:1424–36. doi: 10.1017/S0021859614001099
- Nuss K, Kolp E, Braun U, Weidmann E, Hässig M. Claw size of Scottish Highland cows after pasture and housing periods. *Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd*. (2014) 156:433–40. doi: 10.1024/0036-7281/a000625
- Baird LG, O'Connell NE, McCoy MA, Keady TWJ, Kilpatrick DJ. Effects of breed and production system on lameness parameters in dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:2174–82. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1333
- Mattiello S, Battini M, Andreoli E, Barbieri S. Breed differences affecting dairy cattle welfare in traditional alpine tie-stall husbandry systems. J Dairy Sci. (2011) 94:2403–7. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3606
- Taboada M, Rubio G, Chaneton E. Grazing impacts on soil physical, chemical, and ecological properties in forage production systems. In: Hatfield JL, Sauer TJ, editors. *Soil Management: Building a Stable Base for Agriculture.* Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy and Soil Science Society of America (2001) p. 301–20.
- Herbin T, Hennessy D, Richards KG, Piwowarczyk A, Murphy JJ, Holden NM. The effects of dairy cow weight on selected soil physical properties indicative of compaction: effects of cow weight on some soil physical properties. *Soil Use Manag.* (2011) 27:36–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2010.00309.x
- McSherry ME, Ritchie ME. Effects of grazing on grassland soil carbon: a global review. *Glob Change Biol.* (2013) 19:1347–57. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12144
- Proffitt APB, Bendotti S, Howell MR, Eastham J. The effect of sheep trampling and grazing on soil physical properties and pasture growth for a red-brown earth. Aust J Agric Res. (1993) 44:317–31. doi: 10.1071/AR9930317
- Drewry JJ, Cameron KC, Buchan GD. Pasture yield and soil physical property responses to soil compaction from treading and grazing: a review. *Aust J Soil Res.* (2008) 46:237–56. doi: 10.1071/SR07125
- Bilotta G, Brazier R, Haygarth P. The impacts of grazing animals on the quality of soils, vegetation, and surface waters in intensively managed grasslands. *Adv Agron.* (2007) 94:237–80. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2113(06)94006-1
- Sheath GW, Carlson WT. Impact of cattle treading on hill land: 1. soil damage patterns and pasture status. NZ J Agric Res. (1998) 41:271– 8. doi: 10.1080/00288233.1998.9513311
- Trimble SW, Mendel AC. The cow as a geomorphic agent: a critical review. *Geomorphology*. (1995) 13:233–53. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-81867-6. 50019-8
- Cole DN. Experimental trampling of vegetation. II. predictors of resistance and resilience. J Appl Ecol. (1995) 32:215–24. doi: 10.2307/ 2404430
- Díaz S, Lavorel S, McIntyre S, Falczuk V, Casanoves F, Milchunas DG, et al. Plant trait responses to grazing: a global synthesis. *Glob Change Biol.* (2007) 13:313–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01288.x
- Lezama F, Paruelo JM. Disentangling grazing effects: trampling, defoliation and urine deposition. *Appl Veg Sci.* (2016) 19:557–66. doi: 10.1111/avsc.12250

- Kaufmann J, Bork EW, Blenis PV, Alexander MJ. Cattle habitat selection and associated habitat characteristics under free-range grazing within heterogeneous montane rangelands of Alberta. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 146:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.03.014
- Venter ZS, Hawkins H-J, Cramer MD. Cattle don't care: animal behaviour is similar regardless of grazing management in grasslands. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*. (2019) 272:175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2018.11.023
- Spiegal S, Estell RE, Cibils AF, James DK, Peinetti HR, Browning DM, et al. Seasonal divergence of landscape use by heritage and conventional cattle on desert rangeland. *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2019) 72:590– 601. doi: 10.1016/j.rama.2019.02.008
- Bailey DW, VanWagoner HC, Weinmeister R. Individual animal selection has the potential to improve uniformity of grazing on foothill rangeland. *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2006) 59:351–8. doi: 10.2111/04-165R2.1
- 52. Briske DD. Strategies of plant survival in grazed systems: a functional interpretation. In: Hodgson J, Illius AW, editors. *The Ecology Management of Grazed Systems*. Wallingford: CABI (2012). p. 37–67.
- Augustine DJ, McNaughton SJ. Ungulate effects on the functional species composition of plant communities: herbivore selectivity and plant tolerance. J Wildl Manag. (1998) 62:1165–83. doi: 10.2307/3801981
- 54. Adin G, Solomon R, Nikbachat M, Zenou A, Yosef E, Brosh A, et al. Effect of feeding cows in early lactation with diets differing in roughage-neutral detergent fiber content on intake behavior, rumination, and milk production. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:3364–73. doi: 10.3168/jds. 2009-2078
- Jenkins TG, Ferrell CL. Productivity through weaning of nine breeds of cattle under varying feed availabilities: I. initial evaluation. J Anim Sci. (1994) 72:2787–97. doi: 10.2527/1994.72112787x
- Fraser MD, Fleming HR, Moorby JM. Traditional vs modern: role of breed type in determining enteric methane emissions from cattle grazing as part of contrasting grassland-based systems. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:1– 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107861
- Prendiville R, Pierce KM, Buckley F. An evaluation of production efficiencies among lactating Holstein-Friesian, Jersey, and Jersey×Holstein-friesian cows at pasture. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:6176–85. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2292
- Grainger C, Goddard ME. A review of the effects of dairy breed on feed conversion efficiency - an opportunity lost? *Proc Aust Soc Anim Prod.* (2004) 25:77–80. doi: 10.1071/SA0401020
- Morris CA, Wilton JW. Influence of body size on the biological efficiency of cows: a review. *Can J Anim Sci.* (1976) 56:613–47. doi: 10.4141/cjas76-076
- 60. Darwin CR. On the Origin of Species. London, UK: John Murray (1859).
- Hall AR, Colegrave N. Decay of unused characters by selection and drift. J Evol Biol. (2008) 21:610–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2007. 01473.x
- Eriksson C. What is traditional pastoral farming? The politics of heritage and "real values" in Swedish summer farms (fåbodbruk). *Pastor Res Policy Pract.* (2011) 1:1–25. doi: 10.1186/2041-7136-1-25
- 63. Mills J. Return to hardy cattle breeds in the uplands: is it economically sustainable? *R Agric Soc Engl J.* (2008) 169:1–9.
- Liechti K, Biber J-P. Pastoralism in Europe: characteristics and challenges of highland-lowland transhumance. *Rev Sci Tech OIE.* (2016) 35:561– 75. doi: 10.20506/rst.35.2.2541
- MacDonald D, Crabtree JR, Wiesinger G, Dax T, Stamou N, Fleury P, et al. Agricultural abandonment in mountain areas of Europe: environmental consequences and policy response. J Environ Manage. (2000) 59:47– 69. doi: 10.1006/jema.1999.0335
- 66. Dong S, Wen L, Liu S, Zhang X, Lassoie JP, Yi S, et al. Vulnerability of worldwide pastoralism to global changes and interdisciplinary strategies for sustainable pastoralism. *Ecol Soc.* (2011) 16:1–23. doi: 10.5751/ES-04093-160210
- Bovolenta S, Ventura W, Piasentier E, Malossini F. Supplementation of dairy cows grazing an alpine pasture: effect of concentrate level on milk production, body condition and rennet coagulation properties. *Ann Zootech*. (1998) 47:169–78. doi: 10.1051/animres:19980302
- Gellrich M, Zimmermann NE. Investigating the regional-scale pattern of agricultural land abandonment in the Swiss mountains: a spatial statistical modelling approach. *Landsc Urban Plan.* (2007) 79:65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2006.03.004

- Herzog F, Seidl I. Swiss alpine summer farming: current status and future development under climate change. *Rangel J.* (2018) 40:501– 11. doi: 10.1071/RJ18031
- Komac B, Kefi S, Nuche P, Escós J, Alados CL. Modeling shrub encroachment in subalpine grasslands under different environmental and management scenarios. J Environ Manage. (2013) 121:160–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.01.038
- Queiroz C, Beilin R, Folke C, Lindborg R. Farmland abandonment: threat or opportunity for biodiversity conservation? A global review. Front Ecol Environ. (2014) 12:288–96. doi: 10.1890/120348
- 72. Tasser E, Tappeiner U. Impact of land use changes on mountain vegetation. Appl Veg Sci. (2002) 5:173–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-109X.2002.tb00547.x
- Bürgi M, Silbernagel J, Wu J, Kienast F. Linking ecosystem services with landscape history. *Landsc Ecol.* (2015) 30:11– 20. doi: 10.1007/s10980-014-0102-3

 Schulz T, Lauber S, Herzog F. Summer farms in Switzerland: profitability and public financial support. *Mt Res Dev.* (2018) 38:14–23. doi: 10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-16-00118.1

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Pauler, Isselstein, Berard, Braunbeck and Schneider. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Management Strategies for Lamb Production on Pasture-Based Systems in Subtropical Regions: A Review

Cesar Henrique Espírito Candal Poli<sup>1\*</sup>, Alda Lucia Gomes Monteiro<sup>2</sup>, Thais Devincenzi<sup>3</sup>, Fernando Henrique Melo Andrade Rodrigues de Albuquerque<sup>4</sup>, Juliano Henriques da Motta<sup>1</sup>, Luiza Ilha Borges<sup>2</sup> and James Pierre Muir<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departamento de Zootecnia, Faculdade de Agronomia, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Departamento de Zootecnia, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Curitiba, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Programa Nacional de Producción de Carne y Lana, Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria (INIA), Tacuarembó, Uruguay, <sup>4</sup> Embrapa Caprinos e Ovinos, Sobral, Brazil, <sup>5</sup> Texas A&M AgriLife, Stephenville, TX, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France

#### Reviewed by:

Vibeke Lind, Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research (NIBIO), Norway Mariano Pauselli, University of Perugia, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Cesar Henrique Espírito Candal Poli cesar.poli@ufrgs.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 March 2020 Accepted: 13 July 2020 Published: 15 September 2020

#### Citation:

Poli CHEC, Monteiro ALG, Devincenzi T, Albuquerque FHMARd, Motta JHd, Borges LI and Muir JP (2020) Management Strategies for Lamb Production on Pasture-Based Systems in Subtropical Regions: A Review. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:543. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00543

Sheep production on pasture plays an important role in subtropical climates around the world, with great economic and environmental relevance to those regions. However, this production is much lower than its true potential in subtropical regions, largely due to lack of knowledge of how to feed grazing lambs, and mitigate gastrointestinal parasite infections. Due to weather instability and the high growth rate of tropical grasses, it is difficult to adjust the quality and quantity of feed consumed by lambs. In addition, due to warm, wet weather during spring, summer, and autumn, gastrointestinal parasite infection can be intense on subtropical pastures. Thus, the objective of this paper is to summarize 17 years of research in southern regions of Brazil testing alternative management for sheep farmers under these challenging conditions. Our review indicates that ewes play important roles raising their lambs. Besides protecting and providing milk, they leave a better pasture structure for lamb nutrition. The use of creep feeding and creep grazing are additional alternatives to improve lamb growth. However, feeding supplementation with concentrate can deteriorate pasture quality at the end of the summer-autumn season. Gastrointestinal parasitic infections can be reduced with improved lamb nutrition, although L3 larvae of Haemonchus contortus can be present at various pasture heights. This indicates that it is difficult to control L3 ingestion solely by manipulating grazing heights. We summarize important technologies for raising lambs on pasture-based systems to make the best of high herbage growth and minimize intense parasitic infections common in subtropical regions. We discuss research results in light of the latest studies from other ecoregions and climates, although there is a lack of similar research in subtropical regions of the world.

Keywords: sheep, concentrate supplement, pasture management, performance, ewe

## INTRODUCTION

Sheep production plays an important role in subtropical climates around the world as exemplified by Australia, Brazil, China, South Africa, Spain, and Uruguay. This occurs both at the subsistence and commercial levels for meat and wool. Today, lamb meat production is growing in importance, emphasizing the need to understand its potential economic and environmental impact within production systems around the world. Subtropical pastures are often characterized by two distinct sets of forage species: one that thrives in the warm season and another completely different group that grows in a cool season characterized by frosts and short-duration freezes. This requires different technology for each season whether the warm- and coolseason forage species share the same pasture at different times or grow in distinct paddocks.

To optimize lamb production sustainably, it is necessary to understand key animal/environment dynamics. In subtropical areas, it is possible to raise lambs with either temperate, tropical pastures or both pasture types. This pasture growth is associated to relatively high rainfall in southern Brazil [1,200–2,100 mm; (1)] distributed along the year. This gives subtropical pastures great potential for low-cost lamb production based on pasture. However, due to weather instability, it is difficult to adjust lamb diet quality and quantity (2) and to control gastrointestinal parasite infection (3, 4). Because of high humidity and temperature, highly productive tropical pasture can meet lamb nutritional needs and generate complex canopy structures that need to be properly understood for sheep production. The challenge is to make the best of pasture growth for raising lambs in this environment.

There are key technical issues related to grazing sheep supplementation, sheep gastrointestinal parasite control, and the economic aspects of sheep production in subtropical regions. These have been studied in the southern region of Brazil. Our objective was to summarize 17 years of research carried out by the Sheep and Goat Production and Research Center (LAPOC) at the Universidade Federal do Paraná and by the Sheep Production Teaching and Research Center (CEPOV) at the Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul. Our results will be compared with those of the most recent studies reported in other ecosystems and climates.

## GRAZING SHEEP MANAGEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTATION

## Weaning and Concentrate Supplementation

Subtropical areas can support both temperate and tropical pastures in overlapping seasons that provide forage year-round, begging the question "why do producers feed concentrates to sheep?" One possible answer is that, despite the lower costs of pasture-based systems, these can carry high risks. These are associated to the fact that flock managers have limited control of feed production and gastrointestinal nematode (GIN)

infestations (3). Efforts to produce younger slaughter lambs (3– 6 months old with a minimum live weight of 30 kg) when there is a price incentive and energy deficits during periods of greater flock nutrient requirement also contribute to additional pasturemanagement challenges.

Feed supplementation can affect grazing sheep in different ways, and the understanding of all the complex variables involved is still not completely known. Detailed reviews about the effects of supplementation on grazing sheep were compiled by Dove (5), Clark and Woodward (6), and Kenyon and Webby (7). However, some main effects of supplementation on grazing sheep in subtropical region can be listed: (1) type of supplement (8, 9); (2) level of supplement (10, 11); (3) type of pasture (8); (4) type of animal (12); and (5) animal feeding system (13). One of the most important feed supplement effects is related to the energy/protein ratio of the animal diet. When energy or protein fails to meet animal requirements, ruminants will only respond to the one that is limiting (14). In addition, one supplement compound can affect the digestibility of other compounds (15). Highly degradable carbohydrate can, for example, decrease fiber digestibility. The amount of concentrate supplied to the animal can also modify lamb performance. Aguerre et al. (10), for example, found that supplementing grazing lambs with greater amounts of sorghum grain resulted in higher ruminal fermentation rates that reduced fiber digestibility and total organic matter intake.

In addition to the supplement quantity and quality, the way it is provided to the animal has an important influence on its performance. Supplementing sheep with grain on pasture can promote a more variable rumen pH than if it is given as a total mixed diet, thereby affecting lamb digestion and growth (10). High feeding rates can also increase the passage rate through the rumen, decreasing overall feed digestibility (15). All these effects can also be influenced by animal genetic characteristics. Amino acid requirement of an animal, for example, is related to its performance level (12). Greater genetic lamb performance potentials require more amino acids than that provided by the milk from the mothers.

In the majority of cases, when concentrate supplement is fed to sheep on pasture, less forage is ingested. The animal will often replace forage with concentrate, but the rate of substitution depends on the amount and type of concentrate ingested (11). According to Garcés-Yépez et al. (16), the more the sheep are supplemented with starch, the higher the forage substitution rate becomes. Supplements with less starch and more digestible fiber promote a less substitution rate. However, this rate varies according to the level of supplement provided to the animals. Garcés-Yépez et al. (16) did not find effect on Bermudagrass hay intake when lambs were supplemented with concentrate at a low feeding level (0.4-0.5% of LW); only when they were supplemented at a higher level (0.8-1% of LW) did forage intake decreased. Ideally, supplement should increase forage intake by maximizing forage digestibility and passage rate; otherwise, it becomes a substitute rather than a supplement. To minimize substitution and maximize forage use efficiency, the first step is to identify what the pasture has to offer and what limits forage intake. Supplement content and quantity can then be tailored to

Concentrate supplementatio	Pasture on	Season	Forage C (kg/ha)	anopy (cm)	Leaves (kg/ha)	Leaf:stem	Lamb (kg/ha)	Slaughter weight (kg)	Age at slaughter (d)	ADG (g)	References
Unweaned and	l pasture finis	hed									
Exclusively pastu	ureTifton-85	Oct-Jan	5,828	27.0	2,130	0.66	14.2	32.0	101	281	(13)
Exclusively pastu	ureTifton-85	Nov-Mar	3,247	13.3	1,043	0.69	33.0	32.7	136	135	(19, 20)
Unweaned, fini	ished in pastu	ire, creep sup	plemented								
1% LW DM/d	Tifton-85	Oct-Jan	3,709	23.9	1,275	0.60	9.75	32.0	105	282	(13)
2% LW DM/d	Tifton-85	Nov-Mar	3,554	14.0	1,049	0.65	34.0	37.3	136	275	(19, 20)

TABLE 1 Unweaned lamb slaughter weight and age as well as average daily gain (ADG) of finishing systems on summer pasture from subtropical region of Brazil.

DM, dry matter; LW, live weight.

the flock's need such that it serves as a complement to pasture rather than a substitute (17).

Concentrate formulation designed to supplement pasturebased flocks in subtropical regions should therefore seek to supply minerals, energy, and protein to overcome deficiencies in the forage (18). Otherwise, animal performance and pasture utilization may not meet production goals. One of our studies (13), for example, offered concentrate at 1% of the animal liveweight (LW) to lambs nursing on ewes grazing good-quality tropical pasture (10% crude protein and 55% total digestible nutrients) but did not achieve the expected benefits (Table 1). We did not find a performance difference between supplemented and control animals, concluding that the nutrients provided by the pasture and the lactating ewes were sufficient to keep lambs at performance levels equivalent to lambs supplemented at 1% LW. Subsequent studies (11, 20, 21) indicated that, in that type of pasture, lamb supplement must be above 2% LW to induce measurable differences vis-á-vis control animals.

Our studies also focused on lamb supplement effect on pasture canopy structure. Fajardo et al. (11) reported that the level of concentrates fed to lambs to meet NRC (22) recommendations had a deleterious effect on pasture canopy structure when fed during summer–autumn. Offering this supplement during lamb finishing favored forage inflorescence and taller plants. They recommended that supplements fed to lambs on upright tropical grass pastures should be avoided during grass inflorescence if seed production is not a priority. Large bulk grazers mixed with or following more selective sheep might also keep upright grass in vegetative growth since less selective species such as bovids or equids are more likely to ingest fibrous inflorescences (23).

A recent publication described the effect of a lamb feed system on Bermudagrass (*Cynodon* spp.) cv. Tifton-85 sward canopy structure. Silva et al. (24) compared four treatments: unweaned lambs with no supplement, unweaned lambs supplemented with concentrate using creep feeding, weaned lambs not supplemented, and weaned lambs supplemented with concentrate. Weaning caused a greater presence of leaves and stems in all sward strata, which increased when concentrate supplementation was fed to the lambs. Independent of supplementation to the lambs, the systems without weaning fostered a sward structure with a greater leaf/stem ratio, showing that the ewes have an important role of leaving a better sward structure to the lambs. This study also showed, similarly to what was found by Fajardo et al. (11) with an upright tropical grass, that the supplementation of weaned lambs on Tifton-85 had a deleterious effect on sward structure. Concentrate supplementation can reduce the leaf/stem ratio due to the reduction of grazing time and the increase in diet selection for leaves. However, these results observed in the subtropical region are not always found in other ecosystems. Bosing et al. (25), for example, studying grazing sheep performance on the semiarid grassland steppe of northeastern Asia, reported that supplement (250 g/day) prolongs pasture use duration. Contrary to what we observed in subtropical areas, sheep supplementation in semiarid areas allows reduction of stocking rate due to improved animal performance, allowing greater animal LW gain and pasture growth.

Besides favoring performance, interactions between supplement and pasture can increase sheep productivity per area. For example, reduced forage consumption per lamb as a result of supplements can increase pasture carrying capacity and productivity (11). This can be more important to small and medium producers that have limited access to land such that intensifying use of what land they do have may result in economy of scale. However, benefits are accrued more for weaned lambs or aging ewes. For example, in our studies in southern Brazil [(13, 26, 27), **Tables 1, 2**], creep feeding lambs at 1% LW/day did not increase pasture carrying capacity because their daily forage consumption was negligible vis-á-vis the lactating ewes.

Very few studies have investigated the effect of supplementation and lamb weaning on grassland structure in other subtropical or tropical regions. However, Pullin et al. (29) found that weaning alters the lamb feeding behavior. Lambs that remain with their dams spend less time grazing. In addition, Evan et al. (30), working in a different region and forage species, also agreed with our results that it is difficult to maintain sward height after weaning, particularly toward the end of the grazing period. These studies reinforce our conclusion that early weaning of lambs in subtropical pasture should be avoided. In this scenario, creep feeding, and creep grazing turn out to be important management tools for grazing lambs.

#### **Creep Feeding**

The response of lamb nutrition to creep feeding can be affected by different factors such as ewe milk production, level and composition of the supplement, and animal genetic

Concentrate supplementation	Season on	Forage (kg/ha)	Canopy (cm)	Leaves (kg/ha)	Leaf:stem	Lamb (kg/ha)	Slaughter weight (kg)	Age at slaughter (d)	ADG (g)	References
Unweaned and	pasture finishe	d								
Exclusively pastu	ire Aug-Jan	2,815	17.5	807	1.16	8.4	31.7	105	303	(26, 27)
Exclusively pastu	ure Sept-Dec	4,395	16.6	979	0.69	9.0	34.0	106	204	(28)
Unweaned, fini	shed in pasture	, creep supp	lemented							
1% LW DM/d	Aug-Jan	2,971	16.3	725	1.24	8.8	32.4	106	294	(26, 27)
2% LW DM/d	Sept-Dec	3,863	14.7	795	0.71	8.0	33.0	90	307	(28)
Unweaned, fini	shed in pasture	, creep supp	lemented							
White clover	Sept-Dec	3,923	15.9	838	0.75		33.2	94	274	(28)

TABLE 2 Unweaned lamb slaughter weight and age as well as average daily gain (ADG) of finishing systems on Italian ryegrass pasture from subtropical region of Brazil.

DM, dry matter; LW, live weight.

characteristics. Wilson et al. (31) showed that creep feeding did not affect milk production. However, creep feeding allows the lamb greater energy and protein ingestion and better performance (31, 32). In fact, the effect of creep feeding on ewe milk production should be better studied in a more challenging environment where the ewe nutritional level is deficient. Creep feeding is an important management strategy to improve lamb performance when it provides greater lamb nutrient ingestion (19). However, as mentioned before, this greater response needs to complement pasture quality (17); otherwise, the supplement becomes redundant (13). Monteiro et al. (21) observed greater lamb performance when grazing Italian ryegrass mixed with Tifton-85 if the level of a balanced concentrate provided in creep feeding was above 2% LW. This response also depends on animal genetic characteristics. Lambs selected for greater growth respond more to supplementation in creep feeding (33, 34). Lamb genetics is even more important when different kinds of amino acid are provided in creep feeding. There is a market response only when lambs are genetically more dependent on high diet quality (12). A similar study carried out in South Africa (35) showed that balancing limiting aminoacids through the concentration supplement using creep feed can potentially increase lamb performance. However, the author observed that this is economically viable only in more intense production systems due to high feeding costs.

Greater carrying capacity can apparently compensate, to an extent, for lower average daily gain (ADG) of lambs weaned and finished exclusively on pasture compared to unweaned animals [(13, 26, 27), **Tables 1–4**]. Despite differences in stocking rates partially compensating for animal production decline, weaning may not offer efficient economic compensation. Our studies showed that weaning lambs at around 60 days on pastures can increase losses due to GIN infestation, reaching 20% higher mortality compared to unweaned lambs. Despite greater stocking rates, early weaning on pasture may limit final productivity.

Reduced unsupplemented weaned-lamb performance arises from a metabolic profile that reflects inadequate nutrition, namely, low blood glucose and albumin (36). Once this becomes chronic, animals consume insufficient energy and protein to meet their nutritional needs to reach slaughter weights in a timely manner. This indicates that early weaning for finishing lambs on pasture is not a viable tool. In addition, as mentioned before, we observed that ewes leave a better pasture for the lamb to graze (13), with more leaves and fewer stems than when the lambs were weaned by physical separation. Supplementing lambs post early weaning with a concentrate may rectify this situation. Our research confirms that supplementing lambs is likely needed to compensate for nutritional deficiencies and stress resulting from early weaning (**Tables 3**, **4**).

On cool-season annual ryegrass pastures, increasing concentrate supplement from 1% to *ad libitum* (an estimated 3.2% LW/d) increases lamb ADG and therefore decreases slaughter age vis-á-vis unsupplemented animals (21, 37). Those fed *ad libitum* gain 263 g/day, which meant that they reached their 32-kg slaughter weights at 107 days after birth (DAB), 41 days after weaning (**Table 4**). Depending on economic returns, concentrate supplement could be recommended for finishing lambs if they are maintained on those pastures. When lambs are supplemented using creep feeding, the negative effect of the supplement on sward structure is minimized by the presence of ewes that can regulate pasture regrowth.

Numerous studies (38–44) tested the effect of lamb supplementation by creep feeding on animal performance and GIN infection. They all showed that creep feeding can be used to increase the lamb LW rate of gain and reduce GIN parasitic infection. The supplementation of suckling lambs with creep feed can also improve lamb dry feed intake and rumen development, leading to earlier weaning (45). The earlier a lamb has contact with solid feed, the sooner it will be a fully functional ruminant (46). However, as mentioned before, it is important to be careful that the amount of concentrate provided to the animal complements rather than substitutes nutrients that the pasture provides; otherwise, it would not likely be economically sustainable.

#### Creep Grazing

Enabling nursing lambs to graze pastures ahead of ewes or allowing them exclusive access to forage banks is called creep grazing. The idea is to allow lactating lambs exclusive access to high-quality forage such as young regrowth, legumes, or
TABLE 3 | Weaned lamb (40 or 60 days (d) old) slaughter weight and age as well as average daily gain (ADG) of finishing systems [providing or not balanced [according to NRC (22)] concentrate supplementation of 2% of live weight (LW)] on warm-season pasture from subtropical region of Brazil.

Supplement/ weaned age	Pasture	Season	Forage C (kg/ha)	anopy (cm)	Leaves (kg/ha)	Leaf:stem	Lamb (kg/ha)	Slaughter weight (kg)	Age at slaughter (d)	ADG (g)	References
Exclusively pasture 60 d	Tifton-85	Oct-Jan	5,670	24.3	1,950	0.66	18.3	32.0	131	107	(13)
Exclusively pasture 40 d	Tifton-85	Nov-Mar	4,170	18.1	1,235	0.61	100.0	21.1	136	57	(20)
2% LW 40 d	Tifton-85	Nov-Mar	4,774	20.0	1,340	0.56	134.0	34.3	136	152	(20)

DM, dry matter; LW, live weight.

TABLE 4 | Weaned lamb (40, 42, or 60 days (d) old) slaughter weight and age as well as average daily gain (ADG) of finishing systems (providing or not balanced [according to NRC (22)] concentrate supplementation of 1%, 2% of live weight (LW) or *ad libitum*) on cool-season Italian ryegrass with and without supplements from subtropical region of Brazil.

Supplement/ weaned age	Season	Forage (kg/ha)	Canopy (cm)	Leaves (kg/ha)	Leaf:stem	Lamb (kg/ha)	Slaughter weight (kg)	Age at slaughter (d)	ADG (g)	References
Exclusively pastu 40 d	re Aug-Jan	2,900	20.9	1,182	1.08	31.5	31.5	160	115	(26, 27)
Exclusively pastu 42 d	re Aug-Jan	3,226	19.3	1,101	0.54	45.3	32.0	198	69	(26, 27)
1% LW 42 d	Aug-Jan	3,794	19.4	1,241	0.50	29.7	32.0	153	106	(26, 27)
2% LW 42 d	Aug-Jan	3,584	19.6	1,153	0.49	36.5	32.0	137	151	(26, 27)
<i>ad libitum</i> 42 d	Aug-Jan	3,589	22.5	1,198	0.51	54.5	32.0	107	263	(26, 27)

DM, dry matter; LW, live weight.

other highly digestible, protein-rich plants that ewes cannot reach. In a trial using the legumes *Medicago sativa* and *Lotus corniculatus*, creep-grazing lambs gained 223 g/day, 38.5% more than unsupplemented control animals and the same as those fed with a supplement (47). In these situations, supplement ideally does not substitute for dam milk but, rather, complements it (48).

In New Zealand, creep grazing with protein-rich forage species such as ryegrass/white clover is used to suppress GIN in lambs (49). Sykes and Coop (50) explained that protein supplied through pasture affects sheep ability to respond to infection and may be a useful tool to minimize dependence on chemical methods of parasite control. Such targeted creep grazing might be useful in suppressing GIN in warmer subtropical climates, such as southern Brazil, during lamb finishing. In research at LAPOC, Salgado et al. (51) evaluated GIN infection and body condition score (BCS) of lambs in different production systems. Unweaned lambs allowed to creep graze (free access to Trifolium repens) and creep feeding (2% of LW/day of a balanced concentrate) had the best performance. Lambs weaned at 60 days on pasture with no supplement had the lowest performance (live weight gain, FAMACHA, and BCS). Endoparasite infection control and the nutritional status of the lambs were positively influenced by the production system, mainly when they were not weaned and/or received concentrate supplementation on pasture.

The importance of creep grazing for lamb production worldwide has been recognized for more than 60 years (52). Creep grazing has been mentioned not only as an additional feed (53) but also as a management tool for controlling parasitic infection in lambs (54). However, very few studies have been carried out in subtropical regions with grazing ewes using tropical grass species. Our research indicated that this technique can be very useful not only to improve lamb ADG and parasitic control but also to provide high-quality forage in periods with low pasture availability such as between winter and spring periods in the subtropics [(28), **Table 2**]. That period typically has cool-season forages in decline with slow initial warm-season pasture growth. This period is also associated with the need for good-quality forage because of potential lamb development, a reflection of the autumn breeding period (28).

Our research (28) demonstrated a potential for using creep grazing to finish lambs during periods in which forage quantity and quality do not meet animal requirements. In creep grazing areas, clover herbage mass reached 2,500 kg DM/ha with 20% crude protein and 75% total digestible nutrients, 25 and 10% greater, respectively, than the Bermudagrass pasture in which ewes grazed. The ADG of creep grazing lambs was similar to those lambs fed with 2% LW in concentrate formulated according to NRC (22) and superior to that obtained by unsupplemented lambs (**Table 2**). Creep grazing also reduced the negative seasonal effects of spring forage slump. Despite the demonstrated potential of clovers for creep grazing lambs, this management tool is not utilized in many tropical and subtropical regions around the world (55).

Stivari et al. (56), at LAPOC, observed a similar initial economic response between creep grazing and concentrate supplementation. Although there is an initial cost of setting up additional fencing for creep grazing, lambs will eventually pay more economic dividends over time. This return may vary with each pasture system and the cost of concentrate vis-á-vis fencing, fertilizer, and seed.

#### **Gastrointestinal Parasites**

In subtropical regions, sheep often face health challenges while on pasture, including gastrointestinal nematodes (GINs), such as Haemonchus contortus, ingested as larvae on forages (57). Humid, warm-climate pastures offer favorable growth conditions for several GIN species that develop and survive to the infective L3 stage (58). Controlling pasture height to limit GIN L3 ingestion by sheep might not control the infection under these subtropical conditions as well as it does under temperate pastures and mixed cattle-sheep grazing (59, 60). In a study developed at CEPOV, Tontini et al. (3) found infective larvae L3 of Haemonchus spp. at different heights of tropical upright grass, from soil to the leaf tip, during summer-autumn. Similar results utilizing tropical grass species were also found by different authors (61-64) proving that sward height control has limited action against parasite infection in tropical pastures. Adjusting pasture height may be more important for temperate conditions (65, 66). Santos et al. (64) explained that high rainfall and air temperature favors the migration of L3 from feces to grass blades. In contrast to tropical pasture grown in a subtropical region, Pegoraro et al. (67) assessed the number of L3 GINs in a coolseason pasture of Italian ryegrass at CEPOV in southern Brazil and found that most of the L3 were below 5-cm height, and low sward height resulted in greater L3 GIN intake by sheep.

Rotating sheep through pasture may interrupt GIN reproductive cycles; however, rest intervals needed between grazing periods may be too long to be practical. This can reduce parasitism in a temperate climate but comes with an overall negative effect on animal performance, including less ADG (68) and sometimes no economic advantage (69). Some GIN larvae hatch and develop into infective L3 within days of deposition and can survive for up to 9 weeks in warm conditions but longer in cooler weather (70) and climates (71). Almeida et al. (72), working with H. contortus in humid subtropical pastures in southern Brazil, found that 322, 350, 294, and 182 days were required for Urochloa decumbens pasture to be L3-free in autumn, winter, spring, and summer, respectively. Such long rest periods, especially in subtropical and tropical regions, will likely result in poor herbage quality due to rapid plant maturation once sheep are rotated back onto pasture. Shorter rests, normally 21 to 28 days, result in better animal nutrition, but most warm-climate studies indicate that rests of 31+ days are required to even begin lowering GIN L3 viability (73, 74) and 182 to 350 days, depending on season, to completely free the pasture of infection (72). Research by Smith et al. (75) indicated that, if rotations are short, continuous grazing may result in lower GIN infection because grazers are allowed to selectively feed farther from feces in pasture.

As already mentioned, several studies have shown that creep feeding and creep grazing can be an important tool to reduce lamb GIN infestation and can be very useful for subtropical regions (51). In addition to high nutrition demand of lambs and the favorable environment for pasture contamination, lactating ewes are also an important source of infective larvae (76, 77). In fact, these tools can potentially help lambs overcome this challenge through the improvement of animal nutrition and immunity (78). Therefore, creep feeding and creep grazing can be one of the best management strategies for reducing the lamb GIN in subtropical regions.

# Economic Aspects of Sheep Production Based on Pasture in Subtropical Regions

Economic evaluation of Brazilian lamb finishing systems carried out at LAPOC (79, 80) confirms that lamb finishing based on pastures generally provides greater returns than when feed concentrate is used, especially when lambs are not weaned early. Stivari et al. (56) found that nutrition is the production factor that most influenced lamb-finishing costs on pasture, independent of supplement strategy. In another study at LAPOC, Stivari et al. (81) compared six scenarios to evaluate the economic feasibility of creep grazing or creep feeding finish lambs. They compared forage allowance of 12 or 8% LW DM/day and the percentage of *T. repens* supplement pasture area (30–50% relative to the primary pasture area). The creep grazing finishing system with 8 or 30% of *T. repens* as well as the creep feeding system (concentrate fed at 2% of LW/day/ha) with 8% LW of forage allowance promoted the best short-term economic results.

Research efforts in southern Brazil's subtropical regions have focused on developing techniques to finish lambs on Tifton-85 and Panicum maximum cultivar IZ-5 (common name: Aruana grass) summer pasture (Tables 1, 3). Efforts in winter pastures have focused on Italian ryegrass [(26-28, 79, 80), Tables 2, 4]. The results of these studies summarize the importance of pasture system to lambs, whether they are weaned or not. When lambs were still nursing, ADG reached 190 g at 124 DAB on tropical grasses and 226 g at 115 DAB during winter with Italian ryegrass. These were superior ( $P \le 0.05$ ) to weaned lambs that gained 87 g ADG on the same pasture. Nursing lambs reached target slaughter weight (32 kg LW) at 117 DAB, similar to lambs fed in confinement (21). Considering the favorable results from unweaned lambs, this simple technique has the potential to lower costs while maintaining productivity and animal wellbeing resulting from lower lamb stress (19). However, in a system without weaning and 8 months between lambing and slaughtering, ewe recovery time may be too short prior to the next breeding period. In this situation, forage quantity and quality become even more important.

# CONCLUSIONS

Besides providing milk and reducing weaning stress, grazing ewes can leave a higher-quality pasture canopy structure for lambs. The amount and type of concentrate supplemented to the lambs can also compensate for lower herbage quality, regardless of canopy structure, and can be adjusted according to pasture characteristics. In turn, concentrate supplementation can indirectly deteriorate pasture quality when flocks consume less roughage. Creep feeding and creep grazing in subtropical regions can also be important alternatives for improving lamb growth and GIN parasitic control.

GIN control in sheep, especially lambs, continues to be a challenge in subtropical regions. In these warm, high rainfall climates, resting pastures between grazing cycles to reduce GIN infection may take too long to be economically viable. However, *H. contortus* L3 larvae presence at various pasture canopy heights indicates that it is difficult to control their ingestion by lambs solely by manipulating grazing heights. Instead, deleterious effects of gastrointestinal parasitic reinfection from pasture can be reduced with improved lamb nutrition.

## **AUTHOR'S NOTE**

The studies summarized in this manuscript were developed by Animal Science Graduate Programs of two universities in Brazil: Universidade Federal do Paraná and Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul.

## REFERENCES

- Wrege MS, Steinmetz S, Reisser Júnior C, Almeida IR (ed.). Atlas climático da região Sul do Brasil: estados do Paraná, Santa Catarina e Rio Grande do Sul (Climatic atlas of the southern region of Brazil: states of Paraná, Santa Catarina and Rio Grande do Sul) Brasilia: Embrapa (2012).
- Badgery WB, Millar GD, Michalk DL, Cranney P, Broadfoot K. The intensity of grazing management influences lamb production from native grassland. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2017) 57:1837–48. doi: 10.1071/AN15866
- Tontini JF, Poli CHEC, Bremm C, Castro JM, Fajardo NM, Sarout BNM, et al. Distribution of infective gastrointestinal helminth larvae in tropical erect grass under different feeding systems for lambs. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2015) 47:1145–52. doi: 10.1007/s11250-015-0841-4
- Tontini JF, Poli CHEC, Hampel VS, Fajardo NM, Martins AA, Minho AP, et al. Dispersal and concentration of sheep gastrointestinal nematode larvae on tropical pastures. *Small Rumin Res.* (2019) 174:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2019.03.013
- Dove, H. Principles of supplementary feeding in sheep-grazing systems. In: Freer M, Dove H, editors. *Sheep Nutrition*. Collingwood: CSIRO Publishing (2002). p. 119–42.
- Clark DA, Woodward SL. Supplementation of dairy cows, beef cattle and sheep grazing pasture. In: Rattray PV, Brookes IM, Nicol AM, editors. *Pasture Suppl Grazing Anim, Vol 14.* Hamilton: New Zealand Society of Animal Production (2017). p. 117–32.
- Kenyon PR, Webby RW. Pastures and supplements in sheep production systems. In: Rattray PV, Brookes IM, Nicol AM, editors. *Pasture Suppl Grazing Anim, Vol 14*. Hamilton: New Zealand Society of Animal Production (2017). p. 255–74.
- Trevaskis LM, Fulkerson WJ, Gooden JM. Provision of certain carbohydratebased supplements to pasture-fed sheep, as well as time of harvesting of the pasture, influences pH, ammonia concentration and microbial protein synthesis in the rumen. *Aust. J Experim Agric.* (2001) 41:21–7. doi: 10.1071/EA00063
- Tebot I, Cajarville C, Repetto JL, Cirio A. Supplementation with non-fibrous carbohydrates reduced fiber digestibility and did not improve microbial protein synthesis in sheep fed fresh forage of two nutritive values. *Animal.* (2012) 6:617–23. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111002011
- Aguerre M, Cajarville C, Kozloski GV, Repetto JL. Intake and digestive responses by ruminants fed fresh temperate pasture supplemented with increased levels of sorghum grain: a comparison between cattle and sheep. *Anim Feed Sci Techn.* (2013) 186:12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2013. 08.007

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Every author had important contributions on this manuscript. The first CP and the second authors AM are the head of the research projects, being responsible for all parts of the studies. The third author is a researcher TD, and the fourth, fifth, and sixth authors FA, JPM, and LB are Ph.D. students who developed the research review. The seventh author JPM is a professor who contributed to manuscript configuration and publication. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

The Brazilian studies summarized in this review were supported by grants from the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) of Brazil and by Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES) of Brazil.

- Fajardo NM, Poli CHEC, Bremm C, Tontini JF, Castilhos ZMS, Mcmanus CM, et al. Effect of concentrate supplementation on performance and ingestive behaviour of lambs grazing tropical aruana grass (*Panicum maximum*). Ani Produc Sci. (2016) 56:1693–9. doi: 10.1071/AN14698
- Titgemeyer EC. Amino Acid Utilization by Growing and Finishing Ruminants in Amino Acids in Animal Nutrition., 2nd ed. D'Mello JPF, Wallingford: CAB International (2003). 329–46 p.
- Poli CHEC, Monteiro ALG, Barros CS, Moraes AD, Fernandes MAM, Piazzetta HVL. Produção de ovinos de corte em quatro sistemas de produção (meat sheep production in four production systems). *Rev Bras de Zoot*. (2008) 37:666–73. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982008000400012
- Schroeder GF, Titgemeyer EC. Interaction between protein and energy supply on protein utilization in growing cattle: a review. *Livestock Sci.* (2008) 114:1– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2007.12.008
- 15. McDonald P, Edwards RA, Greenhalgh JFD, Morgan CA. *Animal Nutrition* 6th. Edinburgh Gate: Pearson Education Ltd (2002).
- Garces-Yepez P, Kunkle WE, Bates DB, Moore JE, Thatcher WW, Sollenberger LE. Effects of supplemental energy source and amount on forage intake and performance by steers and intake and diet digestibility by sheep. J Ani Sci. (1997) 75:1918–25. doi: 10.2527/1997.7571918x
- Farinatti LHE, Rocha MGD, Poli CHEC, Pires CC, Potter L, Silva JHSD. Desempenho de ovinos recebendo suplementos ou mantidos exclusivamente em pastagem de azevém (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam.) Performance of sheep receiving supplements or kept exclusively on ryegrass pasture (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam.). *Rev Bras de Zoot.* (2006) 35:527–34. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982006000200027
- David DB, Poli CHEC, Azevedo EB, Fernandes MAM, Carvalho PCF, Jochims F, et al. Potential response to supplementation of ewe lambs grazing natural pastures over winter. *Small Rumin Res.* (2012) 105:22–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2012.02.012
- Fernandes SR, Salgado JA, Natel AS, Monteiro ALG, Prado OR, Barros CS, et al. Performance, carcass traits and costs of Suffolk lambs finishing systems with early weaning and controlled suckling. *Rev Ceres.* (2014) 61:184–92. doi: 10.1590/S0034-737X2014000200005
- Silva CJA, Fernandes SR, da Silva MB, Monteiro ALG, Poli CHEC, Prado OR, et al. Early weaning and concentrate supplementation strategies for lamb production on tifton-85 pasture. *Rev Bras Zoot.* (2014) 8:428–35. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982014000800005
- 21. Monteiro ALG, Silva CJA, Prado OR, Fernandes MAM, Hentz F, Costa G, et al. Novas tecnologias e estratégias de produção de pequenos ruminantes no Brasil (New technologies and production strategies for small ruminants in Brazil). In: *Congress Proceedings 51<sup>a</sup> Reunião Anual da Sociedade Brasileira*

de Zootecnia: Novas Tecnologias E Estratégias de Produção de Pequenos Ruminantes No Brasil. Barra dos Coqueiros (2014). Retrieved from http://D:/ palestras/producao\_de\_pequenos\_ruminantes (accessed June 02, 2020).

- 22. National Research Council (NRC). (2007). Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants: Sheep, Goats, Cervids, and New World Camelids. Committee on Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants and National Research Council. New York, NY: National Academy Press.
- Muir JP, Pitman WD, Foster JL, Dubeux Jr, JC. Sustainable intensification of cultivated pastures using multiple herbivore species. *Afr J Range Forage Sci.* (2015) 32:97–112. doi: 10.2989/10220119.2015.1045555
- Silva CJA, Monteiro ALG, da Silva MGB, Fernandes SR, da Fonseca Faro AMC, Poli CHEC. How lamb production systems can affect the characteristics and sward structure of Tifton 85 pasture? *Small Rumin Res.* (2020) 188:106124. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2020.106124
- Bosing BM, Susenbeth A, Hao J, Ahnert S, Ohm M, Dickhoefer U. Effect of concentrate supplementation on herbage intake and live weight gain of sheep grazing a semi-arid grassland steppe of North-Eastern Asia in response to different grazing management systems and intensities. *Livestock Sci.* (2014) 165:157–66. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2014.03.026
- Ribeiro TMD, Monteiro ALG, Poli CHEC, Moraes AD, Silva ALP, Barros CS. Características da pastagem de azevém e produtividade de cordeiros em pastejo (characteristics of ryegrass pasture and productivity of grazing lambs). *Rev Bras de Zoot*. (2009) 38:580–7. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982009000300025
- Ribeiro TMD, Monteiro ALG, Prado OR, Natel AS, Salgado JA, Piazzetta HVL, et al. Desempenho animal e características das carcaças de cordeiros em quatro sistemas de produção (Animal performance and characteristics of lamb carcasses in four production systems). *Rev Bras Saúde Prod Anim.* (2009) 10:366–78.
- 28. Silva CJA, Monteiro ALG, Fernandes SR, Poli CHE, Prado OR, De Souza DF. Efeito do creep feeding e creep grazing nas características da pastagem de tifton e azevém e no desempenho de ovinos (effect of creep feeding and creep grazing on tifton and ryegrass pasture characteristics and on sheep performance). *Ciência Anim Bras.* (2012) 13:165– 74. doi: 10.5216/cab.v13i2.8812
- Pullin AN, Pairis-Garcia MD, Campbell BJ, Campler MR, Proudfoot KL, Fluharty FL. The effect of social dynamics and environment at time of early weaning on short-and long-term lamb behavior in a pasture and feedlot setting. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 197:32–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.09.003
- Evans JG, Fraser MD, Owen I, Davies DA. An evaluation of two perennial ryegrass cultivars (AberDart and Fennema) for sheep production in the uplands. J Agric Sci. (2011) 149:235–48. doi: 10.1017/S0021859610001048
- Wilson LL, Varela-Alvarez H, Hess CE, Rugh MC. Influence of energy level, creep feeding and lactation stage on ewe milk and lamb growth characters. J Anim Sci. (1971) 33:686–90. doi: 10.2527/jas1971.333686x
- Matthews DJ, Madsen, MA. Farm flock lamb creep feeding tests. J Anim Sci. (1960) 19:852–8. doi: 10.2527/jas1960.193852x
- Cardoso MTM, Landim AV, Louvandini H, McManus C. Performance and carcass quality in three genetic groups of sheep in Brazil. *Rev Bras de Zoot.* (2013) 42:734–42. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982013001000007
- 34. Souza DA, Selaive-Villarroel AB, Pereira ES, Osório JCS, Teixeira A. Growth performance, feed efficiency and carcass characteristics of lambs produced from Dorper sheep crossed with Santa Inês or Brazilian Somali sheep. *Small Rumin Res.* (2013) 114:51–5. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2013. 06.006
- Le Roux M. Specialized Creep Feeding for Lambs to Optimize Performance (Doctoral dissertation). Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University (2011). p. 124.
- 36. Fernandes SR, Monteiro ALG, Dittrich RL, Salgado JA, Silva CJAD, Silva MGBD, et al. Early weaning and concentrate supplementation on the performance and metabolic profile of grazing lambs. *Rev Bras Zoot.* (2012) 41:1292–300. doi: 10.1590/S1516-359820120005 00029
- 37. Monteiro ALG, Silva CJA, Fernandes SR, Prado OR, Paula EFE. Criação e terminação de cordeiros a pasto: implicações econômicas e qualidade do produto final (Rearing and finishing lambs on pasture: economic implications and quality of the final product.). In: Congress Proceedings 5° Simpósio Mineiro de Ovinocultura: Sustentabilidade e Perspectivas, Grupo de Apoio a Ovinocultura (GAO). Lavras: Editora da UFLA (2009). P. 89–146

- Terblanche S, Brand TS, Jordaan JW, van der Walt JC. Production response of lambs receiving creep feed while grazing two different pastures. S Afr J Anim Sci. (2012) 42:535–9. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v42i5.19
- Ely DG, Fink E. Is creep feeding lambs a profitable undertaking? agriculture and natural resources publications. (2014). Available online at: https:// uknowledge.uky.edu/anr\_reports/146 (accessed June 02, 2020).
- Brand TNS, Brundyn L. Effect of supplementary feeding to ewes and suckling lambs on ewe and lamb live weights while grazing wheat stubble. S Afr J Anim Sci. (2015) 45:89–95. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v45i1.11
- 41. Martínez MR, de la Barra R, de la Fuente F. Effect of early creep feeding in the performance of Chilota breed lambs. *J Livestock Sci.* (2015) 6:56–64.
- Melo GKA, Ítavo CCBF, Monteiro KLS, Silva JA, Silva PCG, Ítavo LCV, et al. Effect of creep-fed supplement on the susceptibility of pasture-grazed suckling lambs to gastrointestinal helminths. *Vet Parasitol.* (2017) 239:26–30. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2017.04.017
- Santos SK, Falbo MK, Sandini IE, Pacentchuk F, Neumann M, Garbossa G. Concentrate supplementation strategies in ryegrass pasture for productive performance in lambs. *Spanish J Agric Res.* (2018) 16: e06SC02. doi: 10.5424/sjar/20181614-11067
- 44. Catto JB, Reis FA, Feijo GLD, Costa JAA, Fernandes LH, Guimarães NGP. Performance of creep feed lambs, finished under feedlot or *Brachiaria brizantha* deferred pasture: gastrintestinal parasitism and bioeconomic efficiency. *Cienc Anim Bras.* (2019) 20:1–13. doi: 10.1590/1809-6891v20e-41626
- De Villiers JF, Dugmore TJ, Wandrag JJ. The value of supplementary feeding to pre-weaned and weaned lambs grazing Italian ryegrass. S Afr J Anim Sci. (2002) 32:30–7. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v32i1.3788
- 46. Ørskov ER. Protein Nutrition in Ruminants, 2nd ed. London: Academic Press (1992).
- Ates S, Keles G, Yigezu YA, Demirci U, Dogan S, Isik S, et al. Bio-economic efficiency of creep supplementation of forage legumes or concentrate in pasture-based lamb production system. *Grass For Sci.* (2017) 72:818–32. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12291
- Urbano SA, de Andrade Ferreira M, do Nascimento Rangel AH, de Lima Junior DM, de Andrade RPX, Novaes LP. Lamb feeding strategies during the pre-weaning period in intensive meat production systems. *Trop. Subtrop. Agroecosyst.* (2017) 20:49–63.
- Moss RA, Dynes RA, Goulter CL, Saville DJ. Forward creep grazing of lambs to increase liveweight gain and post-weaning resistance to endoparasites. *N Zeal J Agri Res.* (2009) 52:399–406. doi: 10.1080/002882309095 10522
- Sykes AR, Coop RL. Interaction between nutrition and gastrointestinal parasitism in sheep. N Zeal Vet J. (2001) 49:222–6. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2001.36236
- Salgado JA, Molento MB, Sotomaior CS, Dias LT, de Castro LLD, Faisca LD, et al. Endoparasite and nutritional status of suffolk lambs in seven production systems. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2018) 58:1667–76. doi: 10.1071/AN16437
- Spedding CRW, Large RV. Sideways creep grazing for intensive lamb production. J Br Grassl Soc. (1959) 14:17–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1959.tb00990.x
- Kenyon PR, Roca Fraga FJ, Blumer S, Thompson AN. Triplet lambs and their dams – a review of current knowledge and management systems. N Zeal J Agri Res. (2019) 62:399–437. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2019.1616568
- Uriarte J, Valderrábano J. Grazing management strategies for the control of parasitic diseases in intensive sheep production systems. *Vet Parasitol.* (1990) 37:243–55. doi: 10.1016/0304-4017(90)90008-Y
- Muir JP, Pitman WD, Foster JL. Sustainable, low-input warm-season pasture grass-legume mixes: mission (nearly) impossible? *Grass For Sci.* (2011) 66:301–452. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2011.00806.x
- 56. Stivari T, Monteiro ALG, Gameiro AH, Chen RFF, Silva CJA, Paula EFED, et al. Financial-economic feasibility of not-weaned grazing lambs supplemented in privative trough or with pasture. *Rev Bras Saúde Prod Anim.* (2013) 14:396–405. doi: 10.1590/S1519-99402013000300001
- 57. Gouveia AM, Molento MB, Silva MX, Brandão HM, Gouveia GC, Morlán JB, et al. Management practices to control gastrointestinal parasites in sheep farms in minas gerais, southeastern Brazil. *Pesq Vet Bras.* (2013) 33:464–8. doi: 10.1590/S0100-736X2013000400009

- O'Connor LJ, Walkden-Brown SW, Kahn LP. Ecology of the free-living stages of major trichostrongylid parasites of sheep. *Vet Parasitol.* (2006) 142:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2006.08.035
- Rose JH. Relationship between environment and the development and migration of the free-living stages of *Haemonchus contortus*. J Comp Pathol. (1964) 74:163-72. doi: 10.1016/S0368-1742(64)80020-5
- Mahieu M, Aumont G, Michau Y, Alexandre G, Archimede H, Bovcal M, et al. L'association d'ovins e de bovins sure praries irriguées en Martinique. (The association of sheep and cattle on irrigated pasture in Martinique). *INRA Prod Anim.* (1997) 10:55–65. doi: 10.20870/productions-animales.1997.10.1.3977
- Silva BF, Amarante MRV, Kadri SM, Carrijo-Mauad JR, Amarante AFTD. Vertical migration of *Haemonchus contortus* third stage larvae on *Brachiaria decumbens* grass. *Vet Parasitol.* (2008) 158:85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2008.08.009
- Gazda TL, Piazzetta RG, Dittrich JR, Monteiro ALG, Soccol VT. Distribution of nematode larvae of sheep in tropical pasture plants. *Small Rumin Res.* (2009) 82:94–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2009.02.004
- Amaradasa BS, Lane RA, Manage A. Vertical migration of *Haemonchus* contortus infective larvae on *Cynodon dactylon* and *Paspalum notatum* pastures in response to climatic conditions. *Vet Parasitol.* (2010) 170:78–87. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2010.01.026
- Santos MC, Silva BF, Amarante AF. Environmental factors influencing the transmission of *Haemonchus contortus*. Vet Parasitol. (2012) 188:277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2012.03.056
- Skinner WD, Todd Jr KS. Lateral migration of *Haemonchus contortus* larvae on pasture. *Am J Vet Res.* (1980) 41:395–8.
- 66. Gazda TL, Piazzetta RG, Dittrich JR, Monteiro ALG, Soccol VT. Distribuição de larvas de nematódeos gastrintestinais de ovinos em pastagens de inverno (distribution of gastrointestinal nematode larvae of sheep in winter pastures). *Ciência Ani Bras.* (2012) 13:85–92. doi: 10.5216/cab.v13i1. 4025
- 67. Pegoraro EJ, Poli CHEC, Carvalho PCF, Gomes MJTDM, Fischer V. Manejo da pastagem de azevém, contaminação larval no pasto e infecção parasitária em ovinos (management of ryegrass pasture, larval contamination in pasture and parasitic infection in sheep). *Pesq Agrop Bras.* (2008) 43:1397–403. doi: 10.1590/S0100-204X2008001000019
- Colvin AF, Walkeden-Brown SW, Knox MR, Scott JM. Intensive rotational grazing assists control of gastrointestinal nematodosis of sheep in a cool temperate environment with summer-dominant rainfall. *Vet Parasitol.* (2008) 153:108–20. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2008.01.014
- Burke JM, Miller JE, Terrill TH. Impact of rotational grazing on management of gastrointestinal nematodes in weaned lambs. *Vet Parasitol.* (2009) 163:67– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2009.03.054
- Banks DJD, Singh R, Barger IA, Pratap B, Le Jambre LF. Development and survival of infective larvae of *Haemonchus contortus* and *Trichostrongylus columbriformis* on pasture in a tropical environment. *Inter J Parasitol.* (1990) 20:155–60. doi: 10.1016/0020-7519(90)90095-5
- Besier RB, Dunsmore JD. The ecology of *Haemonchus contortus* in a winter rainfall climate in Australia: the survival of infective larvae on pasture. *Vet Parasitol.* (1993) 45:293–306. doi: 10.1016/0304-4017(93)90083-Y

- 72. Almeida FA, Albuquerque CA, Bassetto CC, Starling RZC, Lins JGG, Amarante AFT. Long spelling periods are required for pasture to become free of contamination by infective larvae of *Haemonchus contortus* in a humid subtropical climate of São Paulo state, Brazil. *Vet Parasitol*. (2020) 279:109060. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2020.109060
- Barger IA, Siale K, Banks DJD, Le Jambre LF. Rotational grazing for control of gastrointestinal nematodes of goats in a wet tropical environment. *Vet Parasitol.* (1994) 53:109–16. doi: 10.1016/0304-4017(94)90023-X
- 74. Gray GD, Anchetta PA, Arguzon JA, Barcelo PM, Casis C, Cerbito WA, et al. Better worm control for goats and sheep in the Philippines. *Asian-Austral J Anim Sci.* (2000) 13:548. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/102.100. 100/206450?index=1
- Smith LA, Marion G, Swain DL, White PCL, Hutchings MR. The effect of grazing management on livestock exposure to parasites via the faecal-oral route. *Prev Vet Med.* (2009) 91:95–106. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2009.05.026
- 76. O'sullivan BM, Donald AD. A field study of nematode parasite populations in the lactating ewe. *Parasite*. (1970) 61:301–15. doi: 10.1017/S0031182000041135
- O'sullivan BM, Donald AD. Responses to infection with Haemonchus contortus and Trichostrongylus colubriformis in ewes of different reproductive status. Int J Parasite. (1973) 3:521–30. doi: 10.1016/0020-7519(73)90049-0
- Shaw KL, Nolan JV, Lynch JJ, Coverdale OR, Gill HS. Effects of weaning, supplementation and gender on acquired immunity to *Haemonchus contortus* in lambs. *Internat J Parasitol*. (1995) 25:381–7. doi: 10.1016/0020-7519(94)00098-9
- Barros CS, Monteiro ALG, Poli CHEC, Dittrich JR, Canziani JRF, Fernandes MAM. Rentabilidade da produção de ovinos de corte em pastagem e em confinamento (profitability of sheep production in pasture and feedlot). *Rev Bras Zoot.* (2009) 38:2270–9. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982009001100029
- Barros CS, Monteiro ALG, Poli CHEC, Fernandes MAM, de Almeida R, Fernandes SR. Resultado econômico da produção de ovinos para carne em pasto de azevém e confinamento (economic result of sheep meat production in ryegrass pasture and feedlot). *Acta Sci Ani Sci.* (2009) 31:77–85. doi: 10.4025/actascianimsci.v31i1.3995
- Stivari TSS, Chen RFF, Gameiro AH, Monteiro ALG, Raineri C, Silva JBA. Feasibility of grazing sheep production systems using long-term economic indicators and the methodology of the soil expectation value. *Braz J Vet Res Anim Sci.* (2014) 51:149–57. doi: 10.11606/issn.1678-4456.v51i2p149-157

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Poli, Monteiro, Devincenzi, Albuquerque, Motta, Borges and Muir. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Ingestive Behavior of Young Lambs on Contrasting Tropical Grass Sward Heights

Joseane Anjos da Silva<sup>1</sup>, Cesar Henrique Espirito Candal Poli<sup>1\*</sup>, Jalise Fabíola Tontini<sup>1</sup>, Lívia Raymundo Irigoyen<sup>1</sup>, Elisa Cristina Modesto<sup>1</sup> and Juan Jose Villalba<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departamento de Zootecnia, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Department of Wildland Resources, Utah State University, Logan, UT, United States

The efficiency of grazing ruminant production systems is directly associated to the

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France

#### Reviewed by:

Lisandre De Oliveira, Federal Institute of Rio Grande do Sul (IFSul), Brazil Frédéric Joly, Institut National de Recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement (INRAE), France

#### \*Correspondence:

Cesar Henrique Espirito Candal Poli cesar.poli@ufrgs.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 March 2020 Accepted: 07 August 2020 Published: 17 September 2020

#### Citation:

Silva JA, Poli CHEC, Tontini JF, Irigoyen LR, Modesto EC and Villalba JJ (2020) Ingestive Behavior of Young Lambs on Contrasting Tropical Grass Sward Heights. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:643. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00643

animals' ingestive behavior, and to structural characteristics of the pastures. The objective of this study was to evaluate the ingestive behavior of young lambs grazing three different heights of Capim Aruana (Panicum maximum). The experiment was carried out in two consecutive years, in which 30 tester lambs (4-5 months old) were equally divided into three paddocks (treatments) corresponding to different average sward heights of Aruana grass: (1) Tall-75 cm; (2) Medium-50 cm; and (3) Short-25 cm in a randomized block design. Ingestive behavior assessments were carried out every 28 days through 10-min observations of the main activities of the animals (grazing, ruminating, idling) and biting rate, from sunrise to sunset. In addition, the productive and qualitative characteristics of the pastures were assessed. Despite differences in pasture structure, grazing time (GT) and idling time were similar among treatments (P =0.4266 and P = 0.2939, respectively). The shortest ruminating time (RT, P = 0.0181) was recorded in the treatment of lowest sward height. Lambs grazing on this treatment also showed 23% more bites per minute (P = < 0.0001) than animals in the Tall and Medium treatments. A Decision Tree analysis was performed for GT, identifying in a hierarchical order that the initial weight of the animals and sward height explained 62% ( $R^2 = 0.621$ ) of the variation, representing the variables with the greatest influence on GT. Initial body weight explained 48% of the model. Thus, our research shows that the different sward heights of Capim Aruana mainly alter the lamb's RT and biting rate, and that the animals' initial body weight is a key factor influencing GT, given that this variable makes lambs more susceptible to changes in sward height.

Keywords: decision tree, grazing time, Capim Aruana, height, biting rate

## INTRODUCTION

Pasture production systems represent a significant opportunity for increasing the sustainable production of ruminant animals worldwide. Under this scenario, animal performance depends of sward attributes such the quality and quantity of forage harvested during the grazing process (1). For instance, the ingestive behavior of young lambs kept on tropical pastures may be influenced by the different structures of swards at which they are exposed during grazing.

41

Sheep are highly selective animals, a trait that differentiates them from other, larger herbivores (2). This characteristic of selectivity inherent to the species is even more important in young lambs, as they progress through complex feeding periods and behavioral transitions. In addition, lambs are positioned at an optimal point on their growth curve, as they display high levels of intake and performance rates during this period (3). Because of these specific characteristics, it is necessary to understand the ingestive behavior of animals during this critical period, as it is one of the aspects that determines performance. In animal production systems, feeding is one of the most limiting factors for obtaining good results in productive performance (4). The way in which the forage is available to the animal is known as forage structure, which is responsible for the amount of nutrients ingested during the grazing process (5). According to Silva et al. (6) the structural characteristics of forage plants directly interfere with the ingestive behavior and performance of grazing animals, which, in turn alter the morphological (height, mass, and density) and physiological (photosynthetic rate and phenological stage) characteristics of the forage canopy, modifying subsequent animal and plant responses to grazing.

Tropical grasses are characterized by their high structure and growth rate (7, 8). These characteristics become a relevant issue when we think about the use of these forages for lamb production. Lambs are relatively small animals and seize food with their lips. In tall pastures with leaves above the animals' heads, lambs need to harvest practically leaf by leaf during the grazing process (5). The maintenance of the pasture structure is an important point to be analyzed when only this category is used in the pastoral system, since the growth rate of these pastures may be greater than the pasture harvesting capacity of young small ruminants. Consequently, there will be an accumulation of the most fibrous components of the sward with decreased nutritional quality of the forage on offer. For these reasons, proper management of the structure (height) is important to allow the best use of tropical grasses by young weaned lambs.

The ingestive behavior of grazers in temperate pastures is already well-known and described as the linear relationship between the decrease in height of the forage canopy and the increase in grazing time (9). Nevertheless, knowledge on such interaction is still scarce for tropical forage species and small ruminants. In order to obtain greater efficiency in the production systems of grazing ruminants, it is essential to know the animals' ingestive behavior and its relationships with forage structure. In addition to forage structure, it is necessary to understand how the nutritional composition of forages interact with their structural characteristics to influence foraging behavior and animal performance. Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the ingestive behavior of young lambs grazing Capim Aruana (*Panicum maximum* cv. IZ-5) of different structures.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Experimental Proceedings**

The experiment was conducted during two consecutive years at the Experimental Agronomic Station of the Universidade

Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, located at 46, Eldorado do Sul, Brazil—Latitude  $29^{\circ}$  13 '26 "S, Longitude  $53^{\circ}$  40 '45" W. The climate is subtropical humid "cfa" according to the Köppen (10) classification. The cfa classification is characterized by hot summers with temperature averages over  $22^{\circ}$ C in the hottest month and well distributed rains (11). The experiment was carried out for 56 days during the summer in the years 2018 and 2019 (between January and March). Before this experimental period, an adaptation period of 7 days was performed to familiarize animals to their environment.

The treatments were characterized by different aimed structures of Capim Aruana (*Panicum maximum*), represented by different pasture heights: (1) Tall Treatment -75 cm of average height; (2) Medium Treatment -50 cm of average height; and (3) Short Treatment -25 cm of average height. To maintain the different pasture structures, strategic mowing was carried out before each experimental period. The pasture was mowed at 5 cm of residual height in all experimental paddocks, performed at different times before the beginning of the experiment (Tall -4 weeks; Medium -2 weeks; Short -1 week before the beginning of the experiment).

For experimental evaluations, 30 young weaned tester lambs with an average age of 4-5 months (at the beginning of the experiment), were used in each year of the study. Lambs were randomly distributed across groups and pastures, considering the variation of gender (female and castrated male) and weight, resulting in a uniform distribution of animals within each treatment group (N = 10 lambs/group). A continuous grazing method was used and all treatments had a 12% herbage allowance [12 kg total dry matter (DM) per 100 kg of animal bodyweight (BW)/day] adjusted in the day 1 of the experiment and every 28 days using the "put and take" technique (12). According to this technique, there were two groups of animals, one called "testers" that grazed continuously and showed the effect of the treatments, and another group name "put-and-take" lambs used only to maintain the sward height and regulate forage allowance. The lambs had access to shade, and water and mineral salt in ad libitum amounts. The average initial weight of the animals was similar between treatments (21 kg, P = 0.9401). Lambs were weighed every 28 days with a previous 12h fasting of solids and liquids.

#### **Pasture Assessments**

Sward height was checked every 7 days using random sampling, using a 1.5-m sward stick (13), taking measurements on 52 random points for each paddock, measuring the highest point of the leaf from the ground. The forage structure is composed not only by height, but also by density, forage mass and plant stage. Height, however, is a measure of high correlation with the forage structure and easy to measure, allowing for a high number of measurements during weekly intervals.

Evaluations to estimate herbage mass were carried out on day 1 of the experiment and every 28 days thereafter using a  $0.25 \text{ m}^2$  frame, totaling six sample points per treatment, three at the average pasture height and three at random. These samples were cut close to the ground, collected and weighed. The samples were homogenized, and two sub-samples were taken, one for determining the percentage of dry matter (DM), and another for botanical separation in leaf blade, stem + sheath, inflorescence, other grasses, other legumes, other species and senescent material. The separation of the plant's morphological components allows for the calculation of the leaf: stem ratio, which was the main variable that characterized the pasture. After botanical separation, all subsamples were placed in a forced air oven at an average temperature of 60°C until constant weight, when samples were weighed on a 0.1-g precision balance.

The daily forage accumulation rate was measured every 28 days, using three grazing exclusion cages per paddock, according to Kinglmann et al. (14). The objective of the evaluation was to measure the daily rate of pasture growth, enabling subsequent calculations of forage supply and adjustment of stocking rate. The daily forage accumulation was estimated by the difference between the sample cut inside the cage in the present period, and the forage mass cut in the previous period outside the cage, divided by the number of days in the period.

Forage samples were collected every 28 days using the grazing simulation technique (15) to assess the nutritional quality of forages. Bromatological analyses of forage samples were made to estimate the contents of dry matter (DM, method n° 930.15), mineral matter (MM, method n° 942.05) and crude protein (CP, method n° 984.13), according to the AOAC methodology (16). The analysis of apparent *in vitro* digestibility of organic matter (DIVMO) was performed according to Tilley and Terry (17). The neutral detergent fiber (NDF) concentration was analyzed according to Van Soest et al. (18), while acid detergent fiber (ADF) and acid detergent lignin (ADL) according to Goering and Van Soest (19). Determinations of insoluble nitrogen in neutral detergent (NIAD) were also carried out according to the methodology described by Licitra et al. (20).

#### **Ingestive Behavior Evaluation**

The assessment of ingestive behavior was performed with continuous notes during the day (from sunrise to sunset) every 10 min by trained people using the method described by Jamieson and Hodgson (21). The observations were performed only during daytime because most of the grazing activities of ruminants occur during this period (22–25) and nocturnal observations were not possible due to the difficulties to visualize the animals in tall pastures at night. In addition, the effect of sward height could certainly be visualized during the day. The animals were individually identified with fabric collars, in which each animal in the paddock received a collar with a different color. The activities of grazing, ruminating and idling were recorded individually for each tester animal. These assessments were carried out every 28 days. The temperature and relative humidity of the air were also measured.

The ruminating time (RT) was considered the period when the animal was not grazing but when it was chewing the ruminal bolus. The idling time (IT) represented the period when the animal was neither grazing nor ruminating. Grazing time (GT) was the period where the animal was actively grazing or selecting forage, including the period used for displacement during selection of the diet. Within the 10 min of GT assessments, the biting rate was recorded using the "20 bites method" described by Forbes et al. (26), which counts the time spent by the animal to take 20 bites.

#### Meteorological Data From the Trial Period

In the first year of the experiment (2018), the average temperature was  $23.2^{\circ}$ C, 75.6% average relative humidity and 106.1 millimeters of rain during the experimental period. In the second year of the experiment (2019), the average temperature was 24.1°C, 74.8% relative humidity and 47.9 millimeters of rain. In the first behavioral assessment in 2018, the daily average temperature was  $22.7^{\circ}$ C and in the second,  $19.7^{\circ}$ C. In the year 2019, the average daily temperature in the first assessment was  $25.5^{\circ}$ C and in the second  $26.3^{\circ}$ C.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The experimental design used was randomized blocks, in which each year represented a block. Animals were considered the experimental units for variables related to ingestive behavior, and paddocks were considered the experimental units for pasture variables. Analysis of variance were performed to determine the effects of the treatments using the Mixed procedure in SAS 9.4, and the means were compared by the Tukey test at the 5% significance level. The variables evaluated over time, within each year, were considered as repeated measures. In addition to the analysis of variance, correlation analysis between the animal behavior and pasture variables were performed.

The ANOVA model included as fixed effects block, treatment, period (repeated measures over time within each year) and treatment x period interaction. The data of total GT and total IT were not normal (Shapiro-Wilk;  $P \le 0.05$ ) and were transformed by log and square root, respectively. The results are presented as means adjusted by the LSMEANS (least square means) procedure of SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA),  $\pm$  standard error of the mean. The LSMEANS procedure was used because least square means are less sensitive to missing data (27).

The data were also submitted to multivariate Decision Tree analysis performed by JMP software (version 12, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). This analysis allows to understand a result obtained by investigating the degree of interference that the factors studied may have in a given process of interest. The statistical program generates an equation that explains (through  $R^2$  value) which factors most influence a certain variable like GT. The independent variables included as factors in the analysis were initial body weight, herbage mass (DM/ha), leaf:stem ratio, pasture accumulation rate, leaf/ha, stem/ha, senescence/ha, inflorescence/ha, sward height and biting rate.

# RESULTS

#### **Ingestive Behavior**

The different structures of the Capim Aruana tropical pasture did not influence GT or IT by young lambs (P = 0.4266 and P = 0.2939, respectively), with averages for GT of  $391.1 \pm 15.44$  min in the Tall;  $389.1 \pm 12.3$  min in the Medium and  $428.1 \pm 24.3$  min per day in the Short treatment. For the variable IT (P= 0.2939) the averages were  $174.3 \pm 25.8$  min in the Tall;  $152.9 \pm 16.8$  min in the Medium and  $144.1 \pm 21.7$  min per day in the Short treatment. In relation to RT there was a significant (*P*= 0.0181) difference between treatments, being the longest times for the Medium treatment ( $174.4 \pm 8.6$  min/ day), which differed from the Short treatment (143.5  $\pm$  7.2 min/ day). The RT in the Tall treatment (153.0  $\pm$  7.3 min/day) did not differ from the other treatments (*P* > 0.05).

There was an interaction between treatment and period (P = 0.0049) in relation to biting rate, in which the Short treatment had

TABLE 1 | Ingestive behavior of lambs recently weaned in different structures of tropical pasture Capim Aruana (Panicum maximum) a with period 1 being the initial instant of forage offered to the animals (summer) and period 2 the end of the pasture cycle (next to autumn).

Variables <sup>a</sup>	Period		Treatments				
		Tall	Medium	Short	Treat	Per	Treat*Per
GT (min)	1	383.4 ± 17.5	383.7 ± 13.4	409.3 ± 38.4	0.4266	0.0941	0.2541
	2	$399.4 \pm 26.2$	$394.2\pm20.7$	$446.8\pm30.9$			
	Mean	$391.1 \pm 15.44$	$389.1 \pm 12.3$	$428.1\pm24.3$			
IT (min)	1	$205.8 \pm 19.4$	$172.0 \pm 16.4$	$173.9\pm36.5$	0.2939	0.0003	0.4540
	2	$142.9 \pm 26.0$	$133.8 \pm 18.0$	$114.3 \pm 22.5$			
	Mean	$174.3\pm25.8$	$152.9\pm16.8$	$144.1 \pm 21.7$			
RT (min)	1	$130.3 \pm 8.2$	$160.0 \pm 12.8$	$132.7 \pm 9.1$	0.0181	<0.0001	0.2995
	2	$177.0\pm9.3$	$188.0 \pm 11.1$	$154.3\pm10.9$			
	Mean	$153.0\pm7.3\text{AB}$	$174.4 \pm 8.6 \text{A}$	$143.5\pm7.2\text{B}$			
Bite Rate (bites/min)	1	$19.8\pm0.8c$	$25.6 \pm 1.0b$	30.0 ± 1.4ab	<0.0001	0.0006	0.0049
	2	$26.8 \pm 1.5 b$	$25.6\pm1.0\mathrm{b}$	32.6 ± 1.2a			
	Mean	$23.2\pm1.0\text{B}$	$25.6\pm0.7\mathrm{B}$	$31.3\pm0.8\mathbf{A}$			

<sup>a</sup>Variables = GT, grazing time; IT, Idling time; RT, ruminating time.

<sup>b</sup> Different capital letters differ on the line for each variable; Different lowercase letters differ from each other in the treatment \*period interaction for each variable analyzed.



FIGURE 1 Behavior of grazing activity during the day of freshly weaned lambs in different structures of tropical pasture Capim Aruana (Panicum maximum).



similar biting rates in both periods, 1 and 2 ( $30.0 \pm 1.4$  and  $32.6 \pm 1.2$  bits/min, respectively). Animals under the Medium and Tall treatments showed lower biting rates during both periods, as shown in **Table 1**.

When analyzing the GT of the animals over the different hours of the day, a similar pattern of behavior was observed in all treatments. In general, two grazing peaks occurred throughout the day. There was a peak in the morning with an average duration of 2 h between 07:30 am and close to 09:20 am. During this interval animals grazed more than 80% of the activities recorded. The animals returned to grazing activities after the hottest times of the day, around 02:20 pm, and the amount of time they spent grazing gradually increased, reaching almost 100% of the activities recorded after 05:20 pm (**Figure 1**).

Although the patterns of behavior were similar among treatments, it was possible to identify a different behavior of the Short treatment animals. While at the beginning of the behavior evaluation, at 6:30 am, the animals of this treatment were already in high grazing activity, almost 70% of the time, the animals on the Medium and Tall treatments were slowly starting their grazing activities. This behavior change shows that animals in the Low treatment started their grazing activities earlier in the day than in the other treatments, as shown in **Figure 1**. In addition to this behavior, animals under the Short treatment started to gradually reduce their grazing activity around 9:30 am, while this decline occurred for the other treatments at the same time but in a more pronounced manner. Another difference in

behavior for animals in the Short treatment was that most of them did not cease their grazing activity in the hottest hours (11:30 am-02:20 pm), in contrast to animals assigned to taller structures (**Figure 1**).

There was a small difference between the Medium and the other treatments with regards to RT. During the first hour, the percentage of time spent ruminating by animals in the Medium treatment was greater than for the other two treatments, and greater rumination activity was observed by these animals in the hottest periods of the day (**Figure 2**).

Idling behavior across different hours of the day was similar for all treatments. In contrast to GT, idling behavior was less in the early morning and late afternoon, and there was an idling peak between 11:20 am 02:20 pm (**Figure 3**).

#### **Decision Tree Analysis**

According to this analysis, it was hierarchically identified that the initial weight of the animals and pasture height explained 62% ( $R^2 = 0.621$ ) of the model, being the variables of greatest influence in the animals GT. The first division of the model showed that the factor of greatest interference in GT was the initial weight of the animals (**Figure 4**), explaining 48% of the variation in the model.

The model estimated that animals with an average initial weight >22.7 kg would have an average GT of 327.1 min and animals weighing <22.7 kg would have an average GT of 470.2 min. For animals of lower weight, the analysis showed that



the factor with the greatest influence at explaining the observed variability in GT was forage height. This result demonstrates that the pasture height (structure) is more important for smaller animals.

#### Pasture

The pasture height showed a negative correlation with biting rate (r = -0.46, P < 0.0001). Another characteristic of the pasture that showed a significant relationship with biting rate was the number of inflorescences per hectare (r = -0.51, P < 0.0001). There was a greater amount of inflorescence in the taller swards at the end of the experiment. On average, there was a trend (P = 0.0967) for greater amount of inflorescences in the Tall treatment. In fact, a high correlation was observed between sward height and percentage of inflorescence (r = 0.81, P < -0.0001).

The variables leaf/ha and dead matter/ha showed no significant difference between treatments. The variable herbage mass (DM/ha) differed significantly (P < 0.0001) between treatments, being greater for the Tall treatment (**Table 2**). The pasture accumulation rate showed a trend (P = 0.0513) for greater values in the Tall than in the Short treatment, and significant correlations with ingestive behavior variables, like IT (r = 0.63, P < 0.0001) and GT (r = -0.49, P < 0.0001).

The leaf:stem ratio (P = 0.0006) was greater in the Medium and Short treatments than in the Tall treatment. In contrast, the stem/ha variable (P < 0.0001) was greater in the Tall treatment, as shown in **Table 2**.

#### **Bromatological Composition of the Diet**

The chemical composition of the diet did not differ among treatments (P > 0.05), with similar parameters, as shown in **Table 3**.

#### DISCUSSION

#### **Ingestive Behavior**

This experiment shows that young lamb grazing an upright tropical grass do not vary their GT due to the different sward heights, contrasting with what was discussed by Hodgson (9). This author, reviewing studies with temperate pastures, shows a linear increase in grazing time when the height or mass of the forage decreases. However, according to Sollenberger and Burns (28), this relationship in tropical pastures is not so consistent. Animals may graze taller or shorter tropical grasses for longer periods to compensate the limitations imposed either by pasture height, leaf size, number of stems or amount of herbage mass. However, rumination time in this study was longer in the Medium-height treatment, which demonstrates that factors other than structure can interfere in the GT of young animals grazing tropical pastures.

The leaf:stem ratio and the availability of green leaves in tropical pastures are key characteristics that affect animal ingestive behavior. For instance, Euclides et al. (29) studying *Panicum maximum* and *Brachiaria* spp. in southern Brazil showed that grazing time decreased with increments in the



percentage of green leaves and leaf mass. Carvalho et al. (5) explains that the way leaves are presented to animals and how green leaves are apprehended, separately from stems and dead material, are important characteristics that should be considered in tropical pasture management in sheep production systems.

Despite the statistical difference in rumination time between treatments, it is important to consider that over 720 min of daily evaluation, rumination time in the Medium-height treatment was only 30 min greater than in the Short-height treatment. This small difference may then explain the lack of compensation observed for other activities in animals that exhibited shorter rumination times. In addition, these small differences in rumination time may not be physiological, since rumination activity is distributed throughout the day in periods ranging from 2 min to more than 1 h (30). Other activities were similar between treatments, which reinforces the idea that difference for rumination time may be associated with a natural variation in animal behavior that occurs throughout the day.

## **Biting Rate**

The greatest biting rates identified in this study occurred in animals exposed to the Short-height treatment (sward height

of 25 cm). Biting rate and intake values by grazing animals are sensitive to variations in the mass and height of the pasture (31). In the case of an erect tropical grass, such as Capim Aruana, the shorter the pasture, the greater the biting rate. This response is consistent with observations in older lambs than those used in this study. Negri et al. (32) working with 120-day-old lambs grazing Capim Aruana (Panicum maximum) found that as sward height increased, animals spent more time (seconds) to achieve 20 mouthfuls. Stobbs (33) explains this behavior through the negative relationship between canopy height and density of the dry mass of green leaf blades, compromising the size of the bite due to increments in handling and chewing times. Similarly, Schwartz et al. (34) observed in sheep grazing pearl millet that at high pasture heights animals were forced to graze leaves individually due to leaf length, a behavior that decreased biting rate. Thus, there is a negative relationship between biting rate and height of tropical erect pastures (35). In fact, biting rate proved to be one of the variables that is most responsive to height variation of tropical erect grass.

A negative correlation was found between the rate of biting and the amount of inflorescence/ha in the pastures, whereas a positive correlation was detected between sward height and the TABLE 2 Grazing variables in different structures of Capim Aruana (*Panicum maximum*) with period 1 being the initial instant of forage offered to the animals (summer) and period 2 the end of the pasture cycle (near autumn).

Variables <sup>a</sup>	Period		Treatments			P-value <sup>b</sup>	
		Tall	Medium	Short	Treat	Per	Treat*pe
DM/ha (Kg)	1	4167.8 ± 111.1	2681.7 ± 129.6	$1639 \pm 37$	<0.0001	0.0010	0.8141
	2	$5513 \pm 143.18$	$3820.8 \pm 85.3$	$2937\pm51.4$			
	Mean	$4840.1 \pm 144.7 \mathrm{A}$	$3251.3 \pm 117.4B$	$2288 \pm 120.6 \mathrm{B}$			
Accumulation Rate (Kg/day)	1	$195.1 \pm 8.7$	$104.8\pm5.3$	$127.1\pm20.5$	0.0513		
	2	$-9.8\pm0.2$	$4.8 \pm 15.1$	$32.2\pm22.2$			
	Mean	$92.6\pm17.8$	$54.8 \pm 11.1$	$79.6\pm17.1$			
Height (cm)	1	$79.9 \pm 1.2a$	$44.4 \pm 2.7 {\rm bc}$	$23.8\pm0.9\text{d}$	<0.0001	0.7735	0.0120
	2	67.2 ± 0.7ab	$50.9\pm0.4b$	$25.3\pm0.6\text{cd}$			
	Mean	$73.5\pm1.2\text{A}$	$47.7\pm1.4B$	$24.5\pm0.5\text{C}$			
L:S	1	$1.4 \pm 0.1$	$1.4 \pm 0$	$3.7 \pm 0.3$	0.0006	0.6946	0.2512
	2	$0.3 \pm 0$	$1.4 \pm 0.1$	$1.4 \pm 0.1$			
	Mean	$0.8\pm0.1\text{B}$	$1.4\pm0A$	$2.6\pm0.2\text{A}$			
Leaf/ha (Kg)	1	1455.6 ± 24.4a	$1143.5 \pm 66.4 ab$	$805.5 \pm 25.7 b$	0.1438	0.4845	0.0322
	2	$1016 \pm 15ab$	1553.5 ± 120.3a	$1223 \pm 23.2ab$			
	Mean	$1235.8\pm39.7$	$1348.5\pm75$	$1014.3\pm41.2$			
Stem/ha (Kg)	1	$1964.1 \pm 72.7$	$1080.1 \pm 93.2$	$564.7 \pm 38.8$	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.5855
	2	$3685.2 \pm 191.1$	$1992.5 \pm 24.5$	$1378.1 \pm 88.1$			
	Mean	$2824.6 \pm 176.9 \mathrm{A}$	$1536.3\pm85.6\mathrm{B}$	$971.4\pm87B$			
Dead Matter/ha (Kg)	1	$323.9 \pm 12$	$305.3 \pm 28.7$	$167.5\pm6.9$	0.4263	0.1984	0.0966
	2	$517.2 \pm 6.7$	$167.4 \pm 9.8$	$283.9 \pm 11$			
	Mean	$420.6\pm17.8$	$236.3\pm18.4$	$225.7\pm12.2$			
Inflorescence/ha (Kg)	1	$110.8 \pm 7.8$	$17.2 \pm 4$	$3.5\pm0$	0.0967	0.7532	0.8529
	2	$39\pm6.7$	$50 \pm 1.9$	0			
	Mean	$74.9 \pm 7.2$	$33.6 \pm 3.3$	$0.14 \pm 0.04$			

<sup>a</sup>variables = DM/ha, dry matter per hectare; L:S, leaf:stem ratio.

<sup>b</sup> Different capital letters differ on the line for each variable; Different lowercase letters differ from each other in the treatment \*period interaction for each variable analyzed.

presence of inflorescence. Likewise, Silva et al. (6) reported that the proportion of leaves in Aruana (*Panicum maximum*) and the presence of inflorescence influenced grazing strategy by lambs. This result shows the importance of avoiding the inflorescence in the pastures in order to facilitate lambs' grazing activities. Thus, the use of a mower or cattle grazing may contribute to manage pastures for grazing young lambs.

#### Behavior Throughout the day

When analyzed over the hours of the day, the animals' ingestive behavior showed a natural behavioral pattern (36, 37). There was a peak of grazing in the early morning and late afternoon, and a moderate increase in rumination and idling activities during the late morning and early afternoon. Despite a decrease in GT by lambs during the hottest hours of the day (11:30 am-2:20pm) the activity, although less frequent, was still observed in this study, contrary to results reported by Starling et al. (38) in tropical conditions. These authors evaluated Corriedale ewes poorly adapted to warm conditions and observed that the animals abruptly stopped their grazing activity at high environmental temperatures. The observation of grazing activity in the hottest hours of the day in our study may be related **TABLE 3** | Bromatological composition of the diet, based on the different structures of Capim Aruana (*Panicum maximum*).

Variables <sup>a</sup> (% /kg de MS)		Treatments					
	Tall	Medium	Short				
Mineral matter	$9.8\pm0.1$	$11.9 \pm 0.2$	$10.7 \pm 0.1$	0.1068			
NDF	$66.5\pm0.9$	$69.9\pm0.7$	$65.6 \pm 0.3$	0.3856			
ADF	$35.7\pm0.3$	$36.7\pm0.2$	$35.2\pm0.6$	0.7472			
CP	$15.9\pm0.4$	$17.2\pm0.4$	$17.9\pm0.2$	0.6599			
EE	$2.2\pm0$	$2.5\pm0$	$2.6\pm0$	0.0598			
NIND	$1.6\pm0$	$2.3\pm0$	$2.3\pm0$	0.4890			
NIAD	$0.30\pm0$	$0.31\pm0$	$0.30\pm0$	0.9748			
LIGNIN	$3.8\pm0.1$	$4.6\pm0$	$3.9\pm0$	0.2766			

<sup>a</sup>Variables = NDF, neutral detergent fiber; ADF, acid detergent fiber; CP, Crude Protein; EE, ethereal extract; NIND, nitrogen in neutral detergent; NIAD, nitrogen in acid detergent.

to climatic conditions that did not trigger high thermal stress and thus allowed grazing to occur at those times. This behavior demonstrates the need for ruminants to be constantly ingesting food (39) and shows that temperature may have a limited effect on the grazing behavior of animals in subtropical conditions. The Short-height treatment showed that animals were already grazing more intensely than lambs in the other treatments during the early hours of the day. During the first hour of evaluation, animals in the Tall-height treatment grazed on average for 30 min and the Medium-height treatment for 10 min, whereas the Short-height treatment grazed on average for 40 min. Although there was not a significant difference in GT among treatments, the greater availability of leaves seems to prompt animals to graze earlier during the day.

In studies with sheep on bermudagrass pasture, Poli et al. (40) found that grazing was the activity that took up most of the lambs' time in the three production systems (lambs weaned on pasture; unweaned lambs exclusively on pasture; and unweaned lambs supplemented on pasture), consistent with results from the present study.

#### **Decision Tree Behavior**

The Decision Tree analysis allowed us to explore the factors that influenced GT. The initial weight of the lambs had a key influence on GT. Lighter lambs grazed for longer periods than heavier lambs. The model highlights the importance of the structure of tropical pasture for animals under lower initial body weights, as height appears as the second factor influencing grazing time. In support of this, Emerenciano Neto et al. (41) report that among various structural characteristics, pasture height was a key variable influencing animals' foraging decisions.

Although there were no significant differences in GT between the different pasture-height treatments, important variability was observed for initial body weights within treatments and between years. Such variation allowed for distinguishing the effect of pasture height on initial body weight. The importance of animal size was also mentioned by Carvalho et al. (5). They explain that young and light lambs can be largely affected by herbage components, mainly due to the difficulty of bite formation by a small mouth area, which in turn influences the animals' grazing capacity.

The longer grazing times by lighter animals can lead to greater energy expenditures, with potential negative effects on performance. Thus, increasing body weights would be an ideal scenario for early weaned lambs entering tropical pastures. For larger lambs, the structure of tropical pasture has less influence on the time invested in grazing, whereas young lighter lambs may benefit from grazing shorter pastures, given that for animals of lower weight forage height had the greatest influence on GT.

These are innovative results that highlight the importance of initial weight for a weaned lamb to enter an erect tropical grass pasture. It is important to wean animals at proper body weights and developmental conditions, so that they can face the challenges imposed by tropical grasses, characterized by their large structure of leaves and stems combined with a fast growth rate.

These results also show the importance of assessing ingestive behavior as a tool to understand the factors that have direct effect on animal productivity. Our study shows important relationships between erect tropical grass pasture and young lamb size, generating innovative management decisions. In fact, there is a need to have a minimal lamb weight to face the challenges promoted by a tropical pasture. In this study the structure of a tropical pasture becomes less of a concern as the animal is heavier than 23 kg.

# CONCLUSIONS

Grazing time by young weaned lambs did not differ among different structures of an erect tropical grass sward, suggesting that other factors may influence foraging behavior. Biting rate proved to be the main variable that differed among the gradient of grazing structures presented. Body weight and height of the upright tropical grass pasture had a strong influence on lambs' ingestive behavior. Maximum pasture height and minimum body weight should be considered when young lambs graze an erect tropical grassland.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Universidade Federal do Rio Gande dos Sul Animal Care and Use Committee. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

This study was developed by Animal Science Graduate Program at Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul and it was financed by development agencies of the Brazilian Ministry of Education and Ministry of Science and Technology. Every author had important contributions on this manuscript. JS and LI developed the research project and fieldwork. CP is the head of the research project, being responsible for all parts of the study, from the project to the publication. JT was primarily responsible for the statistical analysis and results and discussion of the article. EM and JV contributed to the configuration of the manuscript and writing corrections. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq-232963/2014-2) of Brazil, and by Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES-8888.102309/2016-00) of Brazil. This paper is published with the approval of the Director, Utah Agricultural Experiment Station, and Utah State University, as journal paper number 9377.

# REFERENCES

- Launchbaugh KL. Grazing animal behaviour. In: Moore KJ, Collins M, Nelson CJ, Redfearn DD, editors. *Forages: The Science of Grassland Agriculture*, 7th ed. Ames, IA: Blackwell Publishing Professional (2020). p. 827–38.
- Demment MW, Greenwood GB. Forage ingestion: effects of sward characteristics and body size. J Anim Sci. (1988) 66:2380–92. doi: 10.2527/jas1988.6692380x
- 3. Corbett JL, Furnival EP. Early weaning of grazing sheep. 2. Performance of ewes. *Aust J Exp Agric*. (1976) 16:156–66. doi: 10.1071/EA9760156
- De Paula EFE, Stupak EC, Zanatta CP, Poncheki K, Leal PC, Monteiro ALG. Comportamento ingestivo de ovinos em pastagens: uma revisão. *Rev Tróp Ciências Agrárias Biol.* (2010) 4:42–51. doi: 10.0000/rtcab.v4i1.83
- Carvalho PCF, Ribeiro Filho HMN, Poli CHE C, Moraes A, Delagarde R. Importância da estrutura da pastagem na ingestão e seleção de dietas pelo animal em pastejo. In: Mattos W, Soares R, editors. A Produção Animal na Visão dos Brasileiros, 1st ed. Piracicaba: FEALQ (2001). p. 853–71.
- Silva CJA, Dittrich JR, Monteiro ALG, Moraes A, Oliveira EB. Preferência de caprinos em pastejo: efeito da altura dos dosséis das forrageiras Aruana e Hemártria. *Ciência Anim Brasil.* (2009) 10:698–710. doi: 10.5380/avs.v10i2.4418
- Brâncio PA, Euclides VPB, Nascimento D Jr., Fonseca DM, Almeida RG, Macedo MCM, et al. Avaliação de três cultivares de Panicum maximum Jacq. sob pastejo: disponibilidade de forragem, altura do resíduo pós-pastejo e participação de folhas, colmos e material morto. *Rev Brasil Zootec.* (2003) 32:55–63. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982003000100007
- Palhano AL, Carvalho PCDF, Dittrich JR, Moraes AD, Barreto MZ, Santos MCFD. Estrutura da pastagem e padrões de desfolhação em Capim-Mombaça em diferentes alturas do dossel forrageiro. *Rev Brasil Zootec.* (2005) 34:1860– 70. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982005000600009
- Hodgson J. Influence of sward characteristics on diet selection and herbage intake by the grazing animal. In: Hacker JB, editor. Nutritional Limits to Animal Production from Pasture. Farnham Royal: Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux (1982). p. 153–66.
- 10. Köppen W. Climatología. Mexico City: Fondo de Cultura Economica (1948).
- Wollmann CA, Galvani E. Caracterização climática regional do Rio Grande do Sul: dos estudos estáticos ao entendimento da gênese. *Rev Brasil Climatol.* (2012) 11:87–103. doi: 10.5380/abclima.v11i0.28586
- 12. Mott GO, Lucas HL. The design, conduct, and interpretation of grazing trials on cultivated and improved pastures. In: *Proceedings of the 6th International Grassland Congress.* State College, PA (1952). p. 1380–5.
- Bircham JS. Herbage growth and utilization under continuous stocking management [Ph.D. thesis]. University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom (1981).
- Kinglmann DL, Miles SR, Mott GO. The cage method for determining consumption and yield of pasture herbage. J Soc Agron. (1943) 35:739–46. doi: 10.2134/agronj1943.00021962003500090001x
- Euclides VPB, Macedo MCM, Oliveira MP. Avaliação de diferentes métodos de amostragem sob pastejo. *Rev Brasil Zootec.* (1992) 21:691–702.
- Association of Official Agricultural Chemistry (AOAC). Official Methods of Analysis, 16th ed. Gaithersburg, MD: AOAC International (1995).
- Tilley JMA, Terry RA. A two-stage technique for the *in vitro* digestion of forage crops. *J Br Grassland Soc.* (1963) 18:104–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1963.tb00335.x
- Van Soest PJ, Robertson JB, Lewis BA. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and non-starch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *J Dairy Sci.* (1991) 74:3583–97. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78551-2
- Goering HK, Van Soest PJ (editors). Forage fiber analysis: apparatus reagents, procedures and some applications. In: *Agriculture Handbook No.379*. Washington, DC: Agricultural Research Service (1970). p. 20.
- Licitra G, Hernandez TM, Van Soest PJ. Standardization of produceres for nitrogen fractionation of ruminant feeds. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (1996) 57:347–58. doi: 10.1016/0377-8401(95)00837-3
- Jamieson WS, Hodgson J. The effect of daily herbage allowance and sward characteristics upon the ingestive behaviour and herbage intake of calves under strip grazing for grazing dairy cows. Grass Forage Sci. (1979) 34:261–71.
- Rook AJ, Penning PD. Stochastic models of grazing behaviour in sheep. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (1991) 32:167–77. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(05)80040-1
- Rook AJ, Penning PD. Synchronisation of eating, ruminating and idling activity by grazing sheep. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1991) 32:157–66. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(05)80039-5

- Baumont R, Prache S, Meuret M, Morand-Fehr P. How forage characteristics influence behaviour and intake in small ruminants: a review. *Livestock Prod Sci.* (2000) 64:15–28. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00172-X
- Rook AJ, Harvey A, Parsons AJ, Penning PD, Orr RJ. Effect of long-term changes in relative resource availability on dietary preference of grazing sheep for perennial ryegrass and white clover. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2002) 57:54–60. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2494.2002.00301.x
- Forbes TDA, Hodgson J. Comparative studies of the influence of sward conditions on the ingestive behaviour of cows and sheep. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1985) 40:69–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1985.tb01721.x
- Lenth RV. Using lsmeans. J. Stat. Softw. (2017) 69:1–33. doi: 10.18637/jss.v069.i01
- Sollenberger LE, Burns JC. Canopy characteristics, ingestive behaviour and herbage intake in cultivated tropical grasslands. In: *Proceedings of the 19th International Grassland Congress*. São Pedro (2001). p. 01–24.
- Euclides VPB, Oliveira MP, Portela PG. Relação entre tempo de pastejo e algumas características da pastagem. *Reunião An Soc Brasil Zootec.* (1991) 28:141.
- Fraser AF. The behaviour of maintenance and intensive husbandry of cattle, sheep and pigs. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*. (1983) 9:1–23. doi: 10.1016/0167-8809(83)90002-6
- Hodgson J. Variations in the surface characteristics of the sward and shortterm rate of herbage intake by calves and lambs. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1981) 36:49–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1981.tb01538.x
- 32. Negri R, Santos GB, Macedo VP, Silveira MFS, Bidin V. Comportamento ingestivo de cordeiras em pastagem de Capim Aruana manejado em diferentes alturas. In: XVI Simpósio Paranaense de Ovinocultura. IV Simpósio Paranaense de Caprinocultura. IV Simpósio Sul Brasileiro de Ovinos e Caprinos. Pato Branco (2013). p. 1–3.
- 33. Stobbs TH. The effect of plant structure on the intake of tropical pastures. II. Differences in swards structure, nutritive value, and bite size of animal grazing *Setaria anceps* and *Chloris gayana* at various stages of growth. *Aust J Agric Resour.* (1973) 24:821–9.
- Schwartz F, Rocha MG, Véras M, Ferinatti L, Pires C, Junior AC. Manejo de milheto (Pennisetum americanum Leeke) sob pastejo de ovinos. *Rev Brasil Agrociênc*. (2003) 9:151–5. doi: 10.18539/CAST.V9I2.522
- Carvalho PCF. Relações entre a estrutura da pastagem e o comportamento ingestivo de ruminantes em pastejo. In: Simpósio Sobre Avaliação de Pastagens Com Animais. Maringá (1997). p. 25–52.
- Medeiros RB, Pedroso CES, Jornada JBJ, Silva MA, Saibro JC. Comportamento ingestivo de ovinos no período diurno em pastagem de Azevém anual em diferentes estádios fenológicos. *Rev Brasil Zootec*. (2007) 36:198–2004. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982007000100024
- Zanine AM, Santos EM, Ferreira DJ, Lora A, Lora G. Comportamento ingestivo de ovinos e caprinos em pastagens de diferentes estruturas morfológicas. *Revi Electr Vet.* (2006) 7:1–10. Available online at: https://www. redalyc.org/pdf/636/63617138005.pdf
- Starling JMC, Silva RG, Costa MJRP, Bueno AR. Comportamento de pastejo de ovinos em ambiente tropical. In: *Reunião Anual da Sociedade Brasileira de Zootecnia*. Porto Alegre (1999).
- NRC. Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants: Sheep, Goats, Cervids, and New World Camelids. Washington, DC: National Academy of Science (2007).
- Poli CHEC, Monteiro ALĞ, Barros CS, Dittrich JR, Fernandes SR, Carvalho PCF. Comportamento ingestivo de cordeiros em três sistemas de produção em pastagem de Tifton 85. Acta Sci Anim Sci. (2009) 31:235–41. doi: 10.4025/actascianimsci.v31i36014
- doi: 10.4025/actascianimsci.v31i3.6014
  41. Emerenciano Neto JV, Difante GS, Lana ÂMQ, Medeiros HR, Aguiar EM, Montagner DB, et al. Forage quality and performance of sheep in Massai grass pastures managed at pre-grazing canopy Heights. *South Afr J Anim Sci.* (2018) 48:1073–81. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v48i6.10

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Silva, Poli, Tontini, Irigoyen, Modesto and Villalba. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Meeting Breeding Potential in Organic and Low-Input Dairy Farming

Hannah Davis<sup>1\*</sup>, Sokratis Stergiadis<sup>2</sup>, Eleni Chatzidimitriou<sup>3</sup>, Roy Sanderson<sup>1</sup>, Carlo Leifert<sup>4</sup> and Gillian Butler<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Natural and Environmental Sciences, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> Department of Animal Sciences, School of Agriculture, Policy and Development, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> French Agency for Food Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety (ANSES), Regulated Products Assessment Department, Residues and Food Safety Unit, Maisons-Alfort, France, <sup>4</sup> Centre for Organics Research, Southern Cross University, Lismore, NSW, Australia

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France

#### Reviewed by:

Bruno Martin, INRAE Clermont-Auvergne-Rhône-Alpes, France Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado F°, Federal University of Santa Catarina. Brazil

\***Correspondence:** Hannah Davis hannah.davis@newcastle.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 19 March 2020 Accepted: 16 September 2020 Published: 28 October 2020

#### Citation:

Davis H, Stergiadis S, Chatzidimitriou E, Sanderson R, Leifert C and Butler G (2020) Meeting Breeding Potential in Organic and Low-Input Dairy Farming. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:544149. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.544149 Low-input (LI) dairy farming, relying heavily on grazing, is increasing in popularity for perceived sustainability, welfare, and milk nutritional quality benefits. However, there is little research into the breed suitability for these systems. The popular Holstein-Friesians are not well-suited to LI production as, to achieve their potential high yields, they require high levels of concentrate intakes and veterinary inputs. Holstein-Friesians were traditionally bred for high milk yields, which often correlate negatively with functional traits, such as fertility and health. This drives the need for alternative breed choices, and UK dairy farmers use several crossbreeding practices. Additionally, classic measures of production efficiency (kilogram feed per liter of milk) are not the sole priority in LI systems, which also aim for improved health, fertility, forage conversion, and milk quality. This study aimed to explore the effect of breeding strategy on LI and organic production in dairy systems, collecting data from 17 farms throughout England and Wales: 7 organic and 10 low-input conventional systems with both purebred and crossbred cows from different breeds. Records from 1,070 cows were collected, including background data, health, fertility, breeding, and parity. Additionally, milk was analyzed on four occasions (autumn 2011 and winter, spring, and summer 2012). Principal components analysis was used to visualize the effect of management, Farm ID, and stage of lactation on LI production. The analysis clustered cows by Farm ID, showing that individual management practice on each farm had the greatest impact on various production traits. Cows were allocated a composite score based on their yield, health records, and milk fatty acid profile, and a linear mixed-effects model indicated (p < 0.01) that crossbred New Zealand Friesian cows scored highest, whereas Dairy Shorthorn cows scored the lowest. This paper highlights weaknesses in current breeding programs for LI and organic farms in the UK, in terms of the alignment of breeds with husbandry practices. Additional research is needed to explore any gene by environment interactions to meet the true potential of individual cows and certain breeds under LI and organic management.

Keywords: low-input, organic, dairy farming, milk quality, grazing

# INTRODUCTION

Organic farming in the UK is defined by European Union (EU) regulations (1) and certifying bodies such as The Soil Association (2) and Organic Farmers and Growers (3). However, many farms operate low-input (LI) systems, which are not organic and not formally defined or regulated. LI farming refers to the practice of using fewer inputs than conventional agriculture but not necessarily meeting organic or other quality assurance standards. Motivations toward LI farming include economic, environmental, and social parameters (4). The main criticism of organic and LI farming is that, compared with intensive systems, lower yields require more land to produce the same amount of food, leading to poorer biodiversity if seminatural vegetation is converted to agriculture (5). However, rejecting organic production methods by emphasizing yield productivity ignores opportunities for practices that enhance sustainability; therefore, alternative metrics must assess LI systems. Over the past 60 years, dairy farming has typically focused on making better use of inputs, maximizing profit, relying heavily on high yields and improved feed efficiency (kilogram dry matter intake per liter of milk) [e.g., (6) Milkbench + system]. However, in organic and LI dairying, priorities are different, whereas profit is still essential; the production system involves fewer inputs. Feed efficiency is equally important, but the pathway to achieve this is mainly on reducing external inputs rather than maximizing outputs, a practice that may also benefit herd health (7). Reducing the intensity of production lowers veterinary bills and costs associated with inseminations while using optimal grazing strategies (such as mob-grazing) to enhance soil and sward health, meaning cows consume a richer pasture and produce more nutritious milk (8, 9). A robust method to determine sustainability, accounting for animal health/welfare, nutritional quality, and environmental/social impacts, is needed. Although fully exploring the sustainability of LI dairying is beyond the scope of this study, this paper explores aspects of breeding, production output, health and milk quality of LI, and organic dairy farms.

Traditionally, Holstein/Friesians (HF) has been at the forefront of high yielding dairy production globally. Holsteins are primarily selected for their production traits (milk yield and composition), whereas more traditional Friesians can be selected for functional traits (health and fertility). However, HF cows are not well-suited to LI and organic systems, as they require relatively high levels of both concentrates to achieve maximum yield potential and veterinary inputs (10). Instead, breeds able to maintain health and productivity with LIs are preferred. As a cross, HFs are bred for production traits (higher yield), which are often negatively correlated with functional traits, such as a decline in fertility and health (11). To maximize the potential of both alternative and high-yielding breeds, LI and organic dairy systems have increased their interest in crossbreeding dairy cattle, introducing genetics from more robust breeds (12). Additionally, functional traits are heavily influenced by the local environment and have low heritability (11), making it difficult to select genetic lines to improve health and fertility. For this reason, LI and organic systems benefit from crossing with breeds known to have stronger functional traits.

Organic and LI systems often rely on crossbreeding strategies to optimize their herd health and yield potential. A strong reason for crossbreeding is the resulting heterosis or hybrid vigor in the first generation (F1). Crossbred offspring (including HF crosses) outperformance relative to the parental average is one way to improve functional traits (13) without impacting milk production. However, to extend the benefit beyond the first generation, a carefully designed system is required for rotational crossbreeding: crossing two F1 individuals only expresses half the hybrid vigor, whereas introducing a third breed preserves up to 86% of the heterosis (12). Crossbreeding high-production HF with traditional breeds better suited to LI management (with high forage diets) shows potential. For example, recent studies comparing breeds and crossbreeding regimes in Switzerland and the UK showed more traditional breeds, or crossbreeding with traditional breeds can significantly improve the economic performance and milk quality in LI grazing based dairy systems (10, 14). The indicators from these studies are positive, but further research is needed to identify the key mechanisms required to produce predictable, repeatable, efficient, and effective crossbreeds.

There is very little recognized research into breeding for crossbred cattle in smaller LI and organic dairy systems. Yet, these farms have progressed with crossbreeding for many generations within their herds, each using a different strategy to search for breed combinations that perform within their system (15). Therefore, there is not a clear breed (or crossbreed) that typically outperforms others in LI systems, in the way that HF dominates conventional production. In addition, most scientific research has focused on HF because they account for 95% of the EU dairy cow population (16). UK organic milk was valued at £351 million in 2018, with over 25% of UK households purchasing organic milk, representing 5.1% of retail milk sales (17), highlighting the increased need to develop appropriate crossbreeding schemes for such production chains. Studies from a range of countries argue that, due to genetic  $\times$  environment (GxE) interactions, optimal genetic progress requires either independent breeding programs or an index (to rank sires against requirement) specific for each farming system (18-23). This approach would directly benefit LI and organic systems.

The complexity of breeding support for LI dairying is not well-established in the UK. In LI and organic dairy systems, the diet is predominantly forage; therefore, it is beneficial to have cows that efficiently convert forage, especially grazing, to milk (24). However, current UK breeding objectives available do not include forage conversion as a desirable trait when calculating economic values of genetic gain. Instead, the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB-UK levy board funded by farmers and growers) breeding index for year-round calving focuses on milk production (34.4%), health (21.8%), fertility (15.3%), and temperament, among other traits (25). The AHDB also has a Spring Calving Index, aimed at herds making use of grazed grass by assigning 71.6% of the weighting to fitness traits, but the dominant individual driver is still production (27.4%), and the link between efficiency (with an emphasis on forage conversion) in LI systems has yet to be fully explored. Typically, LI and organic management that supports animal health and mastitis is the main concern (26), whereas health and fertility

remain essential in these systems; the risk of illness (for example, acidosis) is much reduced. Although these UK resources for dairy breeding selection exist, other options seem more appropriate for organic and LI production.

Milk quality has gained a lot of media attention recently, continuing the debate around the role of milk in human diets and the environment (27). Milk fatty acid (FA) profile is strongly influenced by management, and there is a clear difference in the FA profiles of organic and conventional milk (28-30) between the different stages of lactation (31) and seasonally (32, 33). Additionally, FAs can vary as much within- as betweenbreeds (34, 35), making it harder to isolate breeds that could give an "optimal" FA profile within a specified management system. Some FAs have been studied closely for their effects on human health. The main FAs considered to have a positive effect on human health are alpha-linolenic acid, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), docosapentaenoic acid (DPA), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), oleic acid (OA), and cis-9 trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid (CLA9). Alpha-linolenic acid is the most abundant omega-3 (n-3) FA and promotes healthy aging and fetal development (36, 37). The long chain n-3 FAs, EPA, DPA, and DHA are anti-inflammatory and reduce the risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) (38). OA can reduce the risk of CHD and promotes stable cellular membranes (39). CLA9 has been shown to lower the risk of CHD and enhance the immune system (40, 41). In contrast, FAs highlighted as undesirable in human nutrition due to their association with increased CHD risk are lauric (C12:0), myristic (C14:0), and, in particular, palmitic (C16:0) acids (39). Also, the most abundant omega-6 (n-6), linoleic acid, is an essential FA in human diets, but if total n-6 is in excess, as prevalent in Western diets, it becomes pro-inflammatory with negative health effects (42). Of greater relevance is the dietary ratio of n-6/n-3, which, when too high (the exact optimal ratio is unknown), may cause inflammations and increase CHD risk (42, 43). Although there is currently no premium in UK linked to milk fat composition, in the USA, CROPP's organic "Grassmilk<sup>TM</sup>" receives a 15% premium above standard organic milk prices for meeting minimum requirements for the n-6/n-3 ratio, total n-3, and CLA (29). This demonstrates the potential for other sectors and countries to create premium dairy products with an increased concentration of beneficial FAs.

Historic approaches to breeding in dairying have not taken a whole system view, generally resulting in poor health traits and concentrate-dependent cows (16). If robust methods to identify cattle that best suit a particular system are to be developed, there is the potential to improve animal health and welfare, production, nutritional quality, milk FA profile, and efficiency. This paper aims to identify breeds within LI and organic dairy systems that can maintain health and yield while producing milk with a beneficial FA profile. The objectives are to (a) define the variables most relevant to LI and organic farming and observe differences in the management system (individual farms), (b) identify breeds that are similar across the farms and quantify differences, (c) develop a score for LI-production (LI-P) to identify breeds that best suit LI and organic production in terms of production, health, and milk composition with respect to consumer health.

TABLE 1 | Background information on each farm.

Farm ID	Management	No. of cows included	Calving	Breeds and crosses represented <sup>a</sup>
1	Organic	40	Spring	AYR, JE, HF, NZF, SR, SH
2	Organic	42	Year-round	HF, JE, SR
3	Low-input	55	Spring	BS, JE, HF, SR
4	Low-input	52	Spring	NZF, JE, HF
5	Organic	49	Year-round	HF, SR, SH, MRI
6	Low-input	28	Spring	HF, JE, SR
7	Organic	61	Autumn (late)	AYR, HF, SH, SR
8	Low-input	113	Year-round	BF, HF, SR, SH, MRI
9	Low-input	60	Autumn (early)	BF, JE, HF, NZF, SH
10	Organic	55	Autumn (early)	BF, BS, HF, MO, SR
11	Low-input	66	Spring	JE, NZF, BF, HF
12	Low-input	27	Spring	BF, SR, JE
13	Low-input	84	Year-round	AYR, BF, HF, SR, MO, NZI
14	Low-input	76	Spring	BF, JE, NZF, SR, HF, MRI
15	Organic	93	Autumn	AYR, HF, MO, SR, JE
16	Low-input	97	Spring	AYR, JE, HF, NZF
17	Organic	72	Autumn	AYR, HF, SH, XX

<sup>a</sup> HF, Holstein/Friesian; NZF, New Zealand Friesian; BF, British and unknown Friesian; JE, Jersey; SR, Scandinavian Red; SH, Shorthorn; AY, Ayrshire; MO, Montbelliarde; BS, Brown Swiss; MRI, Meuse Rhine Issel; XX, crossbred with unknown breed composition.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Data Collection**

Data for this study were collected from 17 dairy farms (7 organic and 10 LI-conventional) throughout England and Wales between November 2011 and October 2012. All herds were a mix of both purebred and different crossbred cows (Table 1). Herd sizes ranged from 150 to 550 cows, and a total of 1,070 cows were recorded to encompass a broad range of breeds and crosses from each farm. A one-off questionnaire was completed to gain information on pre-survey health and parity as well as a breeding pedigree for all individual cows (according to the farmers' records). Milk from each cow was sampled over four dates: autumn 2011 (D1), spring (D2), summer (D3), and autumn 2012 (D4). A corresponding questionnaire for each farm and cow was used to record husbandry practices on all sampling dates, including milk yield, disease incidence, health treatments, cow diet, calving intervals, milking, and grazing management. Organic farming standards require concentrate feed to be sourced organically and have strict land management application practices (2), whereas LI follow similar practices but are not certified organic. Organic and LI farms fed similar levels of concentrate per cow, and organic farms typically fed more conserved forage (Supplementary Table 1). Access to grazing varied across the year and individual management (Supplementary Table 2). All milk samples were analyzed for basic composition, somatic cell count (SCC), and FA profile. All procedures were acceptable to internal ethical review, in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Body at Newcastle University.

#### **Milk Analysis**

A representative raw milk sample was collected from each cow during milking in the parlor on each sampling date. Milk samples were preserved with Bronopol and kept at ambient temperature during transportation to a commercial National Milk Recording (44) lab. Basic milk composition was analyzed using Milkoscan FT 6000 (Foss Electric, Hillerød, Denmark) (milk fat, protein, urea, and lactose content), and SCC was recorded using a Fossomatic instrument (Foss Electric). The samples were then transported at ambient temperature (10- $25^{\circ}$ C) to Newcastle University, frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. Bronopol preserves milk for more than 5 days and is effective unless temperatures are consistently high (45); ambient temperature varied by season, but milk was frozen within 4 days of collection. There is some evidence that Bronopol may have a small impact on minor long-chain FAs (46) and protein concentration (47). However, all milk samples in this study were treated the same and are therefore comparable. Milk was defrosted at 4°C, stirred thoroughly to homogenize, and 3-4 ml of milk was transferred in a 7-ml container, frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C, and freeze-dried. The lipid was extracted using the method described by Chilliard et al. (48), where 130 µg of lyophilized milk was methylated and esterified. Gas chromatography (Shimadzu, GC-2014, Kyoto, Japan) equipped with a flame ionization detector and by using a Varian CP-SIL 88 fused silica capillary column (100 m  $\times$  0.25 mm ID, 0.2 µm film thickness) was used to analyze the FAs. The gas chromatography method has been previously described by Stergiadis et al. (49). Individual FAs were identified against peaks generated by a 52 methyl FA standard, with the area under each peak quantifying the relative proportion of each in the total FAs. An FA methyl ester standard and published chromatograms (50, 51) were used to identify the FAs, and correction factors for short-chain FAs were applied using the method described by Stergiadis et al. (49).

#### Data Handling Breed Combinations

The farmers' breeding records categorized all animals. Cows were given a code based on their sire, dam, and predominant breed, for example, a pure-bred Jersey = JE; sire Jersey and dam Ayrshire = JEAYR; sire Jersey × Shorthorn and dam Jersey × Ayrshire = JEX (**Table 1**). The X indicates a majority genetic contribution and/or a back cross. Including the sire and dam breeds for all cows across the study resulted in around 40 different breed combinations of varying population sizes, depending on the sampling date. This ranged from a single representative on one farm (British Friesian × Montbelliarde) to 119 HF individuals across all farms for D2. To rationalize the number of crossbreed combinations in this study, there is no differentiation between the contribution of genetics by parents' sex. For example, both a cross from a Jersey sire and HF dam and from an HF sire and Jersey dam are labeled HFJE.

#### Data Analysis

Microsoft Excel was used for data handling, whereas all statistical analysis was completed using "R" (52). The background

information on the farms and monitored cows is displayed in Table 1.

#### Low-Input-Production and Principal Components Analysis

The initial data collection involved 1,070 cows, but for some farms and/or cows on some sampling dates, there are missing and incomplete records. For the observational statistics, the cows selected had records on any given date for production, health, and FA composition results (explained later). This resulted in 299, 757, 772, and 613 cows on D1, D2, D3, and D4, respectively.

Focusing on the available data, using a combination of farm records and results from milk analysis and the priorities of typical LI practices, the variables selected to define LI-P were split into three main criteria:

1. Production:

- i. Milk yield (L/day).
- ii. Total fat and protein solids (kg/day).

2. Health:

- i. Udder health; SCC ( $\times 10^3$  cells/ml milk).
- ii. Treatments, including antibiotics (e.g., for mastitis or metritis) or other (e.g., for lameness, milk fever, or pain/inflammation).

3. Fatty acid profile:

- i. Percentage of total profile with desirable FAs (n-3, OA, CLA9, EPA+ DPA+ DHA).
- ii. Percentage of total profile with FAs often consumed in excess and undesirable (C12:0, C14:0, C16:0, n-6, and n-6/n-3 ratio).

The elements of LI-P had different units (FAs were proportional, yield: liters/cow/day, SCC: ×10<sup>3</sup> cells/ml milk, etc.); thus, the data was standardized (normalization to mean of zero and standard deviation of one) (53) to give each element of LI-P the same weight. Principal components analysis (PCA) in the package "vegan" (54) was used to aid visualization of the effects of Farm ID (2-17) on LI-P. Two sets of graphs were produced from the PCA. First, graphs (Figure 1) in which points represent samples/records from cows (at each farm, one graph for each the four dates), where the closer two points are to each other in PCA ordination space, the more similar their characteristics (in terms of production, health, and milk FA profile). The points in these graphs were color-coded by farm identity to aid interpretation. Second, PCA graphs of these characteristics (Figure 2), in which points close together, indicate co-occurrence on similar farms or farming systems. This second set of PCA graphs were also broken down by date. In other words, the characteristics that are grouped together in Figure 2 can be associated with cows and/or farms that occupy similar ordination space in Figure 1.

#### **Descriptive Statistical Analysis**

For the descriptive statistical analysis, additional inclusion criteria were considered: on any sampling date, records existing



FIGURE 1 | Principal components analysis based on low-input-production, highlighted by Farm ID. C12:0 = Lauric Acid, C14:0 = Myristic Acid, C16:0 = Palmitic Acid, CLA:9 = Conjugated linoleic acid (C18:2, c9t11 isomer), n3 = omega-3, n6 = omega-6, n6n3 = omega-6/ omega-3 ratio, EPA + DPA + DHA = EPA = Eicosapentaenoic Acid + DPA = Docosapentaenoic Acid + DHA = Docosahexaenoic Acid, SCC = Somatic Cell Count, Treatments = Health Treatments.

for at least six cows of the same breed (combination) from at least three different farms. These criteria resulted in the most breed combinations and ensured comparison between breeds rather than individual farm management style. After these additional inclusion criteria had been applied, there were eight breeds for comparison: Ayrshire cross (AYRX, n = 100), HF (HF, n = 325), HF × Jersey (HFJE, n = 184), HF × Scandinavian Red (HFSR, n = 274), Jersey cross (JEX, n = 121), New Zealand Friesian cross (NZFX, n = 90), Dairy Shorthorn (SH, n = 80), and Scandinavian Red cross (SRX, n = 140). The number of cows represented by each breed from each farm is available in **Supplementary Table 3**.

The "R" package "nlme" (55) was used to model "Breed" against the variables described for the LI-P, with Season and Farm ID as random factors. The linear mixed-effects model accounts for variation explained by the fixed effects (Breed) and random effects (Season and Farm ID). As farms were observed across the four sampling dates, these related measures would violate the independence assumptions made by a linear model, hence, the use of "Farm ID" and "Season" as random

factors. Days in milk did not differ between the breeds (Fstatistic = 1.50, p = 0.165), allowing the breed to be compared without differentiating or adjusting for the stage of lactation. On each date all cows from the same farm were fed the same ration, not as individuals (**Supplementary Table 1**). The feed data did not meet the assumptions of the model; therefore, mean and standard deviations are given, but a *p*-value is not provided. Observationally, there was no big difference in the amount of concentrate fed between the breeds, but there was a notable difference in the amount of conserved forage-fed between breeds (**Table 2**). Concentrate feeding is thought to have the biggest impact on the FA profile (56); therefore, no corrections were made to the data before analysis.

Traditionally, *post-hoc* Tukey honest significant difference tests are used for multiple comparisons of levels within a factor. However, due to the complexity of this data set with multiple levels of comparison (8), some with few replicates, controlling the familywise error rate even by this approach would risk numerous type 1 errors (false-positives) and would be misleading (57–59).



#### Low-Input Production Score

To create a universal score for each record, common units are required. Using the variables selected for LI-P, scores were created for each cow record to assess the best performing breed. Milk yield, total fat and protein solids, SCC, and proportions of desirable and undesirable FAs were (higher rankings indicate more beneficial qualities) scored as described next.

- 1. Production records [milk yield (L/day) and total fat and protein solids (kg)] were allocated into five groups of equal observations, rated 1–5 with 5 the highest and 1 the lowest. Scores were combined to make a total production score, out of 10.
- 2. SCC ( $\times 10^3$  cells/ml milk) was allocated into five groups of equal observations rated 1–5 with 5 the lowest and 1 the highest. For veterinary treatments, cows were given a 1 if they

received no treatments and 0 if they had been given antibiotics or an alternative (e.g., for mastitis or metritis or other, e.g., for lameness, milk fever or pain/inflammation) at least once since the previous collection date, which was added to the SCC category resulting in a total health score, out of 6.

3. For desirable FAs (OA, CLA9, n-3, and EPA + DPA + DHA), concentrations were ranked and allocated to five equal groups with a score of 5 was given to the highest and 1 to the lowest group, whereas undesirable FA (often consumed in excess) (C12:0, C14:0, C16:0, n-6, and n-6/n-3 ratio) scores were reversed, 5 to the lowest group. FA categories were combined to create an FA score, out of 45.

These individual assessments were then used to calculate a single score (out of one) for each cow record using two alternative approaches. The score weightings are based organic and LI values, the AHDB Spring and Autumn calving indices (60) TABLE 2 | Effect of breed on components of low-input-production: production (milk yield and total fat and protein solids), health (health treatments and SCC), and nutritionally relevant FA in milk (expressed as a percentage of the entire FA profile).

	AYRX <sup>a</sup>	HF	HFJE	HFSR	JEX	NZFX	SH	SRX	Sig <sup>b</sup>
n	100	325	184	274	121	90	80	140	
Days in milk	$154 \pm 94.25$	$182\pm96.89$	$157 \pm 102.23$	3 161 ± 94.26	$134 \pm 85.21$	$138\pm96.88$	$153 \pm 106.91$	151 ± 93.30	ns
Concentrate feed (kg/day)	$3.0\pm1.54$	$3.3\pm2.15$	$3.6 \pm 1.68$	$4.5\pm2.45$	$3.1\pm2.49$	$3.5\pm3.00$	$3.3\pm1.49$	$3.1\pm2.55$	NA
Conserved forage (kg/day)	$3.7\pm4.91$	$6.1\pm5.25$	$6.5\pm5.65$	$5.6\pm5.48$	$3.1\pm3.80$	$1.7\pm2.94$	$8.2\pm4.78$	$3.2\pm4.09$	NA
Production									
Yield (L/day)	$20.2\pm7.33$	$21.2\pm8.67$	$21.8\pm8.89$	$21.9\pm9.50$	$17.9\pm7.47$	$20.1\pm7.08$	$17.8\pm8.81$	$19.7\pm7.68$	***
Solids (fat and protein) (kg/day)	$1.7\pm0.799$	$1.6\pm0.618$	$1.8\pm0.704$	$1.7\pm0.627$	$1.7 \pm 0.652$	$1.7\pm0.555$	$1.5\pm0.763$	$1.6\pm0.516$	***
Health									
SCC (×10 <sup>3</sup> cells/ml milk)	$243\pm454.2$	$234\pm584.5$	$248\pm782.1$	$293\pm885.4$	$247\pm 664.1$	$232\pm944.9$	$261\pm688.2$	$170\pm400.8$	ns
Treatments	$0.41 \pm 0.818$	$0.34\pm0.713$	$0.35\pm0.670$	$0.24\pm0.549$	$0.12 \pm 0.369$	$0.08\pm0.343$	$0.09\pm0.284$	$0.18\pm0.527$	**
Median SCC (×10 <sup>3</sup> cells/ml milk)	78.5	78.0	70.0	73.0	84.0	56.5	89.0	73.0	
FA profile									
C12:0 <sup>c</sup>	$3.2\pm0.797$	$3.3\pm0.807$	$4.0\pm0.918$	$3.6\pm1.003$	$3.9\pm0.832$	$3.4\pm0.822$	$3.7\pm0.844$	$3.8\pm0.771$	**
C14:0	$10.9 \pm 1.82$	$11.4\pm1.53$	$12.2\pm1.69$	$11.8\pm1.56$	$11.6\pm1.45$	$10.7\pm1.74$	$11.6\pm1.49$	$11.9\pm1.40$	**
C16:0	$29.6\pm4.79$	$32.5\pm4.92$	$32.9\pm6.23$	$31.4\pm3.99$	$31.4\pm6.32$	$29.6\pm5.10$	$29.9\pm3.93$	$31.3\pm5.68$	***
n-6	$1.6\pm0.300$	$1.7 \pm 0.532$	$1.6\pm0.419$	$1.6 \pm 0.462$	$1.4 \pm 0.434$	$1.6\pm0.437$	$2.1\pm0.454$	$1.4\pm0.444$	**
n-6/n-3	$1.0\pm0.309$	$1.4 \pm 0.655$	$1.4\pm0.441$	$1.3\pm0.485$	$1.1 \pm 0.526$	$1.3\pm0.765$	$1.9\pm0.887$	$1.1\pm0.514$	*
OA	$20.3\pm3.87$	$18.8\pm3.87$	$16.6\pm4.02$	$19.5\pm4.01$	$17.8\pm4.45$	$20.2\pm4.22$	$20.2\pm3.46$	$18.6\pm4.20$	**
CLA9	$0.99\pm0.418$	$0.88\pm0.507$	$0.67\pm0.451$	$0.79\pm0.416$	$0.93\pm0.491$	$1.03\pm0.454$	$0.74\pm0.602$	$0.91\pm0.417$	ns
EPA + DPA + DHA	$0.23\pm0.074$	$0.20\pm0.073$	$0.19\pm0.056$	$0.19\pm0.046$	$0.23\pm0.070$	$0.22\pm0.085$	$0.20\pm0.083$	$0.21\pm0.056$	**
n-3	$1.7 \pm 0.460$	$1.4 \pm 0.513$	$1.3 \pm 0.450$	$1.3 \pm 0.295$	$1.4 \pm 0.412$	$1.5 \pm 0.504$	$1.4 \pm 0.650$	$1.4 \pm 0.295$	***

<sup>a</sup>AYRX, Ayrshire cross; HF, Holstein/Friesian; HFJE, Holstein/Friesian × Jersey; JEX, Jersey cross; NZFX, New Zealand Friesian cross; SH, Shorthorn; SRX, Scandinavian Red cross. <sup>b</sup>P-values < 0.05. \*\*\*P< 0.001, \*\*P < 0.01; \*P < 0.05, t: P < 0.1, ns: P > 0.1.

<sup>c</sup>C12:0, Lauric Acid; C14:0, Myristic Acid; C16:0, Palmitic Acid; n-6, omega-6; n-6/n-3, omega-6/omega-3 ratio; OA, Oleic Acid; CLA9, Conjugated linoleic acid (C18:2, c9t11 isomer); EPA + DPA + DHA, eicosapentaenoic acid + docosapentaenoic acid + docosahexaenoic Acid; n-3, omega-3.

Mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) and ANOVA p-values.

and the premium offered for FA quality by Organic Valley's Grassmilk  $^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$  (29).

- Weighted health score: the scores were weighted at 30% production, 50% health, and 20% FA.
- Weighted production score: 60% production, 30% health, and 10% FA.

For example:

Weighted health score = 30% \* (production score/10) + 50% \* (health score/ 6) + 20% \* (FA score/45).

## RESULTS

# Low-Input-Production and Principal Components Analysis

The PCA result is displayed in **Figures 1**, **2**. On D1, 46% of the total variance was explained by PC1 (29%) and PC2 (17%). On D2, 43% of the variance was explained by PC1 (25%) and PC2 (18%). On D3, 51% of the variance was explained by PC1 (31%) and PC2 (20%). On D4, 55% of the variance was explained by PC1 (29%) and PC2 (26%).

The individual farm had major influences on LI-P, especially on D4 (autumn 2012) (**Figure 1**), where cows from the same farm are clearly clustered together. Farm 7 cows are tightly clustered in the negative PC1 axis and positive PC2 axis, whereas Farm 14 cows are clustered in the negative PC1 and PC2 axis. The beneficial FAs n-3 and CLA9 and EPA + DPA + DHA generally occurred close together in PCA ordination space, whereas the detrimental saturated FAs C12:0, C14:0, and C16:0 are together in the opposite axes quadrants on all four sampling dates, D1–D4 (**Figure 2**).

Interpretation of **Figure 1** is aided by cross-referencing with **Figure 2** to superimpose the latter onto **Figure 1**. For example, on date D1, many cows from Farm 8 are associated with high levels of CLA9 and OA in milk. In contrast, Farms 2, 3, and 11 have higher saturated FA: C12:0, C14:0, and C16:0 concentrations. However, D2 cows from Farms 6, 15, and 16 are associated with the beneficial FA EPA + DPA + DHA and CLA9 and Farm 17 with n-6 and a high ratio of n-6/n-3. Across all four sampling dates, Farm 7 (yellow) stands out for producing milk with elevated n-6 content and n-6/n-3, although no farm is consistently associated with beneficial FA in milk.

## Effect of Breed on Low-Input-Production

The mean values for the components of LI-P for the eight most common breeds and crosses are shown in **Table 2**. Averaging data (over four dates) from multiple farms with similar breed combinations indicated that the individual parameters used to define LI-P did significantly differ between breeds, although, again, there was no difference in the stage of lactation between the breeds in this data set. The highest yielding breed was the HF (21.2 L) and the HF crosses (HFJE: 21.8 L and HFSR: 21.9 L), and

<b>TABLE 3</b>   Effect of breed on health score and production score $\pm$ standard deviation.
---

	NZFX <sup>a</sup>	AYRX	HFJE	SRX	HFSR	JEX	HF	SH	Sig <sup>b</sup>
n	90	100	184	140	274	121	325	80	
Health <sup>c</sup> score	$0.60^{\rm d}\pm0.136$	$0.60\pm0.167$	$0.58\pm0.164$	$0.58\pm0.143$	$0.57\pm0.163$	$0.57\pm0.167$	$0.57\pm0.165$	$0.50\pm0.133$	*
Rank	1	2	4	3	5	7	6	8	
Production score	$0.61 \pm 0.169$	$0.60\pm0.202$	$0.61 \pm 0.194$	$0.59\pm0.170$	$0.59\pm0.198$	$0.59\pm0.199$	$0.57\pm0.198$	$0.50\pm0.197$	**
Rank	1	3	2	4	5	6	7	8	

<sup>a</sup>AYRX, Ayrshire cross; HF, Holstein/Friesian; HFJE, Holstein/Friesian × Jersey; JEX, Jersey cross; NZFX, New Zealand Friesian cross; SH, Shorthorn; SRX, Scandinavian Red cross. <sup>b</sup>P-values < 0.05. \*\*P < 0.01; \*P < 0.05.

<sup>c</sup>Maximum possible score = 1.

<sup>d</sup>Where mean values are equal the lower standard deviation dictates the rank.

D1, autumn 2011; D2, spring; D3, summer; D4, autumn 2012.

HFJE had the highest fat and protein solids (1.8 kg). However, HF and the crosses had the lowest concentrations of long-chain n-3 FAs [EPA + DPA + DHA [HF: 0.20%, HFJE: 0.19%, and HFSR: 0.19%]], and HFJE and HFSR had the lowest total n-3 (both 1.3%). Additionally, HFJE had the highest concentrations of C12:0 (4%), C14:0 (11.2%), and C16:0 (32.9%). AYRX had the lowest concentration of C12:0 (3.2%), C16:0 (29.6%), and n-6/n-3 (1.0) and also had the highest concentration of OA (20.3%), CLA9 (0.99%—not significant), EPA + DPA + DHA (0.23%), and n-3 (1.7%). SH had the lowest average daily yield (17.8 L) and solids (1.5 kg), a high average cell count (261 × 10<sup>3</sup> cells/ml milk), the highest concentration of RPA + DPA + DHA (0.20%), n-3 (1.40%), and CLA9 (0.74%).

There was no difference in the SCC between breeds, but 12% of SCC recordings from individual cows were above the EU standard, ranging from 400,000 to 9,000,000 cells/ml milk. This resulted in SCC having a very wide standard deviation; therefore, the median values were included in **Table 2** (as well as mean values) for a more representative SCC status. The median cell counts for each breed are below 90,000 cells/ml milk. Most health treatments were given to the AYRX (0.41), whereas the NZFX (0.08) and SH (0.09) received the least.

#### Low-Input-Production Score

The two LI-P scores for each breed combination are presented in **Table 3**. The NZFX was the highest-scoring breed, ranking first under both the weighted health and production scenarios, whereas SH was the lowest-scoring breed ranking last in both scenarios. The largest change in the LI-P score with the different weightings was HFJE, which scored fourth in the health score, but second, emphasizing production.

## DISCUSSION

The data collected for this paper provides valuable information from commercial farms of direct practical application for farmers, in an area lacking in the scientific literature. As a study monitoring on-farm activities, many variables are not controlled, but the statistical model mitigates some of these effects. The data collected is of sufficient quality and range to provide invaluable insights into LI-P systems in the UK. This includes the effects of breed combinations on LI-P and determining how and why breeds are suited to different farms. Although this paper does not draw definitive conclusions, it explores the current status of dairy breeding strategies and highlights how farmer's decision-making should direct future LI (cross) breeding research.

#### **Low-Input Production**

The influence of farm management (e.g., breed, diet, calving date, and nutrition) on milk composition, yield, and animal health has been well documented (28, 29, 61, 62). These effects are seen in the PCA analyses (Figure 1), where each farm system clusters (apart from D1, with fewer records). Most organic cows were autumn calving, and many LI were spring calving (Table 1). Due to this collinearity, it would be statistically difficult to identify if management (organic vs. LI) or stage in lactation affected LI-P. Additionally, the collinearity violates the assumptions of most statistical models on the independent influence of factors; it would therefore be incorrect to separate these in an attempt to identify whether the management or lactation stage has the strongest influence on LI-P. It is clear, nevertheless, from Figure 1 that LI-P is very closely associated with individual farms. The specific aims and preferences of individual farmers result in decisions about suitable breeds for that particular system, and as these management decisions are unique to each farm, the effect of breed on LI-P is multifaceted.

#### Feeding

Although the scoring system aimed to identify breeds well-suited to LI farming, there were differences in supplementary feeding between breeds, which could influence findings. The amount of concentrate feed offered was fairly consistent across breeds (from 3.0 to 4.5 kg per head per day), although conserved forage offered was more variable, ranging from 1.7 to 8.6 kg per head per day. Increasing fresh forage in the diet influences milk fat composition, raising CLA9 and omega-3 (29, 63), and if we assume fresh forage consumption is indirectly proportional to the amounts of other feeds offered (32), we could expect the ranking of the breeds to follow a similar pattern-driven by the positive influence of milk fat composition to these composite scores. However, although this holds for the best and worst ranked breeds under both scores [NZFX ranked first on both scores, had the lowest supplementary feeding, the highest concentration of CLA9 [1.03%], and the second highest concentration of n-3 [1.5%] and SH, eighth on both scores, had the highest level of supplementation offered], the ranking of all other breeds does not follow combined supplementary feeding rates. The AYRX outranked both SRX and JEX in health and production scores, whereas HFJE outranked JEX in both scores and SRX in production score; yet, both AYRX and HFJE received more supplementary feed than JEX and SRX. Despite receiving higher levels of supplementary feed than JEX and SRX, milk from AYRX cows had the highest concentration of n-3 (1.7%) and secondhighest CLA9 (0.99%) among all the breeds. At the other end of the health and production ranking, JEX cows were judged seventh and sixth yet were offered the second-lowest level of supplementary feeding, hence expected to have a relatively high grazing intake. Despite the evidence that feeds management has the greatest impact on the FA profile (29, 61), this study sampled milk from a wide variety of farms and breeds where the effect of diet was possibly minimized, potentially displaying differences between the breed.

## **Animal Health**

SCC is an indication of udder health, cow welfare, and milk quality. Generally, if SCC is below 100,000 cells/ml milk, the cow is considered healthy, whereas above 200,000 cells/ml milk, the cow is likely to have at least one mastitic quarter, and, although some cows naturally have higher SCC, above 400,000 cells/ml milk is deemed unfit for human consumption by the EU (64). During the study, only 19% of high SCC (>400,000 cells/ml milk) cows received a health treatment (veterinary or other). Under EU organic guidelines, cows are expected to resist infection through effective management (65), suggesting that the farmers in this study were more likely to allow cows to build immunity to fight infection rather than treat with antibiotics. Interestingly, HF and HF crosses were responsible for 41% of the high cell counts, whereas only 4% of cows with SCC over 400,000 cells/ml milk were the best performing breed (NZFX), providing evidence that NZ genetics have effective health traits. Additionally, this portion of animals with high cell counts highlights the need and potential benefit of breeding for improved health traits, especially in organic production systems, when prophylactic treatment is not an option. A recent report found antibiotic use in livestock decreased 40% from 2013 to 2017 (66), but there is still pressure on dairy industries to reduce antibiotic use due to antimicrobial resistance, which already impacts human and animal health (67).

# **Breeding Objectives**

The effect of forage diets on milk FA profile has been wellresearched (29, 46, 61), but forage conversion by diverse breeds in LI systems has not. Most of the research into forage conversion has predominantly focused on HF (68, 69). Other studies have suggested that the JE  $\times$  HF cross is better suited to a pasture-based system (70–72) but only compared with HF. As a generalization, HFs were bred for their production traits rather than milk composition or health traits (73). This was reflected in this study, as cows with HF genetics had the highest yield (21.2–21.9 L/day), and HFJE had the most protein and fat solids (1.8 kg/day), but SCC was highest for HFSR (294,000 cells/ml milk) and HFJE (third highest: 248,000 cells/ml milk). Although HFs are important in the UK, and their crosses have worked well in some grazing based systems, further research into forage conversion in more diverse breeds is needed to improve LI and organic dairy systems. Although cattle diets might be the dominant factor controlling milk FA profiles, there is also evidence that heritability affects milk fat composition both within and between breeds (20, 34). This suggests a combination of feeding forage and selective breeding may optimize FA composition for consumer health. Despite breeding bodies and milk purchasers prioritizing milk fat and protein content, there is currently no premium to reward fat composition in the UK. Organic Valley's "Grassmilk<sup>TM</sup>" (USA) receives a 15% premium above organic prices for n-3, CLA9 content, and n-6/n-3 ratio (74). This demonstrates a market for optimizing milk fat composition and thus creates a marketing opportunity for UK milk.

An alternative benchmark for LI dairy is the New Zealand National Breeding Objectives, in which grazing is emphasized and priority placed on forage conversion, the yield of milk components (protein and fat %), health, and fertility (75). Based on the importance of forage in NZ dairying, it is unsurprising that the NZ Friesian cross outperformed all other breeds in this study, ranking first in both performance scores (**Table 3**). Although the breed is an important component of management, diet is the strongest factor that influences FA composition in milk (46), whereas high intakes of forage in the diet increase milk n-3 concentrations and reduce n-6/n-3 ratio (28, 29). The contribution of milk FA profile to the LI-P score identifies a breed's ability to graze and use grass efficiently; therefore, the concentrations of n-3, CLA9, or n-6/n-3 ratio in milk could be used to predict how well forage is converted to milk.

## Effect of Breed on Low-Input-Production

The results of this study confirm that although management on individual farms affects LI-P, the breed also plays an important role. Despite ranking last under both scenarios (Table 3), shorthorns are well known for their positive temperament, high fertility, and efficiency in converting forage to milk (76), which are all metrics important for LI dairying although not formally analyzed in this study. In terms of desirable milk-fat composition, AYRX had the most desirable FA profile. However, AYRX yielded less milk (20.2 L/day) than the more productive HF crosses (21.2-21.9 L/day) and came fourth for SCC (243,000 cells/ml milk). Despite this, the AYRX ranked second in health and third in the production score. Ayrshires are commonly used in organic systems because of their ease of management, forage to milk conversion, and overall health and longevity (77). The Jersey crosses did not rank well (rank = seventh weighted health and sixth in production score), but the Jersey has many desirable traits for organic and LI systems (78). The Ayrshire, Shorthorn, and Jersey have merits beyond the scope of this study to measure; additionally, the low UK population of these breeds offers less scope for selection than the more popular HF.

Scandinavian Reds have a reputation for good udder health (79), and the SRX had the lowest average SCC (170,000 cells/ml milk); however, the HFSR had the highest average SCC (294,000 cells/ml milk), but interestingly, the median of both SR crosses was the same (73,000 cells/ml milk). This suggests that farms with a high mastitis challenge might cross HF with SR due to their

reputation and breeding history, potentially instead of changing management to reduce infection risk.

The breeds in this study are generally popular and well-suited to organic and LI farming. Despite this, many of the desirable traits for organic and LI dairying were not measured in this study (forage conversion, fertility, temperament, ease of calving, etc.). It is easy to pick and choose the characteristics that could make a breed look "better" or "worse;" it can be subjective, but farmers make their decisions based on their priorities and what works best for their specific system, and despite the low score for LI-P, many of these breeds are all essential for LI and organic dairying.

## Heterosis

Another important factor to consider in a crossbreeding program is heterosis and the effects of back-crossing, as demonstrated from the breeding approach used on these organic and LI farms. All farms had at least three core breeds (Table 1), most of which get crossed and back-crossed. In this study, of the 1,070 cows selected from 17 farms, 40% were F1 (first generation crosses), 40% were F2 or subsequent generations, and only 20% were purebred. This confirms that in these LI and organic systems, cross-breeding is essential to develop robust, productive cows. As discussed, much of the published research is centered on HF crosses, which, as demonstrated by this study, are not representative of LI and organic management practices on the UK farms studied. Additionally, maximizing the benefits of hybrid vigor can be complicated and unpredictable, but challenging organic conditions often make heterosis worthwhile (80). Partially due to the emphasis on specific breeds, such as HF, there is little readily available, independent advice for farmers with alternative breeds, regarding heterosis. Further studies are needed using a diverse range of breeds to fully understand this effect and the benefits it offers (81), but as demonstrated by the predominance of crossbreeding in this study, the industry is ahead of the science-farmers are investigating the effects for themselves.

## **Genotype by Environment Interaction**

The genotype by environment interaction (GxE) is key to distinguishing between intensive and LI or organic breeding programs. Nauta et al. (18) first explored the GxE differences between organic and conventional dairying and reported heritabilities of SCC and production traits that warrant a re-ranking of dairy bulls for organic systems. The abundance of cross-breeding in this study indicates that farmers are learning about how (cross) breeds interact with their environments, potentially observing heterosis and GxE independently, suggesting that for LI and organic breeding objectives to be successful, the science will have to align with farming practices. Rodriguez-Bermudez et al. (23) conclude that by breeding for intensive systems, organic cows will not meet their potential due to the impact of GxE interactions on performance. To improve efficiency in LI/organic dairying, genotypes must be well-adapted to their systems, which has less emphasis on production but a greater focus on fertility and resilience (81). Keeping the GxE interaction in mind when developing and evaluating breeding programs is essential to allow livestock to meet their potential-regardless of the system that they are kept in.

To conclude, this paper highlights weaknesses in current UK breeding programs for LI and organic dairying due to limited past research on forage conversion to healthy milk and a bias toward HFs. The lack of robust scientific evidence necessary to advance breeding systems has resulted in the science-base often being behind best farming practices. Evidence from this study indicates that New Zealand Friesian and Ayrshire genetics could suit some LI/organic farms. Thorough further research is needed to explore the GxE and forage intake and conversion to meet the true potential of cows under these management systems. The ideal scenario would be for farmers to access an interactive flow chart to guide them through breed selection based on inputs, constraints, and priorities within their system, resulting in an indexing system unique to each farm.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by all procedures were acceptable to internal ethical review, in accordance with EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Body at Newcastle University. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HD conducted the data analysis, writing, and formatting of the manuscript. EC and SS collected the data and managed all the laboratory work. RS provided statistical advice and editing. CL, GB, and SS developed the experimental design, editing, style, and formatting. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This study was funded by the Seventh Framework Programme of the European Community for Research, Technological Development and Demonstration Activities as part of the Low Input Breeds Project (http://www.lowinputbreeds.org/home. html; grant no: 222623) and Newcastle University SAgE faculty PhD program.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to the farmers who put their time and effort into this project.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2020.544149/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- 1. European Comission. Organic Farming. Policy, Rules, Organic Certifications, Support and Criteria for Organic Farming. (2008). Available online at: https:// ec.europa.eu/info/food-farming-fisheries/farming/organic-farming
- Soil Association. Soil Association Organic Standards, Farming and Growing. (2018). Available online at: https://www.soilassociation.org/media/15931/ farming-and-growing-standards.pdf (accessed January 10, 2019).
- Organic Farmers and Growers. OF& Organic Standards and Certification Manual. (2013). Available online at: https://ofgorganic.org/useful-info/ organic-standards (accessed February 13, 2020).
- Bijttebier J, Hamerlinck J, Moakes S, Scollan N, Van Meensel J, Lauwers L. Low-input dairy farming in Europe: exploring a context-specific notion. *Agricult Syst.* (2017) 156:43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2017.05.016
- Seufert V, Ramankutty N, Foley JA. Comparing the yields of organic and conventional agriculture. *Nature*. (2012) 485:229–32. doi: 10.1038/nature11069
- 6. DairyCo. *Profiting From Efficient Milk Production*. Available online at: file://campus/ home/home05/b3039679/Downloads/dairyco\_milkbench\_\_\_ report.pdf (accessed November 8, 17).
- Wagenaar JP, Klocke P, Butler G, Smolders G, Nielsen JH, Canever A, et al. Effect of production system, alternative treatments and calf rearing system on udder health in organic dairy cows. NJAS Wageningen J Life Sci. (2011) 58:157–62. doi: 10.1016/j.njas.2011.06.001
- Stergiadis S, Leifert C, Seal CJ, Eyre MD, Larsen MK, Slots T, et al. A 2-year study on milk quality from three pasture-based dairy systems of contrasting production intensities in wales. J Agricult Sci. (2015) 153:708–31. doi: 10.1017/S0021859614000963
- Scollan N, Padel S, Halberg N, Hermansen J, Nicholas P, Rinne M, et al. Organic and low-input dairy farming: avenues to enhance sustainability and competitiveness in the EU. *EuroChoices*. (2017) 16:40–5. doi: 10.1111/1746-692X.12162
- Butler G. LowInputBreeds Final Report: Developing Integrated Livestock Breeding and Management Strategies to Improve Animal Health, Product Quality and Performance in European Organic and 'Low Input' Milk, Meat and Egg Production. (2014). Available online at: http://www.lowinputbreeds.org/fileadmin/documents\_organicresearch/ lowinputbreeds/newsletter-no-10.pdf
- Simianer H, Bieber A. Genomic Breeding Programs-A Large Step Forward For Low-Input Dairy Cattle Breeding? (2012). Available online at: http://www.lowinputbreeds.org/fileadmin/documents\_organicresearch/ lowinputbreeds/tn-1-1-simianer-etal-2014-dairy-cow-breeding.pdf
- Sørensen MK, Norberg E, Pedersen J, Christensen LG. Invited review: crossbreeding in dairy cattle: a danish perspective. J Dairy Sci. (2008) 91:4116– 28. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1273
- Kargo M, Ettema JF, Sørensen LH, Fjordside M, Hjortø L. Combi-Cross-the use of New Technologies for Improving Dairy Crossbreeding Programs. Vancouver, BC: 10th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production (WCGALP) (2014).
- Stergiadis S, Bieber A, Franceschin E, Isensee A, Eyre MD, Maurer V, et al. Impact of US brown Swiss genetics on milk quality from low-input herds in Switzerland: interactions with grazing intake and pasture type. *Food Chem.* (2015) 175:609–18. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.11.079
- Nauta WJ, Baars T, Saatkamp H, Weenink D, Roep D. Farming strategies in organic dairy farming: effects on breeding goal and choice of breed. *Explor Study Livestock Sci.* (2009) 121:187–99. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2008. 06.011
- Oltenacu PA, Broom DM. The impact of genetic selection for increased milk yield on the welfare of dairy cows. *Anim Welfare*. (2010) 19:39–49.
- OMSCo. Global Organic Dairy Market Report 2019. (2019). Available online at: https://www.omsco.co.uk/issuu/ (accessed April 12, 2019).
- Nauta WJ, Veerkamp RF, Brascamp EW, Bovenhuis H. Genotype by environment interaction for milk production traits between organic and conventional dairy cattle production in the Netherlands. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:2729–37. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72349-9
- Rozzi P, Miglior F, Hand KJ. A total merit selection index for ontario organic dairy farmers. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:1584–93. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71644-2

- Garnsworthy PC, Feng S, Lock AL, Royal MD. Short communication: heritability of milk fatty acid composition and stearoyl-CoA desaturase indices in dairy cows1. J Dairy Sci. (2010) 93:1743–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2695
- Yin T, Bapst B, Borstel UU, Simianer H, König S. Genetic parameters for gaussian and categorical traits in organic and low input dairy cattle herds based on random regression methodology. *Livest Sci.* (2012) 147:159–69. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2012.04.017
- Martin-Collado D, Byrne TJ, Amer PR, Santos BFS, Axford M, Pryce JE. Analyzing the heterogeneity of farmers' preferences for improvements in dairy cow traits using farmer typologies. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:4148–61. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-9194
- Rodriguez-Bermudez R, Miranda M, Lopez-Alonso M, Garcia-Vaquero M. Chapter 2: New breeding strategies in organic dairy farming. In: Jenkins O, editor. Advances in Animal Science and Zoology, Vol. 11. Nova Science (2018).
- Buckley F, Holmes C, Keane M. Utilisation of Grazed Grass in Temperate Animal Systems: Utilisation of Grazed Grass in Temperate Animal Systems 61Genetic Characteristics Required in Dairy and Beef Cattle for Temperate Grazing System. (2005) p. 61–79. doi: 10.3920/978-90-8686-554-3
- AHDBDairy. UK Breeding Objectives. (2018). Available online at: https:// dairy.ahdb.org.uk/technical-information/breeding-genetics/uk-breedingobjectives/#.XKR1yflKhpg (accessed April 03, 2019).
- Richert RM, Cicconi KM, Gamroth MJ, Schukken YH, Stiglbauer KE, Ruegg PL. Management factors associated with veterinary usage by organic and conventional dairy farms. J Am Vet Med Assoc. (2013) 242:1732–43. doi: 10.2460/javma.242.12.1732
- Thorning TK, Raben A, Tholstrup T, Soedamah-Muthu SS, Givens I, Astrup A. Milk and dairy products: good or bad for human health? An assessment of the totality of scientific evidence. *Food Nutr. Res.* (2016) 60:32527. doi: 10.3402/fnr.v60.32527
- 28. Srednicka-Tober D, Barański M, Seal CJ, Sanderson R, Benbrook C, Steinshamn H, et al. Higher PUFA and n-3 PUFA, conjugated linoleic acid, αtocopherol and iron, but lower iodine and selenium concentrations in organic milk: a systematic literature review and meta-and redundancy analyses. *Br J Nutr.* (2016) 115:1043–60. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516000349
- 29. Benbrook CM, Davis DR, Heins BJ, Latif MA, Leifert C, Peterman L, et al. Enhancing the fatty acid profile of milk through forage-based rations, with nutrition modeling of diet outcomes. *Food Sci Nutr.* (2018) 6:681–700. doi: 10.1002/fsn3.610
- 30. Stergiadis S, Berlitz CB, Hunt B, Garg S, Ian Givens D, Kliem KE. An update to the fatty acid profiles of bovine retail milk in the United Kingdom: implications for nutrition in different age and gender groups. *Food Chem.* (2019) 276:218–30. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.09.165
- Nantapo CTW, Muchenje V, Hugo A. Atherogenicity index and healthrelated fatty acids in different stages of lactation from Friesian, Jersey and Friesian×Jersey cross cow milk under a pasture-based dairy system. *Food Chem.* (2014) 146:127–33. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.09.009
- Butler G, Nielsen JH, Slots T, Seal C, Eyre MD, Sanderson R, et al. Fatty acid and fat-soluble antioxidant concentrations in milk from high- and low-input conventional and organic systems: seasonal variation. *J Sci Food Agric*. (2008) 88:1431–41. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.3235
- 33. Kliem KE, Shingfield KJ, Livingstone KM, Givens DI. Seasonal variation in the fatty acid composition of milk available at retail in the United Kingdom and implications for dietary intake. *Food Chem.* (2013) 141:274–81. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.02.116
- Soyeurt H, Dardenne P, Gillon A, Croquet C, Vanderick S, Mayeres P, et al. Variation in fatty acid contents of milk and milk fat within and across breeds. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:4858–65. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72534-6
- Stergiadis S, Seal C, Leifert C, Eyre M, Larsen MK, Butler G. Variation in nutritionally relevant components in retail Jersey and Guernsey whole milk. *Food Chem.* (2013) 139:540–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2013. 01.078
- 36. Su K-P, Huang S-Y, Chiu T-H, Huang K-C, Huang C-L, Chang H-C, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids for major depressive disorder during pregnancy: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2008) 69:644–51. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v69n0418
- 37. Swanson D, Block R, Mousa SA. Omega-3 fatty acids EPA and DHA: health benefits throughout life. *Adv Nutr.* (2012) 3:1–7. doi: 10.3945/an.111.000893

- Givens DI, Gibbs RA. Very long chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the food chain in the UK and the potential of animal-derived foods to increase intake. *Nutr. Bull.* (2006) 31:104–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-3010.2006.00554.x
- Haug A, Hostmark AT, Harstad OM. Bovine milk in human nutrition a review. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2007) 6:25. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-6-25
- Wahle KWJ, Heys SD, Rotondo D. Conjugated linoleic acids: are they beneficial or detrimental to health? *Progr Lipid Res.* (2004) 43:553–87. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2004.08.002
- Viladomiu M, Hontecillas R, Bassaganya-Riera J. Modulation of inflammation and immunity by dietary conjugated linoleic acid. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2016) 785:87–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.095
- Simopoulos A. An increase in the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio increases the risk for obesity. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:128. doi: 10.3390/nu8030128
- Simopoulos AP. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. *Exp Biol Med.* (2008) 233:674–88. doi: 10.3181/0711-MR-311
- National Milk Recording (2018). Available online at: https://www.nmr.co.uk/ my-nmr (accessed April 30, 2018).
- Ruttan G. United States Patent, Milk Sample Preservative. (1993). Available online at: https://patentimages.storage.googleapis.com/b8/a1/ ef/2c66c7833de8d1/US5196344.pdf (accessed June 20, 2020).
- Butler G, Nielsen JH, Larsen MK, Rehberger B, Stergiadis S, Canever A, et al. The effects of dairy management and processing on quality characteristics of milk and dairy products. *NJAS Wageningen J Life Sci.* (2011) 58:97–102. doi: 10.1016/j.njas.2011.04.002
- Barbano DM, Wojciechowski KL, Lynch JM. Effect of preservatives on the accuracy of mid-infrared milk component testing. *J Dairy Sci.* (2010) 93:6000– 11. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3601
- Chilliard Y, Martin C, Rouel J, Doreau M. Milk fatty acids in dairy cows fed whole crude linseed, extruded linseed, or linseed oil, and their relationship with methane output1. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:5199–211. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2375
- Stergiadis S, Leifert C, Seal CJ, Eyre MD, Steinshamn H, Butler G. Improving the fatty acid profile of winter milk from housed cows with contrasting feeding regimes by oilseed supplementation. *Food Chem.* (2014) 164:293–300. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.05.021
- Loor JJ, Ueda K, Ferlay A, Chilliard Y, Doreau M. Biohydrogenation, duodenal flow, and intestinal digestibility of trans fatty acids and conjugated linoleic acids in response to dietary forage:concentrate ratio and linseed oil in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2004) 87:2472–85. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73372-X
- Shingfield KJ, Reynolds CK, Hervás G, Griinari JM, Grandison AS, Beever DE. Examination of the persistency of milk fatty acid composition responses to fish oil and sunflower oil in the diet of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:714–32. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72134-8
- 52. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2017). Available online at: https:// www.R-project.org/
- Milligan GW, Cooper MC. A study of standardization of variables in cluster analysis. J Classificat. (1988) 5:181–204. doi: 10.1007/BF01897163
- Oksanen JB, Blanchet FG, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, et al. Vegan: Community Ecology Package. (2017). Available online at: https:// CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Pinheiro J, Bates, D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. *{nlme}: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models.* (2017). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme
- Butler G, Stergiadis S, Seal C, Eyre M, Leifert C. Fat composition of organic and conventional retail milk in northeast England. *J Dairy Sci.* (2011) 94:24– 36. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3331
- Fletcher HJ, Daw H, Young J. Controlling multiple F test errors with an overall F test. J Appl Behav Sci. (1989) 25:101–8. doi: 10.1177/0021886389251008
- Smith RA, Levine TR, Lachlan KA, Fediuk TA. The high cost of complexity in experimental design and data analysis: type I and type II error rates in multiway ANOVA. *Hum Commun Res.* (2002) 28:515–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.2002.tb00821.x
- Cramer AOJ, van Ravenzwaaij D, Matzke D, Steingroever H, Wetzels R, Grasman RPPP, et al. Hidden multiplicity in exploratory multiway ANOVA: prevalence and remedies. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (2016) 23:640–7. doi: 10.3758/s13423-015-0913-5

- AHDB Dairy. Block Calving Breeding Indexes- £SCI and £ACI. (2018). Available online at: https://dairy.ahdb.org.uk/technical-information/ breeding-genetics/block-calving-breeding-indexes-%C2%A3sci-and-%C2%A3aci/#.XvCrA2hKjIU (accessed June 20, 2020).
- Kalač P, Samková E. The effects of feeding various forages on fatty acid composition of bovine milk fat: a review. *Czech J Anim Sci.* (2010) 55:521–37. doi: 10.17221/2485-CJAS
- Schwendel BH, Wester TJ, Morel PCH, Tavendale MH, Deadman C, Shadbolt NM, et al. Invited review: organic and conventionally produced milk an evaluation of factors influencing milk composition. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:721–46. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8389
- Davis H, Chatzidimitriou E, Leifert C, Butler G. Evidence that foragefed cows can enhance milk quality. *Sustainability*. (2020) 12:3688. doi: 10.3390/su12093688
- AHDBDairy. Somatic Cell Count- Milk Quality Indicator. (2018). Available online at: https://dairy.ahdb.org.uk/technical-information/animal-healthwelfare/mastitis/symptoms-of-mastitis/somatic-cell-count-milk-qualityindicator/#.Ww\_KevmnFpg (accessed May 1, 2018).
- 65. Council Regulation. Council Regulation (EC) No 1804/1999 of 19 July 1999 supplementing Regulation (EEC) No 2092/91 on organic production of agricultural products and indications referring thereto on agricultural products and foodstuffs to include livestock production. *Off J Eur Commun.* (1999) 222:08.
- Government H. UK One Health Report Joint Report on Antibiotic use and Antibiotic Resistance 2013–2017. (2019). Available online at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment\_data/file/775075/one\_health\_report\_2019\_v45.pdf
- 67. Hoelzer K, Wong N, Thomas J, Talkington K, Jungman E, Coukell A. Antimicrobial drug use in food-producing animals and associated human health risks: what, and how strong, is the evidence? *BMC Vet Res.* (2017) 13:211. doi: 10.1186/s12917-017-1131-3
- Tozer PR, Bargo F, Muller LD. The effect of pasture allowance and supplementation on feed efficiency and profitability of dairy systems<sup>†</sup>. J Dairy Sci. (2004) 87:2902–11. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73421-9
- McCarthy B, Pierce KM, Delaby L, Brennan A, Fleming C, Horan B. The effect of stocking rate and calving date on grass production, utilization and nutritive value of the sward during the grazing season. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2013) 68:364–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2012.00904.x
- 70. Prendiville R, Pierce KM, Delaby L, Buckley F. Animal performance and production efficiencies of holstein-friesian, Jersey and Jersey × Holstein-Friesian cows throughout lactation. *Livest Sci.* (2011) 138:25–33. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.11.023
- Beecher M, Buckley F, Waters SM, Boland TM, Enriquez-Hidalgo D, Deighton MH, et al. Gastrointestinal tract size, total-tract digestibility, and rumen microflora in different dairy cow genotypes. *J Dairy Sci.* (2014) 97:3906–17. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7708
- Coffey EL, Delaby L, Fitzgerald S, Galvin N, Pierce KM, Horan B. Effect of stocking rate and animal genotype on dry matter intake, milk production, body weight, and body condition score in spring-calving, grass-fed dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2017) 100:7556–68. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-12672
- Miglior F, Muir BL, Van Doormaal BJ. Selection indices in holstein cattle of various countries. J Dairy Sci. (2005) 88:1255–63. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72792-2
- Organic Valley. Why is Organic Valley Adding Omega-3 to Some of its Organic Milk? (2019). Available online at: http://organicvalley. custhelp.com/app/answers/detail/a\_id/335/~/why-is-organic-valley-addingomega-3-to-some-of-its-organic-milk%3F (accessed March 21, 2019).
- NZAEL. *Economic Values*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.dairynz. co.nz/animal/animal-evaluation/interpreting-the-info/economic-values/ (accessed April 02, 2019).
- The Shorthorn Society. Shorthorn: History of the Breed. (2019). Available online at: http://www.shorthorn.co.uk/dairyshorthorn/index.php/breed/ history-of-the-breed (accessed April 05, 2019).
- Ayreshire Cattle Society. *The Ayreshire Breed*. (2018). Available online at: https://www.ayrshirescs.org/ayrshires-cattle-society/society/the-breed/ (accessed April 10, 2019).
- Jersey Cattle Society. Jersey Breed Facts. (2019). Available online at: http:// www.ukjerseys.com/breed/facts.html (accessed April 10, 2019).

- Clasen JB, Fogh A, Kargo M. Differences between performance of F1 crossbreds and holsteins at different production levels. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:436–41. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14975
- de Haas Y, Smolders EAA, Hoorneman JN, Nauta WJ, Veerkamp RF. Suitability of cross-bred cows for organic farms based on cross-breeding effects on production and functional traits. *Animal.* (2013) 7:655–65. doi: 10.1017/S1751731112002042
- Rodríguez-Bermúdez R, Miranda M, Baudracco J, Fouz R, Pereira V, López-Alonso M.. Breeding for organic dairy farming: what types of cows are needed? *J Dairy Res.* (2019) 86:3–12. doi: 10.1017/S002202991 9000141

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Davis, Stergiadis, Chatzidimitriou, Sanderson, Leifert and Butler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Local Small Ruminant Grazing in the Monti Foy Area (Italy): The Relationship Between Grassland Biodiversity Maintenance and Added-Value Dairy Products

Salvatore Claps<sup>1\*</sup>, Marisabel Mecca<sup>1</sup>, Adriana Di Trana<sup>2</sup> and Lucia Sepe<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Research Centre for Animal Production and Aquaculture, Council for Agricultural Research and Economics, Bella, Italy, <sup>2</sup> School of Agricultural, Forestry, Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Basilicata, Potenza, Italy

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Andrea Cabiddu, Agris Sardinia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Antonello Franca, Institute for the Animal Production System in the Mediterranean Environment (CNR), Italy Luca Battaglini, University of Turin, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Salvatore Claps salvatore.claps@crea.gov.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 06 April 2020 Accepted: 22 October 2020 Published: 25 November 2020

#### Citation:

Claps S, Mecca M, Di Trana A and Sepe L (2020) Local Small Ruminant Grazing in the Monti Foy Area (Italy): The Relationship Between Grassland Biodiversity Maintenance and Added-Value Dairy Products. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:546513. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.546513 The literature indicates that grazing small ruminants, when adequately managed, contributes to grassland biodiversity maintenance. On the other hand, milk and cheese from grazing animals show higher nutritional and aromatic guality than those from stall-fed animals. The relationship between the two issues has rarely been addressed. This article provides information for a discussion of this relationship. First, two case studies are reported. Local breeds of small ruminants fed by grazing on pastures within the Special Area of Conservation "Monti Foy" in the Northwestern Basilicata region (Italy), with a stocking rate of 4.0 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, showed the best effectiveness for the maintenance of grassland botanical biodiversity. Milk and cheese from pasture-fed goats showed higher contents of beneficial fatty acids, phenols, and vitamins A and E; higher degree of antioxidant protection; and richer volatile compound profiles, in particular for terpenes content. Finally, some recommendations for the management of grazing systems in similar mountain areas are offered, including a viable approach for land managers to preserve the grassland biodiversity of pastures and provide high-quality products that are valuable both for their nutritional quality and for their contribution to the economic sustainability of mountain communities.

Keywords: grazing, mountain, local breed, small ruminant, dairy product quality, biodiversity maintenance

## **INTRODUCTION**

The grazing system has been an important component of the Mediterranean environment for millennia; thus, it represents a valid tool for managing and preserving that environment (1-3). In the Mediterranean environment, various ecosystems coexist, herbaceous, bushy, and woody, and are not always in balance; however, they are prone to rapid recovery and are thus considered very resilient (4, 5).

Rangeland management is generally difficult due to the complexity of the ecosystems, with great diversity in plant communities, soils, and grazing practices (6, 7). Several authors have pointed out the importance of a correct livestock management on overgrazed or undergrazed areas, in order to preserve or increase the floristic richness and the nutritional value of grassland (8–10) and forage and to improve the animal productive performances (milk yield) (11).

Good management of extensive silvopastoral systems could play an important role in the delivery of many ecosystem services, as was recently exhaustively stated by the UK National Ecosystem Assessment (12). In mountain areas characterized by forests/shrubs and meadows, well-managed pastoral activity could be considered a tool for landscape preservation, fire prevention (13), and grassland biodiversity maintenance, contributing to the overall economic benefit of mountain communities.

Grazing behavior is another key factor in specific landscape and pasture biodiversity determinism (14). Grazing behavior has important consequences; in addition to contributing to animal nutrition, it affects the specific characteristics, features, and quality of animal products (milk and dairy products) (15– 17). When local breeds are reared in an adequately managed and rational grazing system, they are successful in preserving grassland biodiversity. When they browse the apices and flowers of plants that may be unpalatable for cosmopolitan breeds, local breeds limit the diffusion of various unpalatable and weed species and maintain the floristic balance, thus enhancing the nutritional value of pastures (18).

To protect pastoral areas, the European Union has developed a series of measures (EC Reg. No. 796/04 and subsequent amendments). In particular, Standard 4.6 ("Minimum Livestock Stocking Rate and/or Appropriate Regimes") aims to "ensure a minimum level of maintenance and avoid the deterioration of habitats" and to protect pastures, especially through avoiding grassland degradation in certain ecologically significant areas [Annex IV of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1782/2003].

In the central area of the Basilicata region, which is mostly mountainous, there is a deep-seated tradition of dairy products from small ruminants reared in extensive and semiextensive systems, expressing the interaction among the environment, animals, and human practices (19). The Special Area of Conservation "Monti Foy" is interesting in terms of biodiversity maintenance. However, the misuse of pasture resources can affect the balance of the entire system (20). The mountainous area is characterized by a semiextensive livestock system, with local breeds being reared at pasture, resulting in overgrazing situations in summer, at a mean stocking rate of 6 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, and undergrazing in other seasons. This grazing system, in addition to the expansion of plants indicators of pasture degradation such as thistles (Cirsium arvense, Carduus spp.), asphodels (Asphodelus ramosus), ferns (Pteridium aquilinum), and brambles (Rubus *fruticosus*), has led to the worsening of the grassland composition.

The diet of grazing animals, especially sheep and goats, varies according to the season due to the plant species available for grazing, the plants' phenological stage, climate conditions, and feeding behavior (plants and aerial parts browsed by animals) (21). This diversity affects the content of volatile compounds in milk and cheese, particularly the presence and abundance of molecules that affect flavor and aroma (22, 23). These volatile compounds are found in greater amounts in milk and dairy products when the animals are fed at pasture, particularly when they browse dicotyledons (15, 24–27). In addition, several studies have shown that ruminant products from grazing systems show variation in the content of beneficial compounds, such as

particular classes of fatty acids (FAs), phenols, and vitamins A and E, and a higher degree of antioxidant protection (DAP), and that these contents are higher overall than in products from housed animals. In particular, the increase in FAs of healthy interest in milk occurs already 3 days after the abrupt transition from indoor to pasture diet (28). Furthermore, these products are perceived more positively by consumers because of their richer sensory profile (29, 30).

Vast areas of rangelands across the world are being grazed with increasing intensity. The interactions between livestock production and grassland biodiversity and conservation are debated (1); however, their connections with the quality of animal products have been less focused so far. The main aim of this work is to provide information for a discussion, based on published scientific studies, on (a) grassland biodiversity and conservation, (b) mountain dairy product quality, and (c) interactions between them in a specific mountain area. The discussion aims to lead toward a hypothesis for a revaluation of the traditional management system of the mountain agrosilvopastoral production chain, which is able to produce high-quality food and maintain and enhance grassland biodiversity.

## CASE STUDY 1: GRAZING SYSTEM, GRASSLAND BIODIVERSITY, AND CONSERVATION

At the experimental farm (1,230 m a.s.l.) of the CREA-Research Center for Animal Production and Aquaculture in the municipality of Potenza (southern Italy), several studies have been carried out on the relationships between the grazing behaviors of local breeds and pasture biodiversity. The farm is included in the mountain Special Area of Conservation "Monti Foy" (40° 37' N, 15° 42' E) (defined by EU Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC), which is included in the list of Sites of Community Importance in the Mediterranean biogeographical region (IT9210215). In this area, the semiextensive livestock system is based mainly on local breeds (Garganica and Capra di Potenza goat breeds and Gentile di Puglia and Merino-derived sheep breeds). In the routine management of the experimental farm, sheep were fed at pasture with 2.2 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> stocking rate, whereas goats were reared at 2.1 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> stocking rate in separate fields.

A recent study (20) aimed to evaluate the effect of different stocking rates on the botanical parameters of natural pastures. Dry and pregnant Gentile di Puglia sheep were assigned to the permanent natural pasture previously grazed by goats for over 25 years, with an average potential yield of 5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (rich pasture). Ewes were allotted to three groups and assigned to three plots, characterized by Natura 2000 habitat 6210 seminatural dry grasslands *Festuco-Brometalia* (plot 1) and Natura 2000 habitat 6510 *Lowland hay meadows* (plots 2 and 3), with stocking rates of 0.2 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (plot 1), 4.0 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (plot 2), and 6.0 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (plot 3), the two limits indicated by the EU Standard 4.6 and an overgrazing situation (20). The animals grazed 8 h per day from early May to late September,

sheltered overnight, and received pasture hay ad libitum as dietary supplementation to the grazing intake. The hay was produced from an area in the same farm, out of the three plots, characterized by seminatural dry grasslands Festuco-Brometalia. In the plots, visual assessment was carried out on seven functional groups: grasses, legumes, other species, palatable vs. unpalatable plants, thorny species, shrub species, and bare soil (expressed as percentage of coverage). The study on grazing behavior and the effect on grassland composition, combined with the results of the degradation of vegetation and biodiversity, revealed the limits of the monospecies flock mostly in the undergrazed plot (0.2 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>). Plot 1 showed a decrease in palatable species (from 98 to 85%) and a proportional increase in unpalatable and thorny species. Thorny species (Carduus sp.) increased from rare to >20%, with Crataegus monogyna (hawthorn) and Ononis spinosa increasing up to 20-25% in comparison to the level under the previous grazing management system (grazing goats with a stocking rate of 2.1 LU  $ha^{-1}$  year<sup>-1</sup>). Plot 2 showed the best effectiveness for the maintenance of the grassland botanical composition, with palatable species (30% each for grasses, legumes, and others) unvarying at 90%, thorny (thistles) species at <5% and unpalatable (ferns) species at 5%. In plot 3, a severe drop of the palatable species was observed in summer, as well as increase in bare soil (from 0 to 30%) and increase in/appearance of thistles/asphodels. Afterward, the area was interested by a great fire (summer 2017) during the 6th year of grazing by solely sheep; the extension of the event was explained also with the missing pruning of the bushes, usually done by grazing goats, and the abundance of dry grass in the undergrazed areas (unpublished data).

## CASE STUDY 2: QUALITY OF DAIRY PRODUCTS FROM GRAZING SYSTEM

Studies were conducted at the CREA experimental farm to evaluate the effect of feeding at pasture compared with other feeding treatments on volatile organic compounds (VOCs), FAs,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, retinol, and DPA in goat milk and cheese. VOC content was assessed by multiple dynamic headspace extraction and gas chromatography (GC)–mass spectrometry (31). FA

**TABLE 1** | Monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes content (mean  $\pm$  SEM) in milk from three feeding systems [from (34)].

Feeding treatment	Grazing	Pasture hay	Mixed hay	
Plants category in the diet (%)				
Grasses	40	36	40	
Legumes	22	33	50	
Forbs	38	31	10	
Milk VOC (ng/L)				
Monoterpenes	$2,031.0^{a}\pm429$	$1,\!374.0^a\pm226$	$718.0^{\text{b}}\pm154$	P < 0.05
Sesquiterpenes	$4,\!480.0^a\pm626$	$2,334.0^{b}\pm 324$	$610.0^{\circ}\pm152$	P < 0.05

<sup>a,b,c</sup>Letters mean significant difference among means. The significance of the diet botanical composition (plants category) was not detected.

separation and quantification were carried out using a GC, as reported by Di Trana et al. (32), and fat-soluble vitamins and DPA were assessed according to Pizzoferrato et al. (33). Local Mediterranean Red breed goats were used. A first study evaluated the VOC content and profile in the milk of goats fed (a) at pasture (grazing), (b) pasture hay harvested from the same grazing area, and (c) mixed hay (alfalfa, perennial rye grass, and orchard grass). The difference observed among the three diets could be linked to the contributions of the different plant species measured in the diet (**Table 1**). Milk from the grazing goats showed significantly higher monoterpene and sesquiterpene content than milk from the goats fed on pasture hay and mixed hay. The contribution of forbs (38%) might explain the result.

A second study was carried out in the same area to examine the effect of pasture vs. indoor feeding systems during winter, spring, and summer on α-tocopherol and retinol, FA content, and DPA in goat milk and cheese. Two homogeneous groups were used: goats grazing 8 h per day on native herbaceous pasture (G) and goats housed and fed ad libitum with hay harvested from the same native pasture (H), both supplemented with concentrate feed (600 g/head per day at 13% CP). The results showed that the qualitative profiles of milk and cheese were very different between the G and H groups throughout the seasons (Figures 1A,B). Tocopherol and retinol increased in milk by 61.3 and 20.0% in the G and H groups, respectively. The same trend was observed for DAP; this index was 61.6% higher in milk from grazing goats than in milk from the housed goats fed hay. Highly significant differences between the milk fat quality of the G and H groups were detected. In fact, conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) and  $\omega$ -3 FA content were higher in milk from goats grazing on native pasture than in milk from housed goats (Figure 1A). The cheese quality almost completely reflected the milk quality. Cheese produced from the G group goat milk was richer in sesquiterpenes, tocopherol, and retinol than cheese produced from the H group milk; similarly, the DAP index was higher in cheese from the G group than in cheese from the H group (Figure 1B). The results confirmed that feeding on a grazing basis conferred higher total quality on milk and cheese than the housing feeding system throughout the whole grazing season.

## DISCUSSION

## Feeding Management and Grassland Biodiversity and Conservation

The results of the stocking rate case study 1. Sepe et al. (20) are in agreement with Petz et al. (36), who identified three livestock stocking rate categories at pasture, indicated by the authors as "grazing intensities": low (0.0–0.4 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>), moderate (0.4–0.6 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>), and high (0.6–1.0 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>) grazing intensities, calculated as the ratio between biomass grazed and biomass available for grazing. The results showed that, on average, only 4.2% of the biomass produced annually was consumed by livestock. Erosion prevention was 10% lower in areas with high grazing intensity than in areas with low grazing intensity. Therefore, the authors found lower



biodiversity values, lower capacity for erosion prevention, and unsustainable forage utilization in high-grazing-intensity areas. The case study 1 results reported in this article agreed with Petz et al. (36) that grazing systems, when adequately managed, can contribute to the maintenance of botanical biodiversity. The results reported here supported by the aforementioned studies on goat grazing behavior (17, 21), together with the elements of the traditional management system in that area, led the authors to grazing practice recommendations that include the use of local-breed sheep and goats because they are capable of exploiting natural resources in a sustainable manner that protects the environment [as emerged from previous studies reviewed by (18)]. The authors advised a stocking rate of 4.0 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> to avoid limit situations (undergrazing or overgrazing) in the case of rich pasture and to contribute to the maintenance of grassland biodiversity and conservation, the main reason for which dairy products from mountain systems show high-quality standard, as discussed in the following subsection.

# Quality of Milk and Cheese From Pasture-Based Diets

Overall, goat products from grazed herbage revealed higherquality values, for example, in monounsaturated FA and polyunsaturated FA (PUFA), which are beneficial for human nutrition, and higher total consumer acceptability of cheeses (37). A study on goats grazing on native pasture compared to stall-fed goats revealed an increase in the CLA and  $\omega$ -3 contents achieved in the milk of goats fed at pasture (32). Moreover, the docosahexaenoic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid content reached interesting levels in the milk fat of grazing goats that may be linked to the content of precursors in the diet, such as long-chain omega-3 PUFA. These results agree with Decandia et al. (38), who found higher CLA and VOC content, particularly ketones and aldehydes, in the milk of goats browsing a Mediterranean lentisk-based shrubland than in the milk of housed goats. Diminishing amounts of

fresh grass percentages in the diet of Camosciata goats led to significant decreases of vaccenic, rumenic, and a-linolenic acids in milk, thus determining a worsening of the health value of milk fat associated with an increase in the percentages of hypercholesterolemic saturated FAs (39). A sudden transition of dairy Valdostana goats from winter indoor to pasture-based diets significantly affected the concentrations of FA in milk already 3 days after the diet change. In milk short- and mediumchain FA rapidly decreased after transition, whereas the sum of CLA isomers and omega-3 FAs markedly increased (28). A study conducted in Northern Europe confirmed that the milk from grazing goats had significantly higher fat, protein, and total nonfat solids than the milk from goats kept indoors (40). Grazing caused significantly higher concentrations of vitamin A and D<sub>3</sub> than in the milk from goats fed hay. For goats on grass diet, the rumenic acid and n-3 FA contents of the milk increased significantly. Additionally, the n-6/n-3 ratio in the milk from goats fed grass was significantly lower than that in the milk from goats fed indoor.

Several investigations have reported that the diet ingested by goats influenced milk and cheese polyphenol content. An increase in the total polyphenol content in goat milk and cheese was obtained from grazing animals compared with stall-fed goats (41). These results are in agreement with Cabiddu et al. (42) and Chávez-Servín et al. (43), who observed a feeding system effect (free-range grazing and indoor-fed animals) on phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity in goat milk, whey, and cheese.

A large study has highlighted the predominant effect of pasture-based diets compared to rations based on hay on the content of fat-soluble carotenoids and vitamins in milk and cheese (44). Pasture-based rations were associated with higher levels of xanthophyll, retinol,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in cheese than hay-based rations, whereas in milk and cheese a higher percentage of concentrates in the herd diet led to lower xanthophyll and  $\alpha$ -tocopherol contents (15, 37, 44, 45).

Regarding VOC content and profile, goats fed with fresh and different meadow species transmit different characteristics to Caciotta cheese that are also perceivable on a sensorial level (22). Seasonal variations in the availability and quality of grazing grass influence the quantitative and qualitative content of VOC compounds in cheese obtained from grazing goats (31, 42, 46). Some volatile compounds, e.g., terpenes, can be used as biomarkers because they can be transferred from herbage to milk and contribute a characteristic flavor to the cheese. Terpenoids and FAs were found to be valuable as chemical fingerprint for the characterization of the dairy cows' feeding regimen (47). Indeed, the authors suggested that coupling terpenoids and FAs information could be suitable for tracing Asiago d'Allevo PDO cheeses produced during the early and late summer grazing and the autumn/winter indoor seasons.

The odor profiles of milk and cheeses were explained in a study where milk and cheese showed significant differences over three seasons, especially in ketones, alcohols, and ester compounds (46). The detection of sesquiterpenes could be extremely useful in distinguishing whether a cheese has been produced with milk from animals fed on pasture or with the total mixed ration system (48). In this context, the traceability of products obtained from grazing animals compared to stallfed animals represents an ongoing current objective. Future directions converge toward the development of a tool or procedure based on scientific parameters that in synthesis shows indications of the origin of the product and its healthy quality.

Pizzoferrato et al. (33) developed the DAP index, calculated as the molar ratio between an antioxidant compound and a selected oxidation target. It evaluated goat cheese resistance to oxidative reactions. It is noteworthy that DAP values in goat products were 10-fold higher in grazing goats than in stall-fed goats. The DAP index was able to distinguish dairy products when the grazed herbage in the goats' diet exceeded 15%. These results agree with Delgadillo-Puga et al. (49) and Cabiddu et al. (42), who found an increase in PUFA, DAP, and phenol content in the milk of goats reared in shrubland compared to stallfed goats.

Recently, a new index, the General Health Index of Cheese (GHIC), was developed by Giorgio et al. (50); this index combines in a single value the contributions of several components to cheese quality. It takes into account different indicators of products obtained from animals fed with fresh forage or at pasture: polyphenols, CLA isomers, PUFA, omega-3 FA, and TAC. In addition to CLA, PUFA, and omega-3, which are already known to be health-promoting compounds, polyphenols and total antioxidant capacity were used in GHIC calculations because of health researchers' increasing interest in these compounds. The GHIC index, which combines the positive components found in cheese, seems to distinguish cheeses obtained from different fresh forages.

Dairy products from the grazing system, compared to those from the indoor-fed supplementation strategy, carry a real added value because of their impact on human health because of their higher content of beneficial metabolites (30), as well as the hedonistic and sociological aspects. The authors refer to the role of small ruminant grazing in the framework of the Millennium Assessment (51). There, the relationship between feeding at pasture and biodiversity is included in the provisioning of habitat services because grazing facilitates the life cycles of animals and plants, prevents the occurrence of less valuable ecological states through the encroachment of bush and/or invasive species, and conserves wildlife and protected areas in coevolved landscapes. In the most important cluster of habitat services, grazing systems support the maintenance of species life cycles and the connection of habitats. The Millennium Assessment showed that "with appropriate actions, it is possible to reverse the degradation of many ecosystem services over the next 50 years, but the changes in policy and practice required are substantial and not currently underway."

## CONCLUSIONS

The livestock system based on grazing local breeds can provide benefit to both the environment and the mountain population, given the habitat service that it provides. Two case studies were presented in this article with the aim of presenting two issues concerning the mountain system that are usually considered separately. Combining the outcomes of the aforementioned studies, the authors recommend a management system that revalues the traditional approach. This system, which has traditionally proven to be more sustainable and respectful of the mountain environment, consists of (i) mixed flocks of local breeds of small ruminants, sheep, and goats, in variable percentages (up to 80% sheep and 20% goats); (ii) grazing system with stocking rates ranging from 2.1 to 4.0 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>; (iii) supplementation of diet, during lactation, with native pasture hay and concentrated feed. This management system, in comparison with sheep-only herds, allows high-quality dairy products even in summer, when sheep are in a dry stage (physiological stage after lactation). The transferability of this system to other, similar Mediterranean areas would be limited only by the yield of the pasture. On less rich pastures, the recommended stocking rate would be reasonably lower, i.e., 0.2 LU  $ha^{-1}$  year<sup>-1</sup>.

In the mountain livestock system of Monti Foy, the management system recommended in the present article would contribute over time to grassland biodiversity preservation, in addition to preventing fire. In addition, milk and cheese from the grazing system are richer than those from the housed animals feeding system, mainly owing to the higher content of healthy compounds, as well as the hedonistic characteristics. When the relationship between grassland biodiversity maintenance and this quality is taken into account, these products appear worthy of being valued and sold at higher prices, which is a viable way to reward farmers who sustain the struggle to live and produce in mountain areas and encourage them to continue their work and not give up in these tough but incomparable production systems. Finally, the mountain management system recommended in the present article, inspired by the traditional system, offers an approach for mountain area land managers, a viable way to produce high-quality food together with preserving the system.

As a new perspective, further research could aim to find new markers/indicators of the high quality of the products from local breeds in grazing system and more strictly relate them to the mountain system. This request often comes from the stakeholders (farmers/cheesemakers). To this end, a multidisciplinary study may be a viable approach, involving countries in the Mediterranean area with similar mountain systems, to address the complex relation among grassland biodiversity, livestock breeding, and livestock products. The evaluation of those markers would concur with the development of an economic model that can recognize and assign the added value, thus supporting and protecting production systems that would otherwise be less competitive and less economically sustainable.

#### REFERENCES

- Junjing G, Yohay C. A global meta-analysis of grazing effects on plant richness. *Agric Ecosyst Environ.* (2020) 302:107072. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2020.107072
- Jouven M, Lapeyronie P, Moulin C, Bocquier F. Rangeland utilization in Mediterranean farming systems. *Animal.* (2010) 4:1746–57. doi: 10.1017/S1751731110000996
- Perevolotsky A, Seligman NAG. Role of grazing in Mediterranean rangeland ecosystems. *Bioscience*. (1998) 48:1007–17. doi: 10.2307/1313457
- Perevolotsky A. Livestock grazing and biodiversity conservation in Mediterranean environments: the Israeli experience. In: Molina Alcaide E, Ben Salem H, Biala K, Morand-Fehr P, editors. Sustainable Grazing, Nutritional Utilization and Quality of Sheep and Goat Products. Zaragoza: CIHEAM (2005). p. 51–6. Available online at: http://om.ciheam.org/om/pdf/ a67/06600019.pdf
- Naveh Z. The role of fire and its management in the conservation of Mediterranean ecosystems and landscapes. In: Moreno JM, Oechel WC, editors. *The Role of Fire in Mediterranean-Type Ecosystems*. New York, NY: Springer (1994). p. 163–85.
- Smith P, Martino D, Cai Z, Gwary D, Janzen H, Kumar P, et al. Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2008) 363:789–813. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2184
- Schuman GE, Janzen HH, Herrick JE. Soil carbon dynamics and potential carbon sequestration by rangelands. *Environ Pollut*. (2002) 116:391–6. doi: 10.1016/S0269-7491(01)00215-9
- Gilhaus K, Hölzel N. Seasonal variations of fodder quality and availability as constraints for stocking rates in year-round grazing schemes. *Agric Ecosyst Environ.* (2016) 234:5–15. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.03.013
- Bianchetto E, Buscemi I, Corona P, Giardina G, La Mantia T, Pasta S. Fitting the stocking rate with pastoral resources to manage and preserve mediterranean forestlands: a case study. *Sustainability*. (2015) 7:7232–44. doi: 10.3390/su7067232
- Tallowin J, Rook A, Rutter S. Impact of grazing management on biodiversity of grasslands. *Anim Sci.* (2005) 81:193–8. doi: 10.1079/ASC50780193
- García R, Valdés C, Andrés S, Alvarenga J, Calleja A. Grazing livestock as a tool for managing natural feed resources in Sayago (Zamora, Spain). In: Porqueddu C, Tavares de Sousa MM, editors. Sustainable Mediterranean Grasslands and Their Multi-Functions. Zaragoza: CIHEAM; FAO; ENMP; SPPF (2008). p. 69–72. Available online at: http://om.ciheam.org/om/pdf/a79/ 00800619.pdf
- Plantureux S, Bernués A, Huguenin-Elie O, Hovstad K, Isselstein J, McCracken D, et al. Ecosystem service indicators for grasslands in relation to ecoclimatic regions and land use systems. In: Höglind M, Bakken AK, Hovstad KA, Kallioniemi E, Riley H, Steinshamnm H, et al.. editors. *Proceedings of the 26th General Meeting of the European Grassland Federation*. Trondheim, Norway (2016). p. 524–47.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SC for conceptualization, resources, review, final review, and supervision. MM for analysis of resources, writing—original draft. AD for writing and final review. LS for conceptualization, resources, writing, review, final review, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Etienne M. Research on temperate and tropical silvopastoral systems: a review. In: Etienne M, editor. Western European Silvopastoral System. Paris: INRA (1996). p. 5–19.
- Tscharntke T, Klein AM, Kruess A, Steffan-Dewenter I, Thies C. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity-ecosystem service management. *Ecol Lett.* (2005) 8:857–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00782.x
- Claps S, Rossi R, Di Trana A, Di Napoli MA, Giorgio D, Sepe L. Bioactive compounds in goat milk and cheese: the role of feeding system and breed. In: Kukovics S, editors. *Goat Science*. Rijeka: InTech (2018). p. 233–63.
- Iussig G, Renna M, Gorlier A, Lonati M, Lussiana C, Battaglini LM, et al. Browsing ratio, species intake, and milk fatty acid composition of goats foraging on alpine open grassland and grazable forestland. *Small Rum Res.* (2015) 132:12–24. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2015.09.013
- Bonanno A, Fedele F, Di Grigoli A. Grazing management of dairy goats on Mediterranean herbaceous pastures. In: Cannas A, Pulina G. Dairy Goats Feeding and Nutrition. Wallingford: CAB International. (2008). p. 189–220.
- 18. Di Trana A, Sepe L, Di Gregorio P, Di Napoli MA, Giorgio D, Caputo AR, et al. The role of local sheep and goat breeds and their products as a tool for sustainability and safeguard of the Mediterranean environment. In: Vastola A, editor. *The Sustainability of Agro-Food and Natural Resource Systems in the Mediterranean Basin.* Cham: Springer (2015). p. 77–112.
- 19. Claps S, Sepe L, Caputo AR, Di Napoli MA, Morone G, Annicchiarico G, et al. The cheese quality as tool to safeguard autochthonous sheep breeds and mountain environment. In: University of Turin, editor. *Dairy Production in Mountain: Farming System, Milk and Cheese Quality Implication for the Future. Proceedings of the 10th International Meeting on Mountain Cheese.* Dronero (2011).
- Sepe L, Salis M, Francaviglia R, Fedrizzi M, Carroni AM, Sabia E, et al. Environmental effectiveness of the cross compliance Standard 4.6 'Minimum livestock stocking rates and/or appropriate regimens. *Ital J Agron.* (2015) 10:715. doi: 10.4081/ija.2015.715
- Fedele V, Pizzillo M, Claps S, Morand-Fehr P, Rubino R. Grazing behaviour and diet selection of goats on native pasture in Southern Italy. *Small Rum Res.* (1993) 11:305–22. doi: 10.1016/0921-4488(93)90002-Y
- 22. Claps S, Sepe L, Caputo AR, Di Trana A, Paladino F, Di Napoli MA, et al. Influence of four single fresh forages on volatile organic compound (VOC) content and profile and sensory properties of goat Caciotta cheese. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2009) 8:390–2. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2009.s2.390
- 23. Coulon JB, Martin B, Verdier-Metz I, Buchin S, Viallon C. Etude du lien entre terroir et produit dans le cas de fromages AOC: influence de la composition floristique des fourrages sur les caractéristiques chimiques et sensorielles des fromages affinés. In: Proceedings of the 7émes Rencontrés Recherché Ruminants. Paris (2000). p. 304–7.
- 24. Bozoudi D, Claps S, Abraham EM, Parissi ZM, Litopoulou-Tzanetaki E. Volatile organic compounds of mountainous plant species and the produced

milk as affected by altitude in Greece: a preliminary study. *Int J Dairy Tech.* (2019) 72:159–64. doi: 10.1111/1471-0307.12573

- Bugaud C, Buchin S, Hauwuy A, Coulon JB. Texture et flaveur du fromage selon la nature du pâturage: Cas du fromage d'Abondance. *Prod Anim.* (2002) 15:31–6. doi: 10.20870/productions-animales.2002.15.1.3685
- Cornu A, Carnat AP, Martin B, Coulon JB, Lamaison JL, Berdagué JL. Solid-Phase microextraction of volatile components from natural grassland plants. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2001) 49:203–9. doi: 10.1021/jf0008341
- Viallon C, Martin B, Verdier-Metz I, Pradel P, Garel JP, Coulon JB, et al. Transfer of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes from forages into milk fat. *Le Lait*. (2000) 80:635–41. doi: 10.1051/lait:2000150
- Renna M, Lussiana C, Cornale P, Fortina R, Mimosi A. Changes in goat milk fatty acids during abrupt transition from indoor to pasture diet. *Small Rum Res.* (2012) 108:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2012.06.007
- 29. Coppa M, Cabiddu A, Elsässer M, Hulin S, Lind V, Martin B, et al. Grasslandbased products: quality and authentication. In: Porqueddu C, Franca A, Lombardi G, Molle G, Peratoner G, Hopkins A, editors. *Grassland Resources* for Extensive Farming Systems in Marginal Lands: Major Drivers and Future Scenarios. Grassland Science, Europe: EGF (2017). p. 39–60.
- Cabiddu A, Addis M, Fiori M, Spada S, Decandia M, Molle G. Pros and cons of the supplementation with oilseed enriched concentrates on milk fatty acid profile of dairy sheep grazing Mediterranean pastures. *Small Rum Res.* (2017) 147:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2016.11.019
- Ciccioli P, Brancaleoni E, Frattoni M, Fedele V, Claps S, Signorelli F. Quantitative determination of volatile organic compounds (VOC) in milk by multiple dynamic headspace extraction and GC-MS. *Annal Chim.* (2004) 94:669–78. doi: 10.1002/adic.200490084
- 32. Di Trana A, Cifuni GF, Fedele V, Braghieri A, Claps S, Rubino R. The grazing system and season affect CLA, ω-3 and trans fatty acid contents in goat milk [Il sistema alimentare e la stagione influenzano il contenuto di CLA, ω-3 e acidi grassi trans nel latte di capra]. *Prog Nutr.* (2004) 6:108–14.
- Pizzoferrato L, Manzi P, Marconi S, Fedele V, Claps S, Rubino R. Degree of antioxidant protection: a parameter to trace the origin and quality of goat's milk and cheese. *J Dairy Sci.* (2007) 90:4569–74. doi: 10.3168/jds. 2007-0093
- 34. Fedele V, Pizzillo M, Claps S, Cifuni GF. Effect of types of forage on terpenes content and profile in goat milk. In: Priolo A, Biondi L, Ben Salem H, Morand-Fehr P, editors. Advanced Nutrition and Feeding Strategies to Improve Sheep And Goat. Zaragoza: CIHEAM (2007). p. 19–24. Available online at: http:// om.ciheam.org/om/pdf/a74/00800349.pdf
- 35. Fedele V, Pizzoferrato L, Manzi P, Cifuni GF, Sepe L, Di Napoli MA. Grazed or preserved forage: a global evaluation of goat milk and cheese quality. In: *The Quality of Goat Products, Proceedings of the IGA International Symposium*.Bella (2007). p. 195–8.
- 36. Petz K, Alkemade R, Bakkenes M, Schulp CJ, Van der Velde M, Leemans R. Mapping and modelling trade-offs and synergies between grazing intensity and ecosystem services in rangelands using globalscale datasets and models. *Global Environ Change*. (2014) 29:223–34. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.08.007
- 37. Sepe L, Morone G, Claps S. Quality of milk and cheese from Italian indigenous goat breeds for safeguarding biodiversity and the environment. In: Kukovics S, editor. Sustainable Goat Breeding and Goat Farming in Central and Eastern European Countries. Rome: FAO (2016). p. 243–50.
- Decandia M, Cabiddu A, Molle G, Branca A, Epifani G, Pintus S, et al. Effect of different feeding systems on fatty acid composition and volatile compound content in goat milk. In: Priolo A, Biondi L, Ben Salem H, Morand-Fehr P, editors. Advanced Nutrition and Feeding Strategies to Improve Sheep and Goat. Zaragoza: CIHEAM (2007). p. 129–34. Available online at: http://om.ciheam. org/om/pdf/a74/00800367.pdf

- Renna M, Cornale P, Lussiana C, Malfatto V, Mimosi A, Battaglini LM. Fatty acid profile of milk from goats fed diets with different levels of conserved and fresh forages. *Int J Dairy Technol.* (2012) 65:201–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0307.2011.00754.x
- Pajor F, Kerti A, Penksza K, Kuchtik J, Harkanyne Szekely ZS, Beres A, et al. Improving nutritional quality of the goat milk by grazing. *Appl Ecol Environ Res.* (2014) 12:301–7. doi: 10.15666/aeer/1201\_301307
- Hilario MC, Puga CD, Ocaña AN, Romo FP. Antioxidant activity, bioactive polyphenols in Mexican goats' milk cheeses on summer grazing. *J Dairy Res.* (2010) 77:20–6. doi: 10.1017/S0022029909990161
- 42. Cabiddu A, Delgadillo-Puga C, Decandia M, Molle G. Extensive ruminant production systems and milk quality with emphasis on unsaturated fatty acids, volatile compounds, antioxidant protection degree and phenol content. *Animals.* (2019) 9:771. doi: 10.3390/ani9100771
- 43. Chávez-Servín JL, Andrade-Montemayor HM, Vázquez CV, Barreyro AA, García-Gasca T, Martínez RAF, et al. Effects of feeding system, heat treatment and season on phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity in goat milk, whey and cheese. *Small Rum. Res.* (2018) 160:54–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2018.01.011
- 44. Lucas A, Coulon JB, Agabriel C, Chilliard Y, Rock E. Relationships between the conditions of goat's milk production and the contents of some components of nutritional interest in Rocamadour cheese. *Small Rum Res.* (2008) 74:91–106. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2007.04.001
- 45. Cabiddu A, Decandia M, Scanu G, Molle G, Pirisi A, Piredda G, et al. Level of vitamins E and A and cholesterol in milk and cheese from goats fed with different feeding systems. In: *5th International Symposium on the Challenge to Sheep and Goats Milk Sectors*. Alghero; Sardinia (2007).
- Fedele V, Rubino R, Claps S, Sepe L, Morone G. Seasonal evolution of volatile compounds content and aromatic profile in milk and cheese from grazing goat. *Small Rum Res.* (2005) 59:273–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2005.05.013
- Renna M, Cornale P, Lussiana C, Giordano M, Belviso S, Zeppa G, et al. Efficacy of fatty acids and terpenoids and weakness of electronic nose response as tracers of Asiago d'Allevo PDO cheese produced in different seasons. *Dairy Sci Technol.* (2012) 92:203–18. doi: 10.1007/s13594-012-0056-7
- Moio L, Rillo L, Ledda A, Addeo F. Odorous constituents of ovine milk in relationship to diet. J Dairy Sci. (1996) 79:1322–31. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(96)76488-3
- Delgadillo-Puga C, Cuchillo-Hilario M, León-Ortiz L, Ramírez-Rodríguez A, Cabiddu A, Navarro-Ocaña A, et al. Goats' feeding supplementation with Acacia farnesiana pods and their relationship with milk composition: Fatty acids, polyphenols, and antioxidant activity. *Animals.* (2019) 9:515. doi: 10.3390/ani9080515
- Giorgio D, Di Trana A, Di Napoli MA, Sepe L, Cecchini S, Rossi R, et al. Comparison of cheeses from goats fed seven forages based on a new health index. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:6790–801. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15857
- 51. *Millennium Ecosystem Assessment*. (2005). Available online at: https://www.millenniumassessment.org/en/About.html#2 (Accessed July 22, 2020).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Claps, Mecca, Di Trana and Sepe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Early-Life Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience Influence Post-Weaning Behavior and Herbage Selection of Dairy Calves in the Short Term

Alessandra Nicolao<sup>1,2</sup>, Mauro Coppa<sup>3</sup>, Matthieu Bouchon<sup>4</sup>, Enrico Sturaro<sup>2</sup>, Dominique Pomiès<sup>1</sup>, Bruno Martin<sup>1</sup> and Madeline Koczura<sup>1\*†</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Emily Patterson-Kane, Independent Researcher, Rolling Meadows, IL, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Tony Waterhouse, Scotland's Rural College, United Kingdom Valeria Giovanetti, Sardegna Agricoltura, Italy Temple Grandin, Colorado State University, United States

\*Correspondence: Madeline Koczura madeline.koczura@inrae.fr

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Madeline Koczura, Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR0874 Ecosystème Prairial, Clermont-Ferrand, France

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 31 August 2020 Accepted: 16 November 2020 Published: 07 December 2020

#### Citation:

Nicolao A, Coppa M, Bouchon M, Sturaro E, Pomiès D, Martin B and Koczura M (2020) Early-Life Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience Influence Post-Weaning Behavior and Herbage Selection of Dairy Calves in the Short Term. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:600949. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.600949 <sup>1</sup> Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR Herbivores, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France, <sup>2</sup> DAFNAE, University of Padova, Legnaro, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Independent Researcher at Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR Herbivores, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France, <sup>4</sup> INRAE, UE Herbipôle, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France

Rearing dairy calves with their mothers could teach them how to graze, optimizing grass use, and improving their welfare and performance. We tested the short-term effects of dam-calf contact experience on grazing and social behavior of weaned calves, monitored over seven days for their first post-weaning grazing experience. "Dam" (D) calves were reared and grazed with their mothers until weaning. "Mixed" calves (M) were separated from their mothers after 4  $\pm$  0.5 weeks, they experienced dam-calf contact, but not grazing. "Standard" (S) calves had never experienced either dam-calf contact (separated at birth) or grazing. Each group grazed an equivalent pasture plot offering heterogeneous herbage. Scan sampling of calves' activities was performed every 5 min, 6 h per day, on Days 0, 1, 2, 3, and 7. Daily, the time when calves started grazing after introduction to pasture, and the number and duration of their grazing cycles were measured. Daily activities were differentiated into ingestion, rumination, and idling. The proportion of time that calves spent grouped with other individuals or isolated, and standing or lying were recorded. When grazing, their bites were characterized by botanical family group, height of the selected bite and vegetation status. Individual average daily gains from the 2-week periods before and after grazing were calculated, and were equivalent between groups  $(313 \pm 71 \text{ g/d})$ . On Day 0, D-calves started grazing immediately  $(1 \pm 4.1 \text{ min})$ , unlike Mand S-calves (39  $\pm$  4.1 and 23  $\pm$  4.1 min), and D-calves grazed patches of dry grass 21.7 times less than M-calves and 16.9 times less than S-calves. Dry herbage patch preference and grazing start time differences disappeared on Day 1. Calves spent the same time ingesting and idling, but M-calves spent on average 1.6 times less ruminating than D- or S-calves. The D-calves showed grazing behavior similar to that of adult cows, selecting grasses throughout pasture utilization, although legumes and forbs were present in the grazed layer. On the contrary, M- and S-calves did not express any specific preference. The S-calves spent more time isolated but had more positive reciprocal interactions than the calves in the other groups.

Keywords: grazing behavior, dairy calves, grazing experience, dam-calf contact, post-weaning, social interactions, first grazing
## INTRODUCTION

Maximizing production while reducing costs and labor are the main aims of modern dairy systems. This trend often results in an intensification of farming practices, which weakens societal acceptance of dairy production systems (1). Consumers are taking ever greater interest in how their food is produced, and are increasingly aware of environmental issues and animal welfare (2, 3). In dairy production, the most common welfare concerns are the separation of calves from their dams (4) and restricted access to pasture for animals in intensive systems (5). Pasture for dairy cattle offers several advantages for animal welfare and health, such as expression of natural behavior and possible reduction of lameness and claw disorders (6-8) or increased movement with positive effects on longevity (9). Grazing systems also reduce management and feeding costs for the farmer (10, 11). In commercial dairy farms, calves are usually separated from their dams close to birth, and rarely experience grazing during their early lives (12). In France, 60 % of dairy farms use seasonal batch calving during autumn and winter, in order to turn out animals to pasture in the following spring (13). Then, calves and heifers usually graze from spring to autumn, before their first year of age, but only 2% of dairy farms turn out calves to pasture before 6 months of age (13). This strategy allows the synchronization of the peak of herbage growth and the peak of lactation of dairy cows, with fresh herbage covering a large part of their nutritional requirements (14). At the same time, calves have also grown and matured sufficiently and are able to be moved to pasture.

Le Cozler et al. (13) reported that only 4% of farmers keep calves with their dam at later than 24 h, but this practice is increasingly used. Michaud et al. (15) investigated farms using a suckling practice in France (Massif Central, East and West of France), and found that 62 farms out of 102 kept calves with their dam or with a foster cow between 1 and 60 days of age. The presence of the dam in the early stages of a calf's life can have positive effects on its social interactions, feeding behavior, and growth (16-18). The dam is the primary social model and plays an important role in the acquisition of foraging behavior and feed selection (19, 20). Pullin et al. (20) found that lambs grazing with their dam spent more time foraging, were more active, developed long-term feed preferences and learned aversion to toxic feed more effectively than lambs grazing alone. Young animals learn by emulation of social models or by trial and error, although in most cases this last is less efficient (21). Calves usually are neophobic: they tend to choose feed and places they already know, so that individual learning in a new environment takes more time than learning by social models (22, 23). Lopes et al. (24) observed that heifers with early grazing experience, compared to inexperienced heifers, affected grazing behavior and milk production only in the first days on pasture, but showed that the animals would generally adapt to a new environment and a novel feed easily, especially during their first year of life. Dairy calves that have learned to graze with their dam might therefore more efficiently recognize herbage quality and select specific patches when turned out to pasture after weaning, compared to calves that never grazed before. However, it is unclear whether this advantage holds only in the first grazing day or is more persistent.

In the present study, the following hypotheses were tested, comparing three groups of calves with contrasting rearing experience on their first grazing days after weaning. We expected calves that had experienced dam-calf contact and grazing in their early life to show grazing and probably social behavior that was different from that of inexperienced calves, and more typical of adult dairy cows. The longer dam-calf contact lasted (a few weeks or until weaning), the greater would be the expected differences in calves' social behavior. The present study also evaluated the persistence of the expected differences in grazing or social behavior in the short term after weaning.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Experimental Design**

The experiment was performed in 2019 at the INRAE experimental farm of Marcenat (DOI: https://doi.org/10.15454/1. 5572318050509348E12), located in the Massif Central (45°15′N, 2°55′E; 1150 m a.s.l.). All animal-related procedures were carried out in accordance with the guidelines for animal research of the French Ministry of Agriculture and all other applicable national and European regulations for experimentation with animals (https://www.recherche-animale.org/sites/default/files/charte\_nationale\_portant\_sur\_l\_ethique\_de\_l\_experimentation\_

animale\_243579.pdf). The experiment started February 12. The early grazing period started July 22 and ended July 29. Three breed-balanced groups of eight dairy calves (Holstein and Montbéliarde) with different experience backgrounds were compared (Table 1): a group of "Standard" calves (S) that had been separated at birth from their dam and had never experienced grazing, a group of "Dam" calves (D) that had been reared and grazed with their dam until weaning, and a group of "Mixed" calves (M) that had been separated from their dam at  $4 \pm 0.5$  weeks of age and had never experienced grazing. All calves were weaned at age of 10.9  $\pm$  1.1 weeks. Before weaning, D-calves were housed separately from their dams at night and had free access to the dam cowshed during the day. Starting from May 5, when the calves were 4.6  $\pm$  3.2 weeks old, the day cowshed access was replaced by free access to pasture with dams. The M-calves, until age 4.0  $\pm$  0.5 weeks, were reared in the same way, except that they had no access to pasture. From this age until weaning, they were reared like S-calves, i.e., in separate housing and fed bulk milk with an automatic milk dispenser. D- and M-calves were reunited with their dams after morning milking at 9:00 a.m. and separated before evening milking at 3:30 p.m. At weaning, all calves were moved to a new pen, with one pen for each group to prevent mixing. In this pen, calves ingested 0.5 kg/d/calf of hay and 2.0 kg/d/calf of concentrate (Startivo, Centraliment, 15006 Aurillac). Hay was distributed in the evening with no refusal left in the morning. Concentrate was distributed half in the morning and half in the evening, until the end of the study. After the last weaning, all calves spent at least six days indoors all together to allow the latest weaned calves to adapt to the new conditions. At the beginning of the grazing period (week 15), D-, M- and S-calves were, respectively, 14.9  $\pm$  3.2, 16.1  $\pm$  2.8 and 15.3  $\pm$ 3.6 weeks old and weighed 131  $\pm$  18.3 kg, 123  $\pm$  17.4 kg, and

TABLE 1 | Feeding plan (milk, concentrate, and hay) of the three groups of calves (Standard, Dam, Mixed) during the first 15 weeks of age.

Group	Week	1	2 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	15
Standard	Milk <sup>1</sup> (kg/d)	6.0	7.0 9.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	9.0	7.0	5.0	3.0	Weaning	Start grazing
	Concentrate <sup>2</sup> (kg/d)	0	0 0.2	0.4	0.6	0.9	1.2	1.5	1.8	2.0	2.0	2.0
	Hay <sup>3</sup>	0				ad libi	tum				ad libitum	0.5
Dam	Suckling period	24 h/24 h		Between mo	rning an	d evening	g milkin	gs (=d	uring the da	ay)	Weaning	Start grazing
	Concentrate (kg/d)	0				ad libi	tum				2.0	2.0
	Hay	0				ad libi	tum				ad libitum	0.5
	Pasture with dams	/	/					During	the day		/	
Mixed	Suckling period	24 h/24 h	During the da	ay 10.0	10.0	10.0	9.0	7.0	5.0	3.0	Weaning	Start grazing
	Concentrate (kg/d)	0	ad libitum	0.4	0.6	0.9	1.2	1.5	1.8	2.0	2.0	2.0
	Hay	0	ad libitum				ac	d libitun	ז		ad libitum	0.5

<sup>1</sup> bulk milk distributed individually by automatic feeder.

<sup>2</sup> first age concentrate distributed individually by automatic feeder (Standard group and Mixed group after separation from the dam) or in collective bucket (Dam group and Mixed group

before separation from the dam).

<sup>3</sup> permanent grassland hay (first cut) distributed in a rack.

**TABLE 2** | Characteristics of vegetation offered on the experimental plots (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation).

Plot characteristics	Dam	Mixed	Standard
Patch type (%) and description			
Dry (≥70% dead material)	$15.5\pm4.1$	$16.0\pm2.1$	$13.3\pm2.5$
Green (< 70% dead material)	$84.5\pm7.2$	$84.0\pm4.1$	$86.7\pm6.0$
Grasses (≥ 70% grasses)	$65.1\pm9.7$	$69.1\pm6.6$	$64.2\pm7.3$
Legumes ( $\geq$ 30% legumes)	$17.1\pm4.2$	$13.6\pm2.0$	$13.3\pm3.4$
Forbs ( $\geq$ 30% forbs)	$17.8\pm3.6$	$17.3\pm1.4$	$22.5 \pm 4.8$
Tall ( $\geq 25 \text{ cm}$ )	$51.2\pm7.8$	$48.1\pm4.5$	$53.3\pm7.6$
Intermediate (7 cm $\leq$ x $<$ 25 cm)	$33.3\pm5.7$	$35.8\pm4.1$	$32.5\pm5.1$
Short (< 7 cm)	$15.5\pm5.2$	$16.0\pm2.6$	$14.2\pm3.1$
Composition and nutritional value			
Dry matter <i>(g/kg),</i>	$32.5\pm3.3$	$28.3\pm5.9$	$31.6\pm2.5$
Organic matter digestibility (g/kg DM)	$67.2\pm2.8$	$67.0\pm3.8$	$66.0 \pm 1.7$
NDF (g/kg DM)	$53.9\pm4.4$	$53.8\pm1.2$	$53.9\pm1.8$
ADF (g/kg DM)	$27.6\pm1.6$	$28.2\pm1.0$	$28.5 \pm 1.9$
Crude protein (g/kg DM)	$12.0\pm1.6$	$12.2\pm2.7$	10.6 ±1.8

 $128\pm23.5\,kg$  respectively, on average. They had been weaned for 30  $\pm$  22, 33  $\pm$  20 and 33  $\pm$  24 days, respectively. Calves were turned out to pasture on July 22 (Day 0), from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

#### **Characteristics of the Experimental Plot**

Calves grazed a permanent pasture divided into three equivalent neighboring 0.15 ha plots. No close visual contact was allowed between the three groups of animals, by fencing the plots so that they were at least 15 m apart. To encourage grazing selection for all three groups of calves, the whole plot was strip-mown 28 days before the grazing period started. At Day 0, plots were thereby composed of alternate 3 m strips dominated by mature vegetation and vegetative regrowth. The botanical composition of the whole pasture was determined using the vertical pointquadrat method from Daget and Poissonet (25). The pasture was dominated by *Lolium perenne* (39.0%), *Agrostis tenuis* (15.0%), and *Trifolium repens* (13.5%). *Rumex obtusifolius* was also present (3.1%). At the beginning of the experiment, three 10 cm  $\times$  3 m grass samples were collected on each plot, perpendicularly to the mown and unmown strips, equally harvesting the same length from both. They were oven-dried at 60°C for 72 h and analyzed for proximate composition as described by Coppa et al. (26) (**Table 2**).

#### **Observations and Behavior Measurements**

Calves were weighed once a week, and individual average daily gain (ADG) from the 2-week periods before and after the grazing period started was calculated.

Individual daily activities and behavior were observed by scan sampling at 5-min intervals (27, 28) on the day the calves encountered the pasture for the first time (Day 0), the next three days (Day 1, Day 2, Day 3) and one week later (Day 7), focusing on the first days as most of the differences were expected here (24). On each plot, four calves were randomly assigned to two observers for 6 h per day (9:00-12:00 a.m. and 2:00-5:00 p.m.). For observations, calves were always identified by the same numbers painted on their back. At the end of the afternoon, the calves went back indoors for the night where they were fed with hay and concentrate (Startivo, Centraliment, 15006 Aurillac). Observers, randomly assigned to a group of calves, changed experimental group between each morning and afternoon. Each day, the time taken by calves to start grazing was measured. A calf was considered to have started grazing if it was observed taking a bite in at least three out of four successive observations (29), following the flowchart in Figure 1. From the time the calf started grazing, the grazing cycle lasted until it showed more than three other successive activities (i.e., it stopped grazing for at least 15 min), according to Manzocchi et al. (30). The duration of a grazing cycle and the number of grazing cycles, as just described, were calculated following the flowchart in Figure 2.



FIGURE 1 | Flowchart of the conceptual scheme used during observations to tell whether calves started grazing at Bite 1 (Yes = at least three bites over four observations; No = flowchart restart to the next observation).



Daily activities were then differentiated into three groups: ingestion (grazing and drinking water), rumination, and idling. The latter comprised four subcategories: resting (observation, sleep, self-grooming), positive interactions (licking, sniffing, head play), negative interactions (head-butting, pushing, fighting) and *ad hoc* activities (walking, exploring, stereotypies, vocalizing) (**Table 3**). The daily proportion of ingestion, rumination and idling time was calculated as a percentage of the total daily observations. The daily proportion of resting time, socializing time and *ad hoc* activities was calculated as a percentage of the idling activities. Each time one of the activities was recorded, observers also indicated whether the calf was grouped with other calves or isolated, i.e., at least 3 m away from other calves, and whether it was standing or lying. The daily proportions of time spent grouped and standing were calculated over the total number of observations of the day. When calves

TABLE 3   Description	of daily activities	s recorded by scar	n-sampling differe	ntiated in four sul	ocategories.
-----------------------	---------------------	--------------------	--------------------	---------------------	--------------

Daily activity	Subcategory	Behavior type	Description
Ingestion			Grazing and drinking water
Rumination			Ruminating
Idling	Resting	Observation	Standing or lying, without sleeping
		Sleep	Sleeping
		Self-grooming	Self-licking, rubbing, defecating and urinating
	Positive interaction	Licking	Licking another calf's head or body
		Sniffing	Sniffing another calf's head or body
		Head play	Rubbing the head against the head of another calf
	Negative interaction	Head-butting	Pushing the head against the head of another calf
		Pushing	Pushing the head against the body of another calf
		Fighting	Two calves pushing each other
	Ad hoc activities	Walking	Walking
		Exploring	Sniffing the floor, sniffing/ licking objects, discovering the environment
		Stereotypies	Cross-suckling, tongue rolling and repeatedly sniffing/licking objects
		Vocalizing	Mooing punctually and/or repeated

were grazing, their bites were characterized by botanical group (grasses, legumes and forbs), the height of the selected bite (tall, intermediate, short vegetation) and the vegetation status ("dry" or "green"), according to Koczura et al. (31). Briefly, patches were characterized according to the visually estimated proportion of dry senescent herbage, of botanical family groups and of their height (26, 32). A patch was coded as "dry" if the dry senescent vegetation represented more than 70 % of the bite, as "green" if it was < 70%; as dominated by "grasses" if the bite contained more than 70% of grasses, by legumes or forbs if they represented more than 30%; tall if herbage height was  $\geq 25$  cm, and small if it was < 7 cm, as detailed in Table 2. Observers were able to get close to calves due to their adaptation to human presence achieved during the pre-weaning experiment. When calves ingested forbs, observers reported whether or not they selected Rumex thanks to a binary variable (1 = the calf tried to eat Rumex at least one time)in the observation day). The daily proportion of vegetation type ingested by calves was calculated as a percentage of observations comprising the vegetation type compared to the total number of grazing observations of the day.

The weather was exceptionally hot on the afternoons of Day 2 and Day 3. The average maximum daily temperature during these afternoons was 31.2°C, whereas between 2000 and 2019, the average maximum temperature in July was 21.6°C (INRAE CLIMATIK 2.1.5, Marcenat weather station). Behavior observations at pasture were therefore made throughout the day on Day 0, Day 1, and Day 7, but only in the morning on Day 2 and Day 3. The daily ingestion, rumination and idling activities, together with the number and duration of grazing cycles, were accordingly calculated only for Day 0, Day 1, and Day 7, as the morning alone was not considered representative of the ingestion and rumination cycles of a whole day. On the other hand, the characterization of grazed bites and time needed to start grazing were calculated on mornings only for all days, the numbers of bites observed during the morning being considered sufficient

and representative to express preference, as differences between morning and afternoon on those days were equivalent.

#### Statistical Analysis

Daily activities and grazing cycles were analyzed with a repeated MIXED model on SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Group (Dam, Mixed or Standard), day (only 0, 1, or 7) and their interaction were included as fixed effects. The individual calf was considered as the subject of repetition, with day being the repeated factor. We used a compound symmetry covariance structure. Time to start grazing and herbage selection were analyzed with the same model, except that the day effect included all days. Average daily gain was analyzed with a similar repeated model, which included group, period (before or after pasture) and their interaction as fixed effects, calf as subject, and period as repeated factor. In this last model, the number of days since each calf had been weaned was used as a covariate. The effect of the age and BW of calves were tested as covariates as well, but were found to be non-significant, and so were not finally included in the model. For all data, normality of residuals was checked using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The frequency of times calves tried at least 1 time to include Rumex in their bites was compared between groups using a Chi<sup>2</sup> test. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### ADG Before and After Grazing

During the 2 weeks before start of grazing, the ADG of D-, M- and S-calves did not differ significantly (p = 0.177), at 285, 355, and 480 g/d, respectively. During the following 2 weeks it increased by 313 g/d on average for all the groups.

TABLE 4 | Effect of early dam-calf contact and grazing experience on post-weaning daily activities and grazing cycles of dairy calves (Day 0, 1 and 7 after start of grazing).

Item	Dam	Mixed	Standard	SEM	Group	Day	Group × day
Daily activities (% of daily total observations)							
Ingestion time	55.8	58.3	58.2	1.88	ns	**	t
Rumination time	11.0 <sup>a</sup>	6.9 <sup>b</sup>	10.2ª	1.01	*	*	ns
Idling time	33.2	34.8	31.7	1.88	ns	***	ns
Grazing cycles (by day)							
Duration (min)	57.8	55.9	55.6	4.97	ns	†	ns
Number	3.1	3.5	3.2	0.21	ns	*	ns
Idling activities (% of daily idling observations)							
Resting time <sup>1</sup>	64.6 <sup>a</sup>	55.4 <sup>b</sup>	56.5 <sup>b</sup>	2.55	*	***	ns
Ad hoc activities <sup>2</sup>	30.2 <sup>b</sup>	37.3 <sup>a</sup>	35.4 <sup>ab</sup>	1.89	*	***	ns
Positive interactions <sup>3</sup>	1.6 <sup>b</sup>	0.7 <sup>b</sup>	3.3ª	0.51	**	ns	ns
Negative interactions <sup>4</sup>	3.7	6.5	4.8	1.07	ns	**	ns
Proportion of time (% of daily observations) spent:							
Lying	15.8 <sup>b</sup>	9.8°	20.5 <sup>a</sup>	1.60	***	***	***
Isolated	22.3 <sup>b</sup>	19.1 <sup>b</sup>	31.6ª	2.07	***	**	***

\*\*\*p < 0.001; \*\*p < 0.01; \*p < 0.05;  $^{\dagger}p < 0.10$ ; ns  $p \ge 0.10$ .

<sup>*a-c</sup>*Means within a variable with different superscript letters differ at p < 0.05.</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Resting time: observation, sleeping, self-grooming.

<sup>2</sup> Ad hoc activities: walking, exploring, stereotypies, vocalizing.

<sup>3</sup> Positive interaction: licking, sniffing, head play.

<sup>4</sup> Negative interaction: head-butting, pushing, fighting.

# Effect of Early Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience on Calves' Daily Activities

Once turned out to pasture, the daily activities of the three groups of weaned dairy calves did not strongly differ (interaction groups  $\times$  day non-significant). Overall, during Days 0, 1, and 7, calves in the three groups spent almost the same time ingesting (p =0.081, on Day 1 M-calves tended to spend less time ingesting than D- and S-calves) and the same time idling (**Table 4**), but M-calves spent on average less time ruminating than D- and Scalves (1.54 times less). During idling activities, D-calves spent more time resting than M- or S-calves (1.16 and 1.14 times more, respectively), and M-calves spent more time in *ad hoc* activities than D-calves (1.24 times more). The S-calves had more positive social interactions than the calves in the other two groups. On Day 0 and Day 1, S-calves spent more time lying than D- or Mcalves (**Figure 3I**). On Day 0 and Day 1 they spent more time isolated than calves in the other two groups (**Figure 3I**).

# Effect of Early Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience on Calves' Herbage Selection

When moved to pasture, D-calves started grazing immediately (**Table 5**), whereas it took S-calves  $23 \pm 4.1$  min to actively start to graze. The M-calves needed a further 20 min. On Day 0, the herbage selection was different between groups: D-calves grazed "dry" patches 21.71 times less than M-calves and 16.90 times less than S-calves. On Day 0, no differences between groups were observed for botanical composition and height, except for forbs: on that day, S-calves grazed 13.73 times more forbs than

M-calves and 3.89 times more than D-calves. On Day 1, Day 3, and Day 7 all three groups of calves started grazing 5  $\pm$ 2.8 min after arriving on pasture, whereas M- and S-calves started grazing  $15 \pm 0.7$  min after D-calves on Day 2. From Day 1, M- and S-calves reduced their proportion of "dry" patches to meet that of D-calves, with no longer any significant differences between groups. Overall, we found that the proportion of tall vegetation in the bites decreased from Day 1 to Day 7 and conversely that the proportion of short vegetation increased in the bites from Day 1 to Day 7. On Day 2 and Day 3, M-calves showed a higher proportion of intermediate vegetation than Dand S-calves (2.07 and 3.03 times more, on average). D-calves continuously maintained stable the proportion of grasses in their bites throughout the plot utilization, while M- and S-calves decreased their proportion over time (0.75 times less from Day 0 to Day 7, on average), increasing in parallel those of legumes and forbs (7.57 and 4.46 more times on average, respectively). On Day 0, none of D-calves grazed Rumex, on the contrary to M- and S-calves (4 and 6 calves, respectively) (Figure 4). This difference disappeared in the following days, already on Day 1.

#### DISCUSSION

# Effect of Early Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience on Calf Grazing Behavior

To our knowledge, only a few published studies have focused on dairy calf grazing behavior, and this is the first time that the effects of an early dam-calf contact have been investigated on calf grazing behavior, directly after weaning. As expected, the



main differences in calf grazing behavior were mostly observed on the first day on pasture (Day 0): D-calves started grazing immediately when moved to pasture, whereas S- and M-calves started 23 and 43 min later, respectively. In several studies, it is reported that inexperienced heifers need a few hours (12) or a few days (24) to start grazing. This lag occurs even when animals are put on pasture with experienced heifers. In our study, the three groups were separated to prevent visual contact between experienced and non-experienced animals. Calves that had experienced pasture with dams in their early life then immediately remembered how to graze, unlike calves from the other groups. This is consistent with findings of Lopes et al. (24), who observed that heifers that had once experienced pasture instantly remembered how to graze the following year. The Mand S-calves took slightly longer to start to graze, probably because they had no social model or experienced individuals TABLE 5 | Effect of early dam-calf contact and grazing experience on time to start grazing after introduction to pasture and characteristics of selected bites by dairy calves.

Item	Group			Day			SEM	Group	Day	Group × day
		0	1	2	3	7	-			
Time to start grazing (min)	Dam	1 <sup>e</sup>	6 <sup>e</sup>	3e	2 <sup>e</sup>	4 <sup>e</sup>	4.13	***	***	***
	Mixed	39 <sup>a</sup>	4 <sup>e</sup>	18 <sup>bcd</sup>	11 <sup>cde</sup>	7 <sup>de</sup>				
	Standard	23 <sup>b</sup>	4 <sup>e</sup>	19 <sup>bc</sup>	6 <sup>e</sup>	2 <sup>e</sup>				
Herbage selection (% of ingestion observations)										
Green	Dam	97.9 <sup>a</sup>	100 <sup>a</sup>	97.2 <sup>a</sup>	100 <sup>a</sup>	98.1 <sup>a</sup>	0.03	***	***	***
	Mixed	54.5°	98.0 <sup>a</sup>	99.2 <sup>a</sup>	98.5 <sup>a</sup>	95.2 <sup>a</sup>				
	Standard	64.5 <sup>b</sup>	94.6 <sup>a</sup>	92.8 <sup>a</sup>	98.3 <sup>a</sup>	99.5 <sup>a</sup>				
Dry	Dam	2.1 <sup>c</sup>	Oc	2.8 <sup>c</sup>	0 <sup>c</sup>	1.9 <sup>c</sup>	0.03	***	***	***
	Mixed	45.6 <sup>a</sup>	2.0 <sup>c</sup>	0.8 <sup>c</sup>	1.5 <sup>c</sup>	4.8 <sup>c</sup>				
	Standard	35.5 <sup>b</sup>	5.4 <sup>c</sup>	7.2°	1.7°	0.5 <sup>c</sup>				
Grasses	Dam	86.4 <sup>abc</sup>	75.6 <sup>cd</sup>	81.3 <sup>abc</sup>	91.9 <sup>a</sup>	87.1 <sup>abc</sup>	0.04	***	***	***
	Mixed	87.8 <sup>ab</sup>	86.8 <sup>abc</sup>	59.5 <sup>ef</sup>	52.7 <sup>f</sup>	66.6 <sup>de</sup>				
	Standard	77.8 <sup>bcd</sup>	84.3 <sup>abc</sup>	61.8 <sup>ef</sup>	53.1 <sup>f</sup>	58.3 <sup>ef</sup>				
Legumes	Dam	8.3 <sup>def</sup>	15.6 <sup>bcd</sup>	11.3 <sup>cdef</sup>	4.9 <sup>ef</sup>	7.1 <sup>def</sup>	0.03	***	***	***
	Mixed	10.7 <sup>def</sup>	11.1 <sup>def</sup>	39.6 <sup>a</sup>	40.5 <sup>a</sup>	21.6 <sup>b</sup>				
	Standard	1.60 <sup>f</sup>	4.0 <sup>f</sup>	14.9 <sup>bcd</sup>	13.4 <sup>bcde</sup>	21.0 <sup>bc</sup>				
Forbs	Dam	5.3 <sup>cde</sup>	8.8 <sup>cd</sup>	7.3 <sup>cde</sup>	3.2 <sup>de</sup>	5.9 <sup>cde</sup>	0.03	***	**	***
	Mixed	1.5 <sup>de</sup>	2.1 <sup>de</sup>	0.8 <sup>e</sup>	6.8 <sup>cde</sup>	11.9 <sup>c</sup>				
	Standard	20.6 <sup>b</sup>	11.8°	23.3 <sup>b</sup>	33.5 <sup>a</sup>	20.7 <sup>b</sup>				
Tall	Dam	84.3 <sup>ab</sup>	61.7 <sup>efg</sup>	68.0 <sup>cdef</sup>	76.8 <sup>abcd</sup>	50.2 <sup>g</sup>	0.06	ns	***	***
	Mixed	73.8 <sup>abcdef</sup>	83.5 <sup>abc</sup>	61.3 <sup>defg</sup>	49.9 <sup>g</sup>	52.2 <sup>g</sup>				
	Standard	76.1 <sup>bcde</sup>	89.2ª	77.7 <sup>abc</sup>	77.5 <sup>abc</sup>	58.6 <sup>fg</sup>				
Intermediate	Dam	7.0 <sup>g</sup>	19.1 <sup>cde</sup>	18.1 <sup>cdef</sup>	11.9 <sup>efg</sup>	32.3 <sup>ab</sup>	0.04	***	***	*
	Mixed	14.0 <sup>defg</sup>	11.9 <sup>efg</sup>	34.8 <sup>ab</sup>	26.4 <sup>bc</sup>	41.5 <sup>a</sup>				
	Standard	7.1 <sup>fg</sup>	6.8 <sup>fg</sup>	8.2 <sup>efg</sup>	14.5 <sup>defg</sup>	23.8 <sup>bcd</sup>				
Short	Dam	6.7 <sup>cd</sup>	10.4 <sup>bcd</sup>	7.8 <sup>cd</sup>	7.1 <sup>cd</sup>	15.6 <sup>ab</sup>	0.03	ns	**	***
	Mixed	7.4 <sup>bcd</sup>	1.7 <sup>d</sup>	3.9 <sup>d</sup>	22.0 <sup>a</sup>	6.3 <sup>cd</sup>				
	Standard	2.9 <sup>d</sup>	3.4 <sup>d</sup>	13.4 <sup>abc</sup>	5.9 <sup>d</sup>	13.5 <sup>abc</sup>				

 $^{***}p < 0.001; \,^{**}p < 0.01; \,^{*}p < 0.05; \, +p < 0.10; \, ns \, p \ge 0.10.$ 

 $a^{-g}$ Means within a variable with different superscript letters differ at p < 0.05.

to emulate (33, 34). Also, inexperienced heifers spend more time exploring and tasting grass than ingesting it, compared to experienced heifers (33), which was numerically the case for our M- and S-calves here before they started grazing, even though exploring time was not long enough to statistically analyze it (data not shown). After starting grazing (on Day 0), M- and S-calves selected mainly "dry" patches, unlike D-calves, which directly grazed only "green" ones. This suggests that inexperienced calves could be neophobic (22): they were probably reluctant to try novel feed, and without a social model, were inclined to choose feed they already knew, or with similar characteristics to hay. Nevertheless, these differences were no longer seen in the following days, showing that calves can soon learn how to graze and cope with novelty.

Once they started grazing, all the calves followed the same pattern from Day 0 to Day 7: they first selected tall vegetation and then intermediate and short herbage as pasture utilization progressed. This is consistent with the selection of vegetation by

stratum by experienced grazing cows under rotational grazing (35): once the upper layer is grazed, the height of the patch decreases, moving down to the lower layers (26). However, the botanical selection of the vegetation seemed different between groups: M- and S-calves ingested mainly grasses during the first days, as grasses are almost exclusive in the top layer, and then increasingly legumes and forbs [present in the intermediate and low layers, because of their smaller size; (34)]. On the contrary, D-calves constantly selected grasses until the seventh day of observation, whatever the height of the layer present on the plot. This suggests that inexperienced calves did not select vegetation according to its botanical composition, but rather ingested species according to their presence in the topmost layer as they utilized the plot. Calves that had experienced pasture with dams seem to have learnt to graze like adult cows, which are known to select grasses even on biodiverse pasture (26, 35). Furthermore, M- and S-calves tried to ingest Rumex, especially during the first day at pasture, while D-calves rarely approached it. Rumex



is one of the main oxalate-producing plants: oxalate can cause poisoning in livestock if present in 10% or more of the dry weight of the plant (36). It is therefore important that cattle learn how to avoid it. This suggests again that calves that have grazed with their dams learnt to choose or avoid some plants (20), while inexperienced calves learnt by trial and error (21). Even though calves that did not experience grazing showed different grazing behavior than D-calves on the first day at pasture, their behavior evolved very quickly (less than a week) into behavior similar to adult cows. This implies that dam-calf contact close to birth has little impact on longer term grazing behavior.

Having experienced dam contact and/or pasture affected the time to start grazing and herbage selection behavior of dairy calves, but did not influence their daily ingestion time or the duration and number of their grazing cycles. All the groups of calves, regardless of their different previous experience, had the same grazing rhythm throughout the trial: this confirms that inexperienced animals exhibit similar grazing times to experienced animals, as found by Lopes et al. (24) and Hessle et al. (19). While idling, M-calves behaved differently from D-calves in ad hoc activities (i.e., walking, exploring, stereotypies and vocalizing). This was consistent with the finding of Arrazola et al. (33) highlighting that inexperienced calves spent more time walking and exploring compared to experienced calves, that spent more time inactive. Besides, M-calves spent less time lying than the calves in the other groups. Wilcox et al. (37) demonstrated that standing behavior could indicate a stress condition of the calves, especially in case of chronic stress. Even if we did not directly measure stress of the calves, it could not be excluded that repeating stress factors over time by

splitting separation and weaning could have induced a stressful behavior for M-calves. We also found that M-calves spent less time ruminating than D-calves, while the latter spent more time resting. As rumination time is proportional to forage intake, this result suggests that although the ingestion time was similar between groups, M-calves may have ingested less forage than D-calves, as found by Arrazola et al. (33). However, the calves' daily forage intake was not monitored in the present study. A different digestibility of dry senescent and vegetative or tall and short patches (leaf to stem ratio) could also have affected rumination time, but the day by day differences among groups in patches characteristics are not consistent with the trend observed in rumination time. Furthermore, no differences in ADG between groups were observed before and after calves started grazing, even though in the literature inexperienced grazers were found to be nutritionally disadvantaged because of modest foraging behavior that could affect their live weight gains (19). This suggests that the calf daily forage intake was not different between groups. We cannot therefore confirm that the foraging skills of inexperienced calves were inferior, but we can assert that they were not typical of an adult cow.

# Effect of Early Dam-Calf Contact and Grazing Experience on Calves' Social Behavior

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate dam-calf contact effects after weaning. Valníčková et al. (38) did not find any effect of dam-calf contact on social interactions or play behavior during colostrum feeding. Le Neindre and Sourd

(39) found that heifers reared with foster cows dominated more than heifers reared without cow contact. We thus expected that calves reared with their dams would be more sociable or have more dominant behaviors than artificially reared ones, but we found no differences in negative interactions (i.e., dominance behaviors, such as head-butting, pushing, or fighting) between groups at pasture. Nevertheless, we observed that S-calves had more positive interactions with their companions (particularly licking) than did calves in the other two groups. Pinheiro Machado et al. (40) found that licking behavior between grazing dairy cows was not a random choice but showed a companion's preference for socio-positive interactions. Furthermore, they observed that licking was more persistent in long-established social groups. This could suggest that D- and M-calves may have created bonds rather with dams than with other calves, compared to S-calves, but this point requires further investigation. Besides, the higher proportion of time spent isolated by S-calves, compared to D- and M-calves, could suggest that they exhibit less gregarious behavior. It is however difficult to interpret, because of a lack of literature on this topic.

#### CONCLUSION

Early life experience with dam and/or pasture influenced calves' foraging skills in the short term after weaning, especially on the first grazing day. Calves that had already experienced pasture with their dams immediately started to graze the day they were turned out to pasture in groups after being weaned. They instantly selected "green" patches of vegetation while grazing, unlike calves that had been housed indoors the whole time, which ingested predominantly senescent herbage on their first day. Daily ingestion time and duration and number of grazing cycles were not affected by previous experience. Nevertheless, botanical selection throughout pasture utilization and rejection of toxic plants (Rumex) showed that young calves could already exhibit post-weaning grazing behavior similar to that of adult cows when put on pasture early with their dam. This study provides evidence that separation of dairy calves from their dams close to birth has little impact on grazing behavior, as they grazed similarly to adult cows already in the short term (less than a week after being introduced to pasture). We spotted some differences in social behavior between the calves that experienced dam-calf contact and those that did not, but these differences are not easy to interpret and should be investigated in future studies. Further investigation is also needed to evaluate whether an early grazing experience with their dams could provide positive effects on

#### REFERENCES

- Cembalo L, Caracciolo F, Lombardi A, Del Giudice T, Grunert KG, Cicia G. Determinants of individual attitudes toward animal welfarefriendly food products. J Agricult Environ Ethics. (2016) 29:237–54. doi: 10.1007/s10806-015-9598-z
- Brombin A, Pezzuolo A, Brščić M. Are we ready for the big change in the dairy production system? *Res Vet Sci.* (2019) 126:17–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2019.08.006

behavior in the long term and performance in the future lactating careers of these calves.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because the experiment was performed at Marcenat, INRAE experimental farm (Certificate of Authorization to Experiment on Living Animals No. D 15-114-01). No ethical approval was required because defined severity level was 0.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AN, MK, MC, MB, DP, and BM contributed to the conception and design of the study. AN, MK, MC, DP, and BM participated in the collection of behavioral observations data. AN and MK did the data curation and treatment. MK performed the statistical analysis. AN and MK wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MK and MC supervised the experiment and the writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, and all read and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This study was part of the EU-project ProYoungStock funded by CORE Organic Cofund funding bodies, which are partners of the Horizon 2020 ERA-Net project CORE Organic Cofund. This research was financed by the French government IDEX-ISITE initiative 16-IDEX-0001 (CAP 20-25). AN was supported by a doctoral fellowship from the Fondazione Cariparo at University of Padova (Italy).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the staff of the INRAE farm at Marcenat (UE Herbipôle) for animal care, Anna Mathieu for her active participation in the trial, Nadège Aigueperse for advice on experimental design, and Cyril Labonne, André Guittard and Vanessa Conte for their participation in the collection of behavioral observations data.

- Weary DM, Von Keyserlingk MAG. Public concerns about dairy-cow welfare: How should the industry respond? *Anim Prod Sci.* (2017) 57:1201–9. doi: 10.1071/AN16680
- Busch G, Weary DM, Spiller A, Von Keyserlingk MAG. American and German attitudes towards cowcalf separation on dairy farms. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:174013. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174013
- Schuppli CA, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Access to pasture for dairy cows: responses from an online engagement. J Anim Sci. (2014) 92:5185–92. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-7725

- Charlton GL, Rutter SM. The behaviour of housed dairy cattle with and without pasture access: a review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 192:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.05.015
- Hernandez-Mendo O, Von Keyserlingk MAG, Veira DM, Weary DM. Effects of pasture on lameness in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:1209–14. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71608-9
- Olmos G, Boyle L, Hanlon A, Patton J, Murphy JJ, Mee JF. Hoof disorders, locomotion ability and lying times of cubicle-housed compared to pasture-based dairy cows. *Livestock Sci.* (2009) 125:199–207. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.04.009
- 9. Ruhland K, Gränzer W, Groth W, Pirchner F. Blood levels of hormones and metabolites, erythrocytes and leukocytes and respiration and pulse rate of heifers after alpage. J Anim Breed Genet. (1999) 116:415–23. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0388.1999.00203.x
- Hanson JC, Johnson DM, Lichtenberg E, Minegishi K. Competitiveness of management-intensive grazing dairies in the mid-Atlantic region from 1995 to 2009. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:1894–904. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-5234
- White SL, Benson GA, Washburn SP, Green JT. Milk production and economic measures in confinement or pasture systems using seasonally calved Holstein and Jersey cows. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:95–104. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74057-5
- Costa JHC, Costa WG, Weary DM, Machado Filho LCP, von Keyserlingk MAG. Dairy heifers benefit from the presence of an experienced companion when learning how to graze. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:562–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9387
- Le Cozler Y, Recoursé O, Ganche E, Giraud D, Danel J, Bertin M, et al. A survey on dairy heifer farm management practices in a Western-European plainland, the French Pays de la Loire region. *J Agricult Sci.* (2012) 150:518–33. doi: 10.1017/S0021859612000032
- Ramsbottom G, Horan B, Berry DP, Roche JR. Factors associated with the financial performance of spring-calving, pasture-based dairy farms. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:3526–40. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8516
- Michaud A, Cliozier A, Bec H, Chassaing C, Disenhaus C, Drulhe T, et al. Déléguer l'allaitement des veaux laitiers aux vaches? Résultats d'enquêtes auprès des éleveurs. *Renc Rech Ruminants*. (2018) 24:66–9.
- Flower FC, Weary DM. Effects of early separation on the dairy cow and calf:
   Separation at 1 day and 2 weeks after birth. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2001) 70:275–84. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)00164-7
- Krohn CC. Effects of different suckling systems on milk production, udder health, reproduction, calf growth and some behavioural aspects in high producing dairy cows - a review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2001) 72:271–80. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(01)00117-4
- Wagner K, Seitner D, Barth K, Palme R, Futschik A, Waiblinger S. Effects of mother versus artificial rearing during the first 12 weeks of life on challenge responses of dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2015) 164:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2014.12.010
- Hessle AK. Effects of social learning on foraging behaviour and live weight gain in first-season grazing calves. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 116:150–5. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.08.004
- Pullin AN, Pairis-Garcia MD, Campbell BJ, Campler MR, Proudfoot KL, Fluharty FL. The effect of social dynamics and environment at time of early weaning on short- and long-term lamb behavior in a pasture and feedlot setting. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 197:32–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.09.003
- Thorhallsdottir AG, Provenza FD, Balph DF. Ability of lambs to learn about novel foods while observing or participating with social models. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1990) 25:25–33. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(90)90066-M
- Launchbaugh KL, Provenza FD, Werkmeister MJ. Overcoming food neophobia in domestic ruminants through addition of a familiar flavor and repeated exposure to novel foods. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1997) 54:327–34. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01194-X
- Costa JHC, Daros RR, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Complex social housing reduces food neophobia in dairy calves. J Dairy Sci. (2014) 97:7804– 10. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8392
- Lopes F, Coblentz W, Hoffman PC, Combs DK. Assessment of heifer grazing experience on short-term adaptation to pasture and performance as lactating cows. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:3138–52. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6125

- Daget P, Poissonet J. Une méthode d'analyse phytologique des prairies. Ann Agronom. (1971) 22:5-41.
- 26. Coppa M, Farruggia A, Ravaglia P, Pomiès D, Borreani G, Le Morvan A, et al. Frequent moving of grazing dairy cows to new paddocks increases the variability of milk fatty acid composition. *Animal.* (2015) 9:604–13. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114003000
- Mitlöhner FM, Morrow-Tesch JL, Wilson SC, Dailey JW, McGlone JJ. Behavioral sampling techniques for feedlot cattle. *J Anim Sci.* (2001) 79:1189– 93. doi: 10.2527/2001.7951189x
- Palacio S, Bergeron R, Lachance S, Vasseur E. The effects of providing portable shade at pasture on dairy cow behavior and physiology. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:6085–93. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8932
- Farruggia A, Dumont B, D'Hour P, Egal D. How does protein supplementation affect the selectivity and performance of Charolais cows on extensively grazed pastures in late autumn? *Grass For Sci.* (2008) 63:314–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2008.00644.x
- Manzocchi E, Koczura M, Coppa M, Turille G, Kreuzer M, Berard J. Grazing on upland pastures part-time instead of full-time affects the feeding behavior of dairy cows and has consequences on milk fatty acid profiles. *Animalsl.* (2019) 9:908; doi: 10.3390/ani9110908
- Koczura M, Martin B, Bouchon M, Turille G, Berard J, Farruggia A, et al. Grazing behaviour of dairy cows on biodiverse mountain pastures is more influenced by slope than cow breed. *Animal.* (2019) 13:2594–602. doi: 10.1017/S175173111900079X
- Dumont B, Rook AJ, Coran C, Röver KU. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on biodiversity and production in grazing systems. 2. Diet selection. Grass For Sci. (2007) 62:159–171. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2007.00572.x
- 33. Arrazola A, Dicker K, Vasseur E, Bergeron R. The effect of early housing and companion experience on the grazing and ruminating behaviour of naïve heifers on pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2020) 226:104993. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2020.104993
- 34. Shingu Y, Ueda K, Tada S, Mitani T, Kondo S. Effects of the presence of grazing-experienced heifers on the development of foraging behavior at the feeding station scale for first-grazing season calves. *Anim Sci J.* (2017) 88:1120–127. doi: 10.1111/asj.12735
- 35. Coppa M, Farruggia A, Pradel P, Lombardi G, Martin B. An improved grazed class method to estimate species selection and dry matter intake by cows at pasture. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2011) 10:e13. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2011.e13
- James LF. Oxalate poisoning in livestock. In: Keeler RF, Van Kampen KR, James LF, editors. *Effects of Poisonous Plants on Livestock*. Amsterdam: Publusher Academic Press (1978). doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-403250-7.50020-0
- Wilcox CS, Schutz MM, Rostagno MR, Lay DC, Eicher SD. Repeated mixing and isolation: measuring chronic, intermittent stress in Holstein calves. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:7223–33. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6944
- Valníčková B, Stěhulová I, Šárová R, Špinka M. The effect of age at separation from the dam and presence of social companions on play behavior and weight gain in dairy calves. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:5545–56. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-9109
- Le Neindre P, Sourd C. Influence of rearing conditions on subsequent social behaviour of Friesian and Salers heifers from birth to six months of age. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1984) 12:43–52. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(84) 90095-9
- Pinheiro Machado TM, Machado Filho LCP, Daros RR, Pinheiro Machado GTB, Hötzel MJ. Licking and agonistic interactions in grazing dairy cows as indicators of preferential companies. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2020) 227:104994. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2020.104994

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Nicolao, Coppa, Bouchon, Sturaro, Pomiès, Martin and Koczura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# How Long Before a Second Defoliation of Actively Growing Grass Plants in the Desert Grassland?

Sarah Noelle<sup>1\*</sup>, Timothy Lyons<sup>2</sup>, Alessandra Gorlier<sup>1</sup>, Mitchel P. McClaran<sup>1</sup>, Mary Nichols<sup>3</sup> and George Ruyle<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Natural Resources and the Environment, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, <sup>2</sup> Bureau of Land Management, Department of the Interior, Washington, DC, United States, <sup>3</sup> Agricultural Research Service, Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC, United States

In the Desert Grassland, second and subsequent defoliations on perennial grasses during the active growing season can have substantial impacts on grass recovery and reproduction following herbivory. Land managers implement tactics to avoid multiple defoliations on plants by way of rotational grazing, reduced stocking rates, and/or reduced time spent within a given pasture. We explored frequency and rate of defoliation by cattle on perennial bunchgrasses within an 11-day grazing period in three pastures including distance to water (300 and 600 m) and plant height to determine their influence on animal diet selection. Results indicate that 32% of all marked plants were defoliated by cattle and only 5% of defoliated plants were defoliated a second time by day 10 of the grazing period. Defoliation patterns in the studied pastures did not differ between two distances from water, or in relation to plant height. However, at the second defoliation cattle grazed plants that were shorter than at the first defoliation suggesting a selection for high quality re-growth over larger forage on offer. The results of this study show that a 10-day grazing period during the growing season of the Desert Grassland is an effective strategy to avoid second defoliations on individual perennial grass plants while maintaining sufficient forage for use during the dormant winter grazing season.

Keywords: stocking rate, adaptive management, regrowth rate, distance to water, grazing (rangelands)

### INTRODUCTION

Avoiding a second defoliation on individual perennial grasses by livestock during the short 6-8-week growing season of the Desert Grassland has substantial benefits for sustaining and maintaining the condition of the available forage resource for future use (1-3). However, this type of management places limits on livestock production by forgoing the opportunity to graze high-quality summer biomass and particularly the high-quality regrowth of defoliated plants (4, 5). Understanding the rate at which grass plants receive second defoliations provides a basis for optimizing these tradeoffs for land managers (4, 6).

Second defoliations on a grass plant typically occur within 6–14 days of the grazing period, and before all plants within a pasture have been defoliated for the first time (5, 7-10). Livestock preference for re-growth has been related to the increased nutritional value of new regrowth and the removal of the less favored standing-dead biomass from previous growing seasons during the first defoliation (7, 11-14). The time between first and second defoliations is a function of the rate

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France

#### Reviewed by:

Mauro Bassignana, Institut Agricole Régional, Italy Manuel K. Schneider, Agroscope, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Sarah Noelle smnoelle@arizona.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 31 August 2020 Accepted: 09 November 2020 Published: 10 December 2020

#### Citation:

Noelle S, Lyons T, Gorlier A, McClaran MP, Nichols M and Ruyle G (2020) How Long Before a Second Defoliation of Actively Growing Grass Plants in the Desert Grassland? Front. Vet. Sci. 7:600734. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.600734

82

and amount of regrowth, and optimal grazing theory suggests that regrowth should approach a size equivalent to a full bite by the grazer (5). Moreover, a better understanding of the likelihood of repeated defoliation occurrence after cattle enter a pasture is needed since adaptive grazing management (15) aims to prevent multiple defoliations on perennial grasses by way of limiting grazing periods during the active growing season.

By applying these tenets to grazing management, questions are raised about how practical issues such as stocking rate and distance to water might influence the rate of first and second defoliations. These are relevant concerns in the Desert Grassland where typical pasture sizes commonly exceed 500–1,000 ha, and distance to water commonly exceeds 2 km.

Increased defoliation near water is typical because actual stocking rate (animals  $ha^{-1}$  unit time<sup>-1</sup>) increases as animals concentrate time spent in the center of the piosphere (16–22). However, there is some evidence that rates of first and second defoliations are not affected at modest (400 m) distances to water if livestock spend <12 days in a pasture (12). And even at low stocking rates, the interval between initial defoliations and successive defoliations have occurred anywhere from 6 to 10 days after the first defoliation (5, 7, 10).

To explore these relationships in the Desert Grassland, we monitored rates of first and second defoliations on perennial grasses as livestock moved into and stayed 11 days in three pastures during the summer growing season. Our monitoring of plant height provided opportunities to evaluate if first defoliations occurred on larger plants, and if plants that were defoliated a second time were smaller than when they were initially defoliated. Four livestock waters across the three pastures provided the opportunity to evaluate whether these patterns differed with distance to water. The primary objectives of this study were to (1) quantify the frequency of initial and repeat defoliation events on perennial grass plants, (2) determine the days to second defoliation after cattle enter the pasture, (3) examine if the height of plants at the second defoliation is equal to height at first defoliation, and (4) determine if distance from water affects the frequency and rate of first and second defoliations by cattle. The results of this study will provide land managers recommendations for timing of moving livestock between pastures in arid and semi-arid grazinglands to reduce the frequency of repeated grazing.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Area**

This study was conducted in summer 2013 on the 21,500 ha Santa Rita Experimental Range (SRER) located at the northwestern base of the Santa Rita Mountains,  $\sim$ 50 km south of Tucson, Arizona, USA (31°50′31"N, 110°51′36"W). The SRER was established in 1902 and is among the oldest continuously operating rangeland research facilities in the world. Much of the long-term historical, ecological, and biological databases are available in digital form (23) on the SRER website (https://cals. arizona.edu/srer/).

The SRER ranges from 900 to 1,400 m in elevation and consists of gently sloping alluvial fans and some steep stony

foothills and isolated buttes (24). Average annual temperature is  $16^{\circ}$ C with several nights of freezing temperatures in the winter and temperatures regularly exceeding  $35^{\circ}$ C in the summer. Rainfall is bimodal in distribution between winter (November-March) and summer (July-September) seasons, with average annual precipitation increasing with the elevation gradient from 275 to 450 mm (25).

Vegetation is characterized by desert grasslands dominated by short trees, primarily *Prosopis velutina* Wooton, shrubs, cacti, and other succulents, perennial grasses, and other herbaceous species. Perennial grass species include native species *Digitaria californica* (Benth.) Henr., *Muhlenbergia porteri* Scribn. ex Beal, *Aristida* spp. and *Bouteloua* spp. species, *Heteropogon contortus* (L.) Beauv. ex Roemer & J.A. Schultes, and *Setaria macrostachya* Kunth and non-native *Eragrostis lehmanniana* Nees (26).

The SRER has been continuously grazed by cattle since 1916 but until more recently, updates have been made to the livestock grazing management system to incorporate aspects of adaptive grazing principles by introducing a rotational grazing schema across the range. Currently, two herds of ~500 and 80 animals, respectively, move through the SRER's 38 pastures throughout the year. Livestock grazing management follows adaptive grazing principles to establish expected dormant season grazing capacity based on summer forage production, and summer grazing periods, 10-days in duration, based on avoiding the re-grazing of plants in the summer growing season (see Current Livestock Management Plan and Updates at https://cals.arizona.edu/srer/ and Comparison of Planned Livestock Use and Actual Use Since 2006 at https://cals.arizona.edu/srer/data.html).

#### **Experimental Design**

During the 2013 short summer growing season (July to early September), a total of 800 marked perennial bunchgrass plants were randomly selected within three pastures of the SRER to quantify the timing and count of defoliation events during grazing (Table 1). At four livestock water sources across three pastures (one pasture with two waters), twenty  $5 \times 10 \text{ m plots}$ were established; 10 plots at 300 m and 10 plots at 600 m from each water source. These distances from water were selected to avoid the expected greater use closer to water and to better represent use across the large pastures (800-1,900 ha). Water sources were set as replicates in the study and distance to water was included as an explanatory factor in the experimental design to assess its relationship with defoliation timing and frequency. Within each plot, 10 grass plants were randomly selected, for a total of 200 plants per water source. The five most common grass species in this 800-plant population were M. porteri, D. californica, E. lehmanniana, S. macrostachya, and Aristida spp. To facilitate relocation, each macroplot was georeferenced and the individual plants were marked with a 40-penny framing nail driven into the soil and with a small amount of pink flagging attached to the nail head. Previous studies on defoliation patterns indicated that this method of plant marking does not affect animal selectivity during grazing (9, 12, 27).

To quantify the defoliation events during grazing, the height of all selected plants was measured at days 0, 1, 5, 10, and 11 of the days that livestock were in each pasture. Plant height

Pastures and grazing periods				Herd size	Cumulative stocking rate of animal grazing days per hectare during grazing experiment (ADH)					
Pasture name	Size (ha)	Grazing period	Grazing days	Water sources	Animal Units (AU)	Day 1	Day 5	Day 10	Day 11	Day 15
5S	1,902	06 July-16 July	11	2	494	0.26	1.30	2.60	2.86	_
5M	1,395	17 July–31 July	15	1	407	0.29	1.46	2.91	3.21	4.38
5N	819	28 July-11 August	15	1	432	0.53	2.64	5.27	5.80	7.91

TABLE 1 | Characteristics and management of the three pastures studied on the Santa Rita Experimental Range in summer 2013.

was measured from the ground to the blade height of the tallest leaf (8, 9, 28). Reduced height between periods and the presence of tiller or leaf utilizations were used to indicate defoliation and categorize plants as undefoliated, defoliated, or re-defoliated. The timeframe and the frequency of observations were set based on studies suggesting that at low stocking rates the interval between initial defoliations and successive defoliations on individual plants is between 10 and 12 days, with the majority of second defoliations occurring from 6 to 10 days after their first defoliation (5, 7, 10). We quantified defoliation at 15 days of grazing for only two water sources (5M and 5N) because logistical issues prevented measurements at the other water sources. Because the sample size was only two waters, we limited our data presentation to simple mean and standard error of percent of plants defoliated once and twice over the 15 days.

We report grazing intensity during the short grazing periods (11–15 days) as both herd size during the start and end of the grazing period in each pasture, as well as the cumulative number of animal grazing days per hectare (ADH, **Table 1**). Cumulative ADH shows how grazing intensity increases for each day the herd continues to graze in a pasture, suggesting that the chances of defoliation on any plant increases through the duration of the grazing period.

Precipitation in July and August 2013 were drier than the long-term (1971–2019) average across the three pastures. The averages for July, August, and Jul-Aug for the combined values for the three closest (within or <200 m from the pastures) long-term rain gauges (gauges NW, DESST, and PAST3; see Precipitation at https://cals.arizona.edu/srer/data.html) were 69, 56, and 125 mm. Values recorded in July, August, and Jul-Aug 2013 and percent of long-term average were 39 mm (57%), 43 mm (76%), and 82 mm (65%), respectively. On 05 July 2013, there was a 30 mm rainfall event to start the summer growing season (see gauges 3 and 4 at https://www.tucson.ars.ag.gov/dap/DataCatalogueOld.htm).

#### **Data Treatment**

The following data were summarized for each plant measured during the study: (i) height of the plants at days 0, 1, 5, 10, and 11, (ii) status of defoliation occurrence (defoliated vs. undefoliated); (iii) grazing day of each defoliation event (1, 5, 10, or 11); (iv) number of defoliations, (v) number of days between defoliations (1, 4, 5, 6, 9, or 10); and (vi) distance from water source (300 vs. 600 m).

For each grazing day (1, 5, 10, and 11), we calculated the percentage of plants undefoliated, defoliated once, and defoliated more than one time among total number of marked plants, as well as the percentage of plants grazed for the first or the second time among total number of defoliated plants. Using water sources as replicates, data from all plots at the same distance (300 or 600 m) from the same water source in each pasture were pooled together and count data were transformed to percentages for each replicate.

To assess the frequency of repeat defoliation events, we selected all plants defoliated two times and calculated the difference in days between the first and the second defoliation. For each resulting interval (i.e., 1, 4, 5, 6, 9, or 10 days), we calculated the relative frequencies of repeat defoliation given the number of plants available for second defoliation within that interval (i.e., plants already defoliated once).

#### Statistical Analysis

The percentages of plants defoliated for the first or the second time at each grazing day were analyzed using Linear Mixed-Effects Models (LMMs) with a temporal correlation structure to account for the days of grazing as a time variable (29, 30). We focused separately on the occurrence of first and second defoliation events (i.e., response variables) to assess their variations over time and space. In both models, grazing days and distance to water were considered as explanatory variables, and the experimental units [4 replicates of water source, which avoids pseudo-replication, (31)] were set as random factors. The interaction between water distance and grazing days was also included in the models. Parameter estimation was based on the Maximum Likelihood (ML).

Before analysis, model assumptions were tested as suggested by Zuur et al. (30) on raw and transformed data. Logarithmic, square root, logit, and arcsine-square root transformations were tested. Although the model results did not differ, the logit transformation  $\log\{[(\text{percentages}/100) + 0.01]/[(1 - (\text{percentages}/100)) + 0.01]\}$  (32) was selected for both first and second defoliation data as it better satisfied modeling assumptions and models showed the lowest Akaike Information Criterion [AIC; (33)] values. Finally, pairwise comparisons across factor groups were conducted applying the Bonferroni adjustment.

To assess the influence of plant height on the selection for defoliation, we first compared the height of the plants at the first defoliation with the height of the ungrazed plants. The analysis

TABLE 2   Results of the Linear Mixed-Effects Models (LMMs) showing the effects
of distance from water sources, days of grazing, and their interactions on the
occurrence of first and second defoliation events during grazing in three pastures.

Factors		First	t defoliat	tion	Second defoliation					
	(AIC = 74.607)					(AIC = 61.532)				
	df1	df2	F ratio	<i>p</i> -value	df1	df2	F ratio	p-value		
Distance from water	1	6	0.163	0.700	1	6	0.064	0.809		
Days of grazing	3	18	40.018	< 0.001	2	12	10.672	0.002		
Distance from water x Days of grazing	3	18	0.434	0.731	2	12	0.068	0.935		

AIC, Akaike Information Criterion.

used a Two-Way ANOVA including defoliation (defoliated vs. undefoliated) and distance to water as fixed factors. A second analysis compared the heights of the same plants at the first and the second defoliation using a Mixed-Design Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA (Split-Plot ANOVA). Distance from water was included in the analysis and set as a between-subjects factor, while the count of defoliation events (first vs. second defoliation) and the interaction between time and water distance were set as within-subjects factors. Plants at the same distance from the same water sources were the subjects for the repeated statement. Because data were normally distributed and variances among groups were homogeneous (as tested with Shapiro-Wilk's and Levene tests, respectively), both Two-Way ANOVA and Split-Plot ANOVA were conducted on the raw data.

All statistical analyses were carried out on R statistical software 4.0.2 (34). The LMMs were conducted with the "lme" function (package: nlme) (35), while the Two-Way ANOVA and the Split-Plot Anova with the "aov" function (package: stats) (36).

#### RESULTS

Through 11 days of grazing, cattle defoliated 32% of the marked plants (255/800). Approximately 26% of plants were defoliated once (209/800), 43 plants (5%) were defoliated twice, and 3 plants were defoliated three times. Very few plants were first defoliated on day 1 (n = 10 of possible 800), but more than half of those (n = 7) were defoliated a second time by day 11. Many plants received the first defoliation from day 2 to 5 (n = 100), but only 36 (36%) of those were defoliated a second time by day 11. After 5 days of grazing, 13% of plants were defoliated one time and <1% of plants two times. After 10 days of grazing, 25% of plants were defoliated one time and 5% two times. Three defoliations on the same plant were observed only on day 11.

The percentage of plants defoliated for the first or the second time changed over the 11 days but was not related to distance from water source (**Table 2**). Specifically, the percentage of plants defoliated for the first time increased significantly (p < 0.001) between days 1, 5, and 10, while no changes were observed on day 11 (**Figure 1A**). Similar trends were observed of increasing frequencies of second defoliation events over time, but no



**FIGURE 1** | Average percentages of plants defoliated for the first (**A**) and the second (**B**) time at grazing days 1, 5, 10, and 11, respectively at 300 and 600 m from water sources. Error bars represent Standard Error of the Means. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences among days of grazing (**A**: p < 0.001; **B**: p < 0.01).

relationship with distance from water source (**Table 2**). No plants were defoliated a second time on day 1, but the percentages of second defoliations varied significantly (p < 0.01) from day 5 to day 10 (**Figure 1B**).

For the two waters where defoliation was measured after 15 days of grazing, there was a trend of increased percent of plants grazed for the first and second time between day 11 and 15 at both distances from water (**Table 3**). Large variation in defoliation rates between the two water sources created high standard error values, but the trends suggest that the rate of second defoliations could exceed 15% of plants at 300 m from water.

The average height of the plants ( $\pm$  Standard Error of the Means) at the beginning of the grazing period (day 0) was 6.86 cm ( $\pm$  0.16) in pasture 5S, 17.42 ( $\pm$  0.54) in pasture 5M, and 15.01 ( $\pm$  0.46) in pasture 5N, respectively. The height of the plants defoliated for the first time at all days did not differ from the height of the ungrazed plants on those days (**Table 4**). However, the height of plants defoliated a second time was shorter than those same plants at time of first defoliation, and that difference was not related to distance from water source (**Table 5**). The Split-Plot ANOVA on plant heights confirmed that distance from water did not affect the timing of second defoliation events.

TABLE 3 | Average percentage of plants defoliated for the first and second time through 15 days of grazing at two distances from two water sources (5M and 5N).

Distance from water			First defoliation	n (%)	Second defoliation (%)				
			Days of grazi	Days of grazing					
	1	5	10	11	15	5	10	11	15
300	1.0 (0)	22.0 (9.0)	48.5 (24.5)	49.0 (25.0)	57.5 (30.5)	1.0 (0)	11.5 (6.5)	12.5 (7.5)	15.0 (9.0)
600	1.0 (0)	8.0 (1.0)	19.5 (7.5)	23.0 (7.0)	37.0 (18.0)	1.0 (0)	3.0 (1.0)	4.5 (1.5)	8.0 (4.0)

Standard Error of the Means reported in parentheses.

**TABLE 4** | Average height of the plants undefoliated and defoliated for the first time per grazing day.

Days of grazing	Plant height (cm)					
	Undefoliated	First defoliation				
1	11.5 (1.8)	11.6 (4.8)				
5	11.6 (1.5)	13.4 (1.2)				
10	12.7 (1.5)	12.8 (1.6)				
11	13.3 (1.4)	12.3 (1.3)				

Standard Error of the Means reported in parentheses.

**TABLE 5** | Results of the Split-Plot ANOVA comparing the heights of the same plants at the first and the second defoliation and at 300 and 600 m from water (Average Heights with Standard Error of the Means reported in parentheses).

Factors		Plant height (cm)
Defoliation	p-value	0.037
	First defoliation	14.3 (1.6)
	Second defoliation	11.9 (1.0)
Distance from water	<i>p</i> -value	0.386
	300 m	11.9 (1.1)
	600 m	14.3 (1.5)
Distance from water x Defoliation	<i>p</i> -value	0.558

Nevertheless, plant heights at the first and second defoliations differed significantly (p < 0.05) (**Figure 2**).

#### DISCUSSION

Without a doubt, avoiding a second defoliation during the short summer growing season will result in lost opportunities for livestock to graze the highest quality forage during the growing season. Our study indicates that by the 11<sup>th</sup> day of grazing, ~5% of all plants had been defoliated twice, while only 30% of plants had been defoliated at least once. As a result, the cessation of grazing on day 11 will leave the majority of available perennial grass plants undefoliated and, unsurprisingly, these findings are very similar to previous work (7–9, 11, 37). A benefit of foregoing more use of summer growing season biomass is that the remaining biomass is then available for grazing as dormant winter season forage, during which plants are less susceptible to



**FIGURE 2** Average heights of the same plants at the time of the first and second defoliation, respectively, at 300 and 600 m from water sources. Error bars represent Standard Error of the Means. Lowercase letters indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences among defoliation time.

declines in vigor. However, the available mass in the dormant winter season is of lower forage quality than during the summer growing season (3, 5).

As we expected, at the four water sources, there was a substantial increase in the rate of second defoliations around day 10 of grazing with 5% of plants receiving a second defoliation by day 10 and did not decrease on day 11 (8, 9). Our observations at all four water sources during this study stopped at day 11 in order to more effectively evaluate the effects of water on second defoliations during the 10-day grazing period on the SRER. However, observations through day 15 at only two of the water sources provide an opportunity for informed speculation that rates of second defoliations will increase to as much as 15% or as little as 8%, at 300 and 600 m distance from water, respectively. These results suggest that the minimum length of a grazing period to avoid second defoliations should not be shorter than 10 days, and second defoliation rates after 15 days could be about 1 in 8 plants (15%) at 300 m from water. Shorter grazing periods may result in implementation difficulties in large pastures, maintaining animal performance, especially if cows are supporting young calves. As for longer grazing periods up to 15 days, there is no strong evidence that the rate of second defoliations would increase greatly if implementation problems were to delay a planned move to new pastures for a few days after day 10 of grazing.

Unexpectedly, plant height was not different between defoliated and undefoliated plants, suggesting that the forage mass on offer was not critical in the selection of rapidly growing plants during the short grazing period (37). However, plants defoliated a second time were shorter (11 cm) than when first defoliated (14 cm), suggesting that 11 cm of re-growth forage provides enough incentive with higher forage quality for cattle to re-visit previously grazed plants. In addition, it is widely thought that residual stems in bunchgrasses discourage grazing and cause livestock to preferentially select for taller plants with less oldgrowth material and longer leaf lengths (7, 12-14). The relatively dry conditions in July-August 2013 may have slowed the rate of regrowth following the first defoliation, and therefore delayed the time to second defoliation. However, the large amount of precipitation (30 mm) on 05 July provided very wet conditions to start the summer growing season.

Although distance from water is known to affect cattle distribution and grazing intensity (17, 21, 38), in our study, plant defoliation rates after 11 days did not differ between the 300 and 600 m distances from water. Of course, we would expect defoliations rates to be greater at 100 m than 300 m from water, but we focused at 300 and 600 m because they account for a much greater proportion of the pasture area (1.5-3% for 300 m and 6-13% for 600 m), than the <1% of the pastures at 100 m distance. The absence of a detectable difference in defoliation rates between 300 and 600 m may be due to a combination of environmental and management factors including that adapted cattle have been observed to travel on average 1.6 km from a water source while foraging (5) and move further from water especially when forage is limited or unattractive (39). Additionally, stocking rates are known to affect animal movements and grazing intensity. According to Bailey and Brown (5), under low stocking rates, cattle can travel further from water sources, while at high stocking rates they defoliate more intensively closer to water. We indeed observed higher variability among second defoliation events at 300 m (6.75  $\pm$  4.52) than 600 m (4.75  $\pm$  0.75) distance from water that can be attributed to the different stocking rates among pastures. However, a non-significant trend of greater defoliation rates at 300 than 600 m (71 and 29%, respectively) in the smallest pasture (5N) with the highest stocking rate suggests that even in short grazing periods, greater defoliations could occur closer to water if stocking rates are high (5).

The findings of this study have implications for land management in arid systems when goals of both conservative grazing and animal performance are important. For example, since 2006 management on the SRER has applied a 10-day limit to grazing use to avoid second defoliations in the short summer growing season (see Current Livestock Management Plan and Updates at https://cals.arizona.edu/srer/ and Comparison of Planned Livestock Use and Actual Use Since 2006 at https://cals. arizona.edu/srer/data.html). This management is applied with the purpose of sustaining plant vigor and to provide enough carry-over biomass to support grazing in the winter dormant season. The 10-day grazing period starts after receiving 1.25 cm of precipitation in July and ends when no new growth or flowering occurs typically in mid-September. The 10-day limit is applied to all pastures, whether they are small <200 ha or large >2,000 ha.

In practice, adhering to the 10-day limit is challenging for a variety of reasons including fence or water failures and when young calves slow the cow movement to new pastures. These delays have resulted in 14 or more days of grazing use in the summer months. Based on evidence from only two water sources, the rate of second defoliations could increase to an average of 15% at 300 m from water after 15 grazing days.

Further, the provision of large amounts of undefoliated and only once-defoliated plants for dormant season grazing has benefited the management at the SRER. Amount of dormant season biomass is determined in September and October for all pastures, and stocking rates are set to limit biomass utilization to 40% (see data on Grass Utilization by Livestock Since 2010 at https://cals.arizona.edu/srer/data.html) before the herd moves to the next pasture. In the end, the SRER has an adaptive grazing management program that (1) uses rainfall patterns each year to set the start and end of the conservative summer grazing season, (2) largely avoids second defoliations of plants in the short summer growing season by limiting grazing to 10 days, and (3) establishes the number of allowed animal grazing days/ha (varies from 3 to 18) to maintain utilization <40% based on the amount of summer biomass produced in each pasture.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SN provided primary authorship and leadership of this manuscript. TL designed and implemented the field experiment. AG conducted all data analyses and assisted with preparing the written manuscript. MM and GR served as Primary investigators for this study with contributions including assistance with project design, funding, statistical analysis design, and manuscript preparation. MN assisted with experimental design and implementation and provided manuscript review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This research was funded by the Marley Endowment for Sustainable Rangeland Stewardship and the University of Arizona Experiment Station.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Andrew McGibbon and the Santa Rita Ranch for their cooperation and participation in this experiment. We acknowledge Elisabeth Freniere, Venessa Brewer, Donna Lyons, Ted Lyons, and Trevor Chilcote for their assistance in field data collection.

# REFERENCES

- Gammon DM. A review of experiments comparing systems of grazing management on natural pastures. Proc Ann Congres Grassland Soc Southern Afr. (1978) 13:75–82. doi: 10.1080/00725560.1978.9648838
- Laca EA. New approaches and tools for grazing management. Rangeland Ecol Manag. (2009) 62:407–17. doi: 10.2111/08-104.1
- Steffens T, Grissom G, Barnes M, Provenza F, Roath R. Adaptive grazing management for recovery: know why you're moving from paddock to paddock. *Rangelands*. (2013) 35:28–34. doi: 10.2111/RANGELANDS-D-13-00018.1
- Jensen HP, Gillen RL, McCollum FT. Effects of herbage allowance on defoliation patterns of tallgrass prairie. J Range Manag. (1990) 43:401–6. doi: 10.2307/3898999
- Bailey DW, Brown JR. Rotational grazing systems and livestock grazing behavior in shrub-dominated semi-arid and arid rangelands. *Rangeland Ecol Manag.* (2011) 64:1–9. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-09-00184.1
- Derner JD, Gillen RL, McCollum FT, Tate KW. Little bluestem tiller defoliation patterns under continuous and rotational grazing. *Rangeland Ecol Manage/J Range Manage Arch.* (1994) 47:220–5. doi: 10.2307/4003020
- Hodgson J, Ollerenshaw JH. The frequency and severity of defoliation of individual tillers in set-stocked swards. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1969) 24:226–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1969.tb01073.x
- Gammon DM, Roberts BR. Patterns of defoliation during continuous and rotational grazing of the Matopos Sandveld of Rhodesia. 3. frequency of defoliation. *Rhodesian J Agri Res.* (1978) 16:147–64.
- Briske DD, Stuth JW. Tiller defoliation in a moderate and heavy grazing regime. Rangeland Ecol Manag/J Range Manag Arch. (1982) 35:511–4. doi: 10.2307/3898619
- Reed F, Roath R, Bradford D. The grazing response index: A simple and effective method to evaluate grazing impacts. *Rangelands Arch.* (1999) 21:3–6.
- Hodgson J. The frequency of defoliation of individual tillers in a set-stocked sward. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1966) 21:258–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1966.tb00483.x
- Gammon DM, Roberts BR. Patterns of defoliation during continuous and rotational grazing of the Matopos Sandveld of Rhodesia. 1. selectivity of grazing. *Rhodesian J Agri Res.* (1978) 16:117–31.
- Ganskopp D, Angell R, Rose J. Response of cattle to cured reproductive stems in a caespitose grass. *Rangeland Ecol Manag/J Range Manag Arch.* (1992) 45:401–4. doi: 10.2307/4003091
- Ganskopp D, Angell R, Rose J. Effect of low densities of senescent stems in crested wheatgrass on plant selection and utilization by beef cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1993) 38:227–33. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(93)90021-G
- Ruyle GB. Rangeland livestock production: developing the concept of sustainability on the Santa Rita experimental range. In: McClaran MP, Ffolliott PF, Edminster CB, editors. *Tech. Coords. Santa Rita experimental range:* 100 Years (1903 to 2003) of Accomplishments and Contributions; Conference Proceedings; 2003 October 30-November 1. Tucson, AZ. Proc. RMRS-P-30. Ogden, UT: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. (2003). p. 34–47.
- Valentine KA. Distance from water as a factor in grazing capacity of rangeland. J Forestry. (1947) 45:749–54.
- 17. Andrew MH. Grazing impact in relation to livestock watering points. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (1988) 3:336–9. doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(88)90090-0
- Pinchak WE, Smith MA, Hart RH, Waggoner JW. Beef cattle distribution patterns on foothill range. *Rangeland Ecol Manag/J Range Manag Arch*. (1991) 44:267–75. doi: 10.2307/4002956
- Holechek J, Pieper R, Herbel C. Range Management: Principles and Practices. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall (2004).
- Bailey DW. Management strategies for optimal grazing distribution and use of arid rangelands. J Anim Sci. (2004) 82:E147–53. doi: 10.2527/2004.8213\_supplE147x
- Bailey DW, Gross JE, Laca EA, Rittenhouse LR, Coughenour MB, Swift DM, et al. Mechanisms that result in large herbivore grazing distribution patterns. *Rangel Ecol Manage/J Range Manag Arch.* (1996) 49:386–400. doi: 10.2307/4002919

- Bailey DW. Management strategies for optimal grazing distribution and use of arid rangelands. *J Appl Ecol.* (1994) 31:231–46.
   McGuene Minister and Appl Ecol. (1994) 31:231–46.
- McClaran MP, Angell DL, Wissler C. Santa Rita Experimental Range Digital Database: User's Guide (RMRS-GTR-100; p. RMRS-GTR-100). Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. (2002) doi: 10.2737/RMRS-GTR-100
- 24. Medina AL. *The Santa Rita Experimental Range: History and Annotated Bibliography (1903–1988)*. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-GTR-276. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station (1996). p. 67.
- 25. McClaran MP. A century of vegetation change on the Santa Rita Experimental Range. In: McClaran MP, Ffolliott PF, Edminster CB, editors. Santa Rita Experimental Range: 100 years (1903 to 2003) of Accomplishments and Contributions. Conference proceedings: 2003 October30–November 1; Tucson, AZ. Proceedings RMRS-P-30. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station (2003). p. 197.
- 26. McClaran MP, Browning DM, Huang C. Temporal dynamics and spatial variability in desert grassland vegetation. In Webb RH, Boyer DE, Turner RM, editors. *Repeat Photography: Methods and Application in Natural Sciences*. Washington, DC: Island Press (2010). p. 145–66.
- 27. Heitschmidt RK, Briske DD, Price DL. Pattern of interspecific tiller defoliation in a mixed-grass prairie grazed by cattle. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1990) 45:215–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1990.tb02201.x
- Gammon DM, Roberts BR. Patterns of defoliation during continuous and rotational grazing of the Matopos Sandveld of Rhodesia. 2. severity of defoliation. *Rhodesian J Agric Res.* (1978) 16:133–45.
- 29. Pinheiro JC, Bates DM. *Mixed-Effects Models in S and S-PLUS*. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag (2004).
- Zuur A, Ieno EN, Walker N, Saveliev AA, Smith GM. Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology With R. New York, NY: Springer Science & Business Media (2009). doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-87458-6
- Hurlbert SH. Pseudoreplication and the design of ecological field experiments. Ecol Monogr. (1984) 54:187–211. doi: 10.2307/1942661
- 32. Warton DI, Hui FC. The arcsine is asinine: the analysis of proportions in ecology. *Ecology*. (2011) 92:3–10. doi: 10.1890/10-0340.1
- Akaike H. A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Trans* Automat Contr. (1974) 19:716–23. doi: 10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705
- 34. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna (2020).
- Pinheiro JC, Bates DM, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. New York, NY: R package version 3.1–150 (2020).
- Chambers JM, Freeny AE, Heiberger RM. Chapter 5: Analysis of variance; designed experiments. In: Chambers JM, Hastie TJ editors. *Statistical Models in S.* Pacific Grove, CA: Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole (1992). p. 145–93.
- Gammon DM, Twiddy DR. Patterns of defoliation in four-and eightpaddock grazing systems. J Grassland Soc South Af. (1990) 7:29–35. doi: 10.1080/02566702.1990.9648201
- Pringle HJ, Landsberg J. Predicting the distribution of livestock grazing pressure in rangelands. *Austral Ecol.* (2004) 29:31–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-9993.2004.01363.x
- Pickup G. Modelling patterns of defoliation by grazing animals in rangelands. J Appl Ecol. (1994) 31:231–46. doi: 10.2307/ 2404539

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Noelle, Lyons, Gorlier, McClaran, Nichols and Ruyle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Little Difference in Milk Fatty Acid and Terpene Composition Among Three Contrasting Dairy Breeds When Grazing a Biodiverse Mountain Pasture

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tamara Alejandra Tadich, University of Chile, Chile

#### Reviewed by:

Einar Vargas-Bello-Pérez, University of Copenhagen, Denmark Juan Carlos Ku-Vera, Universidad Autónoma de Yucatán, Mexico Miguel Ruiz-Albarran, Universidad Autónoma de Tamaulipas, Mexico Oscar Balocchi, Austral University of Chile, Chile

#### \*Correspondence:

Madeline Koczura madeline.koczura@inrae.fr

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Madeline Koczura, Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR0874 Ecosystème Prairial, Clermont-Ferrand, France

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 September 2020 Accepted: 24 December 2020 Published: 22 January 2021

#### Citation:

Koczura M, Martin B, Musci M, Massimo MD, Bouchon M, Turille G, Kreuzer M, Berard J and Coppa M (2021) Little Difference in Milk Fatty Acid and Terpene Composition Among Three Contrasting Dairy Breeds When Grazing a Biodiverse Mountain Pasture. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:612504. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.612504 Madeline Koczura<sup>1,2\*†</sup>, Bruno Martin<sup>1</sup>, Marilena Musci<sup>3</sup>, Martina Di Massimo<sup>3</sup>, Matthieu Bouchon<sup>4</sup>, Germano Turille<sup>5</sup>, Michael Kreuzer<sup>2</sup>, Joel Berard<sup>6,7</sup> and Mauro Coppa<sup>8</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR1213 Herbivores, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France,
 <sup>2</sup> Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Universitaetstrasse, Zurich, Switzerland,
 <sup>3</sup> Department of Food and Drug, University of Parma, Parma, Italy, <sup>4</sup> Herbipôle, INRAE, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France,
 <sup>5</sup> Department of zootechnics, Institut Agricole Régional, Aosta, Italy, <sup>6</sup> Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich, AgroVet-Strickhof, Lindau, Switzerland, <sup>7</sup> Animal Production Systems and Animal Health, Agroscope, Zurich, Switzerland,
 <sup>8</sup> Independent Researcher at Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UMR1213 Herbivores, Saint-Genès-Champanelle, France

In the mountains, autochthonous and robust breeds are often used to valorize biodiverse grasslands. Along with their lower nutrient requirements, compared to specialized dairy breeds, they are expected to be better adapted to complex environments and valorize grasslands into dairy products of high quality. Therefore, the aim of the present study was to investigate the grazing selection of three contrasting dairy breeds on a biodiverse mountain pasture, and its consequences on milk fatty acid (FA) profile and prevalence of individual terpenes. A dual-purpose breed from the Italian Alps, the Valdostana Red Pied (Va), was compared to Montbéliardes (Mo), more specialized in milk production, and the highly specialized Holsteins (Ho). Diet selection was measured by scan-sampling, calculating selectivity indexes, and collecting simulated bites during two consecutive days in June (end of first grazing cycle) and July (second grazing cycle). Milk samples were collected at each milking during these experimental periods. Yield of milk and its fat and protein contents were measured. Milk FA and terpenes were analyzed by gas chromatographic methods. We tested the effects of breed, period and their interaction in a repeated mixed model, and calculated Pearson's correlations between behavioral data and milk FA as well as terpenes. The Va grazed less mature vegetation than Ho, but this difference was not sufficient to lead to a major breed effect on milk FA profile and prevalence of terpenes. However, the proportion of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (C18:3 n-3) was always higher in the milk fat of Va than Ho (Mo were intermediary), but this without any correlation to grazing selection. This could be a consequence from a different metabolism concerning ruminal biohydrogenation, but must be further investigated. Finally, we confirmed previous studies that highlighted a link between milk quality and cows' grazing behavior, but here without differences among breeds. All cows adapted their behavior to the herbage evolution during the season, leading to higher proportions of

89

unsaturated FA in July than June milks. Our study suggests that under mountain grazing conditions (biodiverse pasture and cows in late lactation), milk quality depends more on herbage composition than on cow breed.

Keywords: grazing behavior, simulated bites, late-lactating, Holstein, Montbéliarde, Valdostana Red Pied,  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (C18:3 n-3)

### INTRODUCTION

Politics and consumers are increasingly concerned about the impact of livestock systems on environment and animal welfare, which triggers intensive research activities. Livestock systems need to be multi-functional. This means that they have to perform well in ecology, animal welfare and economics while producing healthy and quality food. The valorization of biodiverse pastures by ruminants is one of the key tools toward establishing this kind of livestock systems, characterized by higher resilience and fewer inputs than common systems (1). In mountain grazing dairy systems, autochthonous or robust cow breeds are commonly used to valorize these grasslands (2). Robustness is defined as an ability to adapt and carry on casual activities while facing environmental constraints (3). In the mountains, robust breeds with lower nutrient requirements, compared to specialized breeds, are expected to develop a natural resilience to their local environment and might better adapt to utilize the local grass resource, typically characterized by low nutritional value, and to valorize these resources by generating high-quality dairy products.

The ability to efficiently exploit local natural grasslands depends on grazing behavior, which can in turn influence the quality and specificity of dairy products (4). Plant secondary compounds (PSC) play a specific role in this context, such as phenols and terpenes, which are present in greater quantity in upland biodiverse grasslands (5-7). Besides species diversity, also vegetation stage and environmental conditions are involved in influencing the synthesis of terpenoids by the plants. For instance, Fraisse et al. (8) identified 170 different compounds on the same pasture, of which only 30 were common to all vegetation species and growth stages. These PSC may be transferred to the milk (9). Accordingly, milk from pastures rich in dicotyledons contains a greater quantity and wider diversity of terpenes than milk from pastures consisting mainly of grass species (10-12). Some PSC are also active in inhibiting the final reduction step of the biohydrogenation of fatty acids (FA) in the rumen (13-15). Therefore, when cows are grazing on biodiverse mountain pastures, their milk is richer in monounsaturated FA (MUFA), polyunsaturated FA (PUFA) and, especially, in conjugated linoleic acids (CLA) and n-3 FA (16-18). Terpenes and FA in milk are of interest for the sensory properties of milk and other quality attributes of the processed cheese (19).

Dairy cattle grazing on biodiverse pastures express preference or aversion for some specific plants that can vary according to their nutrient requirements and experience. Therefore, the actual diet ingested by the animals might differ from the average

vegetation available on the pasture (20, 21), and this according to individual or breed-specific behavior (22, 23). Consequently, FA and terpene composition of the milk might vary among animals grazing the same biodiverse grassland. We reported a first part of the present study in Koczura et al. (24), showing that specialized dairy breeds with high nutrient requirements like Holstein cows (Ho) selected more grasses than dual-purpose breeds like Valdostana Red Pied cows (Va), an autochthonous Italian alpine breed with low requirements, when grazing on heterogenous and biodiverse pastures. The Va were generally less selective toward forbs and mature vegetation. Hence, the aim of the present study was to (i) deepen the analysis of grazing behavior of the three contrasting breeds by quantifying their diet selection on the biodiverse pasture and (ii) further investigate the consequences of this behavior on FA profile and prevalence of terpenes in the milk. We hypothesized that, as a result of our behavioral observations (24), the ingested diet of autochthonous Va cows would be more diverse than that of highly specialized breeds like Ho. Diet of Montbéliarde cows (Mo), which are less specialized for high milk production than Ho and supposedly better adapted to grazing on upland pastures, would be intermediate. We expected that the milk of the individual cows and breeds selecting less grasses and more forbs would have a higher prevalence of MUFA, PUFA, n-3 FA and terpenes.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Animals and Experimental Pasture**

The present experiment was carried out in 2017 at Marcenat, INRAE's experimental farm. Other aspects and details of the experiment were described in Koczura et al. (24), in which data obtained in the beginning of June 2017 had also been included. Twelve late-lactating dairy cows (four Ho, four Mo, and four Va) grazing on a biodiverse pasture since the beginning of June were monitored during two consecutive days in the end of June (end of first grazing cycle) and then in July (beginning of the second grazing cycle). Briefly, cows grazed (extensive continuous grazing conditions) a natural and highly biodiverse pasture (65 species; 48% of grasses, 13% of legumes, and 39% of forbs on ground cover), dominated by Festuca gr. rubra (18%), and Agrostis capillaris (15%). Before the start of the experiment, the botanical composition (% of ground cover) was determined using the vertical point-quadrat method (25) (Table 1). The characteristics of the herbage on the experimental plots is described in Table 2. Cows did not receive any supplementation with concentrate, and had free access to water and mineral supplements. The individual cow's potential intake capacity, calculated according to INRA (26), was used as an estimation of herbage intake.

**TABLE 1** | Botanical composition of the experimental plot.

Species <sup>a</sup>	Specific contribution (% of ground cover)
Festuca gr. rubra	18.4
Agrostis capillaris	15.3
Trifolium repens	7.4
Achillea gr. millefolium	5.3
Anthoxanthum odoratum	4.2
Thymus gr. serpyllum	3.4
Avenula pubescens	3.3
Trifolium pratense	2.7
Dactylis glomerata	2.5
Veronica arvensis	2.5
Plantago lanceolata	2.4
Luzula gr. campestris	1.9
Helianthemum nummularium	1.8
Lathyrus pratensis	1.8
Cynosurus cristatus	1.7
Galium verum	1.6
Carex sempervirens	1.6
Viola tricolor	1.5
Festuca gr. ovina	1.4
Stellaria graminea	1.3
Cerastium arvense	1.3
Ranunculus gr. montanus	1.3
Lotus corniculatus	1.2
Cerastium holosteoides	1.2
Daucus carota	1.2
Rumex acetosella	1.2
Chamaespartium sagittale	1.1
Potentilla erecta	1.1
Cirsium eriophorum	1.0

<sup>a</sup>Species with specific contribution <1%, in decreasing specific contribution order: Ajuga reptans, Meum athamanticum, Poa pratensis, Silene vulgaris, Hieracium gr. pilosella, Saxifraga granulate, Alchemilla gr. vulgaris, Stachys gr. officinalis, Hypericum hirsutum, Leucanthemum vulgare, Deschampsia flexuosa, Knautia arvensis, Crepis capillris, Dianthus deltoids, Ranunculus bulbosus, Tragopogon pratensis, Dianthus sylvestris, Gentiana lutea, Trisetum flavescens, Ranunculus repens, Rumex longifolius, Sanguisorba minor, Briza media, Poa chaixii, Centaurea gr. jacea, Pimpinella major, Veronica chamaedrys, Poa trivialis, Vicia cracca, Galium album, Spergula arvensis, Cytisus scoparius, Conopodium majus, Bromus erectus.

# Grazing Behavior: Selectivity Index and Composition of Simulated Bites

During the two-day experimental periods, behavioral observations were performed each day by scan-sampling of the cows' bites at 5-min intervals. From these data, Jacob's index of selectivity (IS) was calculated as described in detail by Koczura et al. (24). These indices range from -1 (aversion) to +1 (preference). Additionally, on the same observation days, simulated bites were collected, according to the procedure described by Coppa et al. (27). Individual simulated bites were sampled several times for each cow during the days of observation, and immediately stored at 4°C. The different simulated bite samples were pooled to constitute one sample per period per cow, in order to be representative for the grazed

**TABLE 2** | Characterization of vegetation offered on the experimental plots.

Item	Per	iod	SEM
	June	July	
Proportion of vegetation type (%)			
Grasses	60.0	47.1	3.64
Legumes	5.6	6.8	1.22
Forbs	34.5	46.1	4.28
Short vegetation	42.0	54.1	4.05
Tall vegetation	45.9	26.2	3.56
Mature vegetation	12.1	19.7	2.50
Nutritional value (g/kg DM)			
Crude protein	8.3	9.1	0.24
Neutral detergent fiber	62.1	64.6	1.11
Acid detergent fiber	33.9	34.0	0.42
Digestibility of organic matter (g/kg)	45.6	42.3	0.94

herbage. From this herbage sample, two sub-samples were created: one of them was oven-dried at 60°C for 72 h and analyzed for crude protein (CP) (28), neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and acid detergent fiber (ADF) contents (29), as well as solubility in pepsin and cellulase (30) as an estimate of the organic matter digestibility (OMD). The second sub-sample was sorted into green and dry vegetation. Then, the green herbage was sorted into the three main botanical groups: grasses, legumes and forbs. All fractions were separately oven-dried (in the same conditions as these applied to the first sub-sample) and weighed. The proportion of each fraction to total dry matter (DM) was calculated and was referred to potential intake capacity to estimate the relative intake.

#### **Milk Sampling**

In each experimental period, the individual milk yield of the cows was monitored at each milking during the two consecutive observation days, and 100-mL milk samples were collected. A 30-mL sub-sample was preserved with bronopol-B2, stored at 4°C and analyzed for fat and protein contents by Fourier transformed infrared spectroscopy [MilkoScan 4000, Foss System, Hillerød, Denmark, (31)] following the International Dairy Federation (32). Another sub-sample was stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until further analyses.

#### Milk Fatty Acids Analysis

A 3-mL milk sample was stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C before lyophilization (Thermovac TM-20, Froilabo, Ozoir-La-Ferrière, France) for FA analysis, performed as described by Ferlay et al. (33). Lipids were directly methylated using 2 mL of 0.5 M Sodium methoxide plus 1 mL of hexane at 50°C for 5 min, followed by cooling with the addition of 75µl of 12M HCl at room temperature for 10 min. The FA methyl esters were recovered in 3 mL hexane and washed with 3 mL water. Samples were injected by auto-sampler into a TraceGC 2000 series gas chromatograph equipped with a flame ionization detector (Thermo Finnigan, Les Ulis, France). Methyl esters from all the samples were

separated on a 100 m 30.25 mm i.d. fused-silica capillary column (CP-Sil 88, Chrompack, Middelburg, The Netherlands). The injector temperature was maintained at 250°C and the detector temperature at 255°C. The initial oven temperature was held at 70°C for 1 min, increased by 5°C/min to 100°C (held for 2 min), and then increased by 10°C/min to 175°C (held for 40 min), and 5°C/min to a final temperature of 225°C (held for 15 min). The carrier gas was hydrogen. Identification of trans isomers of 18:1, non-conjugated 18:2, and CLA isomers was as described in Loor et al. (34). A reference standard butter (CRM 164, Commission of the European Communities, Community Bureau of Reference, Brussels, Belgium) was used to estimate correction factors for short-chain FA (C4:0 to C10:0). The *de novo* synthesized FA were defined as the sum of individual FA synthesized in the mammary gland.

#### **Milk Terpene Analysis**

A balanced sample of milk from the four 50-mL samples from morning and evening milking that had been stored in 200-mL glass bottles at  $-20^{\circ}$ C was thawed at ambient temperature for 6 h. The supernatant was then collected and centrifuged at 20,000 rpm and 25°C for 2 h. The anhydrous fat of these samples was collected and stored in 2 mL glass vials until further analysis for terpene composition. Then, headspacesolid phase microextraction (HS-SPME) was carried out using a 50/30 µm divinylbenzene-carboxen-polydimethylsiloxane (DVB/Carboxen/PDMS) fiber (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA). The extraction conditions were the following: equilibration temperature: 60°C for 15 min; extraction temperature: 60°C for 60 min. The fiber was exposed into a gas chromatograph-mass spectrometer (GC-MS) injector for 2 min at 230°C, to desorb the terpenes. Analyses were performed on a Thermo Scientific Trace 1,300 gas chromatograph coupled to a Thermo Scientific ISQ single quadrupole mass spectrometer (both Thermo Fisher, Waltham, Massachusetts), equipped with an electronic impact source. All samples were injected in splitless mode, maintaining the valve closed for 3 min. The carrier gas was helium, with a total flow of 1 mL/min. The separation was performed on a SUPELCOWAX 10 capillary column (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA,  $30 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm} \times 0.25 \mu \text{m}$ ), using the following temperature program: starting at 35°C for 8 min; increasing by 4°C/min up to 60°C; increasing by 20°C/min up to 200°C; maintaining this final temperature for 10 min. The transfer line temperature was 230°C. The signal acquisition mode was SIM (93, 121, 136 m/z for the first 20 min, from 20 to 20,49 min were 93, 105, 133, 164, 204 m/z; from 20,50 min to the end were 93, 121, 147, 204 m/z). Terpenes identification was performed by comparing their retention times with those of pure standard compounds injected under the same chromatographic conditions, and comparing ratios between selected ions intensity with those of pure compounds.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed with SAS software (version 8.6, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). A repeated mixed model was applied, in which breed (Ho, Mo, Va), period (June, July) and their interaction were included as fixed factors. The repeated

factor was the period, with the individual cow as subject. Results are presented as Least Square means and standard errors of the mean (SEM). In addition, Pearson's correlation coefficients between the variables describing grazing behavior and those of milk composition were calculated in order to be able to distinguish among individual cows.

# RESULTS

# Grazing Behavior: Selectivity Index and Composition of the Simulated Bites

Only a few differences were observed among breeds in terms of grazing behavior (Table 3). Based on the IS, both Ho and Mo avoided mature vegetation whereas Va were indifferent to it. In June, Ho tended to express a stronger aversion to legumes than the other breeds (IS Ho = -0.78, IS Mo = -0.38, and IS Va = -0.25, p = 0.054; data not shown in table). No changes in the botanical and nutritional composition of the simulated bites was observed, except for a tendency of Mo to select herbage with a higher ADF content in June (+23 and +22 compared to that selected by Ho and Va cows, respectively, p = 0.093; data not shown in table). These tendencies observed in June among breeds were not observed in July. The daily potential intake capacity of Va was 4.2 kg of DM lower than those of Ho and Mo, and, as a consequence, their daily estimated grasses intake was lower (3.6 kg of DM). No difference among breeds were observed for legumes and forbs intake. The intake of dry material was also estimated higher for Ho compared to Mo and Va (+2.0 kg of DM). Regardless of breed, grazing behavior of all cows changed between the two experimental periods. In July, the IS for forbs and mature vegetation decreased by 0.31 and 0.62, respectively, whereas it increased by 0.17 and 0.25 for legumes and short vegetative herbage. The proportion of the different vegetation types in the selected bites did not differ between June and July, except for a tendency for increased proportion of dry vegetation (+12.5%, p = 0.059). Overall, the selected bites had a higher crude protein content (+38 g/kg DM) and a lower ADF content (-24 g/kg DM) in July compared to June. The estimated OMD tended to be higher by 2.9 g/kg DM in July than in June (p = 0.086). The proportion of legumes in the selected bites was negatively correlated to ADF and NDF contents (-0.609\*\* and  $-0.612^{**}$ , respectively), and positively correlated to the crude protein content (0.673\*\*) and estimated OMD (0.591\*\*). The proportion of forbs in the simulated bites was negatively correlated to the NDF content  $(-0.462^*)$ . The proportion of dry material was negatively correlated to the ADF content  $(-0.432^*)$ .

# Milk Yield and Gross Composition, and Their Relation With Grazing Behavior

Milk yield and protein content did not significantly differ among breeds. In Mo, the milk fat content was higher than in Ho and Va, by 5.9 and 9.2 g/kg, respectively. The daily milk fat yield was similar between Ho and Mo and lower by 126 g/day in average for Va. There was a similar tendency for the daily protein yield (-89 g/day in average for Va compared to both other breeds, p = 0.077). In June, the SCC of Mo's milk was lower than that

TABLE 3 | Indices of selectivity, characterization of vegetation eaten (simulated bites) by the cows, and performance distinguished by breed and period.

Item		Breed			Period		Significance		
	Но	Мо	Va	June	July	SEM	Breed	Period	Breed × period
Jacob's index of selectivity ( $-1 \le IS \le 1$ )									
Grasses	0.45	0.41	0.29	0.41	0.36	0.030	ns	ns	ns
Legumes	-0.56	-0.36	-0.23	-0.47	-0.30	0.055	†	*	t
Forbs	-0.26	-0.27	0–.18	-0.08	-0.39	0.055	ns	*	ns
Short vegetation	0.39	0.47	0.28	0.26	0.51	0.046	ns	*	ns
Tall vegetation	-0.23	-0.28	-0.21	-0.27	-0.21	0.045	ns	ns	ns
Mature vegetation	-0.60 <sup>a</sup>	-0.69 <sup>a</sup>	-0.24 <sup>b</sup>	-0.20	-0.82	0.093	*	***	**
Proportion of vegetation type in the simulated bites (% of DM)									
Green vegetation									
Grasses	86.6	81.2	84.4	84.1	84.0	4.05	ns	ns	ns
Legumes	1.2	2.2	1.3	0.5	2.6	0.75	ns	*	ns
Forbs	12.2	16.7	14.3	15.3	13.4	3.7	ns	ns	ns
Dry material	22.5	20.0	21.5	15.1	27.6	2.62	ns	†	ns
Potential intake capacity and estimated intake of vegetation type (kg	of DM)								
Total potential intake capacity	22.7ª	22.1ª	18.2 <sup>b</sup>	20.9	21.1	0.65	**	ns	ns
Green vegetation									
Grasses	15.7ª	15.8ª	12.1 <sup>b</sup>	16.2	12.9	1.01	*	**	ns
Legumes	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.07	ns	ns	ns
Forbs	1.8	1.6	1.5	2.0	1.2	0.33	ns	*	ns
Dry material	4.3 <sup>a</sup>	2.4 <sup>b</sup>	2.1 <sup>b</sup>	2.6	3.3	0.39	**	ns	t
Nutritional value of the diet eaten by the cows (simulated bites; g/kg I	OM)								
Crude protein	110	102	111	87	125	5.2	ns	**	ns
Neutral detergent fiber	658	653	642	657	645	4.5	ns	ns	ns
Acid detergent fiber	331	339	329	345	321	4.1	ns	**	t
Digestibility of organic matter (g/kg)	461	456	475	449	478	8.4	ns	†	ns
Milk yield and composition									
Milk yield (kg/day)	12.1	11.4	9.2	12.2	9.6	0.61	ns	*	ns
Protein content (g/kg)	30.6	33.0	30.6	31.6	31.2	0.74	ns	ns	ns
Fat content (g/kg)	39.5 <sup>b</sup>	45.4ª	36.2 <sup>b</sup>	39.6	41.2	1.13	**	ns	ns
logSCC	2.4	3.2	2.2	2.2	2.4	0.07	ns	*	*
Protein yield (g/day)	363 <sup>a</sup>	372 <sup>a</sup>	278 <sup>b</sup>	377	298	17.3	†	**	ns
Fat yield (g/day)	471 <sup>a</sup>	510 <sup>a</sup>	334 <sup>b</sup>	484	393	25.4	*	*	ns

Significance levels: \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \* $p \le 0.05$ ,  $^{\dagger}p \le 0.10$ , ns p > 0.10. <sup>a,b</sup>Least square means with different superscript letters significantly differ at p < 0.05.

Ho, Holstein; Mo, Montbéliarde; SCC, somatic cell count; Va, Valdostana Red Pied.

of Ho and Va by 0.5 and 0.3 log units, respectively. Regardless of breed, the milk yield decreased by 2.6 kg from June to July. Concomitantly, the daily fat and protein yields decreased by 79 and 91 g/day, respectively. Milk yield and composition were not correlated to the proportions of the different botanical groups in the bites of the cows, but milk yield was positively correlated to the estimated grasses intake (0.594\*\*), as well as milk fat and protein yields (0.620\*\* and 0.575\*\*, respectively). However, both yields were also positively correlated to the total potential intake capacity (0.508\* and 0.575\*\*, respectively), as well as milk fat content (0.406\*). Concerning herbage composition, fat

and protein yield were positively correlated to the ADF content (0.466\* and 0.497\*, respectively). The SCC (log unit) of the milk was negatively correlated to the ADF and NDF contents of the herbage ( $-0.564^{**}$  and  $-0.457^*$ , respectively).

# Milk Fatty Acid Profile and Its Relation With Grazing Behavior

The milk fat of Va tended to have a higher content of C18:2 n-6 (+0.11 g/100 g of total FA, p = 0.070) and had a higher content of C18:3 n-3 (+0.12 g/100 g of total FA) than the milk fat of both other breeds (**Table 4**). Milk fat of Mo tended to have the lowest

content of total n-6 FA (-0.14 g/100 g of total FA in average, p = 0.097), and the n-6 to n-3 and C18:2n-6 to C18:3n-3 ratios were 10% higher in milk fat of Ho than that of the other breeds. In June, the milk fat of Ho tended to have a higher content of C16:0 (p = 0.071) than that of Mo (+0.30 g/100 g of total FA), and then Va (+1.5 g/100 g of total FA), but this was no longer the case in July (data not shown in table). Most of the changes in milk FA profile occurred between June and July. In June, the milk fat of all cows had a higher content of saturated FA (total SFA +2.9 g/100 g of total FA) than in July. More specifically, the content of C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C12:0, C14:0, C15:0, and C16:0 was higher. On the contrary, the content of mono-unsaturated FA was higher in milk fat in July (+2.4 g/100 g of total FA), in particular that of C18:1c9 (+1.97 g/100 g of total FA), as well as the sum of all C18:1 *cis* isomers (+2.1 g/100 g of total FA). The content of poly-unsaturated FA in milk fat was also higher in July (+0.41 g/100 g of total FA), in particular that of n-3 FA (+0.09 g/100 g of total FA). Accordingly, the ratio n-6 to n-3 decreased in July. There was a decrease in the proportion of evenchained FA in July (-2.94 g/kg), whilst that of the odd-chained FA increased (+0.26 g/kg). The C14:1c9 to C14:0 and C18:1c9 to C16:0 ratios increased by 0.02 and 0.17 from June to July, respectively. De novo synthesized FA decreased in July, by 1.79 g/kg. Overall, milk FA proportions had little correlation with the proportions of the botanical groups in the diet of the cows. The proportion of grasses in the simulated bites was correlated only to the proportion of one FA, C18:0 (0.444\*). The estimated grasses intake was also negatively correlated to C18:3n-3  $(-0.482^*)$ and n-3 FA  $(-0.412^*)$  concentration in milk. In the same way, legume proportion was only correlated to the proportion of C18:3 n-6 (0.408\*). Forb proportion was positively correlated to proportions of C12:0 and C14:0 (0.419\* and 0.423\*, respectively), and negatively correlated to proportions of C14:1t9 and C18:0  $(-0.444^*$  and  $-0.470^*$ , respectively). The proportion of dry material in the bites was positively correlated to proportions of C18:1c9 (0.487\*), MUFA (0.552\*\*), sum of C18:1 cis isomers (0.490\*), and to the C14:1c9 to C14:0 and C18:1c9 to C18:0 ratios  $(0.445^* \text{ and } 0.462^*, \text{ respectively})$ . It was negatively correlated to the proportions of C5:0 (-0.407\*), C6:0 (-0.458\*), total SFA  $(-0.558^{**})$  and *de novo* FA  $(-0.441^{*})$ . Two correlations were also found between milk FA profile and the nutritional value of the diet as calculated from the simulated bites: the crude protein content of the herbage was positively correlated to C18:3 n-6 proportion (0.531\*) and the NDF content was negatively correlated to C12:1c9 proportion  $(-0.461^*)$ .

# Prevalence of Milk Terpenes and Their Relation With Grazing Behavior

A total of 16 different terpenes were identified in the milk of the three breeds, whereof the 11 most frequently found terpenes are presented in **Table 5**. From these 16 terpenes,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -pinene, camphene,  $\gamma$ -terpinene,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -caryophyllene were found in all 24 samples. Sabinene was detected in 22 samples out of 24, limonene in 21,  $\beta$ -myrcene and terpinolene in 19, and  $\alpha$ -phellandrene in 16. The other compounds occasionally detected were  $\alpha$ -thujene,  $\delta$ 3-carene, ocimene and linalool. Regardless

of breed or period, the three most abundant terpenes found in milk were limonene,  $\beta$ -caryophyllene and  $\gamma$ -terpinene, with in average 24.6, 23.8, and 10.2 %, respectively. Milk terpenes did not vary among breeds, but a few differences occurred between the two experimental periods. This was Specifically an increase in camphene (+2.98 %) and  $\alpha$ -caryophyllene (+2.64 %) prevalence in July compared to June. Terpinolene and  $\beta$ caryophyllene tended to increase in July, too (+1.50 and +9.18%, p = 0.096 and 0.088, respectively), while  $\beta$ -myrcene tended to decrease (-1.53%, p = 0.068). The milk terpenes were not correlated to the proportions of different botanical groups in the bites of the cows, except for  $\alpha$ -caryophyllene that was negatively correlated with the estimated grasses intake (-0.475<sup>\*</sup>). It was also negatively correlated to the ADF content of the bites (-0.454<sup>\*</sup>).

### DISCUSSION

# Differences Among Breeds in Grazing Selection

In continuous grazing conditions on a biodiverse pasture, according to the IS, cows of the least specialized breed (Va) were less selective on pasture than those of the highly specialized breed (Ho). This was particularly the case with mature herbage. Grazing behavior of Mo seems to be more similar to that of Ho, even though they were a little less selective. However, these differences in grazing selection were minimal compared to those expressed within breeds on pastures with different botanical composition or under different grazing management (21, 27), as was also observed in the present study, when forage of different vegetation growth stage was offered in June and July. Still, the breed differences in grazing selection were lower than expected and were in contrast to the results of Farruggia et al. (35), who showed that lactating cattle with high nutrient requirements grazed more selectively than dry cows, and Pauler et al. (22, 23), who found that more productive Angus  $\times$ Holstein cattle grazed more selectively than Highland cattle. However, Dumont et al. (36) also did not find relevant differences in grazing behavior among traditional and specialized breeds. The few differences among cow breeds highlighted by the IS did not lead to a significant difference in composition and estimated digestibility of the simulated bites in our experiment. This indicates that, even though cows selected or avoided some species while grazing, the corresponding changes in DM quantities found in the simulated bites remained too low to make a clear difference in their proportion of the total daily diet. Concerning season and evolution of the herbage, cows avoided forbs and mature vegetation less in June than in July, probably because they already overgrazed the preferred patches with grasses during the beginning of the grazing cycle (24, 37, 38). In July, they selected the vegetative regrowth and avoided legumes less. This can be explained by the observation that the latter botanical group regrows rapidly (21) and therefore was more accessible at that time than at the end of the first grazing cycle. These changes in grazing selection and the increased small proportion of legumes are coherent with the higher crude protein TABLE 4 | Proportions of fatty acids (g/100 g total fatty acids) in milk fat distinguished by breed and period.

Fatty acid		Breed		Pe	riod	SEM		Signific	ance
	Но	Мо	Va	June	July		Breed	Period	Breed × period
C4:0	3.44	3.53	3.24	3.50	3.31	0.100	ns	ns	ns
C6:0	1.94	1.93	1.81	2.00 <sup>a</sup>	1.79 <sup>b</sup>	0.050	ns	*	ns
C8:0	0.90	0.91	0.87	0.95 <sup>a</sup>	0.83 <sup>b</sup>	0.027	ns	*	ns
C10:0	1.69	1.64	1.59	1.77 <sup>a</sup>	1.51 <sup>b</sup>	0.059	ns	**	ns
C12:0	1.88	1.79	1.86	1.98 <sup>a</sup>	1.76 <sup>b</sup>	0.061	ns	**	ns
C12:1c9	0.048	0.051	0.052	0.050	0.051	0.002	ns	ns	ns
C14:0	8.21	8.37	8.05	8.62ª	7.81 <sup>b</sup>	0.221	ns	**	ns
C14:1c9	0.77	0.73	0.82	0.75	0.79	0.037	ns	†	ns
C15:0	1.28	1.28	1.35	1.22 <sup>b</sup>	1.39 <sup>a</sup>	0.040	ns	**	ns
C16:0	23.9	23.9	23.1	24.5 <sup>a</sup>	22.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.41	ns	***	†
C16:1c9	1.35	1.38	1.26	1.29	1.37	0.052	ns	ns	ns
C17:0	0.81	0.78	0.82	0.80	0.80	0.015	ns	ns	ns
C18:0	13.1	11.7	12.2	12.2	12.6	0.30	ns	ns	ns
C18:1t10	0.21	0.21	0.23	0.23	0.21	0.009	ns	ns	ns
C18:1t11	2.15	2.25	2.50	2.28	2.31	0.132	ns	ns	ns
C18:1c9	25.1	26.2	26.3	24.9 <sup>b</sup>	26.8ª	0.444	ns	**	ns
C18:2n-6	1.19	1.14	1.28	1.18	1.22	0.023	†	ns	ns
C18:3n-3	0.82 <sup>b</sup>	0.87 <sup>ab</sup>	0.97 <sup>a</sup>	0.85	0.92	0.022	*	†	ns
C18:2c9t11	0.89	1.08	1.26	1.03	1.129	0.056	ns	ns	ns
ECFA	55.6	54.2	53.1	55.9 <sup>a</sup>	53.0 <sup>b</sup>	0.61	ns	**	ns
OCFA	2.89	2.87	3.01	2.79 <sup>b</sup>	3.05 <sup>a</sup>	0.060	ns	***	ns
BCFA	3.01	3.00	3.08	2.99	3.08	0.076	ns	ns	ns
SFA	60.9	59.6	58.6	61.1 <sup>b</sup>	58.2 <sup>a</sup>	0.54	ns	**	ns
MUFA	33.7	35.0	35.3	33.5 <sup>b</sup>	35.9 <sup>a</sup>	0.47	ns	**	ns
PUFA	4.53	4.62	4.16	4.56 <sup>b</sup>	4.97 <sup>a</sup>	0.124	ns	*	ns
$\Sigma$ cis18:1	26.4	27.5	27.6	26.1 <sup>b</sup>	28.2ª	0.46	ns	**	ns
$\Sigma$ trans18:1	3.46	3.60	3.96	3.60	3.75	0.168	ns	ns	ns
$\Sigma$ n-6	1.52	1.39	1.55	1.46	1.51	0.029	†	ns	ns
$\Sigma$ n-3	1.12	1.12	1.25	1.12 <sup>b</sup>	1.21ª	0.027	ns	*	ns
Ratios									
n-6 to n-3	1.37 <sup>a</sup>	1.24 <sup>b</sup>	1.25 <sup>b</sup>	1.31 <sup>a</sup>	1.26 <sup>b</sup>	0.019	*	*	ns
C14:1c9 to C14:0	0.094	0.086	0.102	0.087 <sup>b</sup>	0.102ª	0.004	ns	**	ns
C18:1c9 to C16:0	1.05	1.12	1.15	1.02 <sup>b</sup>	1.19 <sup>a</sup>	0.034	ns	***	ns
$\varSigma$ de novo synthesized fatty acids	18.0	18.3	17.4	18.8ª	17.0 <sup>b</sup>	0.42	ns	*	ns

Significance levels: \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \* $p \le 0.05$ ,  $^{\dagger}p \le 0.10$ , ns p > 0.10.

<sup>a,b</sup>Least square means with different superscript letters significantly differ at p < 0.05.

BCFA, branched-chained fatty acids; ECFA, even-chained fatty acids; Ho, Holstein; Mo, Montbéllarde; MUFA, mono-unsaturated fatty acids; OCFA, odd-chained fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; SFA, saturated fatty acids; Va, Valdostana Red Pied.

content in the simulated bites, together with their lower ADF content, in July compared to June. Finally, cows seem to have adapted their grazing behavior to what was offered during the respective season, regardless of breed. Further studies would be required to strengthen our findings over a larger number of animals.

# Differences Among Breeds in Milk FA Profile

The differences among cow breeds in milk yield and gross composition were previously discussed in Koczura et al. (24).

Briefly, the lower milk fat content in Va milk compared to Mo is typical of Va breed (39, 40), as this dual-purpose breed is not specifically selected for a high milk fat content. The lower fat content of Ho compared to Mo is in accordance with previous results comparing Ho and Mo reared in the same conditions (41). The lower fat and protein yields of Ho compared to Mo could be due to the lower adaptability of Ho breed to cover their high requirements without concentrate supplements, resulting in a negative energy balance, and lower fat and protein yield (24). Regarding FA composition of milk fat, several studies already investigated the link between the composition of diverse pastures TABLE 5 | Prevalence of the most abundant terpenes in milk (proportion of individual peak area over total peak area, %) distinguished by breed and period.

Terpene		Breed		Per	riod	SEM	Significance		nce
	Но	Мо	Va	June	July		Breed	Period	Breed × period
Limonene	26.7	30.1	17.0	29.4	19.8	3.96	ns	ns	ns
β-Caryophyllene	21.2	23.5	26.8	19.2	28.4	2.73	ns	t t	ns
γ-Terpinene	10.56	12.15	7.96	8.98	11.47	1.323	ns	ns	ns
α-Pinene	8.75	9.61	10.72	10.03	9.36	0.599	ns	ns	ns
β-Pinene	8.71	8.80	10.85	7.90	11.01	0.891	ns	ns	ns
$\alpha$ -Caryophyllene	3.49	3.15	5.03	2.56 <sup>b</sup>	5.21 <sup>a</sup>	0.602	ns	*	ns
Camphene	3.37	3.43	4.55	2.29 <sup>b</sup>	5.27 <sup>a</sup>	0.639	ns	*	ns
β-Myrcene	2.30	2.82	2.24	3.22	1.69	0.363	ns	†	ns
Terpinolene	2.00	1.74	2.83	1.44	2.94	0.394	ns	t	ns
Sabinene	1.29	1.43	1.96	1.76	1.36	0.170	ns	ns	ns
$\alpha$ -Phellandrene	0.32	0.61	0.63	0.30	0.74	0.129	ns	ns	ns

Significance levels: \* $p \le 0.05$ ,  $^{\dagger}p \le 0.10$ , ns p > 0.10.

<sup>a,b</sup>Least square means with different superscript letters significantly differ at p < 0.05.

Ho, Holstein; Mo, Montbéliarde; Va, Valdostana Red Pied.

and milk quality [e.g., (16, 18, 42)], but only a few allowed to link the selective behavior that ruminants exhibit on pasture with their milk composition (27, 38). These authors illustrated how the ability of an animal to feed on forbs instead of grasses has an effect on the ruminal microbial population, with PSC partially inhibiting the biohydrogenation of dietary PUFA, entirely or at certain steps. This results in milk richer in these FA, and particularly in n-3 FA (43). However, this effect is especially visible when comparing selection on highly biodiverse pastures with grasslands with very different proportions of grasses and forbs (18). In the present experiment, all cows grazed on the same biodiverse pasture. The results, therefore, suggest that, even though some preferences were expressed, the differences in the material eaten among breeds remained too low to affect the milk FA profile. This is consistent with the similar FA profile of the milk found for the three breeds, especially in terms of MUFA, PUFA, and CLA proportions of the milk fat. These groups of FA were actually correlated to the herbage evolution over the season and, more specifically, to the proportion of dry material in the simulated bites, regardless of breed. The cause for that is the advanced herbage phenological stage in June compared to July measurement period, which is known to increase MUFA and decrease PUFA and CLA proportions of the milk fat (18, 42). Only one particular FA, the major n-3 FA C18:3 n-3, was found to be always higher in Va milk fat compared to Ho milk fat, without any correlation to diet selection or period. This FA is a substrate for ruminal biohydrogenation, leading to the production of C18:1t11, ultimately being saturated to C18:0 (43). Although not significant, C18:1t11 was also numerically higher in Va than Ho milk fat. This suggests that C18:3 n-3 is less biohydrogenated in the rumen of Va than Ho cows, and this could probably be explained by breed differences in the rumen microbial population and metabolism rather than grazing behavior. This aspect

should be further investigated, especially on a larger number of animals.

# Differences Among Breeds in the Prevalence of Milk Terpenes

To our knowledge, this is the first study directly linking diet selection of dairy cows and the occurrence of terpenes in their milk. Terpenes are absorbed directly from the diet (9), and most of them are transferred directly into milk and are subject to no or minor changes (44, 45). Some authors demonstrated that terpenes can also be partially biohydrogenated and isomerized by the rumen microbial population, leading to additional terpenes in milk (46). In the present experiment, the investigated pasture was rich in forbs, such as plants from the Apiaceae family and Thymus serpyllum, both containing pinenes and caryophyllenes (47, 48). The presence of this kind of compounds in the milk of the experimental cows suggests that pinenes and caryophyllenes indeed originated from the diet. Several previous studies already identified β-caryophyllene in the milk of grazing cows (10, 11). However, unlike our hypothesis, it seems difficult to directly relate terpene prevalence in milk and grazing behavior of the cows. Accordingly, in the present study no significant correlations were found between terpene prevalence and the proportion of the different botanical groups in the simulated bites. This could be partially due to the limited number of animals in our experiment. However, if a biological link was underlying between grazing selection and milk composition, significant correlations would have been expected even with few animals, probably with a poor correlation coefficient that would have been improved by increasing the number of animals, but it was not the case. This suggests that the selection of a single species or family could be responsible for the transfer of such molecules (5), rather than the overall

proportion of forbs or mature vegetation in the sward. Besides, Lejonklev et al. (49) showed that terpenes from essential oils can be transferred to milk by both ingestion and inhalation. Cows may therefore also have taken in terpenes while breathing, which would explain why the latter are not correlated to the simulated bites. The few differences that occurred in milk terpene prevalence were related to the grazing period: the vegetative stage of the pasture evolved after the first grazing cycle and most probably led to a different terpene composition of the herbage (5, 50). Indeed, a parallel increase was observed by Tornambé et al. (10) between milk terpenes concentration and the variation in the phenological stage of the herbage. Even though concentrations of terpenes found in milk are low, it would be interesting to manufacture cheeses with the milk of the three breeds and investigate the link between terpene profile, microbial development and potential further influences on cheese sensory properties. Such an effect could be expected because some terpenes have been found to have antimicrobial effects. Rivas da Silva et al. (47) for instance demonstrated that positive enantiomers of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -pinene used in synergy (250 µg/mL) can have a bactericidal effect against methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus.

#### Implications

The overall small differences among the autochthonous, more robust Va, the intermediate Mo and the Ho highly specialized for milk production may suggest that in low-input mountain grazing systems, the individual animal's adaptability in the short term could actually be more important than its breed. It has to be mentioned, though, that all cows were in their late lactation and therefore even the Ho were not in a situation of high nutrient requirements. Breed differences could be clearer in other stages of lactation. Breed also seems to have less influence on milk quality than herbage composition. Other criteria than grazing behavior should be investigated in order to assess the role of autochthonous breeds in the multi-performance of future lowinput grazing systems. Indeed, individual adaptation in the short term may result in different long-term breed responses, i.e., in reproduction or productive lifespan. Further investigation on a larger number of animals would reinforce our findings.

#### REFERENCES

- Leiber F, Jouven M, Martin B, Priolo A, Coppa M, Prache S, et al. Potentials and challenges for future sustainable grassland utilisation in animal production. Options Méditerranéennes. Série A: Séminaires Méditerranéens, A. (2014) 109:33–48. Available online at: http://om.ciheam.org/om/pdf/a109/ 00007678.pdf
- Sturaro E, Marchiori E, Cocca G, Penasa M, Ramanzin M, Bittante G. Dairy systems in mountainous areas: farm animal biodiversity, milk production and destination, and land use. *Livest Sci.* (2013) 158:157–68. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.09.011
- Friggens NC, Blanc F, Berry DP, Puillet L. Review: deciphering animal robustness. A synthesis to facilitate its use in livestock breeding and management. *Animal.* (2017) 11:2237–51. doi: 10.1017/S17517311170 0088X
- Coppa M, Chassaing C, Sibra C, Cornu A, Harstad OM, Verbič J, et al. Forage system is the key driver of mountain milk specificity. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:10483–99. doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-16726

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

No ethical approval was required because no invasive samples have been taken on the animals and all procedures carried out followed the Certificate of Authorization to Experiment on Living Animals No. D 15-114-01 delivered by the French government to Marcenat INRAE experimental facility.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MKo, MC, BM, MKr, and JB contributed to the conception and design of the study. MKo, MB, and GT organized the experiment. MKo supervised the experiment. MKo, MB, and BM participated in behavioral observation and milk sampling. MC performed the fatty acids analysis. MMu and MMa performed the terpene analysis. MKo and MC processed the data and equally contributed to the writing of the manuscript. MC performed the statistical analysis. MKr and JB supervised MKo in the frame of her doctoral thesis. All the authors contributed to manuscript revision, and all read and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This research received funding from the French Government IDEX-ISITE initiative 16-IDEX-0001 (CAP 20-25).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the staff of the INRAE farm at Marcenat (UE Herbipôle) with special thanks to Carole Cirie; Agnès Cornu for advice and help with the extraction of milk terpenes; and Cyril Labonne, Jean-Baptiste Auger, Victoria Verdel, Précilia Bouchy, Laurent Lanore and Isabelle Constant for their participation in the collection of behavioral observations data and treatment of the samples.

- Cornu A, Carnat AP, Martin B, Coulon JB, Lamaison JL, Berdague JL. Solidphase microextraction of volatile components from natural grassland plants. J Agric Food Chem. (2001) 49:203–9. doi: 10.1021/jf0008341
- Falchero L, Coppa M, Fossi A, Lombardi G, Ramella D, Tava A. Essential oil composition of lady's mantle (*Alchemilla xanthochlora* Rothm.) growing wild in alpine pastures. *Nat Prod Res.* (2009) 23:1367–72. doi: 10.1080/14786410802361438
- Reynaud A, Fraisse D, Cornu A, Farruggia A, Pujos-Guillot E, Besle JM, et al. Variation in content and composition of phenolic compounds in permanent pastures according to botanical variation. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2010) 58:5485– 94. doi: 10.1021/jf1000293
- Fraisse D, Carnat A, Viala D, Pradel P, Besle JM, Coulon JB, et al. Polyphenolic composition of a permanent pasture: variations related to the period of harvesting. J Sci Food Agric. (2007) 87:2427–35. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.2918
- Serrano E, Cornu A, Kondjoyan N, Figueredo G, Agabriel J, Micol D. Terpene accumulation in muscle and fatty tissues of calves supplemented with essential oils. J Anim Feed Sci. (2007) 16:168–79. doi: 10.22358/jafs/6673 6/2007

- Tornambé G, Cornu A, Pradel P, Kondjoyan N, Carnat AP, Petit M, et al. Changes in terpene content in milk from pasture-fed cows. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:2309–19. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72302-5
- Agabriel C, Cornu A, Journal C, Sibra C, Grolier P, Martin B. Tanker milk variability according to farm feeding practices: vitamins A and E, carotenoids, color, and terpenoids. *J Dairy Sci.* (2007) 90:4884–96. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0171
- De Noni I, Battelli G. Terpenes and fatty acid profiles of milk fat and Bitto cheese as affected by transhumance of cows on different mountain pastures. *Food Chem.* (2008) 109:299–309. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.12.033
- Khiaosa-ard R, Soliva CR, Kreuzer M, Leiber F. Influence of alpine forage either employed as donor cow's feed or as incubation substrate on *in vitro* ruminal fatty acid biohydrogenation. *Livest Sci.* (2011) 140:80–7. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2011.02.012
- Cabiddu A, Molle G, Decandia M, Spada S, Fiori M, Piredda G, et al. Responses to condensed tannins of flowering sulla (*Hedysarum coronarium* L.) grazed by dairy sheep: part 2: effects on milk fatty acid profile. *Livest Sci.* (2009) 123:230–40. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2008.11.019
- Cabiddu A, Salis L, Tweed JS, Molle G, Decandia M, Lee MRF. The influence of plant polyphenols on lipolysis and biohydrogenation in dried forages at different phenological stages: *in vitro* study. *J Sci Food Agric*. (2010) 90:829–35. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.3892
- Leiber F, Kreuzer M, Nigg D, Wettstein HR, Scheeder MRL. A study on the causes for the elevated n-3 fatty acids in cows' milk of alpine origin. *Lipids*. (2005) 40:191–202. doi: 10.1007/s11745-005-1375-3
- Wehrmueller K, Schmid A, Walther B. Health benefits of omega-3-fatty acids and the contribution of products from mountain pastures to the supply. *Ernährungs-Umschau.* (2008) 55:655–61. Available online at: https://www. ernaehrungs-umschau.de/print-artikel/13-11-2008-health-benefits-ofomega-3-fatty-acids-and-the-contribution-of-products-from-mountainpastures-to-the-supply/
- Renna M, Ferlay A, Lussiana C, Bany D, Graulet B, Wyss U, et al. Relative hierarchy of farming practices affecting fatty acid composition of permanent grasslands and of the derived bulk milk. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2020) 267:114561. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114561
- Giaccone D, Revello-Chion A, Galassi L, Bianchi P, Battelli G, Coppa M, et al. Effect of milk thermisation and farming system on cheese sensory profile and fatty acid composition. *Int Dairy J.* (2016) 59:10–9. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2016.02.047
- Prache S, Gordon IJ, Rook AJ. Foraging behaviour and diet selection in domestic herbivores. *Annales De Zootechnie*. (1998) 47:335–45. doi: 10.1051/animres:19980502
- Coppa M, Farruggia A, Pradel P, Lombardi G, Martin B. An improved grazed class method to estimate species selection and dry matter intake by cows at pasture. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2011) 10:58–65. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2011.e13
- Pauler CM, Isselstein J, Suter M, Berard J, Braunbeck T, Schneider MK. Choosy grazers: influence of plant traits on forage selection by three cattle breeds. *Funct Ecol.* (2020) 34:980–92. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.13542
- 23. Pauler CM, Isselstein J, Berard J, Braunbeck T, Schneider MK. Grazing allometry: anatomy, movement, and foraging behavior of three cattle breeds of different productivity. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:494. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00494
- 24. Koczura M, Martin B, Bouchon M, Turille G, Berard J, Farruggia A, et al. Grazing behaviour of dairy cows on biodiverse mountain pastures is more influenced by slope than cow breed. *Animal.* (2019) 13:2594–602. doi: 10.1017/S175173111900079X
- Daget P, Poissonet J. Une méthode d'analyse phytosociologique des prairies. Ann Agron. (1971) 22:5–41.
- 26. INRA. Alimentation des ruminants. Quae, Versailles, Paris (2018).
- Coppa M, Farruggia A, Ravaglia P, Pomiès D, Borreani G, Le Morvan A, et al. Frequent moving of grazing dairy cows to new paddocks increases the variability of milk fatty acid composition. *Animal.* (2015) 9:604–13. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114003000
- Sweeney RA, Rexroad PR. Comparison of LECO FP-228 "nitrogen determinator" with AOAC copper catalyst Kjeldahl method for crude protein. J Assoc Off Anal Chem. (1987) 70:1028–30. doi: 10.1093/jaoac/70. 6.1028

- Van Soest PJ, Robertson JB, Lewis BA. Methods of dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber and non-polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J Dairy Sci. (1991) 74:3583–97. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)7 8551-2
- Aufrère J, Michalet-Doreau B. In vivo digestibility and prediction of digestibility of some by-products. In: Boucqué CV, Fimes LO, Cottyn GB, editors. Feeding Value of By-Products and their Use by Beef Cattle—EEC Seminar EUR 8918 EN. Brussels: Commission of the European Union (1983). p. 25–35.
- 31. AOAC. *Official Methods of Analysis*, 16th ed. Gaithersburg, MD: Association of Official Analytical Chemists (1997).
- 32. International Dairy Federation. Whole Milk—Determination of Milkfat, Protein and Lactose Content—Guidance on the Operation of Mid-infrared Instruments. IDF 141C:2000. Brussels, Belgium: International Dairy Federation (2000).
- 33. Ferlay A, Martin B, Lerch S, Gobert M, Pradel P, Chilliard Y. Effects of supplementation of maize silage diets with extruded linseed, vitamin E and plant extracts rich in polyphenols, and morning v. evening milking on milk fatty acid profiles in Holstein and Montbéliarde cows. *Animal.* (2010) 4:627–40. doi: 10.1017/S17517311099 91224
- 34. Loor JJ, Ferlay A, Ollier A, Doreau M, Chilliard Y. Relationship among trans conjugated fatty acids and bovine milk fat yield due to dietary concentrate and linseed oil. J Dairy Sci. (2005) 88:726–40. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72736-3
- Farruggia A, Dumont B, D'hour P, Egal D, Petit M. Diet selection of dry and lactating beef cows grazing extensive pastures in late autumn. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2006) 61:347–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2006.00541.x
- 36. Dumont B, Rook AJ, Coran Ch, Röver KU. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on biodiversity and production in grazing systems. 2. Diet selection. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2007) 62:159–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2007.00572.x
- Adler PB, Raff DA, Lauenroth WK. The effect of grazing on the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation. *Oecologia*. (2001) 128:465–79. doi: 10.1007/s004420100737
- Farruggia A, Pomiès D, Coppa M, Ferlay A, Verdier-Metz I, Le Morvan A, et al. Animal performances, pasture biodiversity and dairy product quality: how it works in contrasted mountain grazing systems. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*. (2014) 185:231–44. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2014. 01.001
- 39. Coppa M, Gorlier A, Lonati M, Martin B, Russo EM, Lombardi G. The management of the transition from hay- to pasture-based diets affects milk fatty acid kinetics. *Dairy Sci. Technol.* (2012) 92:279–95. doi: 10.1007/s13594-012-0065-6
- Manzocchi E, Koczura M, Coppa M, Turille G, Kreuzer M, Berard J. Grazing on upland pastures part-time instead of full-time affects the feeding behavior of dairy cows and has consequences on milk fatty acid profiles. *Animals*. (2019) 9:908. doi: 10.3390/ani9110908
- Balandraud N, Mosnier C, Delaby L, Dubief F, Goron JF, Martin B, et al. Holstein ou Montbéliarde: des différences phénotypiques aux conséquences économiques à l'échelle de l'exploitation. *INRA Prod Anim.* (2018) 31:337–52. doi: 10.20870/productions-animales.2018.31.4.2394
- 42. Coppa M, Ferlay A, Borreani G, Revello-Chion A, Tabacco E, Tornambé G, et al. Effect of phenological stage and proportion of fresh herbage in cow diets on milk fatty acid composition. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2015) 208:66–78. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.07.006
- Chilliard Y, Glasser F, Ferlay A, Bernard L, Rouel J, Doreau M. Diet, rumen biohydrogenation and nutritional quality of cow and goat milk fat. *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol.* (2007) 109:828–55. doi: 10.1002/ejlt.200700080
- Viallon C, Martin B, Verdier-Metz I, Pradel P, Garel JP, Coulon JB, et al. Transfer of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes from forages into milk fat. *Lait.* (2000) 80:12–6. doi: 10.1051/lait:2000150
- 45. Bugaud C, Buchin S, Coulon JB, Hauwuy A, Dupont D. Influence of the nature of alpine pasture on plasmin activity, fatty acid and volatile compound composition of milk. *Lait.* (2001) 81:401–14. doi: 10.1051/lait:2001140
- 46. Schlichterle-Cerny H, Imhof MI, Fernandez Garcia E, Bosset JO. From pasture to cheese: changes in terpenes composition. In: Cadwallader KR, Drake M,

McGorrin R, editors. *Flavor of Dairy Products*. Washington, DC: American Chemical Society (2007). p. 123–33. doi: 10.1021/bk-2007-0971.ch007

- Rivas da Silva AC, Monteiro Lopes P, Barros de Azevedo MM, Machado Costa DC, Sales Alviano C, Sales Alviano D. Biological activities of α-pinene and β-pinene enantiomers. *Molecules*. (2012) 17:6305–16. doi: 10.3390/molecules17066305
- Cutillas AB, Carrasco A, Martinez-Gutierrez R, Tomas V, Tudela J. Thyme essential oils from Spain: aromatic profile ascertained by GC-MS, and their antioxidant, anti-lipoxygenase and antimicrobial activities. J Food Drug Anal. (2018) 26:529–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jfda.2017. 05.004
- Lejonklev J, Løkke MM, Larsen MK, Mortensen G, Petersen MA, Weisbjerg MR. Transfer of terpenes from essential oils into cow milk. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:4235–41. doi: 10.3168/jds.201 2-6502
- Sangwan NS, Faaroqi AHA, Shabih F, Sangwan RS. Regulation of essential oil production in plants. *Plant Growth Regul.* (2001) 34:3–21. doi: 10.1023/A:1013386921596

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Koczura, Martin, Musci, Massimo, Bouchon, Turille, Kreuzer, Berard and Coppa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Note on the Tracing of Herbage Contribution to Grazing Sheep Diet Using Milk and Feces Biomarkers

Giovanni Molle\*, Andrea Cabiddu, Mauro Decandia, Marco Acciaro, Giuseppe Scanu, Margherita Addis, Myriam Fiori and Marco Caredda

Agris Sardegna, Olmedo, Italy

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Keelin Katherine Mary O'Driscoll, Moorepark Animal and Grassland Research Centre, Teagasc, Ireland

#### Reviewed by:

Deirdre Hennessy, Teagasc Food Research Centre, Ireland Giuseppe Conte, University of Pisa, Italy Giuseppe Pulina, University of Sassari, Italy Luca Battaglini, University of Turin, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Giovanni Molle gmolle@agrisricerca.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 October 2020 Accepted: 12 January 2021 Published: 19 February 2021

#### Citation:

Molle G, Cabiddu A, Decandia M, Acciaro M, Scanu G, Addis M, Fiori M and Caredda M (2021) A Note on the Tracing of Herbage Contribution to Grazing Sheep Diet Using Milk and Feces Biomarkers. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:623784. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.623784 Milk from grazing ruminants is usually rich in beneficial components for human health, but distinguishing milks sourced from grazing is difficult, and this hinders the valuing of the grazing benefit. This study aimed at evaluating the ability of milk biomarkers (1) to trace milks sourced from sheep submitted to different access times (ATs) to pasture and (2) to estimate sheep herbage dry matter intake (HDMI, g DM ewe<sup>-1</sup>  $d^{-1}$ ) and herbage percentage (HP, % DM) in sheep diet. Animal data derive from a published experiment in which six replicated groups of mid-lactation Sarda sheep had ATs of 2, 4, or 6 h  $d^{-1}$  to a ryegrass pasture. Sheep HDMI and HP of each group were measured on four dates in April 2013. Group milk was sampled, and milk fatty acids (FAs) and n-alkanes were determined by gas chromatography. The latter markers were also measured in feces samples bulked by group. The data (N = 24 records) were submitted to Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) aimed at distinguishing the AT to pasture based on biomarkers previously selected by Genetic Algorithms (GA). Partial Least Square Regression (PLSR) models were used to estimate HDMI and HP using biomarkers selected by GA. Based on one milk alkane and six milk FAs as biomarkers, estimates of the AT using GA-LDA were 95.8% accurate. The estimation of HDMI by GA-PLSR based on five milk FAs was moderately precise [explained variance = 75.2%; percentage of the residual mean square error of cross-validation over the mean value (RMSECV%) = 15.0%]. The estimation of HP by GA-PLSR based on 1 milk alkane and 10 FAs was precise (explained variance = 80.8%; RMSECV% = 7.4%). To conclude, these preliminary results suggest that milks sourced from sheep flocks with AT to pasture differentiated by 2 h in the range 2-6 h d<sup>-1</sup> can be precisely discriminated using milk biomarkers. The contribution of herbage to sheep diet can also be precisely estimated.

Keywords: dairy sheep, nutrition, traceability, alkanes, fatty acids, pasture, chemometrics, authentication

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Grazing delivers high-quality ruminant products at low cost as compared with stall feeding, as highlighted by recent reviews (1, 2). Positive implications were often found on these products, with reference to their nutritional and health value as well as technological and sensory attributes, such as texture, oxidative stability, and flavor (1) with few exceptions [e.g., (3)]. Moreover, consumers perceive pasture-based livestock systems as more friendly for both environment and animal welfare than housed systems (4).

Unfortunately, pasture availability is seasonal and often scarce in many grazing areas, such as the Mediterranean regions; hence, supplementation is necessary, at least for part of the pasture growth cycle. For this reason, part-time grazing (PTG), i.e., a time-restricted allocation to pasture, is often implemented in Mediterranean dairy sheep systems. This technique has revealed several beneficial implications compared with stall feeding and 24-h grazing, among them, the saving of herbage when herbage growth is low and a more balanced diet (5). Moreover, a moderate restriction of access time (AT) to pasture (6 h/d) can suffice to reach levels of beneficial FA in milk as high as those achieved with longer allocations (9 h/d), as shown in dairy cattle (6).

In order to increase the value of grazing in the sheep supply chain, tracing the milk back to the feeding system is fundamental. Tracing can be based on biomarkers, such as milk FA and fecal and milk concentration of n-alkanes, which are long-chain hydrocarbons contained in plant epicuticular or waxes (7). Nalkanes, particularly those with a short chain, can be uptaken by the gut mucosa to some extent and pass without changes in ruminant milk (8). In fact, milk alkane profile was successfully used to discriminate cheeses derived from cows grazing pastures with different botanical compositions (9).

Despite the growing body of knowledge on biomarkers of dairy products, the impact of these findings is still limited, because milk FAs and alkanes composition can possibly fail to discriminate milks coming from semi-intensive systems, where PTG is practiced (10).

This paper is an outcome of a wider research program undertaken at Agris Sardegna in 2013–2016 for evaluating the impact of PTG of dairy ewes on their ingestive behavior and milk production (5, 11). This specific study is aimed at evaluating the ability of milk FAs and n-alkanes measured in both milk and feces 1) to trace bulk milks sourced from sheep submitted to PTG with different ATs to pasture and 2) to estimate sheep herbage dry matter intake (HDMI, g DM ewe<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) and herbage percentage (HP, % DM) in sheep diet. Since Genetic Algorithms (GA) had already been successfully used to select the informative variables for the estimation of the sheep milk fatty acids (FAs) by midinfrared spectroscopy (12) and in the selection of the FAs able to trace the geographical origin of sheep milk (13), we investigated their use to the aims of the present work.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The animal protocol and implemented procedures were in accordance with the ethical guidelines in force at Agris, in compliance with the EU directive 86/609/EC and the recommendation of the EU Commission 2007/526/EC.

The study was conducted at the Bonassai research station, north-western Sardinia ( $40^{\circ}$ N,  $8^{\circ}$ E, 32 m a.s.l.). The whole experiment lasted from February to April 2013, but, for the purpose of this work, the experimental period ranges from 10 to 23 April. This short period was chosen to represent the spring period in which neither availability nor quality of grazed grass limits animal performance. The climate is Mediterranean with a long-term (1995–2013) average annual rainfall of 568 mm. A randomized block design was adopted, with two replicates per treatment. Pasture consisted of 1.5 ha of Italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam. cv. Teanna). The area was split into two blocks of 7,500 m<sup>2</sup> each, which were in turn divided into three experimental plots (n = 6 plots in total) randomly allocated to the treatments. Each plot was then divided by electric fences into four sub-plots of 625 m<sup>2</sup> each, which were rotationally grazed, with 7 days of occupation per sub-plot and a recovery period of 21 days.

Six groups of six ewes each, all belonging to Sarda breed, lambed in autumn (November-December) and at the midlactation stage (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation 76  $\pm$  14 days in milk) at the beginning of the experiment, were balanced for sheep age  $(3.7 \pm 1.2 \text{ years})$ , pre-experimental milk yield  $(1,449 \pm 206 \text{ g/d})$ , and body weight (42.5  $\pm$  4.0 kg) and randomly assigned to the experimental plots. The ewes were machine milked twice daily at 07:00 and 15:00 h. After morning milking, the groups were carried on a trailer to the plots where they spent the scheduled time. Treatments were three different levels of ATs to pasture: 2 (08:00-10:00), 4 (08:00-12:00), and 6 h/d (08:00-14:00). During the remaining daytime, the ewe groups were kept indoors in separate pens. Supplementation consisted for all ewes of pelleted concentrate (400 g/head day split in two meals at milkings), lupin seed (300 g/head day) at pasture turnout, and ryegrass hay (700 g/head day) overnight. The flat supplementation rate was set in order to meet 100% of energy requirement of the 4 h/d treatment and 100% metabolic protein requirements of 2 h/d treatment. For details on pasture establishment and animal management, refer to Molle et al. (11).

#### **Measurements and Samplings**

Supplements intake was measured at group level, weighing the offer and the refusals either after each meal (concentrates) or after 24 h (hay). On four occasions during the experimental period (test days), short-term herbage intake rate was measured on three ewes per group using the double-weighing technique as detailed in depth by Molle et al. (5). The day after each test day, individual milk yield was measured and milk sampled for determining milk fat, protein, and lactose contents (MilkoScan FT+; Foss Electric, Hillerød, Denmark). Bulk milk samples of each group of ewes for each treatment were also collected for milk FA and n-alkane determinations. Samples of supplements and hand-plucked samples of ryegrass potentially eaten by the sheep were taken on the intake measurement days. Moreover, feces were also individually grab-sampled from each ewe tested for intake measurement after each milking on the days of milk recording. All these samples were immediately frozen and then freeze-dried prior to analysis. The sample of feces was bulked per group before chemical determinations.

#### **Chemical Analysis**

The FA composition of the milk samples was determined as reported in Caredda et al. (12). The FA content of herbage and supplements was determined according to Addis et al. (14). Supplement FA composition was measured on a composite sample per feedstuff. The n-alkane analysis of herbage and feces followed the protocol by Dove and Mayes (15). A similar protocol

was implemented for milk alkane determination. Milk, feeds, and feces alkane analytical method and gas chromatographic conditions are reported as **Supplementary Material**. Individual n-alkanes from C23 to C36 were identified by the comparison of the retention time of a standard mixture of pure components. Furthermore, indices were calculated with reference to n-alkane, such as the ratio between the concentrations of adjacent alkanes with carbon chain length ranging between C27 and C33 (C27/C25, C29/C27, C31/C29, and C33/C31). Feedstuff samples were also submitted to analyses for the evaluation of their nutritional value according to the methods detailed by Molle et al. (5). Data on feedstuff nutritional, FA, and n-alkane compositions are reported in **Supplementary Table 1**.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The database was constituted of N = 24 group records (3 treatments × 2 replicates × 4 dates), inclusive of treatment (AT, h/day), replicate (1, 2), date, and all the measured biomarkers (alkane in feces and milk and FA in milk and their classes and indices). Since the two replicates actually consisted of two different groups of ewes, the obtained milk samples were not considered replicates from a chemometric point of view but different samples belonging to the same treatment category. Means with standard deviation of the distribution and ranges of the data across the experimental period are shown in Table 1. Correlation analysis was used to explore the relationships among variables.

Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) was used for classifying the samples coming from sheep submitted to different feeding regimens, and the resulting confusion matrix was evaluated both in terms of accuracy (calculated as the average of the percentages of correct predictions of each category) and in terms of Cohen's kappa ( $\kappa$ ) that takes into account the possibility of correct classifications occurring by chance (16). The Mahalanobis distance between each sample and the centroids of the three treatment groups were also evaluated. Partial Least Square Regression (PLSR) was used to predict sheep HDMI and HP in sheep diet. The models were built both using all the identified biomarkers in milk and feces as predictors and using the informative biomarkers selected, separately for each dependent variable, by means of GA (17, 18). The validation of the models was achieved through the cross-validation approach. LDA and PLSR were run on the CAT (Chemometric Agile Tool) software, developed by the Group of Chemometrics of the Division of Analytical Chemistry of the Italian Chemical Society, freely downloadable from the site gruppochemiometria.it.

#### RESULTS

Although comparing the effects of treatment on performance goes beyond the scope of this study, it is worth noting in **Supplementary Table 1** that the herbage contents of crude protein (CP, 137–142 g/kg DM) and neutral detergent fiber (NDF, 443–460 g/kg DM) showed a narrow range between groups, differently from herbage intake [mean  $\pm$  SD, 718  $\pm$  105 g DM (2 h/d), 1,248  $\pm$  227 g DM (4 h/d), and 1,372  $\pm$  216 g DM (6 h/d)], total intake [1,891  $\pm$  128 g DM (2 h/d), 2,380  $\pm$  217 (4 h/d), and

 $\ensuremath{\text{TABLE 1}}$  | Mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of the distribution (SD) and range of the variables under study.

		$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	Rai	nge
			Max	Min
Herbage intake	g DM/d	$1,113\pm342$	1,768	580
Total intake	g DM/d	$2{,}268\pm337$	2,947	1,686
Herbage in diet	% DM	$47.9\pm8.2$	60.00	34.42
n-Alkane in feces				
C24	mg/kg DM	$1.0 \pm 1.7$	6.74	0.00
C25	mg/kg DM	$16.6\pm2.7$	24.69	12.98
C26	mg/kg DM	$2.4 \pm 1.0$	6.07	1.58
C27	mg/kg DM	$54.3\pm4.6$	61.93	45.25
C28	mg/kg DM	$24.3\pm9.1$	44.35	10.01
C29	mg/kg DM	$274.9\pm34.3$	350.73	213.8
C30	mg/kg DM	$16.3\pm2.3$	21.52	12.75
C31	mg/kg DM	$446.9\pm60.4$	565.75	332.9
C32	mg/kg DM	$8.6 \pm 2.7$	17.19	5.02
C33	mg/kg DM	$84.7 \pm 16.3$	115.00	56.40
C35	mg/kg DM	$3.4 \pm 2.2$	6.18	0.00
R2725F		$3.32\pm0.45$	4.40	2.41
Ratio 29/27		$5.0 \pm 0.4$	5.66	4.37
Ratio 31/29		$1.62\pm0.06$	1.77	1.54
Ratio 33/31		$0.19\pm0.03$	0.27	0.15
n-Alkane in milk				
C24	mg/L	$1.1 \pm 0.4$	1.89	0.00
C25	mg/L	$3.0 \pm 1.1$	5.31	1.01
C26	mg/L	$1.2\pm0.4$	1.90	0.00
C27	mg/L	$4.0\pm0.5$	4.81	3.12
C29	mg/L	$7.6\pm0.8$	8.74	6.36
C30	mg/L	$0.9 \pm 1.2$	5.80	0.00
C31	mg/L	$4.7 \pm 1.5$	6.24	0.00
Ratio 27/25		$1.5\pm0.7$	3.55	0.87
Ratio 29/27		$1.9\pm0.2$	2.20	1.62
Ratio 31/29		$0.6\pm0.2$	0.78	0.00
Fatty acids in milk				
C4:0	% FAME	$3.96\pm0.15$	4.30	3.71
C6:0	% FAME	2.80.1	2.99	2.49
C7:0	% FAME	$0.03\pm0.01$	0.05	0.02
C8:0	% FAME	$2.33\pm0.15$	2.60	1.99
C10:0	% FAME	$6.7\pm0.5$	7.88	5.76
C11:0	% FAME	$0.34\pm0.03$	0.44	0.27
C12:0	% FAME	$3.7 \pm 0.3$	4.44	3.22
C13:0 <i>iso</i>	% FAME	$0.035 \pm 0.005$	0.05	0.03
C13:0 anteiso	% FAME	$0.046 \pm 0.004$	0.06	0.04
C14:0 iso	% FAME	$0.13 \pm 0.01$		0.11
			0.16	
C14:0	% FAME	$11.2 \pm 0.6$	12.77	10.40
C15:0 iso	% FAME	0.40 ± 0.04	0.46	0.32
C15:0 anteiso	% FAME	$0.65 \pm 0.04$	0.76	0.58
C14:1 9c	% FAME	$0.20\pm0.02$	0.25	0.15
C15:0	% FAME	$1.18\pm0.05$	1.31	1.10
C16:0 <i>iso</i>	% FAME	$0.33 \pm 0.03$	0.41	0.28

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

		Mean $\pm$ SD	Ra	ange	
			Max	Min	
C16:0	% FAME	25.0 ± 1.1	27.21	22.59	
C17:0 <i>iso</i>	% FAME	$0.58\pm0.05$	0.67	0.49	
C16:1 7c	% FAME	$0.28\pm0.02$	0.33	0.25	
C17:0 anteiso	% FAME	$0.62\pm0.04$	0.71	0.54	
C16:1 9c	% FAME	$0.75\pm0.07$	0.90	0.62	
C17:0	% FAME	$0.69\pm0.05$	0.80	0.58	
C17:1 10c	% FAME	$0.18\pm0.02$	0.20	0.16	
C18:0	% FAME	$10.2 \pm 0.7$	11.75	8.71	
C18:1 4t	% FAME	$0.013 \pm 0.003$	0.02	0.01	
C18:1 5t	% FAME	$0.013 \pm 0.004$	0.02	0.00	
C18:1 6t ÷ 8t	% FAME	$0.18 \pm 0.02$	0.23	0.15	
C18:1 9t	% FAME	$0.20 \pm 0.02$	0.24	0.17	
C18:1 10t	% FAME	$0.30 \pm 0.05$	0.43	0.23	
C18:1 11t	% FAME	$1.2 \pm 0.2$	1.73	0.92	
C18:1 12t	% FAME	$0.35 \pm 0.05$	0.42	0.26	
C18:1 13t ÷ 14t	% FAME	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	1.22	0.67	
C18:1 9c	% FAME	$17.5 \pm 0.9$	19.32	15.81	
C18:1 15t + 10C	% FAME	0.6 ± 0.2	1.04	0.40	
C18:1 11c	% FAME	$0.28 \pm 0.02$	0.31	0.24	
C18:1 12c	% FAME	$0.15 \pm 0.03$	0.20	0.11	
C18:1 13c	% FAME	$0.06 \pm 0.01$	0.07	0.05	
C18:1 14c + 16t	% FAME	$0.48 \pm 0.05$	0.59	0.38	
C18:2 9t, 12t	% FAME	$0.03 \pm 0.01$	0.05	0.02	
C18:2 9c, 13t	% FAME	$0.39 \pm 0.05$	0.49	0.30	
C18:2 9c, 12t	% FAME	$0.16 \pm 0.02$	0.18	0.13	
C18:1 16c	% FAME	$0.13 \pm 0.02$	0.17	0.11	
C18:2 9t, 12c	% FAME	$0.024 \pm 0.004$	0.04	0.02	
C18:2 11t, 15c	% FAME	$0.21 \pm 0.05$	0.31	0.14	
C18:2 9c, 12c	% FAME	1.8 ± 0.2	2.08	1.55	
C18:2 9c, 15c	% FAME	$0.03 \pm 0.01$	0.04	0.02	
C20:0	% FAME	$0.28 \pm 0.02$	0.35	0.25	
C18:3 6c, 9c, 12c	% FAME	$0.05 \pm 0.02$	0.07	0.03	
C20:1 9c	% FAME	$0.02 \pm 0.01$	0.04	0.00	
C20:1 11c	% FAME	$0.02 \pm 0.01$ $0.05 \pm 0.01$	0.09	0.04	
C18:3 9c, 12c, 15c	% FAME	$0.60 \pm 0.01$	0.82	0.47	
CLA 9c, 11t	% FAME	$0.60 \pm 0.00$	0.72	0.48	
CLA 9t, 11c	% FAME	$0.08 \pm 0.00$	0.12	0.07	
CLA 11t, 13c	% FAME	$0.00 \pm 0.01$ $0.014 \pm 0.003$	0.02	0.01	
CLA 12t,14t	% FAME	$0.03 \pm 0.01$	0.02	0.01	
CLA 11t, 13t	% FAME	$0.03 \pm 0.01$ $0.03 \pm 0.01$	0.04	0.02	
	% FAME	$0.03 \pm 0.01$ $0.022 \pm 0.003$			
CLA 9t, 11t			0.03	0.02	
C20:2 11c, 14c	% FAME	$0.03 \pm 0.01$	0.05	0.01	
C20:3 5c, 8c, 11c	% FAME	$0.21 \pm 0.02$	0.27	0.17	
C22:0	% FAME	$0.023 \pm 0.002$	0.03	0.02	
C20:3 8c, 11c, 14c	% FAME	$0.03\pm0.02$	0.11	0.01	
C20:3 11c, 14c, 17c	% FAME	$0.01\pm0.01$	0.04	0.00	
C20:4 5c, 8c, 11c, 14c	% FAME	0.17 ± 0.01	0.19	0.15	
C23:0	% FAME	$0.06\pm0.01$	0.08	0.04	

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

		$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	Ra	nge
			Max	Min
C24:0	% FAME	$0.05 \pm 0.01$	0.06	0.03
C20:5 5c, 8c, 11c, 14c, 17c	% FAME	$0.05\pm0.01$	0.06	0.03
C26:0	% FAME	$0.033\pm0.004$	0.04	0.02
C22:5 7c, 10c, 13c, 16c, 19c	% FAME	$0.10\pm0.01$	0.13	0.09
C22:6 4c, 7c, 10c, 13c, 16c, 19c	% FAME	$0.04\pm0.01$	0.05	0.03
Saturated FA	% FAME	$71.4 \pm 1.2$	74.51	69.83
Unsaturated FA	% FAME	$28.6\pm1.2$	30.17	25.49
Monounsaturated FA	% FAME	$24.0 \pm 1$	25.36	21.41
Polyunsaturated FA	% FAME	$4.7 \pm 0.3$	5.25	4.08
n—6 FA	% FAME	$2.3\pm0.2$	2.59	1.97
n—3 FA	% FAME	$0.96\pm0.09$	1.21	0.80
Ratio n3/n6		$0.42 \pm 0.04$	0.49	0.35

**TABLE 2** Confusion matrix obtained by GA-LDA in tracing the diet of lactating ewe groups submitted to different part-time grazing regimens differing for daily access time (2, 4, and 6 h/d).

	2 h/d	4 h/d	6 h/d
2 h/d	8	0	0
4 h/d	1	7	0
6 h/d	0	0	8

 $2,532 \pm 230$  (6 h/d)], percentage of herbage in the diet [ $38 \pm 3\%$  DM (2 h/d),  $52 \pm 5\%$  DM (4 h/d), and  $54 \pm 4\%$  DM (6 h/d)], and milk yield [ $921 \pm 130$  g (2 h/d),  $904 \pm 109$  g (4 h/d), and  $1,068 \pm 123$  g (6 h/d)]. In the whole experiment, herbage and total intake as well as milk yield were higher in 6 h/d than in the other treatment groups, being the 4 h/d group means intermediate (11).

Using all the variables as predictors, the LDA performance was not accurate in estimating the AT to pasture, with only 25% of correct predictions ( $\kappa = -0.125$ ). In contrast, the GA-LDA showed high accuracy (95.8% of correct classification and a  $\kappa = 0.9375$  that indicates an almost perfect agreement, being close to 1) using one milk n-alkane and six milk FAs as biomarkers (**Table 2**). The selected biomarkers were the n-alkane C24 and the following milk FAs C13:0 *iso*, C14:0, C16:1 7c, C18:1 11t, CLA 11t 13c, and C22:5 7c 10c 13c 16c 19c. Only one milk sample belonging to the 4 h/d group was misclassified as 2 h/d.

**Figure 1** shows the Mahalanobis distances of each sample from the centroids of the three groups of samples that differ for AT to pasture. In particular, **Figure 1a** plots the 2 h/d samples, **Figure 1b** plots the 4 h/d samples, and **Figure 1c** plots the 6 h/d samples. It can be seen that every sample is well classified since its distance to the centroid of the group it belongs to is way shorter than the distances to the centroids of the other groups. The exception is the only misclassified sample (#13) in **Figure 1b** (4 h/d group), which





FIGURE 2 | (A) Cross-validated (CV) vs. experimental value plot obtained by the GA-PLSR model to estimate the herbage intake of lactating ewe groups submitted to different part-time grazing regimens differing for daily access time (2, 4, and 6 h/d). (B) Cross-validated (CV) vs. experimental value plot obtained by the GA-PLSR model to estimate the herbage percentage in the diet of lactating ewe groups submitted to different part-time grazing regimens differing for daily access time (2, 4, and 6 h/d).

is only slightly further from the centroid of its true group than from that of the group it has been assigned to (2 h/d), meaning that the only error in the assignment has not been great.

Using all the variables as predictors, the estimation of HDMI was moderately precise, with a percentage of the residual mean square error of cross-validation over the mean value (RMSECV%) equal to 22.1% and an explained variance of 46.3%. GA applied to PLSR selected only four milk FAs (C13:0 *iso*, C20:0, CLA 11t 13t, C20:5 5c 8c 11c 14c 17c) and the ratio n3/n6. Using these few variables, the HDMI estimation improved markedly, with a lowering of the RMSECV% to 15.0% and an increase of the explained variance to 75.2%. **Figure 2A** shows the cross-validated vs. the experimental value plot obtained by the model built with the selected variables.

The model built by PLSR using all the variables for the estimation of HP explained 56.5% of variance and predicted the HP values with an RMSECV% of 11.1%. This result, already acceptable, was further improved with the selection of the informative variables by means of GA. In particular, the retained explanatory variables were 1 milk alkane (C24) and 10 milk FA concentrations, classes, or ratios: C13:0 *iso*, C16:1 7c, C18:1 12c, C18:2 9c 12c, C20:0, CLA11t 13t, C20:3 5c 8c 11c, C20:5 5c 8c 11c 14c 17c, and n6, n3/n6. The model had an RMSECV% of 7.4% and an explained variance of 80.8%. **Figure 2B** shows the cross-validated vs. the experimental value plot. The former data were obtained in the prediction of HP using the selected variables.

#### DISCUSSION

The discrimination of milk sourced from mixed diets of ewes with ATs to pasture of 2, 4, or 6 h/d performed better than the discrimination of cow milk from animals fed fresh forages (>50% DM from fresh forage) or mixed diets [diets in which none of the forages under scrutiny–fresh forage, grass silage, and corn silage– reached at least half of the dietary DM, (19)]. In that case, the milk samples were correctly classified in 84% of cases with fresh forages and in 57.6% of cases with mixed diets. In contrast, results of this note are similar to those based on the analysis of visible and near-infrared spectra of milk samples by Coppa et al. (20): in that case, the error of classification of pasture-based compared with hay-based diets was only 8.5%.

The FAs most relevant for the discrimination (C13:0 *iso*, C14:0, C16:1 7c, C18:1 11t, CLA 11t 13c, C22:5 7c 10c 13c 16c 19c) partially align with those found by Coppa et al. (18) as biomarkers of fresh forages in milk of dairy cows. In our case, an important role was played by some FAs sourced from *de novo* synthesis (C13:0 and C14:0) or from mixed origin (C16:1 7c). According to Vlaminck et al. (21), odd-chain FAs, such as C13:0 and C17:0, are potential markers of microbial activity, assuming their ruminal origin. In contrast, long-chain FAs, such as C18:1 11t and CLA 11t 13c, are in line with previous results in sheep (22) and goats (23) that showed higher levels in milk sourced from fresh herbage-based diets. The higher polyunsaturated n-3 FA concentration in the diet richest in grazed herbage (6 h/d

group, **Table 1**) explains the presence also of C22:5 7c 10c 13c 16c 19c (DPA), a long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) that comes from the elongation of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid.

The only alkane selected by GA for milk authentication was C24 in milk, which was also the shortest chain alkane detected in milk. Its amount and its proportion on total milk alkanes are both low (1.08 mg/L and 4.08%), with numerically higher levels in milks of sheep with the lowest allocation to pasture (1.33, 0.86, and 1.06 mg/L in 2, 4, and 6 h/d treatment groups). Although grasses contain mainly long-chain alkanes (C29–C33, **Supplementary Table 1**), their digestibility is low, and this explains their low milk concentration in our milk dataset. The level of C24 was almost undetectable in feces, confirming its probable digestion and uptake. To the best of our knowledge, data on n-alkane concentration in sheep milk are not available; hence, this finding warrants further investigation.

The estimation of herbage intake was moderately precise after the selection of the relevant variables. The main explanatory variables are overall related to the level of PUFA in sheep diet and hence in milk, particularly n–3 FA, such as C18:3 9c 12c 15c, in the herbage (CLA 11t 13t, C20:5 5c 8c 11c 14c 17c, and n3/n6) and to the ruminal metabolism of amino acids (C13:0 iso) (21). Another FA, C20:0, was found to be moderately negatively correlated to dietary herbage contribution (r = -0.49, P < 0.05), and it could be possibly associated with the intake of lupin seed (see below).

The estimation of the proportion of herbage in the diet after GA-LDA was similar to that obtained by Coppa et al. (19) in bulk cow milk samples gathered across Europe and submitted to conventional FA analysis ( $R^2 = 0.81$  in calibration and 0.79 in validation). In our study, as expected, the most relevant biomarkers for the prediction of HP were partially the same selected for the prediction of HDMI. They were the alkane in milk C24 and the FAs C13:0 iso, C16:1 7c, C20:0, CLA11t 13t, C20:5 5c 8c 11c 14c 17c, and n3/n6. The other FA estimators, such as C18:2 9c 12c and C20:3 5c 8c 11c, are possibly metabolites sourced from lupin seed intake. Linoleic acid, together with oleic acid (**Supplementary Table 1**), is the most relevant FA in the lupin seed used in our study, and C20:3 5c 8c 11c could derive from the metabolism of linoleic acid by the elongase/desaturase activities that occur at the mammary level.

#### CONCLUSION

This note shows that using milk FA and n-alkane to trace milks from dairy sheep submitted to PTG provides encouraging

#### REFERENCES

1. Cabiddu A, Delgadillo-Puga C, Decandia M, Molle G. Extensive ruminant production systems and milk quality with emphasis on unsaturated fatty acids, volatile compounds, anti-oxidant protection degree and phenol content. *Animals.* (2019) 9:771. doi: 10.3390/ani91 00771 results. Firstly, the authentication performance based on one milk n-alkane and six milk FAs as biomarkers was very good, with almost 96% of samples correctly classified. Fecal alkanes were not selected as biomarkers of feeding regimen. This means that the combined use of FAs and alkane biomarkers in milk allows to successfully distinguish milks that come from pretty similar mixed feeding regimens, differing for only 2 h/d AT to pasture. Secondly, this study shows that the proportion of herbage in sheep diet can be precisely estimated using the above biomarkers. Finally, herbage intake can also be predicted, although estimates are only moderately precise. These results need to be confirmed on a longer grazing period using a wider database, possibly including other forage species and different supplementation levels.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Agris ethical committee.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GM planned the experiment with AC and MAd and contributed to the on-field data collection and to the writing of the manuscript. MD and MAc contributed to the on-field experimental setting. GS and MF carried out the n-alkanes and FA analyses, respectively. MC carried out the statistical analysis and contributed to the writing of the paper. AC and MAd edited a preliminary release of the paper. All authors contributed to the last edition.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The field assistance of S. Picconi, S. Pintus, and all the farm and laboratory staff is gratefully acknowledged.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.623784/full#supplementary-material

- Prache S, Martin B, Coppa M. Review: authentication of grass-fed meat and dairy products from cattle and sheep. *Animal.* (2020) 14:854– 863. doi: 10.1017/S1751731119002568
- Teng F, Reis MG, Broadhurst M, Lagutin K, Samuelsson L, MaY, et al. Factors affecting levels of volatile 4-alkyl branched-chain fatty acids in sheep milk: a case study for sheep from 2 contrasting farming systems in New Zealand. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 2019:1–15. doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-17192

- Provenza FD, Kronberg SL, Gregorini P. Is Grassfed meat and dairy better for human and environmental health? *Front Nutr.* (2019) 6:26. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00026
- Molle G, Decandia M, Giovanetti V, Manca C, Acciaro M, Epifani G, et al. Grazing behaviour, intake and performance of dairy ewes with restricted access time to berseem clover. (*Trifolium alexandrinum* L.). pasture. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2017) 72:194–210. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12228
- Barca J, Carriquiri M, Olazabal L, Fajardo M, Chilibroste P, Meikle A. Milk fatty acid profile from cows fed with mixed rations and different access time to pastureland during early lactation. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr. (2017) 102:620–9. doi: 10.1111/jpn.12826
- Dove H, Mayes RW. Using n-alkanes and other plant wax components to estimate intake, digestibility and diet composition of grazing/browsing sheep and goats. *Small Rum Res.* (2005) 59:123–39. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2005.05.016
- Cerbulis J, Flanagan, VP, Farrel, HM. Composition of the hydrocarbon fraction of goats' milk. J Lipid Res. (1985) 26:1438– 43. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)34249-8
- Povolo M, Pelizzola V, Lombardi G, Tava A, Contarini G. Hydrocarbon and fatty acid composition of cheese as affected by the pasture vegetation type. J Agri Food Chem. (2012) 60:299–308. doi: 10.1021/jf203802y
- Coppa M, Cabiddu A, Elsässer M, Hulin S, Lind V, Martin B, et al. Grassland based products: quality and authentication. *Grassland Sci Eur.* (2017) 22:39–60.
- Molle G, Decandia M, Giovanetti V, Manca C, Acciaro M, Epifani G, et al. Effects of restricted time allocation to pasture on feeding behaviour, intake and milk production of dairy sheep rotationally grazing Italian ryegrass. (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam). in spring. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2014) 54:1233– 7. doi: 10.1071/AN14376
- Caredda M, Addis M, Ibba I, Leardi R, Scintu MF, Piredda G, et al. Prediction of fatty acid content in sheep milk by Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy with a selection of wavelengths by Genetic Algorithms. *Food Sci Technol.* (2016) 65:503–10. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2015.08.048
- Caredda M, Addis M, Ibba I, Leardi R, Scintu MF, Piredda G, et al. Building of prediction models by using Mid-Infrared spectroscopy and fatty acid profile to discriminate the geographical origin of sheep milk. *Food Sci Technol.* (2017) 75:131–6. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2016.08.053
- Addis M, Cabiddu A, Pinna G, Decandia M, Piredda G, Pirisi A, et al. Milk and cheese fatty acid composition in sheep fed mediterranean forages with reference to conjugated linoleic acid cis-9,trans-11. *J Dairy Sci.* (2005) 88:3443–54. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)7 3028-9

- Dove H, Mayes RW. Protocol for the analysis of n-alkanes and other plant-wax compounds and for their use as markers for quantifying the nutrient supply of large mammalian herbivores. *Nat Prot.* (2006) 1:1680– 96. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.225
- Fleiss JL, Levin B, Cho Paik M. The measurement of interrater agreement. In: Shewart WA, Wilks SS, editors. *Statistical Methods for Rates and Proportions*, third ed. New York, NY: John Wiley (2003). p. 598–626.
- Leardi R, Lupiañez Gonzalez A. Genetic algorithms applied to feature selection in PLS regression: how and when to use them. *Chem Intell Lab Syst.* (1998) 41:195–207. doi: 10.1016/S0169-7439(98)00051-3
- Leardi R. Genetic algorithms. Comp Chem. (2009) 1:631– 53. doi: 10.1016/B978-044452701-1.00039-9
- Coppa M, Chassaing C, Ferlay A, Agabriel C, Laurent C, Borreani G, et al. Potential of milk fatty acid composition to predict diet composition and authenticate feeding systems and altitude origin of European bulk milk. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:1539–51. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8794
- Coppa M, Martin B, Agabriel C, Chassaing C, Sibra C, Constant I, et al. Authentication of cow feeding and geographic origin on milk using visible and near-infrared spectroscopy. J Dairy Sci. (2012) 95:5544– 51. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-5272
- Vlaminck B, Fievez V, Cabrita ARJ, Fonseca AJM, Dewhurst RJ. Factors affecting odd- and branched-chain fatty acids in milk: a review. *Anim Feed Sci Tech.* (2006) 131:389–417. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2006.06.017
- Cabiddu A, Addis M, Fiori M, Spada S, Decandia M, Molle G. Pros and cons of the supplementation with oilseed enriched concentrates on milk fatty acid profile of dairy sheep grazing Mediterranean pastures. *Small Rum Res.* (2017) 147:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2016.11.019
- Renna M, Lussiana C, Cornale P, Fortina R, Mimosi A. Changes in goat milk fatty acids during abrupt transition from indoor to pasture diet. *Small Rum Res.* (2012) 108:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2012.06.007

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Molle, Cabiddu, Decandia, Acciaro, Scanu, Addis, Fiori and Caredda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# Can FT-Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy of Milk Samples Discriminate Different Dietary Regimens of Sheep Grazing With Restricted Access Time?

Giovanni Molle<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Cabiddu<sup>1\*</sup>, Mauro Decandia<sup>1</sup>, Maria Sitzia<sup>1</sup>, Ignazio Ibba<sup>2</sup>, Valeria Giovanetti<sup>1</sup>, Giuseppe Scanu<sup>1</sup>, Margherita Addis<sup>1</sup> and Marco Caredda<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Agris Sardegna, Olmedo, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Associazione Regionale Allevatori (ARA) della Sardegna, Laboratorio Analisi Latte, Nuraxinieddu, Oristano, Italy

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Andrea Serra, University of Pisa, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Sergio S. González-Muñoz, Colegio de Postgraduados (COLPOS), Mexico Mabrouk Elsabagh, Kafrelsheikh University, Egypt

> \*Correspondence: Andrea Cabiddu acabiddu@agrisricerca.it

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Nutrition and Metabolism, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 11 December 2020 Accepted: 15 February 2021 Published: 08 April 2021

#### Citation:

Molle G, Cabiddu A, Decandia M, Sitzia M, Ibba I, Giovanetti V, Scanu G, Addis M and Caredda M (2021) Can FT-Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy of Milk Samples Discriminate Different Dietary Regimens of Sheep Grazing With Restricted Access Time? Front. Vet. Sci. 8:623823. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.623823

Milk obtained from sheep grazing natural pastures and some forage crops may be worth a plus value as compared to milk obtained from stall-fed sheep, due to their apparently higher content of beneficial fatty acids (FAs). Fourier transformed mid-infrared (FT-MIR) analysis of FA can help distinguish milk from different areas and diverse feeding systems. The objective was to discriminate milk from sheep and milk from dairy sheep rotationally grazing Italian ryegrass or berseem clover for 2, 4, or 6 h/day. To test this hypothesis, a data-mining study was undertaken using a database of 1,230 individual milk spectra. Data were elaborated by principal component analysis (PCA) and analyzed by linear discriminant analysis (LDA) with or without the use of genetic algorithm (GA) as a variable selection tool with the primary aim to discriminate grazed forages (grass vs. legume), access time (2, 4, or 6 h/day), grazing day (first vs. last grazing day during the 7-day grazing period), and the milking time (morning vs. afternoon milking). The best-fitting discriminant models of FT-MIR spectra were able to correctly predict 100% of the samples differing for the pasture forage, 91.9% of the samples differing for grazing day, and 97.1% of the samples regarding their milking time. The access time (AT) to pasture was correctly predicted by the model in 60.3% of the samples, and the classification ability was improved to 77.0% when considering only the 2 and 6 h/day classes.

Keywords: authentication, fatty acids, pasture, chemometrics, FT-MIR, linear discriminant analysis

### **INTRODUCTION**

Grazing delivers high-quality ruminant products usually at a lower cost as compared to stall feeding (1). Grazing diets of dairy sheep result in positive effects on nutritional and health value, texture, oxidative stability, and flavor of dairy products (2). Moreover, products from pasture are perceived by consumers as more friendly for the environment and animal welfare than those coming from housed systems.

In Mediterranean dairy sheep production systems, diets only with pastures are rather rare because pasture availability is low, at least for part of the pasture growth cycle. Therefore, part-time grazing (PTG) i.e., a time-restricted allocation of ruminants to pasture is a widespread grazing technique in many areas of dairy sheep production. This technique has several benefits compared to 24-h grazing such as a better balancing of ruminant diet and a higher efficiency and evenness of herbage utilization, due to lower sward damages by animal trampling (3).

The allocation to pasture between 4 and 7 h/day can optimize the intake and performance of the dairy sheep (3-5). Besides, PTG can improve the fatty acid (FA) composition of sheep milk (6), particularly if grazing is postponed to afternoon when the grazed herbage is higher in the beneficial polyunsaturated fatty acid (PFA) (n-3) (7).

A key to authenticate and value the grazing feeding regimens in the supply chain of meat and dairy ruminant is to trace milk back to the feeding system (8). The authentication of feeding regimens can be based on biomarkers such as milk FA (9–11), secondary plant metabolites [terpenoids, n-alkanes, and derivatives of chlorophyll (e.g., phytanic and pristanic acids)], and isotopes (12).

The multivariate analysis of spectra captured by Fourier transformed mid-infrared (FT-MIR) spectroscopy has the potential to trace the feeding regimens of cows since spectra contain information that goes beyond that resulting from the analyses of biomarkers (13). Moreover, these methods, if properly calibrated and validated, open up new avenues for the implementation of authentication technology in the dairy industry.

Despite the growing body of knowledge on biomarkers and the development of rapid, low-cost analytical techniques and associated chemometrics that are able to discriminate the feeding regimens of ruminants, tracing of dairy sheep supply chains is still in its infancy.

This paper is an outcome of a wider research program undertaken at Agris Sardegna between 2013 and 2016 for evaluating the impact of PTG on their ingestive behavior and milk production of dairy ewes (3, 4, 14, 15).

This study aims at evaluating the ability of FT-MIR spectra to authenticate individual milk sourced from dairy sheep submitted to PTG at different access time (AT) to different forage crops: a grass (Italian ryegrass, *Loliumitalicum*, Lam) and a legume (berseem clover, *Trifolium alexandrinum* L.).

Genetic algorithms (GAs) were successfully used by our laboratories to select the informative variables for the estimation of the sheep milk fatty acids in FT-MIR spectroscopy (16) and in the selection of the FA and the FT-MIR spectral regions that are able to trace the geographical origin of sheep milk (17).

The specific objective of this study was to assess the ability of linear discriminant analysis (LDA) with or without the use of GA to discriminate (a) grass vs. legume pastures; (b) AT (2, 4, or 6 h/day), (c) grazing day (first vs. last grazing day during a 7-day grazing period); (d) milking time (morning vs. afternoon). To this aim, in order to set a benchmark for model interpretation, the effects of the factors under study were evaluated using both

univariate analysis and multivariate principal component analysis (PCA).

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Pasture and Sheep Feeding

The milk samples were collected in 2013 (Experiment 1, E1) and 2014 (Experiment 2, E2) from Sarda ewes under PTG of grass (G, E1), Italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam, cultivar Teanna), and a legume (L, E2) berseem clover (*Trifolium alexandrinum* L, cultivar Laura). The experiments were conducted at the Bonassai research station, north-western Sardinia [40° N, 8° E, 32 meters above sea level (m.a.s.l.)] from the end of February to early May in both years (growth period of the pasture). In both studies, 36 mid-lactation Sarda ewes, divided into replicated groups (two groups per treatment) part-time grazed their pasture for an AT of 2 h/day (8:00–10:00), 4 h/day (8:00–12:00), or 6 h/day (8:00–14:00). The pasture plots, divided by electric fences into four subplots, were rotationally grazed, with 7 days of occupation per subplot and a recovery period of 21 days.

The ewes were machine-milked twice daily at 07:00 h and 15:00 h. After morning milking, the groups were carried on a trailer to the plots where they spent the scheduled time. During the remaining daytime, the ewes were kept indoor in separate pens. The ewes were supplemented daily with pellet concentrate (400 g/head, divided into two meals at milking), lupin seed (300 g/head, E1), or whole maize grain (300 g/head, E2) after grazing, and 700 g/head of ryegrass-based hay overnight. The flat supplementation rate was set in order to meet 100% of the energy requirement of the 4 h/day treatment and 100% metabolic protein requirements of the 2 h/day treatment. For details on pasture establishment, animal management, methods adopted, and performance results, the reader can refer to Molle et al. (3) (E1) and Molle et al. (4) (E2). A summary of the average group diet composition and energy intake on the first and last days of the grazing period is given in Table 1.

### Samplings

Milk yield and milk composition were measured on all ewes on day 1 and 7 of each grazing period. Milk samples were assayed for milk fat, protein, and lactose contents (Milkoscan FT+, Foss Electric, Hillerød, Denmark). Excluding the pre-experimental, adaptation period, 632 samples were gathered from March 20, 2013 to April 28, 2013 (E1), and 598 samples were gathered from 11 March 2014 to 22 April 2014 (E2), resulting in a total of 1,230 samples.

### Fourier Transformed Mid-Infrared Spectra

Fourier transformed mid-infrared spectra of the sheep milk samples were recorded on a Spectrometer Milkoscan FT6000 (Foss Electric, Hillerød, Denmark) in the spectral region between 925.9 and 5,011.5 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The instrumental resolution was 3.858 cm<sup>-1</sup>, and each spectrum consisted of 1,060 data points. The acquisition of each sample was carried out as duplicate and then averaged. **Figure 1** shows the overlapping of the 1,230 milk spectra.

Forages/trial	AT	Grazing day	Ash		EE		CP		NDF		ADF		NFC		IVDMD		Intake NE <sub>L</sub>	
			Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD										
Ryegrass/E1	2	1	105	7	34	2	156	9	461	10	247	7	245	17	754	23	2.7	0.3
		7	104	7	32	2	148	7	474	21	254	15	243	20	734	45	2.5	0.4
	4	1	107	10	35	2	154	12	456	12	241	9	249	27	773	32	3.4	0.6
		7	107	11	32	2	141	8	479	27	256	16	241	28	735	59	2.9	0.5
	6	1	107	11	35	2	158	13	452	15	236	10	248	24	775	33	3.8	0.6
		7	111	10	31	2	140	8	485	22	258	15	233	18	726	49	3.0	0.5
Clover/E2	2	1	102	6	41	4	173	12	382	42	229	21	301	33	764	38	3.5	0.5
		7	104	7	39	4	165	6	381	28	232	14	311	27	760	20	3.5	0.5
	4	1	108	3	42	З	181	11	371	23	225	10	298	19	779	24	4.5	0.4
		7	116	14	39	6	169	12	377	25	232	18	299	15	772	24	4.6	0.7
	6	1	106	4	44	4	187	12	360	36	214	15	303	27	792	25	4.5	0.2
		7	112	8	40	7	178	14	363	25	221	15	307	18	781	27	4.4	0.7

**TABLE 1** | Diet composition and energy intake of dairy ewes part-time grazing (PTG) with different access time (AT, h/day) to pastures of Italian ryegrass or berseem clover as measured on the first (day 1) and last day (day 7) of the grazing period of 7 days.

Each mean refer to n = 8 group data; Means and SD.

Diet composition expressed as g/kg DM and net energy intake (NE<sub>L</sub>) as Mcal/head day.

EE, ether extract; CP, crude protein; NDF, neutral detergent fiber (ash excluded); ADF, acid detergent fiber; NFC, non-fiber-carbohydrates; IVDMD, pepsine-cellulase in vitro dry matter digestibility.



Since the regions from 1608.8 to 1697.5 cm<sup>-1</sup> and from 3044.0 to 3850.3 cm<sup>-1</sup> were characterized by a strong instrumental noise and the region from 3850.3 to 5011.5 cm<sup>-1</sup> was characterized by pure baseline, these regions were not used in the data analysis. Therefore, we considered the regions between 925.9 and 1604.9 cm<sup>-1</sup> and between 1701.4 and 3040.1 cm<sup>-1</sup> as "whole spectrum," totaling 525 spectral variables.

# Principal Component Analysis of the Spectral Data Set

Principal component analysis was performed on the database consisting of 1,230 samples and 525 spectral variables. Data were centered and scaled. The obtained score plot (**Figure 2A**) and diagnostic plot  $T^2$  vs. Q (**Figure 2B**) were used to identify possible outliers. Five samples were considered as outliers and



removed from the data set; the data now contain 1,225 samples. PCA was run on the chemometric agile tool (CAT) software, developed by the Group of Chemometrics of the Division of Analytical Chemistry of the Italian Chemical Society, freely downloadable from the site, gruppochemiometria.it.

### Prediction of Fatty Acids in Milk by FT-MIR

The fatty acid (FA) composition of the 1,225 milk samples was predicted by FT-MIR spectroscopy, using previously published prediction models (16). The predicted (FAs), expressed as g/100 g fatty acid methyl esters (FAME), include C4:0, C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C12:0, C14:0, C16:0, C18:0, C18:1 9c, C18:1 11t; C18:2 9c 12c, C18:3 9c 12c 15c, C18:2 9c 11t, and the classes of saturated fatty acids (SFA), unsaturated fatty acids (UFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), omega 6 (n-6), and omega 3 (n-3).

# Univariate Analysis and PCA of the FA Profile

The predicted FA database was subjected to a mixed model analysis for repeated measurements considering fixed factors, pasture forage species/trial (grass and legume), AT (2 h/day, 4 h/day, and 6 h/day), grazing day during grazing period (first, day 1 and last, day 7), milking time [morning (M) and afternoon (A)] and all their first- order interactions and the ewe within the treatment group as random factor. Means were compared by Tukey–Kramer *t*-test, when effects were significant at p < 0.05. Trends are presented and discussed if p < 0.10.

Principal Component Analysis was performed on the milk FA profile to visualize any trend in data. Data were centered and scaled.

# **Building of the Discriminant Models**

First, the samples were labeled considering four different types of possible categorization, which include (1) the pasture forage, confounded with the supplementation type (named as forage/trial effect); (2) the AT to pasture; (3) the grazing day; (4) the milking time.

As for the AT to pasture, four different sample partitions were performed comparing the following factors: (a) the three categories (i.e., the treatment groups: 2, 4, and 6 h/day); (b) the 2 h/day and 4 h/day samples grouped together in one category against the 6 h/day samples; (c) the 4 h/day and 6 h/day samples grouped together in one category against the 2 h/day samples; (d) the 2 h/day samples against the 6 h/day samples.

Therefore, totally, we performed seven trials; for each one, the samples were randomly divided into a training set and a test set containing about 60 and 40% of the samples, respectively. **Table 2** summarizes the different trials and the sample partitioning into two sample sets (training and test).

Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) was used for discriminating the sheep milk samples based on their respective categories. For each trial, we proceeded as follows. In the first step, we built discriminant models using all FA or only the informative FA selected by GAs as predictors. In the second step, we built discriminant models using FT-MIR spectra as predictors. Different spectral pretreatments, such as the first and second derivatives, standard normal variate (SNV) and multiplicative scatter correction (MSC) were evaluated, finding no improvement of accuracy as compared to non-pretreated spectra. Therefore, we presented only the trials performed using the non-pretreated spectra.

For each discriminant model, calibration was performed by cross-validation (CV), using samples from the training set and

TABLE 2 | Trials and sample subdivision into training and test sets.

Trial		Categories	Number of	samples
			Training set	Test set
Pasture forage		Grass	393	239
		Legume	341	252
Access time (AT) to pasture	(a)	2 h/day	244	162
		4 h/day	245	165
		6 h/day	245	164
	(b)	(2 and 4) h/day	489	327
		6 h/day	245	164
	(C)	2 h/day	244	162
		(4 and 6) h/day	490	329
	(d)	2 h/day	244	162
		6 h/day	245	164
Grazing day		Day 1	397	262
		Day 7	337	229
Milking time		Afternoon	374	236
		Morning	360	255

validation was run using samples from the test set (prediction of an external set of samples).

When we applied LDA to FT-MIR spectra, different predictors were considered, as LDA cannot use the whole spectra because the number of correlated variables would be too high:

(1) the scores obtained in the PCA of the spectral data set.

To do this, the following procedure was applied:

- principal component analysis of spectra training set;
- projecting the spectra of the test set on the PCA model obtained on the training set;
- use the obtained scores, i.e., those corresponding to the most informative components of the PCA obtained from the training set;
- (2) the average of three contiguous wavelengths of each milk spectrum, obtaining a reduction from 525 to 175 spectral variables;
- (3) the informative spectral variables selected by applying the GA to the spectral data set. A different selection of wavelengths was done for each trial. Since the efficiency of GA decreases when the number of variables is >200 (18), we applied GA to the averaged spectra of 175 variables. GA procedure was replicated five times in order to achieve a more consistent model. The spectral regions selected in the five runs were then compared and only those selected by the majority of the runs were retained in the final model. The selected variables were then reported on the original spectra composed of 525 variables.

Linear discriminant analysis was run on the CAT software, developed by the Group of Chemometrics of the Division of Analytical Chemistry of the Italian Chemical Society, freely downloadable from the site, gruppochemiometria.it.

### RESULTS

## Univariate and PCA of Predicted FA Profile

The univariate analysis of the predicted FA profile of the 1,225 sheep milk samples showed significant effects of pastures on forage species/trial and milking time on all FAs and their classes (**Table 3**). In contrast, the AT to pasture had a significant effect only on some short- to medium-chain FA (C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, and C12:0) and n-3 (p < 0.050), whereas the grazing day affected all variables with the exception of C12:0 (p < 0.073) and UFA. The content of short-chain fatty acids (with the exception of C6:0) and SFA was higher in milk samples from sheep grazing the legumes than the grass pastures. Also, the beneficial FAs (C18:1 11t; C18:2 9c 11t; C18:3 9c 12c 15c), PUFA, and n-3 had higher values in the samples from the legume-based diets. The same beneficial FAs were higher in the samples obtained from the first than the last grazing day and from the morning than the afternoon milking, with the exception of n-3 FA.

On the contrary, C18:2 9c 12c and MUFA had higher values in milk from the grass-fed sheep, afternoon milking, and the last grazing day.

Several interactions between factors affected the FA milk composition (**Table 3**) such as the one between AT and pasture forage. In fact, extending AT to pasture, the levels of C18:2 9c 11t and C18:3 9c 12c 15 c increased more in the milk of ewes grazing the grass in E1 than the legume in E2 (p < 0.05). Another significant interaction was between pasture forage and grazing day: C18:1 11t and C18:2 9c 11t decreased, whereas SFA increased when passing from the first to the last grazing day but only in the milk of the legume-grazing sheep (p < 0.05). On the contrary, C18:3 9c 12c 15c decreased during the grazing period only in the milk of the grass-grazing sheep.

Also, the milking time significantly interacted with pasture forage, AT, and grazing days. The morning milking samples had higher values of C18:1 11t than the afternoon samples, mainly in the samples of legume-grazing sheep alone (p < 0.01). Moreover, C18:2 9c 11t, C18:3 9c 12c 15c, and PUFA decreased in the morning samples when passing from the first to the last grazing day (p < 0.08 for C18:2 9c 11t, p < 0.05 for C18:3 9c 12c 15c, and PUFA). It is worth noting that n-3 levels were similar between afternoon and morning milking, only when AT was 6 h/day. With shorter AT, the levels were generally higher in the afternoon than in the morning milking samples.

**Figure 3** shows the score plot of the PCA of the FA data set of 1,225 sheep milk samples with reference to the following four types of categorization: (a) pasture forage/trial (grass and legume); (b) AT to pasture (2, 4, and 6 h/day); (c) grazing days (day 1 and 7); (d) milking times (A and M). The PCA of FA allowed to visually distinguish only the samples differing for the pasture forage/trial (**Figure 3A**), being the first principal component the axis in which the samples are separated. In the corresponding loading plot (**Figure 4**), the first component differentiates the samples based on their content of short- and medium-chain FAs (C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C12:0, and C14:0), SFA, and some UFAs, such as C18:1 11t and C18:2 9c 11t. All these FAs had higher values in the milk samples of the legume-fed ewes (**Table 3**). Instead, the

TABLE 3 | Fatty acid (FA) profile (means expressed as g/100 g fatty acid methyl ester (FAME), mean and standard error of the mean (SEM) of the sheep milk samples as estimated using Fourier transformed mid-infrared (FT-MIR) calibrations.

	C4	C6	C8	C10	C12	C14	C16	C18	C18:1 c9	C18:1t11	C18:2	C18:3	CLA	SFA	UFA	MUFA	PUFA	n-6	n-3
Fo/trial																			
Grass	3.93	3.67	2.18	6.25	3.54	10.09	24.00	10.42	18.60	1.32	2.31	0.67	0.85	68.33	31.19	26.45	5.89	3.00	1.31
Legume	4.16	3.05	2.62	7.92	4.33	11.13	24.54	9.39	12.90	3.08	1.83	1.04	1.48	70.46	29.75	23.49	7.02	3.09	2.13
At																			
2 h/day	4.03	2.77 a	2.30 a	6.74 a	3.78 a	10.42	24.23	10.01	16.30 b	2.14	2.11	0.84	1.13	68.66	30.99	25.44	6.38	3.07	1.68
4 h/day	4.02	2.86 ab	2.40 ab	7.13 ab	3.96 ab	10.69	24.47	9.95	15.70 ab	2.18	2.04	0.84	1.16	69.64	30.15	24.85	6.40	3.03	1.67
6 h/day	4.09	2.95 b	2.49 b	7.38 b	4.08 b	10.72	24.11	9.75	15.24 a	2.28	2.07	0.88	1.19	69.89	30.27	24.61	6.59	3.04	1.81
Gd																			
1	4.12	2.93	2.46	7.19	3.96	10.55	23.96	9.84	15.38	2.26	2.04	0.87	1.19	69.07	30.38	24.79	6.57	2.99	1.78
7	3.96	2.79	2.34	6.97	3.91	10.67	24.58	9.98	16.11	2.15	2.11	0.84	1.14	69.72	30.56	25.14	6.34	3.10	1.66
Mt																			
Afternoon	3.98	2.75	2.27	6.67	3.77	10.52	24.08	9.99	16.71	2.16	2.12	0.84	1.14	68.55	31.25	25.61	6.37	3.08	1.76
Morning	4.11	2.98	2.53	7.50	4.10	10.70	24.46	9.82	14.79	2.24	2.03	0.87	1.18	70.24	29.70	24.32	6.54	3.01	1.68
Mean	4.06	2.88	2.41	7.10	3.94	10.60	24.25	9.89	15.71	2.16	2.07	0.85	1.15	69.41	30.35	24.88	6.43	3.04	1.71
SEM	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.11	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.15	0.10	0.09	0.03	0.01	0.02
Effects, p<	:																		
Fo/trial	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.092	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.000
AT	0.662	0.018	0.018	0.007	0.013	0.165	0.665	0.566	0.027	0.332	0.114	0.221	0.405	0.099	0.311	0.207	0.167	0.403	0.051
Graze day	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.073	0.030	0.000	0.014	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.001	0.002	0.016	0.258	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000
Mt	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.003	0.002	0.000	0.027	0.000	0.004	0.003	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
$Fo\timesAT$	0.378	0.547	0.190	0.023	0.017	0.030	0.411	0.004	0.141	0.041	0.051	0.024	0.092	0.570	0.203	0.359	0.500	0.682	0.385
$At\timesGd$	0.011	0.331	0.993	0.761	0.402	0.798	0.542	0.118	0.400	0.993	0.865	0.154	0.602	0.895	0.651	0.700	0.639	0.650	0.420
$Fo\timesGd$	< 0.0001	0.002	0.015	0.498	0.240	0.603	0.299	< 0.0001	0.031	< 0.0001	0.601	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.693	0.231	0.197	0.001	0.429
$AT\timesMt$	0.440	0.468	0.585	0.729	0.774	0.958	0.843	0.000	0.007	0.108	0.720	0.181	0.157	0.817	0.093	0.073	0.122	0.074	0.036
$\text{Gd} \times \text{Mt}$	0.164	0.308	0.878	0.705	0.215	0.001	0.001	0.272	0.321	0.419	0.669	0.030	0.080	0.010	0.585	0.622	0.024	0.418	0.214
$\rm Fo   imes  Mt$	0.272	0.732	0.240	0.010	0.007	0.116	0.176	0.002	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.969	0.162	0.175	0.002	0.000	0.762	0.000	0.687

Fo/trial, pasture forage/trial; AT, access time; Gd, grazing day; Mt, milking time.





second principal component describes the variability inside each group of samples, which is mainly due to MUFA, UFA, and n-3. For the other types of categorizations, the visual separation of samples was not possible, even when plotting other principal components.

# Discriminant Analysis Using the FA Profile as Predictors

**Table 4** shows the results of LDA using both the entire FA profile and the selected FAs to predict the different origins of the milk samples.

### Discrimination of the Pasture Forage

When discriminating the pasture forages, the FAs were able to classify 100% of the samples of the training set and to correctly predict 100% of the test set samples. Applying GAs to the FA data set led to a reduction of the number of variables to be used in the prediction model. GA selected only C18:2 9c 12c, C18:3 9c 12c 15c, C18:2 9c 11t, PUFA, n-6, and n-3, maintaining the same accuracy of the model built using all the variables as predictors.

### Discrimination of the AT to Pasture

Using the whole FA profile as the predictor, only 47.8% of the samples of the training set and 43.8% of the test set were correctly

classified in the three categories, 2, 4, and 6 h/day. As can be seen in **Table 4**, an improvement was obtained grouping the 4 h/day with either 2 h/day samples or 6 h/day samples and comparing



FIGURE 4 | Loading plot of the principal component analysis (PCA) obtained using the fatty acid (FA) profile data set.

these new categories with the remaining ones (6 or 2 h/day, respectively). A further slight improvement was obtained when the LDA of FA was used to discriminate the 2 h/day from the 6 h/day samples, without considering the 4 h/day samples. In this case, 67.3% samples from the training set and 60.8% samples from the test set were correctly predicted.

Applying the GA allowed for a reduction of the number of variables in all the models. In the LDA of the three categories (2, 4, and 6 h/day), GA selected all individual SFAs (with the exception of C14:0), together with C18:1 11t, C18:2 9c 12c, and the classes, UFA n-6, and n-3. The resulting discriminant model correctly predicted 50.0 and 41.9% of the training and test set samples, respectively. As in the case of LDA, the LDA-GA of FA profile achieved slightly better discrimination accuracies when grouping the samples in order to compare only two categories (Table 4). The best result was obtained from the discrimination of the 2 h/day from the 6 h/day samples. The GA selected all the individual FAs (with the exception of C18:2 9c 11t), and the classes UFA, n-6, and n-3. The model built with the selected variables as predictors correctly classified 68.3% of the training set samples and 61.4% of the test set samples.

### Discrimination of the Grazing Day

The model built using the whole FA profile as a predictor for the discrimination of the grazing day correctly predicted 72.3 and 74.9% of the training samples and of the test set samples, respectively. The results were similar when building the model using the GA-selected variables, with 74.8% of the training set samples and 73.0% of the test set samples correctly classified. The

TABLE 4 | Percentage of correct classifications obtained by linear discriminant analysis (LDA) using the fatty acid (FA) profile or the FA selected by genetic algorithm (GA) as predictors.

Predictors	Past	ure forage		AT		AT		AT		AT	Gra	izing day	Mi	lking time
	Grass	Grass vs. Legume		2 vs. 4 vs. 6		(2+4) vs. 6		2 vs. (4+6)		2 vs. 6		Day 1 vs. Day 7		g vs. Afternoon
	cv	Pred.	CV	Pred.	cv	Pred.	CV	Pred.	с٧	Pred.	cv	Pred.	CV	Pred.
FA profile	100	100	47.8	43.8	63.1	57.9	64.0	60.8	67.3	60.8	72.3	74.9	88.6	88.8
FA selected by GA	100	100	50.0	41.9	65.7	59.9	65.1	59.4	68.3	61.4	74.8	73.0	89.0	88.8
Selected FA	C18	3:1 9c	(	04:0	C	24:0	(	04:0	(	C4:0	(	C4:0	C6	:0
	C18:2	9c 12c	(	0:60	C	0:0	(	0:0	(	0:60	(	C6:0	C8	:0
	C18:3	3 9c 12c	(	0:80	C	0:8	(	0:8	(	0:80	(	C8:0	C10	):0
	1	5c	С	10:0	С	10:0	С	10:0	С	10:0	C12:0		C14	:0
	C18:2	C18:2 9c 11t		12:0	С	12:0	С	12:0	С	12:0	C	014:0	C16	6:0
	PUFA		С	16:0	С	14:0	С	14:0	С	14:0	C1	8:1 9c	C18:1	1 9c
	n-6		C18:0		С	16:0	C16:0		C16:0		C18:1 11t		C18:2 9c 12c	
	1	n-3	C18	3:1 11t	С	18:0	С	18:0	С	18:0	C18:	2 9c 12c	C18:2 9	9c 11t
			C18:	2 9c 12c		B:1 9c	C1	8:1 9c	C1	8:1 9c		SFA	SE	A
			I	JFA	C18	3:1 11t	C18	3:1 11t	C18	3:1 11t	F	PUFA	UF	A
				n-6	C18:2	2 9c 12c		3 9c 12c	C18:	2 9c 12c		n-6	PUF	Ā
				n-3	C18:	3 9c 12c		15c	C18:	3 9c 12c		n-3	n-6	6
						15c	C18:	2 9c 11t		15c			n-	3
					C18:	2 9c 11t	:	SFA	l	JFA				
					ι	JFA	l	JFA		n-6				
						n-6		n-6		n-3				
						n-3								
N. selected variables		7		12		16		15		15		12		13

AT, access time; CV, cross validation; Pred., prediction; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; UFA, unsaturated fatty acid; SFA, saturated fatty acid.

selected variables include, C4:0, C6:0, C8:0, C12:0, C14:0, C18:1 9c, C18:1 11t, C18:2 9c 12c, SFA, PUFA, n-6, and n-3.

### **Discrimination of the Milking Time**

The model built with all the FA variables correctly predicted the milking time origin in 88.6% and 88.8% of the training and test set samples, respectively. GA selected C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C14:0, C16:0, C18:1 9c, C18:2 9c 12c, C18:2 9c 11t, SFA, UFA, PUFA, n-6, and n-3, and the model built using these variables correctly predicted 89.0% of the training set samples and 88.8% of the test set samples.

# Discriminant Analysis Using the FT-MIR Spectra as Predictors

The results expressed as percentages of correct classifications both in the training set (CV) and in the test set (prediction) are shown in **Table 5**, which also shows the spectral regions selected by GA for each discriminant model. The selected spectral regions are also shown in **Figure 5**.

### **Discrimination of Pasture Forage**

When discriminating the pasture forages, the model built using the PCA scores led to 78.9% of correct classification for the training set and to 76.0% of correct predictions of the external sample set, whereas 100% of samples were correctly classified in the calibration and in the validation steps, using either the whole averaged spectra or the variables selected by the GA (**Table 5**).

### Discrimination of the AT to Pasture

The three AT categories (2 h/day vs. 4 h/day vs. 6 h/day) were poorly discriminated using the PCA scores as predictors, with only 38.5 and 39.8% of correct classifications for the training and the test sets, respectively. The results improved when using the whole averaged spectra as predictors reaching 56.4% and 60.5% of correct classifications for the two sample sets. The application of GA led to a reduction of variables from 525 to 222, corresponding to 14 spectral regions, but the model accuracies were not improved, with 58.4 and 60.3% of samples correctly predicted in the training and test sets, respectively.

When grouping the 2 h/day samples and the 4 h/day samples in the same category and comparing them to the 6 h/day samples, the discriminant model obtained using the PCA scores led to 55.1% of correct classification for the training set and to 55.0% of correct predictions for the test set. The use of the averaged spectra as predictors, improved the results to 70.1 and 70.8%, respectively. Using the GA-selected spectral variables led to similar results: 72.0 and 71.0% of correct classifications for the training and test sets, respectively.

Slightly better accuracies were achieved when the 4 h/day samples were grouped together with the 6 h/day samples in the same category and discriminated from the 2 h/day samples. The PCA scores as predictors led to 54.7 and 56.1% of calibration and validation accuracies. The corresponding values were 71.2 and 75.6%, respectively using the whole averaged spectra as predictors, and 72.3 and 75.6% with the GA-selected variables.

Finally, the discrimination of the 2 h/day samples from the 6 h/day samples did produce the best accuracy among the

AT trials when using the whole averaged spectra or the GAselected variables as predictors. In fact, the use of the PCA scores in the building of the model led to 55.0 and 55.6% of correct classifications in the samples of the training and test sets, respectively, but the use of the whole averaged spectra as predictors led to 73.0% of correct classifications in the calibration step and 78.5% of correct prediction in the validation step. The application of GA to the spectra reduced the number of variables used as predictors, from 525 to 168, and the model correctly predicted 72.4% of the training set samples and 77.0% of the test set samples.

### Discrimination of the Grazing Day

The model built using the PCA scores was not satisfactory as only 55.2% of samples were assigned to the right category (**Table 5**). The model built considering the whole averaged spectra as predictors led to an improvement of the results, with 92.8% of correct classification in the calibration step and 93.7% of correct predictions in the validation step. GAs selected 324 variables out of 525, leading to percentages of correct classification of 91.1% for the calibration step and 91.9% for the validation step.

### Discrimination of the Milking Time

In this case, even the model built using the PCA scores as predictors led to good results, as the percentage of correct classifications was 91.5% for the training set samples and 91.0% for the test set samples. The use of the whole averaged spectra led to 98.5 and 98.6% of correct classifications. The GA led to a reduction of about half of the total spectral variables (from 525 to 258), and to a correct classification of 97.8% of the training and 97.1% of the test samples, respectively.

# DISCUSSION

## Univariate and PCA of Predicted FA Profile

Since the specific objective of this paper is the tracing of milk produced by ewes having different feeding regimes, we will briefly discuss the results of the above analysis, which set the benchmark for evaluating and interpreting the performance of the discriminant analysis. As expected, the univariate analysis of milk FA showed that increasing the amount and quality of herbage in the diet enhances the level of beneficial FA in milk (2). In fact, this study explores a wide range of diets, going from low quantity (2 h/day) of moderate quality herbage (day 7 on the grass) to high quantity (6 h/day) of high-quality herbage (day 1 on the legume, Table 1). In particular, the average intake of grass on the AT 2 h/day was 648 g DM (35% of total intake), with the neutral detergent fiber (NDF) level of 493 g/kg DM and a crude protein (CP) level of 119 g/kg DM on day 7 (3), whereas on the legume with AT of 6 h/day, the average intake was 1,723 g DM (62% of total intake), with the NDF level of 328 g/kg DM and CP level of 231 g/kg DM on day 1 (4). We can reasonably argue that this wide range of nutrient composition was mirrored by an even wider range of FA intake, since berseem clover has usually higher content of long-chain fatty acid (LCFA) than the Italian ryegrass, according to our laboratory data (19, 20). Although the grazed forage had a major impact on FA profile, since the TABLE 5 | Percentage of correct classifications obtained by LDA using FT-MIR spectra as predictors.

Predictors	Pas	ture forage		AT		AT		AT		AT	Gr	azing day	М	ilking time
	Grass vs. Legume		2 vs. 4 vs. 6		(2+4) vs. 6		2 vs. (4+6)		2 vs. 6		Day	1 vs. Day 7	Mornin	g vs. Afternoor
	CV	Pred.	CV	Pred.	CV	Pred.	CV	Pred.	CV	Pred.	cv	Pred.	CV	Pred.
PCA scores	78.9	76.0	38.5	39.8	55.1	55.0	54.7	56.1	55.0	55.6	55.2	56.4	91.5	91.0
Averaged spectra	100	100	56.4	60.5	70.1	70.8	71.2	75.6	73.0	78.5	92.6	93.7	98.5	98.6
GA selected regions	100	100	58.4	60.3	72.0	71.0	72.3	75.6	72.4	77.0	91.1	91.9	97.8	97.1
Selected spectral regions (cm <sup>-1</sup> )	1261.	4–1026.2 6–1292.4 .9–2993.8	1377 1435 1493 1701 2256 2488 2581 2650 2743 2766 2835	9-1315.6 3-1408.2 .2-1466.0 .0-1604.9 .4-1767.0 .7-2079.5 .9-2287.8 .4-2530.8 .0-2611.9 .4-2692.9 .0-2750.7 .2-2808.6 .6-2866.5 .2-2947.5	1145 1504 1574 2245 2395 2662	.5-1095.7 .8-1269.3 .6-1523.9 .1-1593.3 .4-2287.8 .8-2426.7 .0-2681.3 .1-2854.9	1030 1273 1388 1539 1701 1770 2268 2442 2476 2557 2777 2858	.1-956.8 .1-1165.1 .1-1361.9 .9-1442.9 .3-1604.9 .4-1720.7 .8-1824.8 .5-2276.2 .1-2449.8 .8-2496.1 .8-2696.1 .8-2696.3 .8-2797.5 .8-2866.5 .6-2924.4	1134. 1284. 1388. 1516 1701 1782 2245 2453 2638	51-1118.82 25-1269.28 71-1315.58 38-1408.17 .2-1604.9 .4-1743.8 .4-1801.7 .4-2287.8 .7-2519.3 .9-2692.9 .2-2854.9	1041.6 1157.4 1342.5 1388.8 1539.3 1701.3 1817.7 2094.8 2303.2	49–956.78 56–1095.67 40–1304.00 58–1373.45 38–1489.19 34–1604.93 38–1766.96 12–2056.31 39–2241.50 23–2438.26 02–2866.49	1111.1 1261.5 1446.7 1712.9 1817.1 2303.2 2384.2 2442.1 2499.9 2638.8 2708.3	1084.10 0-1211.41 7-1431.32 5-1581.78 5-1801.69 2-1847.98 3-2322.52 4-2426.68 1-2449.83 8-2530.85 7-2658.16 2-2727.61 06-2959.09
N. selected variables		27		222		102		153		168		324		258
N. spectral regions		3		14		8		14		11		11		13

CV, cross validation; pred, prediction based on test data set; PCA, principal component analysis; GA, genetic algorithm.



supplementation changed between experiments, we cannot rule out that the different types of supplements can have an impact on the results obtained. For this reason, we conventionally refer to the effect of pasture forage combined with the supplementation type, nested in the trials (E1 and E2) as forage/trial effect.

It is well-known that leaves contain more LCFA than stems, as observed in berseem clover by Cabiddu et al. (20). This can suggest a higher intake of LCFA on the 1st day than on the last grazing day of the grazing periods throughout the experiments.

Actually, the effect of the different forages/trials was very strong on all variables. The effect of the grazing day was evident in most of them but the effect of AT was moderate, with a higher content of short FA and n-3 in the milk obtained from the highest AT (6 h/day), being 4 h/day intermediate. This is because the intake of herbage was also intermediate in these ewes as compared to the extreme levels of AT (3, 14). Moreover, the level of linoleic acid was possibly higher in the diets of sheep with lower AT, since lupin and maize are rich in linoleic acid (21, 22). This can explain why FA tended to be higher in milk samples from low-AT ewes.

Milking time has been so far an overlooked factor of milk FA composition in sheep. Few studies refer to the effects of milking times in grazing cows (19), but the milking schedule and feeding regimes are very different from the feeding background which is under scrutiny for a useful comparison. In our conditions, the schedule of grazing allocation in the morning and of supplementary main meals in the afternoon probably favored an increase of beneficial FA in the morning milk rather than in the afternoon milk, with exception of n-3. In the prevailing n-3 FA,

linolenic acid was however not affected likewise. It is possible that other n-3 FAs, such as EPA and DHA were responsible for this inconsistency. In general, the longer n-3 needs several elongation and desaturation steps which may explain for a longer lag time between the intake of precursors and appearance in milk. Other long-chain PUFA can also be contained in lupin seed (22). In general, afternoon samples were characterized by higher levels of linoleic and oleic acid which can be sourced from supplements [linoleic acid in maize and lupin and oleic acid in lupin (21, 22), and/or the fat depot mobilization (oleic acid).

# Discriminant Analysis Using the FA Profile as Predictors

Pasture forages/trials were accurately discriminated using the FA profile and GA selected only six informative variables, such as C18:2 9c 12c, C18:3 9c 12c 15c, C18:2 9c 11t, PUFA, n-6, and n-3. All the above FAs, with the exception of the linoleic acid, were higher in the milk of legume-grazing ewes. Discrimination between different forage-based diets is rather uncommon using this LDA approach, but previous results of our laboratory showed that legumes tend to increase the level of C18:1 11t, C18:2 9c 11t, and occasionally C18:3 9c 12c 15c and n-6 in sheep milk (23).

In contrast, AT was rather poorly discriminated using the FA profile, for several reasons: first, this discrimination was more challenging since three categories were implied instead of two. Second, as shown by the univariate analysis, the difference between AT levels was evident only in a small number of FA, basically from *de novo* synthesis at the mammary gland level, with the exception of C4:0. Third, since there were three instead

of two categories under focus, a smaller number of samples was present per category. The diet including a higher level of grazed herbage (6 h/day) was probably able to increase ruminal acetate production which is the main precursor for milk fat synthesis. However, since the supplementation partially compensated for the lower herbage intake in the ewes with the lowest AT (2 h/day), the GA-LDA of their FA profile poorly discriminated the 2 h/day from the 6 h/day samples, showing a large error (39 % of the test set samples). Interestingly, almost the same FAs were selected by GA in the four different trials that regarded AT to pasture discrimination. The common selected FAs were all the SFAs, except C14:0, C18:1 11t, UFA, and n-6. Distinguishing among mixed diets, including grazed herbage and supplements is a very challenging task, as already demonstrated by Coppa et al. (10).

The GA-LDA of the FA profile performed better when comparing milk from different grazing days. In fact, the milk collected in the first and last grazing days of the rotational scheme implemented in both studies was distinguished with 73.0% of accuracy in the test set. Interestingly, among the selected variables, some are also indicators of long AT, in particular, the short- and medium-chain FAs, such as C6:0, C8:0, C12:0, and C14:0. The long-chain FAs were selected and their classes are all probably related to the level of precursors in the herbages, such as C18:1 11t, PUFA, n-6, and n-3, being higher in the first than in the last grazing day, whereas C18:1 9c (an indicator of body fat mobilization but also present in lupin), C18:2 9c 12c (concentrated in maize grain), and SFA were all related to high supplementation of proportion in the diet and poor herbage precursor intake and uptake.

The GA-LDA of FA profile was able to classify samples collected at different milking times with good accuracy (88.8% of the test set samples). This is in line with the relevant effect of milking time in the univariate analysis. Our milking schedule was thoroughly abided with an 8 h interval between morning and afternoon milking and a 16h interval between afternoon and morning milking. This can explain why milking time affected most of the milk FA, consistently across studies, with a few exceptions. Some of the GA-selected FA and FA classes were higher in the morning samples (C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C14:0, C16:0, C18:2 9c 11t, SFA, PUFA, and n-3, Table 4), mostly mirroring the intake of herbage precursors (except for SFA). The other GA-selected FA and FA classes were higher in the afternoon samples (C18:1 9c, C18:2 9c 12c, UFA, and n-6; Table 4) mostly mirroring the supplementation regime and the energy balance. To our knowledge, such a discrimination approach has not been implemented so far.

## Discriminant Analysis Using the FT-MIR Spectra as Predictors

Overall, the models built using FT-MIR of milk spectra (**Table 5**) gave better prediction accuracy than those based on FT-MIR of FA profile (**Table 4**). This advantage of spectra is explainable by the prediction error of FA (16), although small, which obviously does not affect the spectra. Moreover, spectra contain information that goes far beyond FA composition, being

also related to other milk components and the interaction between them.

Focusing on spectra-based LDA (**Table 5**), the predictions obtained by the PCA score-LDA models were overall less accurate than those obtained by the averaged spectra-LDA models and the GA-LDA models. The difference between LDA of averaged spectra and GA-LDA of whole spectra were minimal but the models built with a selection of variables are to be preferred as they contain only the informative variables. This makes these parsimonious models more simple and less sensitive to random variability, and therefore more stable and reliable for future predictions.

Despite the benefits of LDA of milk spectra as compared with that of predicted FA profile, spectra are *per se* less interpretable than predicted FA content, unless we are able to relate the absorbance at specific wavelengths with the presence/content of FA in milk. The following sections are devoted to this aim.

In the discrimination of the pasture forage, a connection between the FAs and the spectral regions selected by GA was found, since the region from 995.4 to 1026.2 cm<sup>-1</sup> is related to the absorbance of the C-H group bound to double bonds in *trans* configuration, present in C18:1 11t and C18:2 9c 11t. The latter FA was also selected by the GA-LDA of the FA profile. Actually, C18:1 11t and C18:2 9c 11t were much higher in the milk sampled from the legume than the grass-grazing ewes. In contrast, the regions from 1261.6 to 1292.4 cm<sup>-1</sup> and from 2962.9 to 2993.8 cm<sup>-1</sup> have no apparent connection to the selected FAs. In fact, these regions have no typical absorbance of chemical groups that differ in the FAs. For example, the last region is typical of the stretching vibrations of C-H bond in methyl groups which are present in all milk FA.

When discriminating the three AT categories, the GA selected only three regions that could contain absorbance peaks due to vibrations of chemical bonds present in FAs, and in particular, to the bending and stretching vibrations of C-H bond in methylene groups, present in saturated carbon chains; these regions are 1435.2 to 1466.0 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 2835.6 to 2866.5 cm<sup>-1</sup>, and 2928.2 to 2947.5 cm<sup>-1</sup>. This is partially in line with the selection by GA of C4:0, C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C12:0, C16:0, and C18:0 in the LDA based on the FA profile.

Similar spectral regions were selected for distinguishing the 2 h/day from the 4 and 6 h/day samples: from 1388.9 to 1442.9  $cm^{-1}$ , from 2858.8 to 2866.5  $cm^{-1}$ , and from 2916.6 to 2924.4  $cm^{-1}$ . These regions contain wavelengths on which the C-H bond in methylene groups absorbs the infrared beam light.

Instead, none of the spectral regions selected to discriminate the 6 h/day from the 2 and 4 h/day samples and the 2 h/day from the 6 h/day samples are related to any chemical bond that differs in the types of FAs and classes of FAs present in milk.

When discriminating for the grazing day, GA selected 11 spectral regions, two of which are related to saturated carbon chains, and consequently to the amount of sum of SFAs, which was also selected by the GA-LDA of FA profile.

The spectral regions selected by GA for the discrimination of different milking times contain absorbance peaks related to the bending vibrations of the C-H bond in *trans*-configuration double C=C bond (937.5 to 1084.1 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and to the bending

and stretching vibrations of the C-H bond in methylene groups (from 1446.7 to 1581.8 cm<sup>-1</sup> and from 2824.1 to 2959.1 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively). The first region could be therefore related to the amount of C18:2 9c 11t (one of the FAs selected by GA in the LDA of FA profile), whereas the latter two regions could be related to the amount of other selected FA, such as SFA and the individual SFAs, such as C6:0, C8:0, C10:0, C14:0, and C16:0. All the other selected spectral regions are not directly related to any selected fatty acid.

To sum up the discussion on the GA-LDA of FA and spectra, it is worthy to note that in the discrimination of the pasture forages/trials, AT, grazing days, and milking times in the GA-LDA based on FA, some of the selected FAs were common (C18:1 9c, C18:2 9c 12c, PUFA, n-6, and n-3, **Table 4**). Likewise, in the GA-LDA based on FT-MIR spectra, some of the selected regions were common (**Figure 5**). This recalls the gradient of precursor and nutrient intake that was explored in this study. In fact, the above FAs are indicators of herbage intake, and C18:1 9c, in particular, can also be sensitive to energy balance. Milk from ewes grazing only for 2 h/day were in fact the ones that show lower contents of some beneficial FAs, such as n-3, but also a higher content of oleic acid, possibly related to a higher desaturation of C18:0 at the fat tissue level.

## CONCLUSIONS

The comparison between the performance of the multivariate models confirms that the models using the GA-selected variables are to be preferred, as only the informative variables are retained, making the predictions more robust and hence reliable to be implemented to external data sets. The discrimination performance of GA-LDA as expected was better when the spectra were used instead of the milk FA content, estimated on the basis of previously validated calibrations, although the difference in accuracy between the approaches varied among targeted comparisons.

Individual milk samples from ewes under a rotational PTG of *Lolium multiflorum* and *Trifolium alexandrinum* were well-discriminated using the GA-LDA of their FA profile and even better applied using the same statistic to their FT-MIR spectra.

However, GA-LDA based only on FT-MIR spectra discriminated accurately individual milk samples collected in the first grazing day from those collected in the last grazing day and those collected in the morning from those collected in the afternoon milking.

In contrast, neither the GA-LDA of FA nor GA-LDA of spectra were able to accurately disentangle samples obtained from ewes

### REFERENCES

- Coppa M, Cabiddu A, Elsässer M, Hulin S, Lind V, Martin B, et al. Grassland based products: quality and authentication. *Grassland Sci Europe*. (2017) 22:39–60.
- Cabiddu A, Delgadillo-Puga C, Decandia M, Molle G. Extensive ruminant production systems and milk quality with emphasis on unsaturated fatty acids, volatile compounds, anti-oxidant protection degree and phenol content. *Animals.* (2019) 9:771. doi: 10.3390/ani9100771

having 2, 4, or 6 h/day AT to pasture, although the error was limited to c.a. 25% of samples with GA-LDA of spectra, if only the extreme AT milk were compared. This is in line with univariate analysis results which showed differences only for a few FA, between milk sourced from ewes with 2 and 6 h/day of AT to pasture.

These findings overall suggest that the best GA implemented in this study (GA-LDA of FT-MIR spectra) provides encouraging results for discriminating morning vs. afternoon milk samples and for tracing individual sheep milk back to sheep feeding regimen, with reference to the grazed forage and the grazing day, which can be regarded as an indicator of quality/amount of herbage eaten in rotationally stocked sheep. On the contrary, results are not yet fully satisfactory when discriminating mixed diets of ewes, part-time grazing with AT to pasture differing by 2 or 4 h/day.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study were reviewed and approved by Agris Ethical committee.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GM, AC, MD, and VG conceived the idea and performed the experimental design. MS helped for the field experiment. II carried out the milk chemical analysis. MA and MC carried out the simulation in the implementation of milk fatty acid analysis and spectral by chemometric approach. GM supervised the project. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the technicians and farm staff of Bonassai Research Center for their assistance with regard to on-field measurements and sheep management, respectively. The authors are also grateful to the staff of the laboratories of feedstuff and livestock product analysis (Agris, Bonassai) and milk analysis (Sardinian Breeder Association, ARAS, Oristano) for the chemical analyses.

- Molle G, Decandia M, Giovanetti V, Manca C, Acciaro M, Epifani G. Effects of restricted time allocation to pasture on feeding behaviour, intake and milk production of dairy sheep rotationally grazing Italian ryegrass (*Loliummultiflorum* Lam) in spring. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2014) 54:1233– 7. doi: 10.1071/AN14376
- Molle G, Decandia M, Giovanetti V, Manca C, Acciaro M, Epifani G. Grazing behaviour, intake and performance of dairy ewes with restricted access time to berseem clover (*Trifoliumalexandrinum* L.) pasture. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2017) 72:194–210. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12228

- Valenti B, Marletta D, De Angelis A, Di Paola F, Bordonaro S, Avondo M. Herbage intake and milk yield in Comisana ewe as effect of 4 vs7h of grazing during late lactation. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2017) 49:989– 94. doi: 10.1007/s11250-017-1287-7
- De Renobales M, Amores G, Arranz J, Virto M, Barrón LJR, Bustamante MA, et al. Part-time grazing improves sheep milk production and its nutritional characteristics. *Food Chem.* (2012) 130:90–6. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.07.002
- Gregorini P. Diurnal grazing pattern: its physiological basis and strategic management. Anim Prod Sci. (2012) 52:416–30. doi: 10.1071/AN11250
- Prache S, Martin B, Coppa M. Review: authentication of grass-fed meat and dairy products from cattle and sheep. *Animal.* (2020) 14:854– 63. doi: 10.1017/S1751731119002568
- Capuano E, van der Veer G, Boerrigter-Eenling R, Elgersma A, Rademaker J, SterianA, et al. Verification of fresh grass feeding, pasture grazing and organic farming by cows farm milk fatty acid profile. *Food Chem.* (2014) 164:234–41. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.05.011
- Coppa M, Chassaing C, Ferlay A, Agabriel C, Laurent C, Borreani G, et al. Potential of milk fatty acid composition to predict diet composition and authenticate feeding systems and altitude origin of European bulk milk. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:1539–51. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8794
- Mele M, Macciotta NPP, Cecchinato A, Conte G, Schiavon S, Bittante G. Multivariate factor analysis of detailed milk fatty acid profile: effects of dairy system, feeding, herd, parity, and stage of lactation. *J Dairy Sci.* (2016) 99:9820–33. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-11451
- Abbas O, Zadravec M, Baeten V, Mikuš T, Lešić T, Vulić A, et al. Analytical methods used for the authentication of food of animal origin. *Food Chem.* (2018) 246:6–17. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.11.007
- Bergamaschi M, Cipolat-Gotet C, Cecchinato A, Schiavon S, Bittante G. Chemometric authentication of farming systems of origin of food (milk and ripened cheese) using infrared spectra, fatty acid profiles, flavor fingerprints, and sensory descriptions. *Food Chem.* (2020) 305:125480. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125480
- 14. Molle G, Decandia M, Giovanetti V, Manca C, Acciaro M, Epifani G, et al. The timing of access to pasture affects ingestivebehaviour and milk yield of dairy ewes. *Grassland Sci Europe.* (2016) 21:415–7.
- Molle G, Decandia M, Giovanetti V, Manca C, Acciaro M, Cossu R, et al. Grazing behaviour of dairy ewes as affected by spatial and time allocation of forage crops. *Grassland Sci Europe*. (2018) 23:301–03.
- Caredda M, Addis M, Ibba I, Leardi R, Scintu MF, Piredda G, et al. Prediction of fatty acid content in sheep milk by Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy with a selection of wavelengths by Genetic Algorithms. *LWT Food Sci Technol.* (2016) 65:503–10. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2015. 08.048

- Caredda M, Addis M, Ibba I, Leardi R, Scintu MF, Piredda G, et al. Building of prediction models by using Mid-Infrared spectroscopy and fatty acid profile to discriminate the geographical origin of sheep milk. *LWT Food Sci Technol.* (2017) 75:131–6. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2016.08.053
- Leardi R. Genetic algorithms. Comprehens Chemometr. (2009) 1:631– 53. doi: 10.1016/B978-044452701-1.00039-9
- Cabiddu A, Addis M, Fiori M, Spada S, Decandia M, Molle G. Pros and cons of the supplementation with oilseed enrichedconcentrates on milk fatty acid profile of dairy sheep grazing Mediterranean pastures. *Small Ruminant Res.* (2017) 146:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2016.11.019
- Cabiddu A, Wencelová M, Bomboi G, Decandia M, Molle G, Salis L. Fatty acid profile in two berseem clover (*Trifoliumalexandrinum* L.) cultivars: preliminary study of the effect of part of plant and phenological stage. *Grassland Sci.* (2017) 63:101–10. doi: 10.1111/grs.12159
- FerlayA, Martin B, Lerch S, Gobert M, Pradel P, Chilliard Y. Effects of supplementation of maize silage diets with extruded linseed, vitamin E and plant extracts rich in polyphenols, and morning v. evening milking on milk fatty acid profiles in Holstein and Montbéliarde cows. *Animal.* (2010) 4:627– 40. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109991224
- Boschin G, D'Agostina A, Annicchiarico P, Arnoldi A. Effect of genotype and environment on fatty acid composition of *Lupinusalbus* L. seed. *Food Chem.* (2008) 108:600–6. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.11.016
- 23. Cabiddu A, Carta G, Molle G, Decandia M, Addis M, Piredda G, et al. Relationship between feeding regimen and content for conjugated linoleic acid in sheep milk and cheese. In: E Molina Alcaide, H Ben Salem, K Biala, P Morand-Fehr, editors, Sustainable Grazing, Nutritional Utilization and Quality of Sheep and Goat Products. Zaragoza: CIHEAM (2005). p. 171-5. (Options Méditerranéennes : Série A. SéminairesMéditerranéens; n. 67). First Joint Seminar of the FAO-CIHEAM Sheep and Goat Nutrition and Mountain and Mediterranean Pasture Sub-Networks, 2003/10/02-04, Granada (Spain). Available online at: http://om.ciheam.org/om/pdf/a67/06600038.pdf (accessed December 28, 2020).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Molle, Cabiddu, Decandia, Sitzia, Ibba, Giovanetti, Scanu, Addis and Caredda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Effect of Grazing Intensity and Sward Heterogeneity on the Movement Behavior of Suckler Cows on Semi-natural Grassland

Dina Hamidi<sup>1\*</sup>, Martin Komainda<sup>1</sup>, Bettina Tonn<sup>1,2</sup>, Jens Harbers<sup>1</sup>, Natascha Alexandria Grinnell<sup>1</sup> and Johannes Isselstein<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Crop Sciences, Grassland Science, University of Goettingen, Göttingen, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Center of Biodiversity and Sustainable Land Use, University of Goettingen, Göttingen, Germany

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Mauro Coppa, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France

### Reviewed by:

Matthieu Bouchon, Institut National de Recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement (INRAE), France Massimiliano Probo, Agroscope, Switzerland

> \***Correspondence:** Dina Hamidi dina.hamidi@uni-goettingen.de

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 08 December 2020 Accepted: 24 February 2021 Published: 26 March 2021

#### Citation:

Hamidi D, Komainda M, Tonn B, Harbers J, Grinnell NA and Isselstein J (2021) The Effect of Grazing Intensity and Sward Heterogeneity on the Movement Behavior of Suckler Cows on Semi-natural Grassland. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:639096. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.639096

Extensively grazed semi-natural grasslands contribute to a wide range of ecosystem services, including the preservation of biodiversity and provision of livestock feed. Depending on the grazing intensity, cattle are set in motion to fulfill their nutritional needs. In this way, they influence the vegetation composition, while at the same time the foraging behavior is affected by the vegetation. A better understanding of the relationship between grazing intensity and animal behavior is an essential component for strategies to improve the value of semi-natural grasslands and for gaining insights for the development of smart farming technologies. The long-term cattle grazing experiment "FORBIOBEN" with its replicated three paddock-scale (1 ha) grazing intensities [moderate (M), lenient (L), very lenient (VL)] was used to investigate the movement behavior of suckler cows during four grazing periods between 2017 and 2020. For this, pregnant suckler cows (Fleckvieh) were equipped with Vectronics GPS Plus (VECTRONIC Aerospace GmbH, Berlin) collars, which recorded the position of the animals at defined time intervals. The main outcomes were that with an increase in the grazing intensity, the herbage on offer declined and, consequently the herbage allowance. However, the spatial heterogeneity of the herbage on offer decreased with increasing grazing intensity (M < VL) which means that the amount of available herbage was lower but more evenly distributed under moderate grazing. Further, there was a tendency that the moderate grazing intensity was associated with the highest effort of walking compared to lenient and very lenient grazing in three out of four grazing periods. We found a strong (p <0.001) negative correlation among walking distance vs. herbage variability across all treatments × periods. Consequently, the grazing intensity itself was not a good predictor of walking distances which were mainly a result of the available herbage, its distribution or heterogeneity. Future smart farming livestock management systems will, therefore, likely require interfaces with the grassland growth rates and heterogeneity benchmarks if decisions based on livestock movement should be reliable.

Keywords: herbage allowance, GPS tracking, precision livestock farming, walking distance, spatial distribution

## INTRODUCTION

Grassland is the largest terrestrial biome, covering  $\sim$ 3.2 billion ha worldwide (1) and a large part of this area is used by grazing herbivores. Depending on the environmental conditions, the animal species and grazing method, these grazing herbivores influence the sward while their performance, on the other hand, is influenced by the sward properties (2, 3). Extensification of grassland leads to a shift towards a more diverse botanical composition and increased plant species richness (4). For instance, extensively grazed semi-natural grasslands host a great number of plant species, which is why they essentially contribute to the biodiversity of agricultural landscapes (5, 6). The vegetation often develops into a heterogenous pattern of different sward height classes of tall and short patches (7) which results from the so-called patch grazing (8). Patch grazing is characterized by a pronounced spatial heterogeneity in forage intake (9) with intensive and extensive grassland utilization occurring in close proximity within the same pasture. Several studies in semi-natural grassland found that the productivity (10), soil nutrient contents (10, 11), and the vegetation composition (4, 12) are driven by these temporally stable patches (7) rather than by the pasture-scale grazing intensity. The extent of patch grazing is controlled by the pasture stocking rate, i.e., the herbage allowance per grazing animal. It has been shown that under low stocking rates, animals tended to graze only on short grass patches even at the end of the grazing season (13). This indicates that the cattle regularly return to the same spots of high-quality herbage. Assuming that the productivity of these patches is maintained, the effort for foraging is low and the walking distances should mainly depend on the spatial distribution of these patches. With a more restrictive herbage allowance, i.e., higher grazing pressure, the animal has to visit more places every day to fulfill its energy demand because less herbage is available per patch so that more movement is required. On the other hand, a higher herbage allowance per animal does not always result in less movement since in a patchy grassland the foraging areas are spatially distributed (7).

Hejcmanová et al. (14) investigated behavioral patterns under extensive and intensive continuous grazing (fewer vs. more cattle per pasture) and found a clear trend towards longer grazing time under intensive grazing. However, in a study of Dumont et al. (13), the walking distances per grazing event were not affected by the stocking rate and group size. Thus, it remains an open question to what extent the grazing intensity and, hence, the availability or distribution of herbage control the activity of grazing cattle in semi-natural grassland ecosystems. Such information is needed if any decision support tools in future smart farming systems will be based on the spatial animal movement.

Using GPS (Global Positioning System) collars to track the spatial behavior of grazing cattle is a well-established method to investigate the drivers of animal behavior. Since 1978 GPS is operational and since 1984 civilian use is allowed. The University

of Kentucky began to use GPS collars for cattle tracking in the 1990s to be able to integrate spatial information into cattle management procedures (15). Using GPS collars in studies of animal movement has many benefits: individuals can be tracked over a long-term period with predefined time intervals and automatically recorded geographical positions (16), which is very helpful information on large pastures and rangelands (17). In addition, accurate and efficient information on grazing behavior can be provided by the use of GPS for monitoring of grazing animals (18). Animal-related GPS recordings in combination with a geographic information system (GIS) can provide information on spatial interrelations of animal behavior and the vegetation (19). In recent years, several studies have investigated the potential of GPS tracking data to deduce behavioral patterns of grazing cattle. Homburger et al. (20, 21), both based on investigations in heterogeneous subalpine pastures, recommended to differentiate only grazing and resting when using GPS tracking. Walking is mainly correlated with grazing because cattle always walk several steps between bites while walking without grazing is a relatively rare activity (22). In the study by Homburger et al. (20), only 6.7% of movement was accounted for by walking without grazing as assessed by visual observations. In another study (17) it was shown that the time budgets of the main cattle behavior (grazing, resting, walking) were not influenced by the grazing management. However, the walking distances were affected in that study and also in that by Baudracco et al. (23), where cows on a pasture with lower herbage allowance spent more time walking. Consequently, assessing movement patterns in terms of walking distances will provide a reliable indicator for the effort of the grazing cattle to fulfill dietetic demands under conditions of varying herbage allowances. Moreover, such assessments can help to identify the driving forces of livestock movement, including the role of sward characteristics. The study presented here was conducted in a multi-year grazing experiment with livestock cattle on semi-natural grasslands under three different grazing intensities, defined by different target sward heights (moderate: 6 cm, lenient: 12 cm, very lenient: 18 cm) resulting in decreasing stocking rates (moderate to very lenient). The grazing experiment was established in 2002 under the EU framework 5 research project "FORBIOBEN" (3). The aim of "FORBIOBEN" with its three paddock scale grazing intensities is to represent the entire gradient of grassland extensification. Over three seasons (2017, 2019, 2020), cattle were equipped with GPS collars with the aim to disentangle interactions between the grazing intensity and cattle movement by taking into account both herbage allowance and the spatial variability of the herbage on offer. We hypothesized that (i) cattle activity increased with lower herbage allowance because the area, size and stability of tall patches increase with decreasing grazing intensity (7), and foraging resources are the most obvious drivers of grazer distribution at pasture (8), we further hypothesized that (ii) the spatial distribution of cattle during activity (grazing) peaks is more even under moderate compared to lenient grazing intensity.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Experimental Site, Setup and Weather Conditions

The present study investigated the movement behavior of suckler cows in response to three different grazing intensities. It was carried out over four periods between spring 2017 and spring 2020 as part of the grassland experiment "FORBIOBEN," which is located at the experimental farm of the University of Göttingen in Relliehausen, Solling Uplands, Lower Saxony, Germany (51°46'55.9 "N, 9°42'11.9"E), 250 m above sea level. The vegetation is a moderately species-rich semi-natural grassland classified as *Lolio-Cynosuretum*. The three most important grasses in 2017 were *Festuca rubra, Lolium perenne* and *Cynosurus cristatus*, while the three most important dicot species were *Taraxacum officinale, Trifolium pratense*, and *Galium mollugo*. In 2020 this changed slightly towards *F. rubra, Dactylis glomerata* and *L. perenne* and for the dicots to *T. officinale, Lotus corniculatus*, and *Galium mollugo*.

The longtime climatic averages (yearly) of the German weather service 'Deutscher Wetterdienst' reference period (1991-2020), measured approximately 21 km apart, were: precipitation: 764 mm, temperature: 9.8 °C, sunshine hours: 1500 (24). Weather conditions in the investigated periods are summarized in Table 1. The grazing experiment "FORBIOBEN" was established in 2002 (3) and is maintained in its current state since 2005. It compares three intensities of cattle grazing described by different target vegetation heights, hereafter M: moderate grazing (6 cm), L: lenient grazing (12 cm) and VL: very lenient grazing (18 cm target vegetation height). The three grazing intensities are replicated in a randomized block design of three paddocks (1 ha each) per grazing intensity. The general framework of the "FORBIOBEN" experiment is extensive grassland management as no fertilizer, pesticide or any sward improvement measure is applied. Within this framework, the different grazing intensities represent the following strategies. Moderate grazing is aiming at reasonable agronomic performance; lenient grazing does not make full use of the herbage, leaving remaining herbage for biodiversity targets, and very lenient grazing is representing the minimum grazing intensity that is required to keep the grazing land open, i.e., maintain the open character of the grassland. The management is a continuous grazing system with a put-and-take approach. In this system, cattle are added to the paddocks when the target vegetation height is exceeded and removed when the vegetation height falls below the target.

### Animals

During each stocking season (April/May – September/October), up to 27 pregnant, non-lactating Fleckvieh suckler cows grazed in all three grazing intensities. Usually, the target sward height of 6 cm in M is reached faster in spring, so that this treatment can be stocked earlier. The VL treatment was stocked when the target height of the L treatment was reached, to prevent natural succession of the grassland. Outside the grazing period, from November to April, the animals are in winter housing. Calving takes place in November and December; mating is in  $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{TABLE 1} & \textbf{W} eather conditions (TM: mean daily temperature (^{\circ}C) and precipitation \\ sum (mm) during the four investigated periods recorded by the meteorological \\ station in Bevern 51^{\circ}51'10.8"N 9^{\circ}29'42.0" E coordinated by the German Weather \\ Service 'Deutscher Wetterdienst' (DWD), 21 km from the experimental site. \\ \end{array}$ 

Period	TM (°C)	Radiation (W m <sup>2</sup> )	Precipitation sum (mm)
2017	16.2	19,950.6	52.1
2019 spring	16.1	19,722.2	77.0
2019 autumn	12.6	13,004.0	16.0
2020	17.3	17,875.0	79.6

February and March. Cows return to pasture in mid-April, after weaning. Animals that were removed from the experimental paddocks because sward heights fell below the target values grazed an area adjacent to the experimental paddocks. During the investigated periods, the cows were randomly assigned to groups and distributed among the paddocks. Average stocking densities of the different grazing intensities during the investigation were, moderate grazing: 4.6 LU ha<sup>-1</sup>, lenient grazing: 3.8 LU ha<sup>-1</sup>, very lenient grazing: 2.7 LU ha<sup>-1</sup> (LU: livestock unit, 500 kg live weight). A detailed overview is given in **Table 2**. The respective stocking rates under moderate, lenient and very lenient grazing, calculated as (LU × days on pasture) per year and pasture area, were 1.4, 0.5, and 0.4 LU ha<sup>-1</sup>a<sup>-1</sup> in 2017; 0.9, 0.6 and 0.4 LU ha<sup>-1</sup>a<sup>-1</sup> in 2019; and 0.7, 0.4 and 0.2 LU ha<sup>-1</sup>a<sup>-1</sup> in 2020.

## **Collecting Data**

The duration of the investigated periods differed in response to the weather conditions and, hence, the herbage growth (**Table 2**). Each period lasted for 28, 35, 17, and 32 days in 2017, 2019 spring, 2019 autumn and 2020, respectively. To avoid bias from acclimatization to the collars and increased movement associated with paddock changes, the data collected on the first and last day of each period were excluded. The dates shown in **Table 2** omit these days and correspond to the actual daily data used.

At the beginning of each period, one cow per grazing intensity and replicate was equipped with a Vectronics GPS Plus (VECTRONIC Aerospace GmbH, Berlin) collar (weight: 1.36 kg), attached to the neck of a randomly chosen cow per paddock, corresponding to a total of nine GPS collars. In the periods 2019 spring and 2020 two collars, and in 2019 autumn one collar were found not to have recorded data when the collars were removed. The collars are equipped with internal devices for GPS localization and an activity sensor (three-way accelerometer). Every 128s (2017 and 2019 spring), or every 60 s (2019 autumn and 2020), the GPS sensors in the collar recorded a signal about the location of the animal within the pasture. Each GPS data point was recorded with date, time, distance, speed, absolute and relative angle between two successive path segments. In addition, the activity sensor in the collar recorded data in 64-s intervals. For each interval, it measured the proportion of time that the head tilt angle of the animal exceeded 15°, i.e., the time that the head was not lowered. At the end of the respective grazing period, the collars were

Period (duration)	GI	Age years $\pm$ sd	LW kg $\pm$ sd	SD (LU ha <sup>-1</sup> )	SR (LU ha <sup>-1</sup> a <sup>-1</sup> )
2017 (18.05–14.06)	М	4.8 ± 1.6	$666.3 \pm 73.3$	5.3	1.4
	L	$5.6 \pm 2.8$	$638.7\pm96.2$	3.8	0.5
	VL	$5.4 \pm 1.2$	$658.3 \pm 86.0$	2.6	0.4
2019 spring (24.05–27.06)	М	$6.0 \pm 2.5$	$684.8\pm97.0$	5.5	0.9
	L	$5.7 \pm 2.4$	$667.0 \pm 101.0$	4.0	0.6
	VL	$5.2 \pm 2.2$	$638.0 \pm 57.4$	2.6	0.4
2019 autumn (06.09–22.09)	М	$5.1 \pm 2.7$	$749.3 \pm 105.0$	4.5	0.9
	L	$6.2 \pm 2.6$	$795.1 \pm 60.8$	4.8	0.6
	VL	$5.5 \pm 2.1$	$748.7 \pm 91.2$	3.0	0.4
2020 (11.06–12.07)	М	$3.4 \pm 1.3$	$620.0 \pm 69.7$	2.5	0.7
	L	$6.0 \pm 2.9$	$626.7 \pm 80.6$	2.5	0.4
	VL	$7.8 \pm 1.2$	$673.5 \pm 44.6$	2.7	0.2

GI, grazing intensity; LW, live weight; SD, stocking density; LU, livestock unit; SR, stocking rates.

removed to retrieve data and analyzed to measure the activity in terms of walking distance.

Walking distance (m) per animal was measured at two temporal scales, per day and also per hour within day. Geographic coordinates were available in the Universal Transverse Mercator coordinate system (UTM) format. To calculate the distance between two sequential positions, the Pythagorean theorem was used. The results were summed for hourly and daily (24-h) periods.

Data obtained from the activity sensor of the collar in spring 2019 were used to assess the relationship between walking distance per hour and the duration of grazing in minutes per hour, following Homburger et al. (21). Measurement intervals during which the activity sensor reported a lowered head at least half of the time were classified as grazing. This classification was validated by visual observations during 2016.

# Sward Herbage Measurements and Sward Characteristics

To determine the grassland herbage on offer, a double sampling approach was conducted from early April to October. For this, the compressed sward height (CSH) was measured every 2 weeks using a rising plate meter of 30 cm diameter and 200 g plate weight (25) at 50 places randomly distributed in each paddock. Approximately every 4-8 weeks, the standing herbage dry matter was determined at six to eight random points per paddock. Biomass was cut manually at 1 cm above the soil surface in a 30-cm diameter ring after first measuring CSH at this location. This procedure was conducted in order to calibrate the relationship between CSH and grassland herbage mass based on linear regression models (26, 27). The herbage biomass samples were oven-dried at 60°C for 48 h to obtain the dry matter weight. Based on the relationship between CSH and standing herbage dry matter, the available herbage on offer (herbage mass) was modeled for every other date and CSH measurement without calibration sampling so that 50 herbage values were available per paddock on each date of CSH measurements. Herbage biomass prediction from CSH was reasonable (RMSE =  $70.4 \text{ g m}^{-2}$  and mean  $R^{2}_{adj} = 0.63$  averaged over all periods). The derived herbage on offer per CSH sampling point was used to calculate the spatial heterogeneity of the herbage on offer by calculating the standard deviation within paddock (SD herbage).

Botanical composition in ten  $1\text{-m}^2$  quadrats was assessed in accordance with the method of Scimone et al. (28) with average proportions between 2017 and 2020 of 59.7  $\pm$  9.6, 59.2  $\pm$  13.5, and 53.7  $\pm$  10.9% grasses and of dicotyledonous species of 26.1  $\pm$  5.7, 27.8  $\pm$  6.8 and 25.7  $\pm$  6.2 ( $\pm$  SD) in M, L and VL, respectively. Further studies showed that within grazing intensities, the botanical composition differed between short and tall patches as a consequence of modified resource availability for light and soil nutrients (4). Tonn et al. (11) observed larger phytodiversity in short patches compared to tall ones, and Perotti et al. (29) found that species in tall patches had higher competitiveness and the ones in short patches higher stress tolerance according to the competitor, stress tolerator, ruderal (CSR) theory after Grime (30).

The *in vitro* organic matter digestibility as assessed using nearinfrared reflectance spectroscopy in ten continuous observation plots of 1 m<sup>2</sup> size per paddock were 78.5  $\pm$  7.4, 76.2  $\pm$  6.2 and 74.6  $\pm$  6.0% (mean  $\pm$  SD) on average over 2017 to 2020 in M, L and VL, respectively. No patch-specific forage quality data was assessed in the present study. We know, however, from the beginning of the grazing experiment, that tall and short patches differ in the stem-to-leaf ratio toward the end of the growing season (27) with consequences for forage quality (3). Pavlu et al. (31) indicated differences in patch-specific forage quality and a recent study by Ebeling et al. (10) on the same site 12 years after extensive grazing revealed that the short patches were less productive and likely remained in a vegetative state as a consequence of selective grazing.

### Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out with the software R (32). Linear mixed effects models were calculated for each target variable using the package "nlme" (33). For this, every period was analyzed separately. Outliers were eliminated if present by

considering values ranging 1.5-fold above the 75th or below the 25th percentile of the interquartile range (34). For all analyses,  $\sim <5\%$  of the data were excluded as outliers. Normality of the residuals was checked by visual inspection of quantile–quantile plots. Variance homogeneity was evaluated by plots of residuals vs. fitted values and residuals vs. predictor values (35). Multiple contrast tests according to Tukey's test for significant influencing factor levels were followed using the "emmeans" package (36) after analysis of variances.

The daily distance was regressed on the fixed effects of grazing intensity and date as well as their interaction. The cow nested in block was modeled as a random effect in order to account for correlation between measurements on the same object. Then model reduction was performed from the global model using the MuMIn package (37). The model with the lowest AICc was chosen as the final model.

To assess the diurnal patterns within days, models with fixed effects of grazing intensity, hour per day and their interaction and the random effect of the block and cow nested in block were generated. The dates per period were treated as replicates and the interaction between hour and date was consequently not considered. The hourly walking distance was log-transformed before analysis in order to improve normality of residuals.

The average period-wise herbage allowance was determined in order to assess the strength of competition for forage resources which may drive the walking distances in pastures (23). For this, the herbage allowance was regressed on the fixed effect of grazing intensity and the random effect of block. The herbage allowance was square-root transformed before analysis.

To quantify the extent of spatial clustering within period and grazing intensity treatment, each paddock was rasterized into 400 5  $\times$  5 m squares. GPS locations were split into two groups: "active time" included all animal locations during the activity peaks in the morning and afternoon, as determined from the analysis of walking distance per hour. "Other time" included all other animal locations. For each of these sets, the duration (min) spent within each grid cell was calculated. These values were then used to determine the Camargo Index of Evenness across all cells within paddock and period (38) for both groups. The Camargo index allows to assess spatial patterns and the relative distribution of GPS locations within each paddock. Values near zero indicate a patchy distribution and values near one a homogenous distribution (38). This index is, thus, a metric for the requirement of searching to fulfill the herbage intake in relation to the grazing intensity. The Camargo Index was then analyzed in models with the grazing intensity as fixed and block as random effect separately for each period. For other time, the approach was similar.

The relationship between the activity of time spent grazing, (grazing time in min hour<sup>-1</sup>, based on the activity sensor measurements) and the hourly walked distance was analyzed in an analysis of covariance with the walking distance per hour as covariate, the grazing intensity and the interaction of both as fixed and the block as random effect. Variance adjustments were allowed per date in that model. A significance level of  $p \leq 0.05$  was chosen throughout.

All spatial maps were plotted with QGIS (3.10.12 "A Coruña").

### RESULTS

# Average Daily Walking Distances Within Each Grazing Period

Differences of the daily walking distances between grazing intensities were mostly significant but depended on the grazing period (**Tables 3**, **4**). While in 2017 and autumn of 2019, the daily walking distances were affected by the grazing intensity (**Table 3**), no effects were found in 2020 and spring of 2019 (although p < 0.1). In most periods, walking distances were largest for grazing intensity L in most periods (not in 2017) and those of VL tended to range between them (**Table 4**). The daily distances varied between 2,592 m (2017 grazing intensity L) and 3,929 m (2020 grazing intensity VL).

# Average Hourly Walking Distances Within Each Grazing Period

The interaction between hour per day and the grazing intensity affected the hourly walking distance in all periods (**Table 3**). A strong diurnal pattern became evident with a shift in the activity peaks during the autumn 2019 period compared with the other periods (**Figure 1**). The main activity was recorded in the hours 5, 6, 7 a.m. and 7, 8, 9 p.m. (spring and summer periods). In autumn, the activity peaks were narrower, comprising the hours 7, 8 a.m. and 5, 6, 7, 8 p.m. (**Figure 1**). These time periods were considered as "active time" when the Camargo Index was calculated. On average, they encompassed 40% (M), 39% (L) and 39% (VL) of daily walking distances. The main periods of inactivity occurred during night time and between the activity peaks (**Figure 1**).

The hourly walking distance and the grazing time (spring 2019) were positively related, with the slope depending on the grazing intensity treatment (**Figure 2**) as indicated by the significant interaction between distance  $\times$  grazing intensity.

# Herbage on Offer, Spatial Heterogeneity of Herbage on Offer and Herbage Allowance

The average herbage on offer during each period was affected by the grazing intensity (**Tables 3**, **4**) with a general increase of available herbage from grazing intensity M, over L to VL, but also a visual decline in the available herbage from 2017 until 2020 (**Table 4**). The values for each measured date are provided in the supplements (**Supplementary Figure 1**). The herbage allowance was affected by the grazing intensity in all periods (**Table 3**) and generally increased in the order M < L < VL (**Table 4**).

There were only significant effects of the grazing intensity on the SD herbage mass in spring of 2019 and 2020 (**Table 3**) with a clearly lower variability within grazing intensity treatment M compared with L and VL in that period (**Table 4**). A general trend for increases in SD herbage mass in the rank order  $M < L \le VL$ , however, became clear for all periods.

TABLE 3 Output of linear mixed effects models for the analyzed parameters of interest during each grazing
---

Period	Variable	Fixed and interaction effects	<i>F</i> -value	P-value
2017	Daily walking distance	Grazing intensity	30.6	P < 0.01
	Hourly walking distance	Grazing intensity	0.2	n.s.
		Hour	104.7	P < 0.00
		Grazing intensity × hour	3.7	P < 0.00
	Herbage on offer	Grazing intensity	10.3	P < 0.00
	SD herbage	Grazing intensity	4.8	P < 0.1
	Herbage allowance	Grazing intensity	118.8	P < 0.00
	Camargo active time	Grazing intensity	7.8	< 0.05
	Camargo other time	Grazing intensity	22.5	<0.01
2019 spring	Daily walking distance	Grazing intensity	5.6	P < 0.1
	Hourly walking distance	Grazing intensity	1.7	n.s.
		Hour	71.6	P < 0.00
		Grazing intensity × hour	5.0	P < 0.00
	Herbage on offer	Grazing intensity	75.8	P < 0.00
	SD herbage	Grazing intensity	39.2	P < 0.01
	Herbage allowance	Grazing intensity	493.7	P < 0.00
	Camargo active time	Grazing intensity	5.1	n.s.
	Camargo other time	Grazing intensity	7	n.s.
	Grazing time	Distance	4,064	P < 0.00
		Grazing intensity	7.5	P < 0.00
		Distance × Grazing intensity	38.7	P < 0.00
2019 autumn	Daily walking distance	Grazing intensity	58	P < 0.01
	Hourly walking distance	Grazing intensity	1.7	n.s.
		Hour	60.7	P < 0.00
		Grazing intensity $\times$ hour	2.5	P < 0.00
	Herbage on offer	Grazing intensity	74.8	P < 0.00
	SD herbage	Grazing intensity	3.4	n.s.
	Herbage allowance	Grazing intensity	8.4	P < 0.05
	Camargo active time	Grazing intensity	18.3	< 0.05
	Camargo other time	Grazing intensity	17.5	< 0.05
2020	Daily walking distance	Grazing intensity	n.s.	n.s.
	Hourly walking distance	Grazing intensity	6.3	n.s.
		Hour	107.1	P < 0.00
		Grazing intensity $\times$ hour	5.5	P < 0.00
	Herbage on offer	Grazing intensity	29.6	P < 0.00
	SD herbage	Grazing intensity	11.1	P < 0.05
	Herbage allowance	Grazing intensity	15.6	P < 0.01
	Camargo active	Grazing intensity	1.7	n.s.
	Camargo other time	Grazing intensity	24.7	<0.05

Shown are F- and p-values.

# Spatial Distribution in Relation to Grazing Intensity and Period

The Camargo Index was determined for the "active time," identified as the hours of peak activity according to **Figure 1**, and for the remaining time (other time) within each period. The Camargo index for the active time was affected by the grazing intensity only in 2017 and 2019 autumn (**Table 3**), and declined from M to L and VL, indicating a more even distribution

within the paddock in grazing intensity M during these periods (**Figure 3**). This was also confirmed for the Camargo index of the other time periods (**Figure 4**) which were affected by the grazing intensity in all periods except of spring 2019 (**Table 3**).

The distribution of spatial points between pastures within each period is given in **Figure 5**. Time (s d<sup>-1</sup>) spent in each 5  $\times$  5 m grid cell was categorized into five percentiles, visualized as density maps.

Period	GI	Individual daily distance (m)	HO (g DM m <sup><math>-2</math></sup> ± se)	SD Herbage (g DM m $^{-2} \pm$ se)	HA (kg DM LU $^{-1}$ ± se)
2017	М	$3,642 \pm 173 \mathrm{b}$	235 ± 19.1 a	$81.3 \pm 8.41$	455 ± 51.6 a
	L	$2,958 \pm 173  a$	$319\pm19.1\mathrm{ab}$	$108.8 \pm 8.41$	$854\pm70.7$ b
	VL	$2,901 \pm 173  a$	$355 \pm 19.1 \text{ b}$	$119.2 \pm 8.41$	1,421 ± 93.4 c
2019 spring	М	$3,542 \pm 201$	107 ± 7.1 a	$56.6 \pm 4.31  a$	178 ± 14.9 a
	L	$2,592 \pm 201$	$203\pm7.1~\mathrm{b}$	$89.6 \pm 4.31  \mathrm{b}$	$539\pm25.8~\mathrm{b}$
	VL	$3,108 \pm 142$	$219\pm7.1~\mathrm{b}$	$96.4 \pm 4.31  \mathrm{b}$	$902 \pm 27.9 \ { m c}$
2019 autumn	М	$3,773 \pm 92.7 \mathrm{b}$	99.5 ± 7.64 a	$95.2 \pm 5.5$	265 ± 59.8 a
	L	$3,329 \pm 91.4  \mathrm{a}$	196.8 ± 7.64 b	$106.4 \pm 5.5$	$339\pm67.6\mathrm{ab}$
	VL	$3,653 \pm 91.4 \mathrm{b}$	215.1 ± 7.64 b	$115.4 \pm 5.5$	$695 \pm 96.9 \ { m b}$
2020	М	$3,680 \pm 448$	$80.9 \pm 8.96 \mathrm{~a}$	$48.9 \pm 3.5  \mathrm{a}$	358 ± 38.4 a
	L	3,701 ± 402	$156.1 \pm 8.96$ b	$63.7\pm3.5\mathrm{ab}$	$621 \pm 50.7 \text{ b}$
	VL	$3,929 \pm 448$	$172.2 \pm 8.96$ b	$72.0\pm3.5\mathrm{b}$	$670\pm43.0~\text{b}$

TABLE 4 | Estimated means  $\pm$  se (standard error) of linear mixed effect models for every period.

Lowercase letters: means with different letters are significantly different between GI within year (p < 0.05). GI, grazing intensity; HO, herbage on offer; SD Herbage, standard deviation of herbage on offer; HA, herbage allowance.



### DISCUSSION

While there are many studies on the effects of cattle grazing in different grazing intensities on outcomes for herbage quality (13, 39), biodiversity (3, 40–42), sward botanical composition (43) or productivity (3, 40, 41), the current study is the first to quantify

the relationship between cattle movement and grazing intensity, taking into account herbage availability. We hypothesized that (i) cattle activity increased with lower herbage allowance. We further hypothesized that (ii) the spatial distribution of cattle during activity (grazing) peaks is more even under moderate compared to lenient grazing intensity.









**FIGURE 4** | Estimated means ( $\pm$ SE) of the Camargo Index during other time as influenced by the grazing period and grazing intensity. M, moderate; L, lenient; VL, very lenient stocking rate. Identical Lowercase letters indicate that means are not different at  $\rho < 0.05$  within periods.

### Variation in Herbage Availability and Patterns of Walking Distances in Relation to Grazing Intensity

With an increase in the grazing intensity, the herbage on offer and consequently also the herbage allowance declined (rank order: M < L < VL). However, the spatial heterogeneity of the herbage on offer decreased with increasing grazing intensity (M < VL) which means that the amount of available herbage was lower but more evenly distributed under the moderate grazing treatment M. Increases in the stocking rate and a decline in herbage allowance per individual will cause an increase in the effort of walking on pastures of similar botanical composition (22) - especially under low-input conditions when grassland growth rates are low. Except for the last period, moderate grazing intensity tended to be associated with the greatest effort in walking compared with the other grazing intensities, an effect which became clearly significant in 2017 (Table 4). Hejcmanová et al. (14) investigated behavioral patterns under extensive and intensive continuous grazing and found a clear trend towards longer grazing durations under intensive management. Generally, this larger effort in walking under moderate than under lenient grazing arose from longer durations of the two or three main peak activity phases per 24-h period (Figure 3). However, walking distances were also higher under very lenient than under lenient grazing in some periods (**Table 4**). Based on the flatter slope between grazing time and walking (**Figure 2**), this could be attributed to an increased effort in searching of foraging sites.

The mean daily walked distances in the present study ranged between 2,592 and 3,929 m. These values are in accordance with Baker (44), who described a minimum daily activity of 3,000 m on pasture. In a study by Draganova et al. (45), pregnant suckler cows walked between 2,700 and 3,300 m daily on pastures of 8– 12 ha in size. Earlier reports state that the daily walking effort of cattle ranges between 2,000 and 6,000 m (22). Consequently, the daily effort in walking is in line with previously reported values (**Table 4**).

### **Spatial Patterns of Movement**

In order to differentiate between potential reasons for differences in movement between grazing intensities, we investigated the spatial patterns of movement. As the Camargo index during the active time tended to decrease from M toward VL (**Figure 3**), we suggest that the larger variability of distribution of the short patch foraging sites is responsible for a stronger clustering in VL. The more even distribution of the animals across the paddocks in M was likely caused by the lower herbage on offer in that treatment



and the resulting need to enlarge the grazing area to fulfill the dietetic demand. As described by Perotti et al. (29), in a study on the same experimental site in 2017, the botanical composition differed between short and tall patches. As indicated by Tonn et al. (7), the distribution of the patch classes is mediated by the grazing intensity with larger proportions of short areas under the moderate grazing intensity.

# Heterogeneity/Homogeneity Based on the Standard Deviation of Herbage Mass

It is well established that cattle prefer leafy and digestible vegetation (46) and search actively for it. Cattle are known to develop a spatial memory of the grazing land (47). The pattern of patches seems to be the landmap of the cattle to find preferred forage spots which are repeatedly visited (48). This behavior maximizes the foraging efficiency in terms of forage intake per unit of walking distance (49). However, we found a significantly negative relationship when regressing the walking distance on the standard deviation (SD) of herbage mass as indicator of spatial heterogeneity (P < 0.001) (not shown). One has to take into account that the standard deviation of the herbage on offer may be misleading in terms of the actual variability in the spatial distribution of herbage as it is sensitive to the range of values (SD herbage will increase with greater herbage on offer values). Under very lenient grazing, tall avoided areas with large herbage on offer are close to shortly grazed patches with little herbage on offer (7). In contrast to this, under moderate grazing the overall amount of herbage on offer is lower and so is the SD herbage. The very lenient grazing intensity has, thus, a larger amount of unpreferred tall herbage while the moderate treatment has more valuable herbage sources at a lower amount, which both lead to a homogeneous distribution. However, both treatments have the same coefficient of variation (CV) in terms of herbage on offer (not shown). According to Pavlu et al. (31), patches differ in their forage quality and we found a decline of the paddock-scale in vitro digestibility from M to VL. When a pasture is stocked with less cattle (as in most cases during our study in VL compared with M) one grazing patch will provide forage resources for a longer duration. Visual cues associated with disparate feed qualities are used by cattle for more efficient forage intake (50), providing evidence for the spatial memory of the grazing livestock. On the contrary, more effort in walking in the moderate grazing treatment is likely a cause of the lower productivity of short patches (10) which requires to enlarge particular grazing areas per individual under higher stocking density in line with Gibb et al. (51). The negative relationship between SD Herbage and walking effort, however, supports our assumption of two different reasons for increased movement. In M, the grazing stations (short patches) provide forage and were evenly distributed but triggered the cattle to enlarge the grazing area during grazing to fulfill the dietetic demand. In VL, the homogeneously distributed tall and mature herbage drove the movement of the cattle to find preferred forage spots.

# Limitations of the Current Study and Variations Among the Periods

In the present study, only one cow per paddock was equipped with a GPS collar which might not fully reflect the potential effect of the group of grazing animals and individual differences on the grazing behavior. Yet, there is indication for the validity of the findings for the following reasons: the experimental setup provides true replication of the grazing intensity treatments at the paddock-level. Among years, the individuals changed between the grazing treatments. In addition, members of a group of animals usually graze simultaneously (52) while only for the resting time and the time spent for ruminating there is a higher variability among different animals within a group (53). However, we suggest that future studies should look into herd dynamics in greater detail to understand effects of the stocking density on the effort for walking.

The put-and-take system aims at maintaining sward heights close to the target values by adapting stocking densities to current herbage growth rates, resulting in a gradient of stocking rates across the whole grazing system. The precision with which these aims can be achieved at a given moment strongly depends on the variability of paddock-specific dynamics in grass growth. Sward measurements during the periods showed that the mean measured CSH in grazing intensity M was mainly close to the intended sward height of 6 cm. Measured sward heights under L and VL were close to each other despite different target sward heights (**Figure 6**). The target sward height of VL of 18 cm was not achieved during our investigation period, which means that the grazing intensities L and VL differ mainly in their herbage allowance but not in the total herbage on offer.

In the periods of 2019 autumn and 2020, the stocking densities between the grazing intensity treatments were nearly the same. Comparable stocking densities result when the actual herbage on offer requires some adjustment in the number of cows stocked per paddock in order to allow for at least 14 days of grazing, which is the rhythm of sward height measurements in the experiment. However, the treatment M is usually stocked earlier in the season so that the annual stocking rates differ clearly between treatments. Nevertheless, it cannot be excluded that the lack of differences in the walking effort between the grazing intensity treatments in 2020 resulted from the fact that the stocking densities among the treatments were the same during that period, even though herbage allowance differed. However, in a study by Dumont et al. (13), the group sizes did not affect the walking distances of individuals. Further research is necessary to prove this point.

Spatial patterns are usually analyzed in larger scale paddocks which give the livestock a higher probability of performing distinct behavioral patterns at specific places (54). Preliminary work had shown that the mean deviation of the GPS signals of the cattle collars used in the present study, were in a range between 0.6 and 1.9 m. As the collars were set to record values every 128 seconds in 2017 and 2019 spring, or every 60 seconds in 2019 autumn and 2020, this noise adds up to the hourly distances of c. 40 m recorded for the nighttime hours.



# CONCLUSION

Our hypotheses could be confirmed with the present study: (i) cattle activity increased with lower herbage allowance and (ii) the spatial distribution of cattle during active time (grazing peaks) is more even under moderate compared to lenient grazing intensity. However, in our study, cows increased their walking efforts under both the most intensive and also the least intensive grazing treatment. Thus, the herbage availability in terms of herbage allowance and also the spatial distribution (i.e., heterogeneity) of the sward have to be taken into account since all these are drivers for cattle motion. This is relevant information in order to design decision support tools in future precision livestock farming, aiming at a better balance of biodiversity and production targets of grazing systems.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The study is in accordance with the German legal and ethical requirements of appropriate animal procedures. The consultation of the Institutional Animal Welfare Body is documented under no. E5/20 by the Animal Welfare Officer of the University of Goettingen.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JI, BT, and MK: initiation and supervision of research. DH, MK, and JI: conceptualization. JI and BT: funding acquisition. JH, MK, and BT: data acquisition incl. field measurements. DH, MK, BT, and JH: data analysis. DH (lead), MK, and NG: visualization and writing. NG, MK, JI, and BT: manuscript revision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This study was supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research under Grant number (031B0734I) as part of the project GreenGrass.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Barbara Hohlmann for supporting the field experiment with the handling of grazing livestock and taking the sward measurements. Thanks to Knut Salzmann for supervising the livestock management and for competent and patient handling of the animals. We thank Arne Oppermann for providing the grazing livestock and the experimental area and for the general maintenance of the experiment. Cecilia Hüppe was involved in data acquisition. We acknowledge support by the Open Access Publication Funds of the Göttingen University.

### REFERENCES

- FAOSTAT. Land Under Permanent Meadows and Pastures. (2018). Available from: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/RL (accessed November 7, 2020).
- Opitz von Boberfeld W. Grünlandlehre: Biologische und Ökologische Grundlagen; 28 Tabellen. Stuttgart: Ulmer. (1994). 336 p. (Uni-Taschenbücher Agrarwissenschaften).
- Isselstein J, Griffith BA, Pradel P, Venerus S. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on biodiversity and production in grazing systems. 1. Nutritive value of herbage and livestock performance. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2007) 62:145–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2007.00571.x
- Wrage N, Sahin Demirbag N, Hofmann M, Isselstein J. Vegetation height of patch more important for phytodiversity than that of paddock. *Agric Ecosyst Environ.* (2012) 155:111–6. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.04.008
- Wilson JB, Peet RK, Dengler J, Pärtel M. Plant species richness: the world records. J Veg Sci. (2012) 23:796–802. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01400.x
- 6. Leuschner C, Ellenberg H. Vegetation Ecology of Central Europe. Revised and extended version of the 6th German edition. Cham: Springer International (2017).
- Tonn B, Raab C, Isselstein J. Sward patterns created by patch grazing are stable over more than a decade. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2018) 74:104– 14. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12389
- Adler P, Raff D, Lauenroth W. The effect of grazing on the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation. *Oecologia*. (2001) 128:465– 79. doi: 10.1007/s004420100737
- Dumont B, Rossignol N, Loucougaray G, Carrère P, Chadoeuf J, Fleurance G, et al. When does grazing generate stable vegetation patterns in temperate pastures? *Agric Ecosyst Environ.* (2012) 153:50-6. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.03.003
- Ebeling D, Tonn B, Isselstein J. Primary productivity in patches of heterogeneous swards after 12 years of low-intensity cattle grazing. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2020) 75:398–408. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12505
- Tonn B, Densing EM, Gabler J, Isselstein J. Grazing-induced patchiness, not grazing intensity, drives plant diversity in European low-input pastures. J Appl Ecol. (2019) 56:1624–36. doi: 10.1111/1365-2664.13416
- Lütge BU, Hardy MB, Hatch GP. Plant and sward response to patch grazing in the Highland Sourveld. *Afr J Range Forage Sci.* (1996) 13:94–9. doi: 10.1080/10220119.1996.9647905
- Dumont B, Garel JP, Ginane C, Decuq F, Farruggia A, Pradel P, et al. Effect of cattle grazing a species-rich mountain pasture under different stocking rates on the dynamics of diet selection and sward structure. *Animal.* (2007) 1:1042–52. doi: 10.1017/S1751731107000250
- Hejcmanová P, Stejskalová M, Pavlu V, Hejcman M. Behavioural patterns of heifers under intensive and extensive continuous grazing on species-rich pasture in the Czech Republic. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 117:137–43. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.01.003
- Agouridis CT, Stombaugh TS, Workman SR, Koostra BK, Edwards DR, Vanzant ES. Suitability of a GPS Collar for Grazing Studies. *Trans ASAE*. (2004) 47:1321–9. doi: 10.13031/2013.16566
- Polojärvi K, Colpaert A, Matengu K, Kumpula J. GPS Collars in Studies of Cattle Movement: Cases of Northeast Namibia and North Finland. In: Brunn SD, editor. *Engineering Earth*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands (2011). p. 173–87. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-90-481-9920-4\_12 (accessed December 5, 2020).
- Venter ZS, Hawkins H-J, Cramer MD. Cattle don't care: animal behaviour is similar regardless of grazing management in grasslands. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*. (2019) 272:175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2018.11.023

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.639096/full#supplementary-material

- Turner LW, Udal MC, Larson BT, Shearer SA. Monitoring cattle behavior and pasture use with GPS and GIS. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2000) 80:405–13. doi: 10.4141/A99-093
- Schlecht E, Hülsebusch C, Mahler F, Becker K. The use of differentially corrected global positioning system to monitor activities of cattle at pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2004) 85:185–202. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2003.11.003
- Homburger H, Schneider MK, Hilfiker S, Lüscher A. Inferring behavioral states of grazing livestock from high-frequency position data alone. *PLoS* ONE. (2014) 9:e114522. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114522
- Homburger H, Lüscher A, Scherer-Lorenzen M, Schneider MK. Patterns of livestock activity on heterogeneous subalpine pastures reveal distinct responses to spatial autocorrelation, environment and management. *Mov Ecol.* (2015) 3:35. doi: 10.1186/s40462-015-0053-6
- 22. Holmes J. Grass: Its Growth and Utilization. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific (1989).
- Baudracco J, Lopez-Villalobos N, Holmes CW, Comeron EA, Macdonald KA, Barry TN. e-Dairy: a dynamic and stochastic whole-farm model that predicts biophysical and economic performance of grazing dairy systems. *Animal.* (2013) 7:870–8. doi: 10.1017/S1751731112002376
- Deutscher Wetterdienst. Klimadaten Deutschland (2020). Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/klimadatendeutschland/vielj\_ mittelwerte.html
- Castle ME. A simple disc instrument for estimating herbage yield. Grass Forage Sci. (1976) 31:37–40.
- Correll O, Isselstein J, Pavlu V. Studying spatial and temporal dynamics of sward structure at low stocking densities: the use of an extended rising-plate-meter method. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2003) 58:450–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2003.00387.x
- Sahin Demirbag N, Röver K-U, Wrage N, Hofmann M, Isselstein J. Herbage growth rates on heterogeneous swards as influenced by sward-height classes. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2009) 64:12–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2008. 00665.x
- Scimone M, Rook AJ, Garel JP, Sahin N. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on grazing systems: 3. Effects on diversity of vegetation. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2007) 62:172–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2007.00579.x
- Perotti E, Kunze N, Isselstein J, Tonn B. Selective grazing and nutrient transfer through cattle interactively affects pasture vegetation. In: [Conference Paper] Grassland Science in Europe. Cork (2018) p. 319–21.
- Grime JP. Plant Strategies and Vegetation Processes. Chichester; New York, NY: Wiley (1979). 222 p.
- Pavlu V, Hejcman M, Pavlu L, Gaisler J, NeŽerková P. Effect of continuous grazing on forage quality, quantity and animal performance. *Agric Ecosyst Environ.* (2006) 113:349–55. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2005.10.010
- R Core Team. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna (2020). Available from: https://www.R-project.org (accessed November, 2020).
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. (2018). Available from: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package= nlme (accessed November, 2020).
- Pham H (ed). Springer Handbook of Engineering Statistics. London: Springer (2006). 1120 p.
- Zuur AF (ed). Mixed effects models extensions in ecology with R. In: Statistics for Biology and Health. New York, NY: Springer (2009). 574 p.
- Lenth R, Singmann H, Love J, Buerkner P, Herve M. Emmeans: Estimated marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means. (2019). Available from: https:// cran.r-project.org/web/packages/emmeans/index.html (accessed November, 2020).

- Barton K. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. (2018). Available from: https:// cran.r-project.org/web/packages/MuMIn/MuMIn.pdf (accessed November, 2020).
- Payne LX, Schindler DE, Parrish JK, Temple SA. Quantifying spatial pattern with eveness indices. *Ecol Appl.* (2005) 15:507–20. doi: 10.1890/03-5029
- 39. Stejskalová M, Hejcmanová P, Pavlu V, Hejcman M. Grazing behavior and performance of beef cattle as a function of sward structure and herbage quality under rotational and continuous stocking on species-rich upland pasture: Cattle Performance on Species-Rich Pasture. *Anim Sci J.* (2013) 84:622–9. doi: 10.1111/asj.12048
- Wallis De Vries MF, Parkinson AE, Dulphy JP, Sayer M, Diana E. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on biodiversity and production in grazing systems. 4. Effects on animal diversity. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2007) 62:185–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2007.00568.x
- Dumont B, Rook AJ, Coran Ch, Röver K-U. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on biodiversity and production in grazing systems. 2. Diet selection. Grass Forage Sci. (2007) 62:159–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2007.00572.x
- 42. Rook AJ, Tallowin JRB, Rutter S, Orr R, Hopkins A, Gibb M. Behavioural and community ecology: understanding mechanisms driving biodiversity in pasture-based systems. In: Gordon AJ, editor. *IGER Innovations*. (2005) 9:54–7.
- Ludvíková V, Pavlu V, Pavlu L, Gaisler J, Hejcman M. Sward-height patches under intensive and extensive grazing density in an Agrostis capillaris grassland. Folia Geobot. (2015) 50:219–28. doi: 10.1007/s12224-015-9215-y
- Baker RD. Estimating herbage intake from animal performance. In: Penning PD, editor. *Herbage Intake Handbook*. 2 ed. London: The British Grassland Society (2004). p. 95–120.
- Martina NP, Hicksona RE, Draganovab I, Horneb D, Kenyona PR, Morrisa ST. Walking Distance and Energy Expenditure of Beef Cows Grazing on Hill Country in Winter. (2015). Available from: http://rgdoi.net/10.13140/RG.2.1. 3061.6164 (accessed December 4, 2020).
- Cuchillo Hilario M, Wrage-Mönnig N, Isselstein J. Behavioral patterns of (co-)grazing cattle and sheep on swards differing in plant diversity. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 191:17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.02.009

- Bailey DW. Daily selection of feeding areas by cattle in homogeneous and heterogeneous environments. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1995) 45:183– 200. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)00586-H
- Fehmi JS, Karn JF, Ries RE, Hendrickson JR, Hanson JD. Cattle grazing behavior with season-long free-choice access to four forage types. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2002) 78:29–42. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(02)00079-5
- Laca EA. Spatial memory and food searching mechanisms of cattle. J Range Manag. (1998) 51:370–8. doi: 10.2307/4003320
- Howery LD, Bailey DW, Ruyle GB, Renken WJ. Cattle use visual cues to track food locations. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2000) 67:1–14. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99)00118-5
- Gibb MJ, Huckle CA, Nuthall R, Rook AJ. Effect of sward surface height on intake and grazing behaviour by lactating Holstein Friesian cows. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1997) 52:309–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.1997.tb02361.x
- Sambraus HH. Die Ursachen synchronen Verhaltens bei weidenden Rindern. Z Für Tierz Zücht. (2010) 90:192–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0388.1973.tb0 1437.x
- Hodgson JG. Grazing Management: Science Into Practice. Burnt Mill; Harlow; Essex; New York, NY: Longman Scientific & Technical; Wiley (1990). p. 203.
- Ganskopp D. Manipulating cattle distribution with salt and water in large arid-land pastures: a GPS/GIS assessment. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2001) 73:251-62. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(01)00148-4

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hamidi, Komainda, Tonn, Harbers, Grinnell and Isselstein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

